

IMPACT OF HYDRATION ON PULMONARY FUNCTION AND VENTILATORY RESPONSES TO EXERCISE IN HEALTHY ADULTS

A thesis submitted for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

> By Hannah Marshall

Centre for Human Performance, Exercise and Rehabilitation College of Health, Medicine and Life Sciences Brunel University London October 2020

ABSTRACT

Water transport and airway hydration are vital for the normal physiological functioning of the lungs. Water supply to the airways stems primarily from the bronchial circulation, which arises from the systemic circulation. Little is currently known regarding the impact of systemic fluid loss upon pulmonary function. The over-arching aim of this thesis was to investigate the effects of systemic hydration on normal pulmonary function and the ventilatory response to exercise in healthy adults. The first experimental study (Chapter 4) aimed to assess the repeatability and reproducibility of pulmonary function testing (PFT) between and within days in healthy young adults. 'Excellent' repeatability and 'very good' reproducibility were shown for both spirometry and whole body plethysmography. In the second experiment (Chapter 5), these PFT were therefore used to evaluate the impact of mild systemic dehydration (2.5% body mass loss) and subsequent rehydration on pulmonary function in healthy young adults. Mild dehydration led to reductions in forced vital capacity and elevations in residual volume and functional residual capacity, indicative of impaired small airway function and potential gas trapping. Whilst systemic rehydration (fluid ingestion) restored pulmonary function, local rehydration (nebulised isotonic saline) had no effect, suggesting that increased plasma osmolality may contribute to small airway dysfunction during hypertonic-hypovolemia. In the third experimental chapter (Chapter 6), these findings were extended by demonstrating that i) a more severe state of dehydration negatively impacts small airway function of physically active young adults *ii*) ventilatory response to exercise is preserved and perceived breathing discomfort largely unaffected by moderate dehydration. Taken together, this thesis demonstrates the impact of systemic fluid loss upon the healthy human pulmonary system and provides insight into the potential mechanisms involved in dehydration-induced pulmonary alterations. In particular, these findings highlight a key role of hydration status upon small airway function, which could have particular relevance in older adults and those with pre-existing lung conditions.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Firstly, I would like to thank my supervisory team, Dr. Pascale Kippelen and Dr. Oliver Gibson for giving me the opportunity to undertake this project, and for all of the academic support along the way. Oli, thank you also for having an open door and for the emotional support you have offered (even if some visits to the PhD office were just so you could check the updated dog wall!). To my RDA, Dr. Eve Corner, I am extremely grateful for all of the support and advice you have offered throughout some very challenging parts of this process. I would also like to thank Dr. James Hull and Dr. Lee Romer for their input and guidance over the course of this PhD.

Second, a huge thank you to Tom Howes – I can confidently say that this thesis would have been impossible without your help. I have lost count of the amount of times I have said "I just need to ask Tom" over the past 3.5 years, and I am extremely grateful for your endless assistance and your ability to fix *everything*! I would also like to say a massive thank you (and sorry) to every participant that volunteered to take part in the gruelling protocols involved in the experimental studies – this thesis would not have been possible without you.

"It's not about the journey or the destination, it's all about the company" – one thing I have learned throughout this process is that there is nothing more important than the people you surround yourself with. It has been an absolute pleasure to share the office (and the lab) with some true friends at Brunel. A massive thank you to Camilla for the help in the lab, in the office, and at the wall. I am grateful that we could experience this process together and I'm glad to have had you there to help me solve many physiology *and* personal problems! Adele – thank you for always being available for a chat /moan, and for providing endless amounts of dog videos / memes / motivational pep talks ... hopefully our book takes less time to complete than our PhDs! Anastasia – since day one at Brunel you have been a great friend and I am forever grateful for your support through some really challenging times (when you weren't napping at your desk that is)!

I have made some amazing friends in academia who have provided invaluable support throughout this process. Nicole – I'm so grateful to have forced our friendship upon you with one simple lunge at Student BASES... your support, both personal and scientific, has

been incredible and I'm so glad you never stopped answering my constant questions! Luke – I truly appreciate all of the help you have offered to enable this thesis to reach completion. Josh – I would not even be writing this if it wasn't for you, you have believed in me when I barely even believed in myself and you always push me to be the best scientist I can be, I am forever thankful to you for everything you have done to help me get to this point.

To my friends outside of academia – I could probably write a whole thesis just thanking you all, but I think if I take another year to submit this I might get kicked out of number 5! Stef and Izzy (& Margo, obviously) – I don't even know where to start with how grateful I am for everything you have both done for me throughout this process and even more so over the past 12 months. This has been possibly the most challenging year of my life (you do not expect a ruptured ACL and a global pandemic to get involved in the thesis write-up phase) and I'm sorry to have fooled you into moving in with me and having to put up with the stress! Thank you for being there with a cuttla to celebrate every milestone along the way (no matter how small), for dealing with every tally, for PhD Support Services, for always believing that maybe one day I'd make it to the end of this thing... and for paying the rent! Kath – we have spent an unknown amount of time on the phone discussing this thesis and I am extremely grateful for all of the support you have given throughout this process; you and Coley have always been there and the idea of inviting myself over for dinner on a Friday night got me through a lot of tough PhD weeks! I can't wait to read this to Charlie to help get him to sleep one day! AJ – thank you for all of the exercise breaks / recent puppy distractions that have helped keep me sane throughout the whole PhD journey!

Finally, a massive thank you to my family, for everything. Dan and Tori – you guys have always supported me and I'm grateful for your (sometimes bad) influence on my life. To Mum and Dad, you have always believed in me and I am so lucky to have your unconditional love and support. There are quite simply no words to express how grateful I am for everything you have done for me, and I owe everything to you both.

DEDICATION

Grandad- this thesis is dedicated to you. I'm sorry that it took so long, and that you are sadly not around to see me finish it (or sift through it to find some mistakes)... although you would have probably questioned why a thesis about hydration doesn't include any information regarding the importance of beer! Your support (both financial and emotional) helped me get to this point; knowing how proud you were has been a constant source of motivation to get me through, and for that I will be forever grateful.

PUBLICATIONS AND AWARDS

Publications arising from this thesis

• Marshall, H., Gibson, O.R., Romer, L.M., Illidi, C., Hull, J.H., Kippelen, P. Systemic but not local rehydration restores dehydration-induced changes in pulmonary function in healthy adults (*Journal of Applied Physiology*; 130: 517–527; 2021).

Conference Presentations

- Marshall H., Gibson O.R., Romer L.M., Hull J.H., Kippelen P. (2019) Systemic but not local rehydration restores dehydration-induced alterations in lung function in healthy adults. *European College of Sport Sciences Annual Congress, Prague* (Oral Presentation).
- Marshall H., Gibson O.R., Romer L.M., Hull J.H., Kippelen P (2018) Effects of systemic dehydration and subsequent systemic or local rehydration on lung function in healthy individuals (2018). *British Thoracic Society Winter Meeting, London* (Poster and Oral Presentation).
- Marshall H. (2018). Effects of whole-body dehydration on lung function in healthy adults. *Brunel Research student Poster Conference 2018*.
- Marshall H. (2018). Does dehydration impair lung function in healthy individuals? *3 Minute Thesis University Finals*.

Awards

- Vice-Chancellor's Travel Prize for Postgraduate Research (Brunel University London; 2019). A competitive prize awarded to support doctoral researchers in communicating and disseminating high quality research to wider audiences.
- Third prize poster: Brunel Research student Poster Conference (2018) Third place prize awarded for poster conference within the Brunel University Postgraduate school.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Cha	pter 1 Introduction	1
Cha	pter 2 Literature review	4
2.1	Dehydration and body fluid balance	4
2.1	.1 Body fluid balance	4
2.1	.2 Changes in total body water	7
2.1	.3 Physiological and health responses to dehydration in humans	18
2.2	The human pulmonary system	19
2.2	.1 Anatomy of the pulmonary system	19
2.2	.2 Functions of the pulmonary system	22
2.2	.3 Movement of water in the pulmonary system: molecular and cellular	
inf	luences	27
2.2	.4 Changes in airway surface liquid hydration: the consequences	31
2.2	.5 Influence of systemic and airway hydration on pulmonary function	33
2.3	Exercise and the pulmonary system	
2.4	Ventilatory limitation during exercise	41
2.4	.1 Pulmonary gas exchange impairment	42
2.4	.2 Respiratory muscle fatigue	44
2.4	.3 Expiratory flow limitation and dynamic hyperinflation	45
2.4	.4 Factors influencing ventilatory limitation	49
2.5	Overall summary of the literature	57
2.6	Thesis aims and hypotheses	58
Cha	pter 3 General methods	59
3.1	Ethical approval	59
3.2	Particinants	
3.2	.1 Participant recruitment	
3.2	.2 Pre-participation	60
• •	Deuticinent above stevistics	(0
3.3	1 Anthromometry stature	0U
2.3 2.3	2 Anthronometry: stature	60
5.5	.2 Anunopoineu y. oody mass	00
3.4	Control measures and standardisation	60
3.4	.1 Pre-trial restrictions	61
~ 4	.2 Diurnal variation	
3.4		
3.4 3.5	Dehydration protocols	61
3.4 3.5 3.5	Dehydration protocols	61
3.4 3.5 3.5 3.5	Dehydration protocols .1 Exercise .2 Cycle ergometry	61
3.4 3.5 3.5 3.5 3.5	Dehydration protocols .1 Exercise .2 Cycle ergometry .3 Exercise in the heat	61 61 62
3.4 3.5 3.5 3.5 3.5 3.5	Dehydration protocols .1 Exercise .2 Cycle ergometry .3 Exercise in the heat .4 Incremental exercise test	61 61 62 63
3.4 3.5 3.5 3.5 3.5 3.5 3.6	Dehydration protocols .1 Exercise .2 Cycle ergometry .3 Exercise in the heat .4 Incremental exercise test Ventilatory parameters during exercise	61 61 62 63 63

3.6.2	Breath-by-breath analysis	64 65
3.0.5		
3. 7 H	ydration status	60
3./.1	Luing a grandla lity	00 (0
3.7.2	Urine osmolality	
3.7.3	Fluid replacement	/0
3.8 P	ulmonary function	71
3.8.1	Impulse oscillometry	71
3.8.2	Spirometry	73
3.8.3	Whole body plethysmography	74
3.9 O	ther physiological measurements	77
3.9.1	Heart rate	77
3.9.2	Core temperature	77
3.9.3	Oxygen saturation	78
3.10	Perceptual scales	78
3.10.1	Breathing discomfort	78
3.10.2	Rating of perceived exertion	79
3 11	Statistical analysis	79
3 11 1	Sample size determination	79 79
3.11.2	Statistical significance	
3.11.3	Tests of normality	
3.11.4	Analysis of Variance (ANOVA)	80
3.11.4 3.11.5	Analysis of Variance (ANOVA) Post hoc analysis	80 81
3.11.4 3.11.5	Analysis of Variance (ANOVA) Post hoc analysis	80 81
3.11.4 3.11.5 Chapt	Analysis of Variance (ANOVA) Post hoc analysis er 4 Inter-day repeatability and intra-day	80
3.11.4 3.11.5 Chapt reprod	Analysis of Variance (ANOVA) Post hoc analysis er 4 Inter-day repeatability and intra-day ducibility in pulmonary function in healthy adults	80 81 82
3.11.4 3.11.5 Chapt reprod 4.1 A	Analysis of Variance (ANOVA) Post hoc analysis er 4 Inter-day repeatability and intra-day ducibility in pulmonary function in healthy adults bstract	80 81
3.11.4 3.11.5 Chapt reprod 4.1 A 4.2 In	Analysis of Variance (ANOVA) Post hoc analysis ter 4 Inter-day repeatability and intra-day ducibility in pulmonary function in healthy adults bstract	80
3.11.4 3.11.5 Chapt reprod 4.1 A 4.2 Ir	Analysis of Variance (ANOVA) Post hoc analysis ter 4 Inter-day repeatability and intra-day ducibility in pulmonary function in healthy adults bstract	80
3.11.4 3.11.5 Chapt reprod 4.1 A 4.2 Ir 4.3 M	Analysis of Variance (ANOVA) Post hoc analysis ter 4 Inter-day repeatability and intra-day ducibility in pulmonary function in healthy adults bstract htroduction	80
3.11.4 3.11.5 Chapt reprod 4.1 A 4.2 Ir 4.3 M 4.3.1	Analysis of Variance (ANOVA) Post hoc analysis ter 4 Inter-day repeatability and intra-day ducibility in pulmonary function in healthy adults bstract	80 81 82 82 82 83 84 84
3.11.4 3.11.5 Chapt reprod 4.1 A 4.2 Ir 4.3 M 4.3.1 4.3.2 4.2 2	Analysis of Variance (ANOVA) Post hoc analysis	80
3.11.4 3.11.5 Chapt reprod 4.1 A 4.2 Ir 4.3 M 4.3.1 4.3.2 4.3.3 4.3.4	Analysis of Variance (ANOVA) Post hoc analysis ter 4 Inter-day repeatability and intra-day ducibility in pulmonary function in healthy adults bstract htroduction	80
3.11.4 3.11.5 Chapt reprod 4.1 A 4.2 Ir 4.3 M 4.3.1 4.3.2 4.3.3 4.3.4 4.3.5	Analysis of Variance (ANOVA) Post hoc analysis ter 4 Inter-day repeatability and intra-day ducibility in pulmonary function in healthy adults bstract htroduction lethod Participants Experimental design Hydration status Pulmonary function Statistical analysis	80 81 82 82 82 83 83
3.11.4 3.11.5 Chapt reprod 4.1 A 4.2 Ir 4.3 M 4.3.1 4.3.2 4.3.3 4.3.4 4.3.5	Analysis of Variance (ANOVA) Post hoc analysis	
3.11.4 3.11.5 Chapt reprod 4.1 A 4.2 Ir 4.3 M 4.3.1 4.3.2 4.3.3 4.3.4 4.3.5 4.4 R	Analysis of Variance (ANOVA) Post hoc analysis	
3.11.4 3.11.5 Chapt reprod 4.1 A 4.2 Ir 4.3 M 4.3.1 4.3.2 4.3.3 4.3.4 4.3.5 4.4 R 4.4.1	Analysis of Variance (ANOVA) Post hoc analysis	
3.11.4 3.11.5 Chapt reprod 4.1 A 4.2 Ir 4.3 M 4.3.1 4.3.2 4.3.3 4.3.4 4.3.5 4.4 R 4.4.1 4.4.2	Analysis of Variance (ANOVA) Post hoc analysis	
3.11.4 3.11.5 Chapt reprod 4.1 A 4.2 Ir 4.3 M 4.3.1 4.3.2 4.3.3 4.3.4 4.3.5 4.4 R 4.4.1 4.4.2 4.4.3	Analysis of Variance (ANOVA) Post hoc analysis	
3.11.4 3.11.5 Chapt reprod 4.1 A 4.2 Ir 4.3 M 4.3.1 4.3.2 4.3.3 4.3.4 4.3.5 4.4 R 4.4.1 4.4.2 4.4.3 4.4.3 4.5 D	Analysis of Variance (ANOVA) Post hoc analysis rer 4 Inter-day repeatability and intra-day ducibility in pulmonary function in healthy adults bstract	
3.11.4 3.11.5 Chapt reprod 4.1 A 4.2 Ir 4.3 M 4.3.1 4.3.2 4.3.3 4.3.4 4.3.5 4.4 R 4.4.1 4.4.2 4.4.3 4.4.3 4.5 D 4.5.1	Analysis of Variance (ANOVA) Post hoc analysis rer 4 Inter-day repeatability and intra-day ducibility in pulmonary function in healthy adults bstract	
3.11.4 3.11.5 Chapt reprod 4.1 A 4.2 Ir 4.3 M 4.3.1 4.3.2 4.3.3 4.3.4 4.3.5 4.4 R 4.4.1 4.4.2 4.4.3 4.4.1 4.4.2 4.4.3 4.5 D 4.5.1 4.5.2	Analysis of Variance (ANOVA) Post hoc analysis rer 4 Inter-day repeatability and intra-day ducibility in pulmonary function in healthy adults bstract	
3.11.4 3.11.5 Chapt reprod 4.1 A 4.2 Ir 4.3 M 4.3.1 4.3.2 4.3.3 4.3.4 4.3.5 4.4 R 4.4.1 4.4.2 4.4.3 4.5 D 4.5.1 4.5.2 4.5.3	Analysis of Variance (ANOVA) Post hoc analysis er 4 Inter-day repeatability and intra-day lucibility in pulmonary function in healthy adults bstract	
3.11.4 3.11.5 Chapt reprod 4.1 A 4.2 Ir 4.3 M 4.3.1 4.3.2 4.3.3 4.3.4 4.3.5 4.4 R 4.4.1 4.4.2 4.4.3 4.4.3 4.5 D 4.5.1 4.5.2 4.5.3 4.5.4	Analysis of Variance (ANOVA) Post hoc analysis er 4 Inter-day repeatability and intra-day lucibility in pulmonary function in healthy adults bstract	

Cha dehy	pter 5 Systemic but not local rehydration restore ydration-induced changes in pulmonary function in	s n healthy
adul	lts	100
5.1	Abstract	100
5.2	Introduction	101
5.3	Methods	102
5.3.	1 Ethical approval	
5.3.	2 Participants	
5.3.	3 Experimental overview	
5.3.	4 Hydration status	
5.3.	5 Pulmonary function	
5.3.	6 Dehydration protocols	105
5.3.	7 Rehydration protocols	106
5.3.	8 Statistical power	
5.3.	9 Statistical analysis	106
5 4	D	107
5.4	Lesticianute	
5.4.	2 Dehydration materials	107
5.4. 5.4	2 Dehydration protocols	107
5.4.	A Spinometry	100
5.4.	5 Whole body plathygmography	111
5.4. 5.4	6 Correlation analysis	114
5.4.		
5.5	Discussion	119
5.5.	1 Comparison to previous research	119
5.5.	2 Interpretation of findings	121
5.5.	3 Methodological considerations	122
5.5.	4 Clinical and functional significance	123
5.5.	5 Conclusion	123
Cha puln phys	pter 6 Effect of moderate dehydration on resting nonary function and ventilatory responses to exerc sically active adults	cise in 125
6.1	Abstract	125
6.2	Introduction	125
6.3	Method	
6.3.	1 Ethical approval	
6.3.	2 Participants	
6.3.	3 Experimental design	
6.3.	4 Hydration status	
6.3.	5 Pulmonary function	
6.3.	6 Cardiopulmonary exercise test (CPET)	
6.3.	7 Operating lung volumes	
6.3.	8 Exercise in the heat	
6.3.	9 Statistical power	131
6.3.	10 Statistical analysis	132

6.4	Results	132
6.4	.1 Participants	132
6.4	.2 Hydration status	133
6.4	.3 Ventilatory, physiological and perceptual responses to exercise in the he	eat.134
6.4	.4 Pulmonary function	138
6.4	.5 Cardiopulmonary exercise tests (CPET)	145
6.5	Discussion	157
6.5	.1 Overview of results	157
6.5	.2 Moderate dehydration and resting pulmonary function	157
6.5	.3 Ventilatory and perceptual response to dehydration during CPET	159
6.5	.4 Strengths and limitations of research	160
6.5	.5 Functional and clinical relevance and future research	161
0.3	.o Conclusion	102
Cha	pter 7 General discussion	163
7.1	- Key findings	163
7.2	Effect of dehydration on pulmonary function	165
7.3	Mechanistic overview	16 7
/.5	2 Plagma asmolality	168
1.5	.2 Flashia oshiolality	109
7.4	Functional implications for exercise	172
7.5	Methodological considerations	173
7.5	.1 Assessment of small airway function	173
7.5	.2 Exercise protocol	174
7.6	Directions for future research	175
7.7	Conclusion	177
Cha	pter 8 References	178
Cha	nter 0 Annendices	215
Cha	ipter 7 Appendices	
9.1	Appendix A	215
9.2	Appendix B	217
9.3	Appendix C	218
9.4	Appendix D	220
9.5	Appendix E	221
9.6	Appendix F	222
9.7	Appendix G	224

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 2.2. Fractional losses of water from plasma, interstitial and intracellular fluid compartments at progressive levels of dehydration. Taken from (Costill et al., 1976)......9

Figure 2.3. A schematic representation of the major organs of the pulmonary system, displayed as the upper and lower respiratory tracts (Tu et al., 2013)......20

Figure 2.4. Generations of the human airways – the first sixteen generations make up the conducting zone, and the last seven make up the transitional and respiratory zones (also referred to as the respiratory zone). Taken from McNulty & Usmani (2014)......21

Figure 2.5. A schematic representation of the bronchial circulation (Kalhoff, 2003).22

Figure 2.10. Changes in mucociliary transport rates as a result of ASL volume depletion. Normal hydration of the ASL allows mucociliary transport to continue at its normal rate (left), however, dehydration of the ASL causes adhesion of mucus to the airway surface, and subsequently prevents mucociliary clearance from occurring (Randell and Boucher, 2006).

Figure 2.12. The normal ventilatory response to exercise, representing the three-phase response: I) the rapid increase in \dot{V}_E at the onset of exercise, II) a slow exponential increase in \dot{V}_E , and III) a steady state of \dot{V}_E . From Caruana-Montaldo et al., (2000).40

Figure 5.2. Changes in forced vital capacity (FVC) following fluid restriction- and exercise- induced dehydration, and at 15, 35 and 60 min of systemic (oral fluid intake) and

Figure 7.3. Model representation of the proposed mechanism of dehydration-induced pulmonary alteration. The green box represents factors implemented and the red boxes represent factors directly measured within this thesis. The increased plasma osmolality induced by systemic water loss is detected by the epithelial cells. This, in turn, alters water supply to the airways and modifies airway surface liquid composition and content. Changes to airway surface liquid have previously been implicated in airway instability and premature airway collapse. Therefore, small airway function is likely to get compromised, as demonstrated by reductions in FVC and elevations in RV and FRC in this thesis. 171

LIST OF TABLES

Table 2.1. Representative comparison of severity of dehydration induced via multiple fluid loss methods
Table 2.2. Overview of previous studies investigating the effect of dehydration on pulmonary function, and the magnitude of change
Table 2.3. The impact of dehydration upon ventilatory parameters at rest and during exercise
Table 3.1. Names and definitions of ventilatory parameters presented within this thesis.64
Table 3.2. Measurement error for blood sample analysis at baseline (euhydrated) across four experimental visits Chapter 5
Table 3.3. Definitions and application of IOS parameters reported within this thesis73
Table 4.1. Inter-day variability of resting pulmonary function measurements in ten healthy adults (two females).
Table 4.2. Spirometry and whole body plethysmography measurements recorded at 09:15 $\pm 1:00$ h (AM), 13:15 $\pm 1:00$ h (PM1) and 14:30 $\pm 1:00$ h (PM2) in ten healthy participants(two females)
Table 5.1. Average physiological responses throughout 2 h of exercise in the heat with nofluid replacement $(n=10)$.108
Table 5.2. Hydration status at baseline, immediately after fluid restriction- and exercise-induced dehydration and following systemic and local (airway) rehydration ($n = 10$)110
Table 5.3. Spirometry data at baseline, after fluid restriction- and exercise- induced dehydration, and at 15, 35 and 60 min of systemic and local (airway) rehydration $(n = 9)$. 113
Table 5.4. Whole body plethysmography data at baseline, after fluid-restriction- and exercise- induced dehydration, and after 60 min of systemic and local (airway) rehydration $(n = 10)$
Table 6.1. Markers of hydration status before (baseline) and after (Post CPET-2) 2 h of exercise in the heat with (euhydration) and without (dehydration) fluid intake in eleven healthy physically-active individuals (four females)

Table 9.1. Detailed statistical output from the 3-way repeated measure ANOVA performed in Chapter 5 for hydration parameters, spirometry, and whole body plethysmography...222

Table 9.2 Detailed statistical output from the 3-way repeated measure ANOVA performed

 in Chapter 6 for ventilatory, physiological, and perceptual responses to CPET in the

 dehydration and euhydration conditions.

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

°C	Degrees Celsius	Min	Minutes
ANOVA	Analysis of variance	mL	Millilitre
AQP	Aquaporin	Mm	Millimetre
ASL	Airway surface liquid	mOsm	Milliosmoles
ATS	American Thoracic Society	MVV	Maximal voluntary ventilation
A _x	Area of reactance	Na ⁺	Sodium
CFTR	Cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance regulator	O_2	Oxygen
CI	Confidence interval	DLCO	Diffusing capacity of the lung for carbon monoxide
Cl	Chloride	CV	Coefficient of variation
CO ₂	Carbon dioxide	PaO ₂	Partial pressure of alveolar oxygen
COPD	Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease	PEF	Peak expiratory flow
СРЕТ	Cardiopulmonary exercise testing	PO ₂	Partial pressure of oxygen
ECF	Extracellular fluid	POmax	Maximum power output
EELV	End expiratory lung volume	Posm	Plasma osmolality
EFL	Expiratory flow limitation	PV	Plasma volume
EIB	Exercise induced bronchoconstriction	R ₂₀	Respiratory resistance at 20 Hz
EILV	End inspiratory lung volume	R ₅	Respiratory resistance at 5 Hz
ENAC	Epithelial sodium channel	RER	Respiratory exchange ratio
ERS	European Respiratory Society	RH	Relative humidity
ERV	Expiratory reserve volume	RPE	Rating of perceived exertion
FEF ₂₅	Expiratory flow at 25% of forced vital capacity	X5	Respiratory reactance at 5 Hz
FEF ₂₅₋₇₅	Mid-expiratory flow	SD	Standard deviation
FEF ₅₀	Expiratory flow at 50% of forced vital capacity	A-aDO ₂	Alveolar-arterial oxygen difference
FEF ₇₅	Expiratory flow at 75% of forced vital capacity	SpO ₂	Oxygen saturation

FEV ₁	Forced expiratory volume in one second	RV	Residual volume
FRC	Functional residual capacity	sRaw	Specific airway resistance
Fres	Resonant frequency	Tcore	Core temperature
FVC	Forced vital capacity	T _E	Expiratory time
f b	Breathing frequency	Ti	Inspiratory time
h	Hour	T _i /T _{tot}	Inspiratory duty cycle
\mathbf{H}^{+}	Hydrogen	TLC	Total lung capacity
H ₂ O	Water	Ттот	Total time of breath
Hb	Haemoglobin	Uosm	Urine osmolality
Hct	Haematocrit	USG	Urine specific gravity
HR	Heart rate	VC	Vital capacity
IC	Inspiratory capacity	PFT	Pulmonary function test
ICC	Intraclass correlation	ΫCO 2	Volume carbon dioxide produced
ICF	Intracellular fluid	$\dot{\mathbf{V}}_{\mathbf{E}}$	Minute ventilation
IOS	Impulse oscillometry	ΫO ₂	Volume of oxygen uptake
IRV	Inspiratory reserve volume	VO 2max	Maximal oxygen uptake
Kg	Kilogram	VT	Tidal volume
L	Litre	W	Watts

Chapter 1 Introduction

Water, an essential nutrient for maintenance of physiological function, makes up ~60% of the human body (Jéquier and Constant, 2010). Dehydration defines a deficit in total body water and can occur as a result of various external and internal stressors (Cheuvront and Kenefick, 2014). Whilst total body water loss can fluctuate on a daily basis by <1%, deficits of >2% body mass can have a negative impact upon various physiological functions in humans. Amongst others, dehydration has been shown to impact cardiovascular (González-Alonso et al., 1997; Stöhr et al., 2011), thermoregulatory (Adams et al., 2018; Logan-Sprenger et al., 2015; Sawka et al., 2001), and cognitive (Bar-David et al., 2005; Ganio et al., 2011) functions, as well as to limit endurance exercise performance (Fallowfield et al., 1996; James et al., 2017; Sawka et al., 2015). In particular, dehydration appears to become detrimental in circumstances that challenge the cardiovascular system, such as in warm/hot environments (González-Alonso, 1998; Kenefick et al., 2010) and during prolonged physical activity (González-Alonso et al., 1997). There is evidence to suggest that the greater the severity of dehydration, the greater the negative alterations upon human physiological systems and functions (Baker et al., 2007; Logan-Sprenger et al., 2013; Sawka et al., 2007)

Many individuals are at risk of dehydration on a daily basis. Athletes (Sawka et al., 2007), firefighters (Horn et al., 2012; Walker et al., 2016), military personnel (Moore et al., 2016; Stacey et al., 2015), and older adults (Lavizzo-Mourey, 1987; Lavizzo-Mourey et al., 1988; Rolls and Phillips, 1990) often experience dehydration, and are therefore commonly exposed to the negative consequences associated with systemic fluid loss. Dehydration in hot conditions has been consistently associated with impaired aerobic performance (Armstrong et al., 1985; Ebert et al., 2007; McConell et al., 1997; Stearns et al., 2009), and has been cited as a key contributor to physical collapse in marathon runners (Kenefick and Sawka, 2007). In addition to the aforementioned physical performance impairments, Carter *et al.*, (2005) demonstrated that 17% of 5,246 US Army soldiers hospitalised with heat illness from 1980–2002 were suffering from dehydration. Further, in a cohort study of 42,553 elderly patients, 9% were dehydrated upon admission to hospital (El-Sharkawy *et al.*, 2017). Dehydration in elderly patients admitted to hospital was associated with an increased length of stay (ranging from 4-19 days with, and 1-8 days without dehydration)

and higher risk of death, whereby patients diagnosed with dehydration were twice as likely to die in hospital compared to patients without dehydration (El-Sharkawy et al., 2017). The pulmonary system is one of the most important physiological systems in the human body and is vital for human function. However, in contrast to other physiological systems including cardiovascular, cerebral, and skeletal muscle function (Trangmar and González-Alonso, 2019), limited research has yet been conducted on the effects of whole body water loss on pulmonary function. The only three studies currently available (Govindaraj, 1972; Javaheri et al., 1987; Simpson et al., 2017) presented contrasting findings (i.e., improvements *vs* impairments in pulmonary function) following induced dehydration in healthy and clinical populations.

Water is fundamental to the function of the pulmonary system and influences the composition and content of the airway surface liquid (ASL, i.e. a thin layer of fluid involved in maintaining airway homeostasis (Haq et al., 2016) and the removal of inhaled foreign particles (Boucher, 2003; Knowles and Boucher, 2002), and thereby contributes to maintenance of airway stability (Chen et al., 2019). Whether maintaining systemic water balance is essential to preserve pulmonary function remains controversial. Further, optimal functioning of the lungs ensures adequate oxygen (O₂) delivery, which is vital for performing physical activity; yet no research thus far has established whether the exercise ventilatory response is compromised in a state of dehydration. Understanding this response would be relevant to athletic and clinical populations (particularly, in those with pre-existing lung conditions), as ventilatory limitations to exercise have been observed in both these populations (Phillips and Stickland, 2019). In particular, it could lead to: more specific research interventions; contribute to novel clinical treatment and disease management; and assist coaches and practitioners with understanding and designing optimal hydration strategies.

Therefore, the main aims of this thesis were to:

- *i)* determine the effect of mild and moderate systemic dehydration upon resting pulmonary function in healthy young adults;
- *ii)* compare the efficacy of local *versus* systemic rehydration in restoring baseline pulmonary function;

iii) evaluate the functional and perceptual implications of dehydration-induced pulmonary changes during exercise in young trained adults.

By implementing various dehydration and rehydration methods, the objective of this thesis was to provide novel mechanistic insights into the role and regulation of water within the healthy airways.

Chapter 2 Literature review

2.1 Dehydration and body fluid balance

2.1.1 Body fluid balance

Water is the primary chemical constituent of the human body – accounting for 45-70% of total body mass in the average adult (Edelman and Leibman, 1959). Water plays an essential role in physiological functioning, including temperature regulation (Montain, Latzka and Sawka, 1995), and cardiovascular function (Roy et al., 2000). Total body fluid consists of intracellular (ICF) and extracellular fluid (ECF) compartments, which make up ~55% and ~45% of total body water, respectively (Edelman and Leibman, 1959). These fluid compartments govern the distribution of water around the body, and alterations in the water content of any of these compartments results in the redistribution of fluids and an adjustment to the compartmental solute concentrations. The normal distribution of body water across the various fluid compartments in an average adult (~70kg) is demonstrated in Figure 2.1; however, it is important to note that the specific distribution of water varies with: age, total body mass, lean body mass, and sex (Mack and Nadel, 2010), as well as training status (Senay Jr., 1979) and heat acclimation (Gibson et al., 2015; Patterson et al., 2014).

The ECF refers to all fluid outside of the cells and makes up ~20% of total body mass. The ECF consists of both intravascular and extravascular fluid spaces and is divided into five main subsections: a) plasma, b) rapidly equilibrating interstitial and lymph fluid, c) slow equilibrating interstitial fluid and dense connective tissue and cartilage, d) interstitial fluid in bone (inaccessible), and e) transcellular fluid. The interstitial fluid (~75% of ECF) and the plasma (~25% of ECF) are the two largest compartments of the ECF. Plasma is the non-cellular component of the blood and constantly exchanges substances with the interstitial fluid through pores of the capillary membrane. These pores are highly permeable to almost all solutes within the ECF, except for proteins. As a result, all compartments of the ECF have approximately the same composition, whilst the plasma has a higher protein concentration (Edelman and Leibman, 1959; Mack and Nadel, 2010). Water moves freely between compartments via an osmotic gradient (from areas of high solute concentration to areas of low solute concentration) in a process known as osmosis; this process is constant to ensure adequate fluid balance is maintained (Hall and Guyton, 2011).



Figure 2.1. Distribution of total body water between the intracellular (blue outline) and the extracellular (red outline) compartments. The extracellular fluid compartment is divided into 5 subsections [a) plasma, b) rapidly equilibrating interstitial and lymph fluid, c) slow equilibrating interstitial fluid and dense connective tissue and cartilage, d) interstitial fluid in bone (inaccessible), and e) transcellular fluid], and makes up ~55% of total body water [redrawn from Edelman and Leibman (1959)].

The ECF contains large concentrations of sodium, chloride, and bicarbonate ions, as well as nutrients for the cells, such as oxygen, glucose, fatty acids, and amino acids (Hall and Guyton, 2011). The ECF also contains carbon dioxide (CO₂) that is being transported from the cells to the lungs for removal (Arthurs and Sudhakar, 2008), and waste products, such as creatinine, nitrogen, urea, and uric acid (McCorry, 2008) that are transported to the kidneys for excretion (Kurts et al., 2013). The ions and nutrients found in ECF are integral for the maintenance of cell life. The ECF moves continuously around the body, is transported rapidly in the circulating blood, and diffuses through the capillary walls to enter the tissues.

The ICF differs substantially to the ECF in terms of its content. The ICF contains large amounts of potassium, magnesium, and phosphate ions (Porth, 2007), and its volume remains relatively stable, as cells require water for normal cellular function (Bray, 1993). If the volume of ICF reduces significantly, the cytosol can become too concentrated with

solutes to continue with normal cellular function. In contrast, if too much water enters the ICF, the cells can burst or become destroyed, which is known as cell cytolysis. The maintenance of stable ICF volume is therefore key for normal cellular function in humans. Numerous mechanisms involving the major organs in the body (i.e., lungs, kidneys, and gastrointestinal system) work constantly to maintain ion concentrations and fluid balance within the body. The movement of ECF and ICF ensures the maintenance of homeostasis, and thus the mechanisms controlling these movements are vital. The primary mechanism regulating the movement of ECF and ICF is the blood passing through the capillaries, allowing a continual exchange of ECF between the plasma portion of the blood, and the interstitial fluid that fills the intercellular spaces. The ECF is transported to all parts of the body in two stages: firstly, via the blood vessels, and secondly via the blood capillaries and intracellular spaces between the tissues cells (Gauer et al., 1970). The permeability of the capillary walls allows this movement, and aids the diffusion of large amounts of fluid back and forth between the blood and the tissue spaces (Pappenheimer, 1953). Water is the solvent in which organic and inorganic solutes are dissolved and made available for transportation between sites (Haussinger, 1996; Jéquier and Constant, 2010). The organic solutes consist mainly of nutrients and by-products of metabolism, whereas the inorganic solutes include O₂, CO₂, and electrolytes (i.e., sodium, chloride, phosphate, potassium and magnesium) (Mack and Nadel, 2010).

Approximately 5-10% of total body water is turned over daily via obligatory non-exercise fluid loss avenues (Raman et al., 2004). Body water is lost continuously via various mechanisms. Insensible water loss describes water lost from mechanisms that are not precisely regulated and occur unconsciously to the individual; this includes evaporative water loss (the rate of loss via this mechanism is highly variable and dependent upon the environmental conditions, activity undertaken and clothing worn); diffusion of water through the skin (~300-400 mL·day⁻¹); and respiratory water loss [~ 300-400 mL·day⁻¹ (Bossingham et al., 2005)]. The volume of water lost from the respiratory tract can vary based upon: physical activity, air temperature and humidity, and changes in minute ventilation (\dot{V}_E) (Daviskas et al., 1990). A substantial increase in the volume of respiratory water loss may not only affect fluid homeostasis, but has also been shown to trigger episodes of bronchoconstriction (Anderson and Daviskas, 2000; Sheppard and Eschenbacher, 1984), highlighting the importance of adequate fluid balance. Sweating also contributes to daily water loss; this will average ~100 mL·day⁻¹ during normal temperate environmental conditions at rest. The volume of water loss through sweating can rise to $\sim 1.5 \text{ L}\cdot\text{hour}^{-1}$ in a healthy unacclimatised male during exercise, but may reach 2-3 L·hour¹ in a highly trained acclimatised individual exercising in hot humid conditions (Gisolfi, 1993). To the author's knowledge, the highest recorded sweat rate in man was 3.71 L·hour¹ ($\sim 13\%$ body mass), which occurred during the 1984 Olympic marathon in the USA (Armstrong et al., 1986). Exposure to extreme heat and/or strenuous exercise will lead to an increase in sweat rate (Bergeron, 2003; Maughan et al., 2005; Speedy et al., 2001). Normal daily faecal water loss is relatively low and remains relatively constant at $\sim 100 \text{ mL}\cdot\text{day}^{-1}$ (Newburgh et al., 1930). The remaining water loss is controlled by urine excretion through the kidneys, which ensure that the correct amount of water and electrolytes are excreted, and thus adequate fluid balance and overall hydration are maintained (Bankir et al., 1989).

To ensure that the water lost is adequately replaced, two main sources contribute to adding water to the body. Firstly, water is ingested as liquid, or as water in food; this accounts for ~90% of daily water intake (a desired volume of ~2100 mL water·day⁻¹). Secondly, water is synthesised in the body from oxidation of carbohydrates – accounting for ~200 mL·day⁻¹ (Buskirk and Puhl, 1996; Sawka et al., 2005). However, these values can vary greatly between and within individuals, depending on environmental temperature, physical characteristics, and physical activity levels (Bergeron, 2003; Broad et al., 1996; Sawka et al., 2007).

2.1.2 Changes in total body water

Changes in total body water (excess loss *and* excess gain), and subsequent changes in fluid balance can occur under various circumstances and can involve various external stressors. The process of losing body water is known as dehydration, whereas the state of excess water loss is known as hypohydration – both terms are used interchangeably throughout the literature and from this point forward, will be referred to as either 'dehydration' or 'dehydrated'. The type of dehydration induced can vary in terms of the magnitude of fluid loss (i.e., mild – severe dehydration) and type of fluid loss (i.e., movement from the intracellular and/or extracellular fluid compartments). The two primary types of dehydration are hypertonic-hypovolemia and isotonic-hypovolemia. Hypertonic-hypovolemia occurs as a result of sweat loss (i.e. during exercise or from a fever) or prolonged fluid restriction leading to >2% body mass loss (Bartok et al., 2004; Costill et

al., 1976; Popowski et al., 2001), and leads to a significant increase in plasma osmolality (P_{osm}) and small ratio of plasma to total body water loss (~1:10) (Cheuvront et al., 2013; Nose et al., 1988b). Isotonic-hypovolemia, on the other hand, occurs as a result of diuretic administration (Kimura et al., 1976; Roy et al., 2000), and cold and/or altitude exposure (Hoyt and Honig, 2011; Young et al., 1986). This type of dehydration leads to significant solute losses (Cheuvront et al., 2013), and therefore leads to little change in P_{osm} but large alterations in plasma volume.

Slight changes in body water content and total body water can play an important role in the normal physiological functioning of the human body. Dehydration is commonly categorised into mild (1-3% body mass loss), moderate (3-5% body mass loss), and severe (>5% body mass loss) (Cheuvront and Kenefick, 2014). With progressive fluid loss, relative changes occur between the fluid compartments, and there are alterations to the volumes of the interstitial, intracellular and plasma compartments. Figure 2.2, taken from Costill, Cote and Fink, (1976), demonstrates the fractional losses of water from those three compartments with progressive levels of dehydration. It is shown that from mild (-2.2% total body water loss) to moderate (-4.1% total body water loss) dehydration induced via exercise in a warm environment, the fluid shift from the intracellular compartment is significant: intracellular fluid loss accounts for 30% of total fluid loss at mild dehydration, but increases to ~50% at moderate and severe dehydration. These relative changes to fluid compartments are important to consider when examining the physiological responses to dehydration, and when assessing how movement from specific fluid compartments might contribute to observed changes.



Figure 2.2. Fractional losses of water from plasma, interstitial and intracellular fluid compartments at progressive levels of dehydration. Taken from (Costill et al., 1976).

A reduction of >2% body mass (~3% total body water) can begin to impact upon important biological processes [including, changes in cardiac output (Callegaro et al., 2007; González-Alonso et al., 1995), gastric emptying (Van Nieuwenhoven et al., 2000), and thermoregulatory function (Sawka et al., 2001)]. Further, body water loss has also been shown to impair physical performance (Casa et al., 2010), though this is often contingent on the intensity and duration of the exercise performed (Carlton and Orr, 2015), as well as the environmental conditions the task is performed in (Cheuvront et al., 2010b; Kenefick et al., 2010). Physiological responses occur to compensate for the reduction in total body water: blood and plasma volume slowly decline (Jimenez et al., 1999), and a subsequent prioritisation of blood-flow distribution occurs (González-Alonso et al., 1998). Blood flow is then primarily directed towards the active muscles and organs, to ensure they can

continue to work effectively (González-Alonso et al., 2008). Consequently, blood flow to the skin and sweat glands will be reduced (González-Alonso, Calbet and Nielsen, 1998), which can impair sweating, and thus, impair heat dissipation (Sawka *et al.*, 1985; Montain, Latzka and Sawka, 1995). The increased cardiovascular demand can lead to tachycardia, and the combination of these responses can ultimately culminate in an increase in core temperature [T_{core} ; (Armstrong *et al.*, 1997; González-Alonso, 1998)]. In extreme conditions, dehydration puts individuals at an increased risk of heat-related illness, or even death, due to compromised cardiovascular function and gut barrier permeability when the increase in T_{core} cannot be tolerated by the individual (Armstrong, 2007; Casa et al., 2010; Logan-Sprenger et al., 2015; Sawka et al., 2015).

The assessment of absolute or relative changes in plasma/serum markers (P_{osm} and plasma volume) and/or urinary markers (urine osmolality; U_{osm} , and urine specific gravity) can be implemented to help monitor dehydration (Sawka et al., 2007). Whilst there is currently no official gold standard marker of hydration status, these biological markers - in combination with absolute water loss (measured by body mass change) - can provide an accurate indication of dehydration severity (Armstrong, 2007).

2.1.2.1 Thermal dehydration

In laboratory-based experiments, the most common method of inducing dehydration is by exposing individuals to elevated environmental temperatures, either at rest (Gutierrez et al., 2003; Melin et al., 2001) or during exercise (González-Alonso *et al.*, 1997; Hillman *et al.*, 2011). Understanding the physiological response to these conditions in an artificial but controlled environment (i.e., laboratory-based studies) is important, as passive and active heat stress are two of the most common causes of dehydration. Outside of the laboratory, individuals may be exposed to prolonged and/or unfamiliar elevations in environmental temperature, this is particularly the case during heat-waves (Baccini et al., 2008; D'Ippoliti et al., 2010), in occupational settings (Horn et al., 2012; Tawatsupa et al., 2013), or during exercise (Kenefick and Sawka, 2007). Prolonged exposure to elevated environmental temperatures may lead to an increased risk of dehydration.

The response of the body to thermal discomfort is one which aims to defend against an increase in T_{core} . Humans are homeothermic and attempt to maintain an optimal T_{core} of ~37°C through mechanisms of heat loss and heat gain (Benzinger, 1969). Exposure to

elevated temperatures elicits physiological responses that work to protect the body against severe heat gain and aim to regulate T_{core} at the optimal level. When an individual is exposed to extreme heat, or exercises under cool conditions, T_{core} begins to rise (Galloway and Maughan, 1997). If T_{core} exceeds 37.2°C, the brain's thermoregulatory control centre (i.e. the preoptic anterior hypothalamus) is activated to promote heat loss (Bazett, 1933). Blood flow is redirected to the skin to aid vasodilation and to dissipate heat (Rowell et al., 1969), and the preoptic anterior hypothalamus signals the activation of sweat glands to increase sweat rate, and evaporative heat loss (Saper and Lowell, 2014; Shibasaki and Crandall, 2010). As a result of this increased sweat rate, a consequential reduction in total body water occurs (Sawka et al., 2011), alongside a concurrent increase in Posm. In order to preserve body fluid balance, two homeostatic reflex mechanisms work in conjunction: the antidiuretic hormone (ADH) system, and the thirst response (Zerbe and Robertson, 1983). The primary stimulus for activation of these two mechanisms is the change in Posm that is detected by receptors in the hypothalamus (Robertson and Athar, 1976; Thompson et al., 1986). When the increase in P_{osm} is detected, the sensation of thirst and the release of ADH occur - ADH release means the kidneys will retain more water, and the sensation of thirst encourages the individual to ingest fluid, leading Posm to return to normal euhydrated levels. If the individual does not consume enough fluid to satisfy the thirst response, or if fluid is not available, the individual may not be able to match fluid loss with fluid replacement, and dehydration can subsequently occur.

Passive exposure to extreme heat-stress, combined with reduced fluid intake, can lead to a mild level of dehydration in a short period of time (Table 2.1). Schoffstall et al. (2001) recorded a 1.5% reduction in body mass in power lifters following 60 min of intermittent sauna exposure [60°C, relative humidity (RH) not reported], which was coupled with a significant 8.5% reduction in plasma volume. Similarly, Gutierrez et al. (2003) found a similar degree of dehydration (1.4–1.8% body mass loss) following 60 min of intermittent sauna exposure at 70°C (RH not reported). Although these conditions lack ecological validity for field-based research (due to the extreme temperatures), the direct effects of extreme heat upon hydration status are displayed and provide important information regarding the rate of water loss that can occur in humans.

2.1.2.2 *Exercise-induced dehydration – with and without heat stress*

More ecologically valid conditions (representative of typical fluid loss in the real world) have been utilised in laboratory-based studies investigating the severity of dehydration induced by exercise in the heat. Dehydration severity is largely variable between individuals and heavily influenced by the duration and intensity of exercise (Cramer and Jay, 2016; Notley et al., 2015; Sawka et al., 2007), as well as environmental temperature and humidity (Galloway and Maughan, 1997; Gibson et al., 2014; Maughan et al., 2012). For example, Hillman et al. (2011) explored the effects of exercise, with or without environmental heat stress, on hydration status. Seven male cyclists performed 90 min cycling at 95% lactate threshold, in conditions of 33.9 ± 0.9 °C vs 23.0 ± 0.1 °C. Exerciseinduced dehydration combined with heat stress led to a significant reduction in body mass and plasma volume of 3.8% and 6.3%, respectively. Exercise-induced dehydration without environmental heat stress also led to a reduction in body mass (3.0%) and plasma volume (7.1%), whereas exercise-heat stress with adequate rehydration induced only a 0.2% loss of body mass and 2.7% reduction in plasma volume. These findings highlight the importance of adequate fluid replacement during exercise in hot environments and indicate that combining exercise with heat stress may increase the magnitude of dehydration. Furthermore, commencing exercise in an already dehydrated state also presents a common risk, and can amplify the magnitude of body mass loss to a more severe state (~5%) (Armstrong et al., 1997; Buono and Wall, 2000; Judelson et al., 2007). Table 2.1 summarises the varying magnitudes of dehydration that can be induced via hyperthermia, exercise, and exercise heat-stress.

When heat cannot be dissipated efficiently, the individual is unable to regulate T_{core} at a safe level. The addition of dehydration to this increased T_{core} subsequently increases the rate of heat storage, elevates thermoregulatory strain, and ultimately increases the risk of heat-related illness (Sawka et al., 1985). Montain and Coyle (1992) demonstrated that hyperthermia is directly related to the level of dehydration induced during exercise in a warm environment: after 120 min of moderate intensity exercise (62% of maximal volume of oxygen uptake; $\dot{V}O_{2max}$), T_{core} reached 39.2 ± 0.1°C in the 'no fluid' condition, in comparison to only 38.4 ± 0.1°C when 82% of fluid loss was replaced. These differences in T_{core} highlight the importance of adequate hydration for successful thermoregulation and normal physiological functioning. Thermal dehydration can occur in recreational athletes (Kenefick and Sawka, 2007) and occupational workers (Carter et al., 2005) who are not

provided with the correct provision (i.e., protective clothing, fluid intake, rest breaks, etc.), and/or knowledge to ensure they are adequately prepared for, or protected against, the conditions. Occupational heat stress and associated dehydration is experienced regularly, particularly in military personnel and firefighters (Lucas et al., 2014). Carter et al. (2005) showed that from 1980 to 2002, dehydration was associated with 17% of the 5,246 hospitalisations and 37 deaths from heat-illness in US Army soldiers, highlighting the risks of insufficient fluid replacement.

2.1.2.3 Fluid restriction

Whilst exposure to extreme heat and/or vigorous/prolonged physical activity are often considered the most common methods of dehydration in humans, chronic dehydration can also be caused by prolonged periods of fluid restriction/inadequate fluid replacement. Chronic dehydration is defined by a persistent water deficiency, generally lasting over 24 hours, usually caused by insufficient fluid intake (Bennett et al., 2004). Chronic dehydration can occur in individuals of all ages, with the threat from this form of dehydration heightened in elderly individuals (particularly in nursing homes and hospitals), and children (Bar-David et al., 2005). Bennett et al. (2004) demonstrated that chronic dehydration was present in 89 of the 185 (48%) older individuals admitted to an American hospital in June 2000. It is known that physiological function is compromised in elderly individuals, and aging has been shown to cause, amongst others: a reduced sensation of thirst, decreased activity of renin [an enzyme secreted from kidney cells to help balance sodium and potassium levels in the blood, and fluid levels in the body (Persson, 2003)], and reduced ability of the kidneys to concentrate urine (Kenney and Chiu, 2001; Rowe et al., 1976; Sands, 2009). Consequently, elderly individuals may go for prolonged periods of time without fluid intake and/or may not consume an adequate amount of fluid to replace the volume that is lost daily; this may subsequently put them at increased risk of chronic dehydration. Bar-David, Urkin & Kozminsky, (2005) showed that 32 of 51 (63%) studied school children (age 10-12 years) were dehydrated ($U_{osm} > 800 \text{ mOsm} \cdot \text{kg H}_2\text{O}^{-1}$) in the morning, with the children's noon-time U_{osm} highly related to morning U_{osm}. The poor drinking habits of children can contribute to inducing dehydration and highlights the vulnerability of children to unfavourable changes in body fluid balance.

Research investigating the influence of prolonged fluid restriction (commonly between 24– 37 h) has been shown to induce a comparable level of dehydration (~1.5–2.0% body mass loss) to acute heat/exercise stress (Szinnai et al., 2005). The risk of dehydration induced by prolonged fluid restriction is heightened during summer and/or during episodes of heat waves. As water is lost at a faster rate during periods of heat exposure, the combination of these stressors will ultimately increase the likelihood of dehydration occurring.

Fluid restriction for 16 h has been shown to reduce total body mass by up to $1.2 \pm 0.9\%$ (Govindaraj, 1972), whilst 28 h of restriction led to a loss of >2.5% of total mass (Szinnai et al., 2005). In the latter study, the total body mass loss was gradual, with losses of $1.1 \pm$ 0.5% and 2.6 \pm 0.7% at 24 h and 28 h, respectively. Shirreffs et al. (2004) exposed 15 healthy males to 37 h of fluid restriction, which led to a $1.9 \pm 0.4\%$ reduction in total body mass and a 6.2% reduction in plasma volume. These findings demonstrate that the total loss of body mass over a prolonged period of fluid restriction can be similar to the body mass loss induced by exercising in hot conditions. Though it is important to note that studies investigating prolonged periods of fluid restriction (>24 h in duration) are often unable to avoid the confounding influence of circadian rhythms - whether this influences physiological response to fluid restriction induced dehydration remains unknown, but should be considered when interpreting the reproducibility and repeatability of dehydration-induced alterations in physiological function. Table 2.1 shows a comparison of the dehydration severity induced by fluid restriction, alongside the aforementioned dehydration methods. Whilst the overall change in body mass is similar between methods, it is now important to understand whether the various methods of dehydration and their subsequent impact upon various fluid compartments induce similar changes on pulmonary function in humans.

Author	Activity	Participants	Duration	Intensity	Temperature (°C)	Relative Humidity (%)	Dehydration rate (%.hour ⁻¹)	Δ Body mass (%)	Dehydration severity
Exercise-indu	ced dehydration								
Bachle et al. (2001)	Cycling	4 males 6 females	60 min	$122\pm9~W$	20.6 ± 1.0	72 ± 1	1.0	-1.0	Mild
Cian et al. (2001)	Treadmill running	7 males	2 h	65% V O _{2max}	25.0 - 26.0	35-45	1.4	-2.7 ± 0.3	Mild
Fallowfield et al. (1996)	Treadmill running	4 males 4 females	77.7 ± 7 min	70% VO _{2max}	20.0	-	1.6	-2.0 ± 0.2	Mild
Hillman et al. (2011)	Cycling	7 males	90 min	95% LT	23.0 ± 1.0	-	2.0	-3.0 ± 0.3	Moderate
Melin et al. (2001)	Treadmill running	8 males	120 min	60% VO _{2max}	25.0 - 26.0	30-50	1.4	-2.8	Mild
Passive heat s	stress								
Cian et al. (2001)	Passive heat (chamber)	7 males	2 h	-	45.0 50.0	70 20	1.3	-2.6 ± 0.3	Mild
Melin et al. (2001)	Passive heat (chamber)	8 males	120 min	-	45.0	70	1.4	-2.8	Mild
Gutierrez et al. (2003)	Passive heat (sauna)	6 males	3 x 20 min	-	70.0	-	1.8	-1.8 ± 0.5	Mild

Table 2.1. Representative comparison of severity of dehydration induced via multiple fluid loss methods

Gutierrez et al. (2003)	Passive heat (sauna)	6 females	3 x 20 min	-	70.0	-	1.4	-1.4 ± 0.6	Mild
Schoffstall et al. (2001)	Passive heat (Sauna)	10 males	120 min	-	60.0	-	0.9	-1.7	Mild
Exercise-heat	stress								
Gonzalez- Alonso (1998)	Cycling	7 males	135 ± 4 min	70% VO _{2max}	35.0		2.5	-4.0	Moderate
González- Alonso et al. (1995)	Cycling	7 males	120 min	$\begin{array}{rrr} 62 & \pm & 2\% \\ \dot{V}O_{2max} \end{array}$	35.4 ± 0.2	48 ± 2	2.5	-4.9 ± 0.2	Moderate
González- Alonso et al. (1997)	Cycling	7 males	100-120 min	60% [†] O _{2max x}	35.0	50	2.6	-4.4 ± 0.2	Moderate
Hillman et al. (2011)	Cycling	7 males	90 min	95% LT	33.9 ± 0.9	-	2.5	-3.8 ± 0.3	Moderate
Judelson et al. (2007)	Fluid restriction + Treadmill walking	7 males	24 h 184 ± 4 min	- 1.5 m.s ⁻¹ , 3% incline	- 36.0 - 37.0	- 40-50		-4.8 ± 0.4	Moderate
Trangmar et al. (2014)	Semi- recumbent cycling	10 males	120 min	55% WR _{max}	35.0	50	1.6	-3.1 ± 0.3	Moderate

Simpson et al. (2017)	Cycling Stepping	6 males 4 females	4 x 20 min 4 x 10 min	25% EPP 45 steps.min ⁻¹	37.0	50	1.2	-2.3 ± 0.8	Mild
Fluid restricti	on								
Szinnai et al. (2005)	Fluid restriction	8 males 8 females	28 h	-	22.0	-	0.1	-2.6 ± 0.7	Mild
Govindaraj (1972)	Fluid restriction	20 males	16 h	-	-	-	0.1	-1.2 ± 0.9	Mild
Shirreffs et al. (2004)	Fluid restriction	9 males 6 females	37 h	-	-	-	0.1	-1.9	Mild

W: Watts, VO_{2max}: Maximal volume of oxygen uptake, LT: Lactate threshold, WR_{max}: Maximum work rate, Δ: Change, EPP: Estimated peak power.

2.1.3 Physiological and health responses to dehydration in humans

Research investigating the influence of dehydration upon various physiological and biological functions has demonstrated how thermoregulatory (Sawka et al., 2001), cardiovascular (González-Alonso et al., 2008; Montain and Coyle, 1992), cognitive (Lindseth et al., 2013), and, more recently, cerebrovascular functions (Trangmar et al., 2014) can be compromised by a change in total body water. However, the direct consequences of whole-body dehydration upon pulmonary function have been largely overlooked. This is somewhat surprising given the growing evidence that the pulmonary system of vulnerable populations can be severely compromised in environments that increase the risk of dehydration, such as during heat-waves (Witt et al., 2015).

Whilst there is currently no standard definition of a heat-wave, it is commonly referred to as a prolonged period (> 2-3 days) of abnormally hot weather (McGregor et al., 2015). Exposure to elevated temperatures for a prolonged period has been shown to contribute to increased mortality rates. The 2003 heat-wave in Western Europe led to a significant rise in mortality, with an estimated 2,139 excess deaths in the United Kingdom and Wales (Johnson et al., 2005), 1,316 in Portugal (Nogueira, 2005), 3,134 in Italy (Conti et al., 2005) and a substantial increase of ~14,000 excess deaths in France (Vandentorren et al., 2006). These deaths have been strongly associated with complications associated with cardiovascular, cerebrovascular, and respiratory-related illnesses (D'Ippoliti et al., 2010). Data presented by D'Ippoliti et al. (2010) highlighted that 16.2% of all deaths during heatwaves from 1990-2004 in London were attributable to respiratory causes. Yet, the mechanisms underpinning those respiratory-related deaths remain largely unknown and have received little attention. Epidemiological data has demonstrated how deteriorations in cardiovascular and respiratory related illnesses are two of the primary causes of hospitalisations and deaths during heat waves (D'Ippoliti et al., 2010).

These hospitalisations and deaths most commonly occur towards the end of the heat wave and are likely the result of the cumulative effect of prolonged heat stress upon vulnerable populations. One common side effect of prolonged heat stress is significant fluid loss – i.e. dehydration. Fouillet *et al.*, (2006) detailed that dehydration was the primary cause of 1,628 of the 14,539 excess deaths during the France heat wave of 2003. Since body water is a fundamental component of all physiological function in the human body, it is possible that the dehydration commonly experienced as a result of prolonged heat exposure during heat-
waves may have contributed to the deterioration of pulmonary function, particularly in those individuals with pre-existing medical conditions and/or already compromised organ systems.

The cardiovascular response to dehydration is well-documented (Montain and Coyle, 1992; González-Alonso et al., 1997; González-Alonso, 1998; González-Alonso, Calbet and Nielsen, 1998) – human cardiovascular control can be severely impaired as a result of exercise-induced thermal dehydration. González-Alonso et al. (1995) demonstrated reductions in stroke volume and cardiac output following fluid restricted exercise in the heat (35°C) that caused $4.9 \pm 0.2\%$ loss of body mass. Furthermore, during exerciseinduced dehydration and hyperthermia, circulatory function is blunted, as reflected by reductions in blood flow to skeletal muscle, skin, brain and visceral organs. González-Alonso et al. (1998) showed that exercise in the heat (35°C, 40-50% RH) at $61 \pm 2\% \text{ VO}_{2max}$ led to a reduction in forearm blood flow by $39 \pm 8\%$ when fluid was restricted, in comparison to the euhydrated exercise condition. The resultant physiological strain can subsequently contribute to the elevation in cardiovascular-related hospital admissions and mortality during heat-waves (D'Ippoliti et al., 2010).

In contrast, the effect of dehydration upon pulmonary function, and the mechanisms of any observed response, remain unclear and thus require further investigation. Research is now required to aid the development of a greater understanding regarding i) the role of dehydration upon pulmonary function, and ii) the mechanisms associated with the pulmonary response to body fluid loss.

2.2 The human pulmonary system

To understand how dehydration may impact upon pulmonary function, it is first of interest to review the importance of the pulmonary system in the human body. Understanding the anatomy and function of this system will help to develop our understanding of the potential consequences of water loss.

2.2.1 Anatomy of the pulmonary system

The human pulmonary system contains all organs involved in breathing and can be divided into the upper and lower respiratory tract. This includes: the mouth, nose, pharynx, and larynx (upper respiratory tract), and the trachea, bronchi, bronchiole, alveolar duct and alveoli (lower respiratory tract) (Figure 2.3). Inspired air travels down the airway generations (Figure 2.4), from the 'conducting zone' (where no gas exchange takes place) to the 'transitional and respiratory zones' (where gas exchange occurs) (Weibel, 1963; West, 2013).



Figure 2.3. A schematic representation of the major organs of the pulmonary system, displayed as the upper and lower respiratory tracts (Tu et al., 2013).

The pulmonary system has three main functions: to act as a channel for gases moving to and from the lungs (West, 2013); to protect the lungs against inhaled foreign matter (Schlesinger, 1982); and to control the heat and humidity of the inspired and expired gases (Negus, 1952; Tu et al., 2013). To ensure these functions are met, air is supplied to the lungs by two circulations: the pulmonary and the bronchial circulations (Baile, 1996; West, 2013).



Figure 2.4. Generations of the human airways – the first sixteen generations make up the conducting zone, and the last seven make up the transitional and respiratory zones (also referred to as the respiratory zone). Taken from McNulty & Usmani (2014).

The pulmonary circulation, a low-pressure high-flow circulation, provides blood flow from the heart to the lungs. Deoxygenated blood is carried from the pulmonary artery to the alveolar capillaries, where gas exchanges occurs [with O_2 added and CO_2 removed from the blood, (Hall and Guyton, 2011)]. The oxygenated blood returns to the left atrium of the heart via the pulmonary veins, to be distributed to the rest of the body by the systemic circulation (Hall and Guyton 2011). Whilst the main role of the pulmonary circulation is gas exchange, the bronchial circulation (a high-pressure, low-flow circulation) is responsible for supplying blood to the cells of the lungs (Flieder, 2018). The bronchial circulation, which works complementary to the pulmonary circulation, carries systemic arterial blood to: the trachea, the bronchial tree, the supporting tissue of the lung, and the outer coats of the pulmonary arteries and veins via the bronchial arteries (Figure 2.5) (Hall and Guyton 2011). The bronchial circulation also carries waste products (such as CO_2) away from the lungs, and despite only receiving ~1% of total cardiac output, is critical to the maintenance of airway and pulmonary function, as well as respiratory fluid balance (McCullagh et al., 2010).



Figure 2.5. A schematic representation of the bronchial circulation (Kalhoff, 2003).

2.2.2 Functions of the pulmonary system

The primary function of the pulmonary system is gas exchange, which takes place in the alveoli and the surrounding capillaries. Air is inhaled through the nose or the mouth, and travels through the pulmonary system until it reaches the alveoli (Figure 2.3). The partial pressure of oxygen (PO₂) is the driving force behind the diffusion of the oxygen-rich air through the alveolar/capillary wall and into the bloodstream. This gas exchange works in line with the law of diffusion – whereby gas exchanges from an area of high concentration (or pressure) to an area of low concentration (or pressure) (Pappenheimer, 1953). The partial pressure of oxygen in the alveoli (PAO₂) is high, and is low in the blood of the pulmonary capillaries, which results in the diffusion of O₂ across the respiratory membrane from the alveoli and into the bloodstream (West, 2013), where the O₂ binds to haemoglobin within red blood cells to form oxyhaemoglobin, which circulates around the rest of the

body (Lumb, 2012). – the CO_2 from the blood is subsequently exchanged into the alveoli and removed via respiration. The small airways are vital in this process, ensuring the gas can be exchanged and the O_2 can be delivered (Lumb, 2012).

The pulmonary system also works to protect the lungs against foreign matter and infections (Schlesinger, 1982). Mucociliary transport and mucus clearance are the primary form of innate airway defence against inhaled particles (Boucher, 2003; Knowles and Boucher, 2002). Individuals are constantly exposed to potentially harmful foreign particles (such as dust, pollen, bacteria, and viruses), which must be removed from the airways before reaching the lungs. The mucociliary transport mechanism, also referred to as mucociliary clearance, ensures that these particles do not enter the lower airways (Eliezer et al., 1970; Hilding, 1963).

The mucociliary apparatus consist of three major components: the mucus layer, the cilia, and the airway surface liquid [ASL; (Figure 2.6)], which work together to remove inhaled particles from the airways and lungs (Mall, 2008). The ASL consists of two layers: the 'sol phase', i.e., the watery periciliary layer, which contains electrolytes, in particular sodium and chloride, which allow the cilia to move freely between each power stroke (described below), and the 'gel phase', i.e., the portion proximal to the air (Figure 2.6). Mucus is secreted from three main cell types throughout the airways; these cells have varied distribution across the airway generations (Widdicombe and Wine, 2015). First, a 10-15 µm wet mucus blanket covers the nasal cavity and trachea, whereby submucosal glands are the predominant secretory cell type for airway generations 0-10 (see Figure 2.3) (Sahin-Yilmaz and Naclerio, 2011; Wilson and Allansmith, 1976). Next, the bronchi and conducting bronchioles (up to airway generation ~15) receive mucus secretion from goblet cells (Davis and Dickey, 2008). At this level, the depth of the mucus blanket is reduced to \sim 5 μ m, and this depth continues to reduce as the airway generations progress (Widdicombe and Widdicombe, 1995). The third secretory cell type, providing mucus for the respiratory and smaller conducting bronchioles (i.e., generations 10-20) are the Clara cells (Boers et al., 1999). The Clara cells have the lowest mucus secreting capacity of the three cell types - the progressive decline in secreting capacity from glands > goblet cells > Clara cells reflects the decline in the need for mucus at each of the levels of the airways (Widdicombe and Wine, 2015). Across the airway generations, the concentration of particles in the airway declines, resulting in a reduced need for mucus to assist particle removal, and thus decreased mucus secretion. The hydration of the mucus gel has a strong influence upon the clearance of foreign particles and plays a key role on its viscous and elastic properties; the more hydrated the mucus is, the less viscous and elastic it becomes, making it easier to clear. Dehydration of the mucus layer can increase its viscosity, and may ultimately impair its ability to clear foreign particles from the airways, which can culminate in airway obstruction (Fahy and Dickey, 2010) (this is described in more detail in section 2.2.3). The depth of the ASL reflects the balance between the mucus secretion and absorption of the liquid across the surface epithelium, and the rate at which ASL moves upwards from the distal regions. For this defence mechanism to function correctly, mucus must be adequately hydrated (Wanner et al., 1996).



Figure 2.6. Two phases of nasal airway mucus layer. 1. Gel Phase, 2. Sol Phase, 3. Basement membrane, 4. Cilia, 5. Submucosal layer. Adapted by Sahin-Yilmaz and Naclerio (2011).

The mucus layer serves as the first line of defence against inhaled particles and bacteria by trapping these foreign particles before they are able to enter the lower airways and the lungs (Boucher, 2003). The cilia, a layer of tiny, hair-like projections that line the airways, then assist with the clearance of these trapped particles (Mall, 2008). Cilia beat in a fixed direction using a two-stroke pattern: the power stroke, i.e., a fast movement whereby the cilia straighten, contact the gel phase, and remove the mucus; followed by the recovery

stroke during which the cilia bends laterally to return to its original position and restart a new cycle of ciliary beating (Macchione et al., 1995; Trindade et al., 2007). The cilia beat >1000 times *per* minute, sweeping the mucus and its trapped particles upwards in the trachea, and towards the nasal cavity to be expelled (Gizurarson, 2015), or to the nasopharynx where it is swallowed (Lund, 1996). These hair-like projections are covered with an ASL, which lubricates the airway surface and assists ciliary beating and efficient mucus clearance (Wanner et al., 1996). Dehydration or depletion of the ASL volume can impair this clearance function, and may place the individual at a greater risk of respiratory infection or dysfunction (Randell and Boucher, 2006).

The third key role of the pulmonary system is the conditioning of inspired air; a process that, at rest, predominantly occurs at the level of the upper respiratory tract (see Figure 2.3) and ensures air is warmed and humidified before reaching the alveoli (Negus, 1952). When air is inspired, rapid heat transfer and humidification occur from the nasal mucosa (Doorly et al., 2008), causing ambient air to be warmed to ~34°C by the time it reaches the nasopharynx (during resting respiration). The anterior nasal segment causes the greatest increase in temperature, and humidifies the air to ensure a humidity approaching 100% in the nasopharynx (Lindemann et al., 2004). Further down the tract, ASL also contributes to heat and moisture exchange, to regulate the inhaled air to body conditions, i.e., 37°C, 100% RH (Lumb, 2012). Once conditioned, this air travels to the alveoli to commence gas exchange (Weibel, 1973).

Failure to fully condition inspired air can lead to local airway drying/dehydration, particularly at the level of the small airways (those with a diameter < 2mm), as fluid availability is greatly reduced at this level (Daviskas et al., 1990; Weibel, 1964). Water loss from the airway generations is dependent upon ventilation, inspired air conditions, and return of water to the airways (Daviskas et al., 1990, 1991). Since fluid availability at the level of the small airways (i.e. below generation 9) is low, small volumes of water loss from these generations could be significant. Whilst dehydration of the airways via ventilation is unlikely to occur in a resting state (when \dot{V}_E is low; i.e., ~5-8 L·min⁻¹), in situations involving hyperventilation and/or hyperpnoea (such as during exercise) the conditioning process could be overwhelmed and transient dehydration could occur (Daviskas et al., 1995). Relative to the small volume of water in the ASL, water loss during hyperpnea of dry air can be very high. Daviskas, Gonda and Anderson, (1991) calculated that water loss

at a ventilation of 60 L·min⁻¹ in temperate conditions can exceed 1 mL·min⁻¹ (Figure 2.7). Thus, it is likely that, during more strenuous exercise (i.e. when ventilatory rates can exceed 200 L·min⁻¹), the volume of water loss at the airways is substantial. Dehydration of the airways could then: *i*) prevent the alveoli from performing gas exchange correctly (Negus, 1952; Shelly et al., 1988); *ii*) cause damage to the airway epithelium and peripheral airway mucosa (Kalhoff, 2003; Kippelen et al., 2012); and *iii*) trigger exercise-induced bronchoconstriction in susceptible individuals (Kippelen, Anderson, & Hallstrand, 2018). Further, even small volumes of fluid loss are enough to alter the osmolarity of the ASL (Daviskas et al., 1991). Changes to ASL osmolarity is discussed in greater detail in Section 2.2.3.2, and could play a key role in fluid balance at the airway surface (Anderson and Daviskas, 1999).



Figure 2.7. Cumulative water loss past the trachea after 4 min of exercise at a ventilation rate of 60 L·min⁻¹ in temperate (26.7°C, \sim 36.5% relative humidity); from Daviskas et al., (1991).

2.2.3 Movement of water in the pulmonary system: molecular and cellular influences

Water is a fundamental component of the pulmonary system. As described above, adequate hydration of the airways is a key contributor to normal pulmonary functioning. Movement of water within the pulmonary system is a constant cycle; the lung loses ~700 mL of water per day from its proximal airway surfaces (Boucher, 1999). Water lost must subsequently be replenished to maintain adequate airway hydration at all times. Depletion or dehydration of the ASL could lead to possible airway epithelial damage (Kalhoff, 2003), and could severely inhibit mucociliary transport by impairing ciliary beating (Widdicombe and Widdicombe, 1995). Consequently, tight regulation of ASL volume and composition is vital.

Maintenance of ASL volume is dependent upon: the rate at which liquid enters and leaves the lung (i.e., via mucociliary clearance); the evaporation rate; and the rate at which liquid can cross the airway epithelium (Widdicombe and Widdicombe, 1995). The mechanisms underpinning this regulation are extremely difficult to identify. Quinton (1994) highlighted the difficulty of collecting sufficient volumes of uncontaminated and unchanged fluid for analysis *in vivo*, due to the very thin layer of liquid (even smaller than the 50 µm depth in the normal airway). Further Boucher (1999) indicated the challenge of generating accurate models to simulate the functions of the very thin fluid layer *in vitro*. As a result, the exact mechanisms supporting ASL regulation remain in question. As outlined below, the role of aquaporins and active ion transport have been reported as key regulators of ASL volume.

2.2.3.1 *The role of aquaporins*

Firstly, water influx from capillaries and the airway interstitium into the ASL is thought to be driven by osmotic gradients created by evaporative water loss (Song et al., 2001). Aquaporins (AQP) are 'water channels' that assist the movement of water between cells at various membranes by facilitating the dissipation of osmotic gradients and increasing water permeability across cell membranes (Verkman, 2007, 2013). They are responsible for the high water permeability between cells in multiple organ systems, and are involved in fluid transport in many cell types, including: airway epithelial cells, epithelia and endothelia in the kidney, eye, gastrointestinal organs, and exocrine glands (Verkman, 2013). At present, at least thirteen sub-types of AQP have been identified in humans (Zhu et al., 2016), of these thirteen, at least four AQPs are expressed in the lung: AQP1 is expressed throughout the microvascular endothelia in airways and lungs (Hasegawa et al., 1993), AQP3 and AQP4 are expressed in airway epithelia (Frigeri et al., 1995; Nielsen et al., 1997), whilst AQP5 is expressed in the luminal membrane of type I alveolar epithelial cells (Funaki et al., 1998).

Expression of these AQP throughout the airways would indicate an important role of this protein in airway hydration and ASL volume regulation. However, phenotype analysis of transgenic knockout mice has indicated a less significant role than expected: whilst AQP1 and AQP5 contribute to water transport, the deletion of these AQP in mouse models led to a >30-fold reduction in osmotic water permeability, but had no physiologically significant impact upon alveolar fluid clearance (Ma et al., 2000). In addition, AQP4 deletion in AQP1null mice led to a reduction in water permeability, indicating that AQP4 may play a role in water movement within the lung (Song et al., 2000a). These findings suggest that, whilst AQP contribute to osmotically-driven water transport within the airways, their role upon airway humidification, ASL hydration, and upper airway fluid absorption is of lesser importance. Whilst Song et al., (2000) concluded that AQP are not required for physiologically important pulmonary functions, Song and Verkman, (2001) later presented evidence that the deletion of AQP5 in submucosal glands of mouse models led to a reduction in fluid secretion of >50%, suggesting that AQP play a (potentially minor) role within airway hydration. It remains therefore possible that these water channels make at least some contribution to water transport at various levels of the airways.

2.2.3.2 The role of active ion transport

As AQP are not the main driver of changes in airway hydration, alternative modes of ASL regulation have also been investigated. Ion channels have been proposed as key contributors to ASL hydration (Ballard et al., 2002; Button and Button, 2013; Tarran, 2004) and are responsible for regulating the mass of salt and water on the airway surfaces (Button et al., 2007). The highly water permeable airway epithelia can absorb and secrete fluid, thus, by modifying the activity of apical ion channels, the epithelia is able to optimise the hydration status of the ASL. This regulation is enabled by the epithelia ability to switch these ion channels between secretory and absorptive phenotypes (Button et al., 2007). For example, if high levels of salt are secreted by the epithelium into the ASL, water will subsequently follow to maintain isotonicity of the airway (Button and Button, 2013). Chloride (Cl⁻) secretion, mediated by the cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance

regulator (CFTR), is the primary driver of fluid secretion into the airways. In support of the importance of this regulatory mechanism, mutations of the CFTR gene coding [associated with cystic fibrosis; i.e. a genetic lung disorder, characterised by a defective CFTR gene (Ratjen, 2009)] are associated with substantial reductions in epithelial Cl⁻ secretions and excess sodium (Na⁺) absorption (Hobbs et al., 2013), which results in elevated mucus layer concentration and increased risk of infection and inflammation (Boucher, 2007a; Garland et al., 2013; Haq et al., 2016). Normal function of the CFTR gene to mediate Cl⁻ secretion is thus a vital component of the ASL hydration process, and ion transport is therefore essential for the maintenance of ASL hydration.

The alteration to ion concentrations within the airways directly influences the osmolarity of the airway fluid. Anderson and Daviskas, (1999) previously described the importance of the osmotic changes as a mechanism of fluid movement within the airways. When water is lost from the airway surface, the increased ion concentration leads to increased osmolarity of ASL. The osmotic gradient caused by airway water loss is thought to stimulate the movement of water from the surrounding cells to the airway lumen. This is demonstrated in Figure 2.8, whereby a comparison is made between normal basal conditions *vs* conditions of airway water loss (in this instance, stimulated by dry air hyperpnea). In normal conditions, the osmotic gradient created by the movement of Na⁺ and Cl⁻ causes the movement of water into the epithelial cells and the submucosa. In contrast, the elevated water loss induced by hyperpnea leads to increased ion concentration, and thus an osmotic gradient that causes water to move out of the epithelial cells – causing them to shrink. The role of the epithelial cell for water movement at the airway therefore appears fundamental.



Figure 2.8. Ion transport and their influence upon epithelial cells and water movement under a) basal conditions and b) conditions of hyperpnea leading to hyperosmotic stress [from Anderson and Daviskas, (1999)].

If sodium chloride is absorbed – a process mediated by the amiloride sensitive epithelial sodium channel (ENaC) – water will follow, which can result in dehydration of the ASL (Button and Button, 2013). This fluid regulation ensures that ASL height is adjusted to remain close to the optimal level – i.e. when ASL height approaches ciliary height, the rate of Na⁺ absorption decreases, and Cl⁻ secretion increases, which causes adjustment in ASL depth (Spring 1999).

The role of ion channel activity to control absorption and secretion is vital in the maintenance of ASL hydration. Tarran et al., (2005) demonstrated the regulation of ASL height using an *in vitro* normal lung epithelia model, assessing periciliary layer volume. Findings showed that when periciliary layer volume excess (i.e. volume above homeostasis) was high, Na⁺ absorption was at its greatest. Next, as periciliary layer volume approached its optimal height (7 μ m), Na⁺ absorption was inhibited, whilst Cl⁻ secretion increased. Although Na⁺ absorption under static conditions appeared to be regulated by the activation of CFTR, control of Na⁺ transport under phasic motion conditions was associated

with the release of adenosine and adenosine triphosphate. Secretion of Cl⁻ was also primarily controlled by CFTR during the phasic motion condition. Figure 2.9a-b [from Tarran et al. (2005)] demonstrates the role of active ion transport on changes in periciliary layer height in a normal, healthy population. Figure 2.9a shows that under normal static conditions, the airway epithelium regulates the rates of Na⁺ absorption, and that Cl⁻ secretion regulates periciliary layer to the optimal height (7µm) over time. Conversely, in Figure 2.9b, the phasic motion leads to an increase in CFTR Cl⁻ secretion, alongside increases in adenosine and adenosine triphosphate release. These findings indicate the importance of active ion transport on ASL volume regulation, specifically within the periciliary layer.



Figure 2.9 a-b: Periciliary layer (PCL) height regulation by active ion transport: a) Normal airway epithelia under static conditions, b) normal airway epithelia under conditions of phasic motion. The blue colour depicts PCL height as a reference to extended cilia. [From Tarran et al., (2005)]. Na⁺: Sodium; Cl⁻: Chloride; CFTR: Cystic Fibrosis Transmembrane Regulator; ADO: Adenosine; ATP: Adenosine triphosphate.

2.2.4 Changes in airway surface liquid hydration: the consequences

Adequate hydration of the ASL is vital for normal pulmonary function (Boucher, 1999; Widdicombe, 2002). Reductions of the ASL, and of airway hydration in general, may cause detrimental effects. In particular, mucociliary clearance rate is dependent upon adequate

airway surface hydration (Figure 2.10). In the normal hydrated airway, there is an adequate volume of water to hydrate the periciliary layer and mucus layer, allowing mucus transport to proceed at its normal rate of ~60 μ m·s⁻¹. However, loss of water and salt from the airway surface causes the periciliary layer and mucus layer to collapse, leading to adhesion of mucus to cell surface, and preventing cilia from clearing the mucus efficiently (Randell and Boucher, 2006).



Figure 2.10. Changes in mucociliary transport rates as a result of ASL volume depletion. Normal hydration of the ASL allows mucociliary transport to continue at its normal rate (left), however, dehydration of the ASL causes adhesion of mucus to the airway surface, and subsequently prevents mucociliary clearance from occurring (Randell and Boucher, 2006).

The reduction, or dysfunction of mucus clearance can impair airway function and overall lung health. In mouse models, mucus adhesion to the cell surface has been shown to cause the formation of mucus plugs that can be severe enough to cause suffocation (Hogg et al., 2004). Whilst it is unlikely that this level of obstruction could occur in the healthy human lung, a build-up of mucus could lead to: an increased risk of infection, abnormal lung function, and pulmonary symptoms, including coughing and breathing discomfort (Fahy and Dickey, 2010).

The dehydrated airway with increased mucus levels, may also lead to a higher concentration of pro-inflammatory stimuli, which would subsequently lead to an increased risk of infection (Randell and Boucher, 2006). This is reflective of the pathophysiology of cystic fibrosis. As discussed in section 2.2.3.2, the CFTR gene plays a key role in ion

transport across the airway epithelium, thus the impairment in ion transport in individuals with cystic fibrosis indicates that this mechanism is significantly impaired. The resultant ASL dehydration means that mucus clearance is also impaired (Figure 2.10), leading to a build-up of particles on the airway surface, and ultimately to an increased incidence of airway infection and inflammation (Ratjen, 2009). Whilst the severity of the infection and inflammation may be reduced in those without this genetic condition, airway dehydration likely causes disruption to the normal clearance mechanisms and thus the normal functioning of the airway. This detriment to the airways primary defence mechanism highlights the importance of adequate airway hydration.

The extent of the negative effects associated with airway dehydration shows the importance of the ASL for pulmonary function and, ultimately, for human survival. Gaseous exchange, lung defence, and airway conditioning may all be compromised by localised airway dehydration, but it is important to consider that dehydration in humans commonly occurs in a more systemic manner (i.e., whole-body dehydration as discussed in 2.1.2). Whether dehydration at systemic level can compromise pulmonary function through alterations in local airway hydration remains unclear.

2.2.5 Influence of systemic and airway hydration on pulmonary function

As established earlier, the supply of water to the airways stems primarily from the bronchial circulation. Subsequent movement of water from the bronchial vessels to the surface of the airways is then governed by osmotic changes across the airway epithelia. Whilst it has been shown that direct dehydration of the ASL can impair certain key physiological functions of the respiratory system (i.e. mucociliary clearance), it remains unknown whether whole-body (systemic) dehydration is directly associated with changes in airway hydration, and how this might influence the function of the pulmonary system.

At present, only three research studies have been conducted to specifically investigate the role of dehydration upon pulmonary function in human subjects. First, Govindaraj (1972) investigated the effect of 16 h of complete fluid restriction upon pulmonary function (using spirometry pre- and post-dehydration) in twenty healthy males with no history of respiratory illness. A reduction in body mass ranging from 0.5 to 2.5% (0.25–1.50 kg) occurred. Govindaraj (1972) found an average reduction in forced expiratory volume in one second (FEV₁) of 7.3% (~ 180 mL) from baseline (which indicates possible airway

narrowing), with sixteen of the twenty participants experiencing a significant drop in FEV₁ ($\sim -180 \pm 210$ mL). Whilst airway calibre appeared affected by the change in hydration status, lung volume [as assessed by forced vital capacity (FVC)] showed little change (with post-dehydration FVC within 5% of baseline levels for fourteen participants). Govindaraj (1972) concluded that mild dehydration may cause small, but significant increases in airway obstruction.

The findings from Govindaraj (1972) were the first step towards establishing a relationship between systemic dehydration and pulmonary function. However, follow-up work did not confirm those original findings. In 1987, Javaheri et al. explored the impact of diureticinduced dehydration upon pulmonary function. Six healthy male participants (aged 25-40 years), with no history of respiratory illness undertook a two-day dehydration protocol. To induce a moderate-to-severe level of dehydration, participants were required to take a diuretic drug (chlorthalidone) for two days (50 mg every 12 h, total 200 mg), whilst fluid intake was restricted; this led to an average body mass loss of 4.0–4.5% (~3.3–3.7 kg) from baseline. Pulmonary function parameters were measured via spirometry twice during each experimental day (morning and evening) and were compared to baseline (euhydrated) values. Participants were rehydrated following the diuretic administration protocol (via ad libitum water intake), and spirometry was performed on three further days to assess the effect of rehydration. Surprisingly, FEV_1 significantly increased from an average (± standard deviation; SD) of 4.46 \pm 0.43 L at baseline to 4.66 \pm 0.48 L at dehydration (+ 4.48%). Whilst FVC remained unchanged during the dehydration period, maximal voluntary ventilation (MVV) and peak expiratory flow rate (PEFR) increased by 4.30% and 2.54%, respectively. These values (FEV₁, MVV, PEFR) returned to baseline levels following rehydration via ad-libitum water ingestion. Contradictory to the findings from Govindaraj (1972), these results were therefore indicative of a positive effect of dehydration upon pulmonary function.

A direct comparison of the findings between these two studies is difficult due to major differences in the study designs, including severity and mode of dehydration. Smaller reductions in body mass (ranging from 0.0–2.5% over 16 h) were seen in the study conducted by Govindaraj, (1972) which may have impacted the severity of the pulmonary function impairment. Whilst Javaheri et al., (1987) demonstrated an increase in pulmonary function at a moderate-to-severe level of dehydration (4-4.5% body mass loss over 48 h),

it is important to note that the extracellular dehydration (hypertonic-hypovolemia) that is induced by diuretic administration (Cheuvront and Kenefick, 2014) may have contributed to the recorded changes in pulmonary function. Extracellular dehydration may have resulted in different osmotic gradients across the airway epithelium, and thus may have caused less water loss directly from airway surface in comparison to the intracellular dehydration induced via 16 h fluid restriction. Thus, whilst the severity of systemic dehydration may have been higher, it is possible that ASL properties were not modified, consequently causing no impairment to airway function.

More recent work has since been conducted to explore the effects of exercise-induced dehydration [which also induces intracellular dehydration (Cheuvront and Kenefick, 2014)] upon pulmonary function. In contrast to the previous investigations examining healthy individuals, Simpson et al., (2017) recruited ten recreational athletes (four females) with a prior diagnosis of asthma/exercise induced bronchoconstriction (EIB) - a population that may be more susceptible to the negative effects of dehydration. All participants attended three experimental visits involving: i) exercise in the heat (37°C, 50% RH) with no fluid intake (dehydration) to induce mild dehydration (~2.5% body mass loss), *ii*) exercise in the heat with ad libitum fluid intake (control), and *iii*) a time-matched resting period (rest). Pulmonary function was assessed pre-exercise (baseline) and at 10 and 120 min postexercise using spirometry, whole body plethysmography, and diffusing capacity of the lung for carbon monoxide (DLCO). Pulmonary lung volumes of patients with asthma were significantly impaired following mild dehydration, with reductions in FVC (~ 300 mL) and elevations in residual volume (RV; ~ 260 mL) and functional residual capacity (FRC; ~ 260 mL) recorded following fluid restricted exercise in the heat. Table 2.2 compares the observed changes in pulmonary function following fluid restriction (Govindaraj, 1972), diuretic-intake (Javaheri et al., 1987) and exercise-induced dehydration (Simpson et al., 2017).

Author	Participants	Mode of Dehydration	Dehydration Severity: % body mass loss (rate)	Primary type of dehydration	Pulmonary function: Euhydrated	Pulmonary function: Dehydrated	Δ Pulmonary function
Govindaraj	20 healthy	Fluid deprivation:	Mild:	Intracellular	FEV_1 :	$\text{FEV}_1 \downarrow$:	FEV_1 :
(1972)	males	16 h	0.5 - 2.5%		$2.43 \pm 0.43 \text{ L}$	$2.25 \pm 0.50 \text{ L*}$	$-178 \pm 206 \text{ mL}$
			$(\sim 0.04 \text{ L} \cdot \text{h}^{-1})$		VC:	$VC \leftrightarrow$:	VC:
					$2.70 \pm 0.40 \text{ L}$	2.70 ± 0.44 L	$-8 \pm 159 \text{ mL}$
Javaheri et	6 healthy	Diuretic	Moderate:	Extracellular	FEV_1 :	$FEV_1 \uparrow$:	FEV_1 :
al. (1987)	males	administration	4.5%		4.46 ± 0.43 L	4.66 ± 0.48 L*	+200 mL
	(aged 25-40	(chlorthalidone):	(~0.07 L·h ⁻¹)		FVC:	FVC ↑:	FVC:
	years)	2 days			$5.88 \pm 0.77 \; L$	$5.91 \pm 0.78 \text{ L}$	+ 30 mL
					PEFR:	$PEF \leftrightarrow$:	PEF:
					$687.7 \pm 43.8 \text{ L} \cdot \text{sec}^{-1}$	$705.2 \pm 31.9 \text{ L} \cdot \text{min}^{-1}$	$+ 17 \text{ mL} \cdot \text{sec}^{-1}$
					MVV:	MVV ↑:	MVV:
					$227.7 \pm 7.67 \text{ L}$	$237.5 \pm 8.0 \text{ L*}$	+ 10 mL
Simpson et	10	Exercise in the	Mild:	Intracellular	FEV ₁ :	$FEV_1 \leftrightarrow:$	FEV ₁ :
al. (2017)	recreational	heat (37°C, 50%	$2.3\pm0.8\%$		$4.21\pm0.89\ L$	$4.24\pm0.90\ L$	+3 mL
	athletes (4	RH) + fluid	(0.75 L·h ⁻¹)		FVC:	FVC ↓:	FVC:
	female, 6	restriction: 2 h			$5.09 \pm 1.22 \text{ L}$	$4.79 \pm 1.10 \text{ L*}$	$-300 \pm 190 \text{ mL}$
	male):				FRC:	FRC ↑:	FRC:
	diagnosed				$3.40\pm0.99\ L$	$3.65 \pm 0.90 \text{ L*}$	$+260\pm250~mL$
	asthma/EIB.				RV:	RV ↑:	RV:
					$1.73\pm0.46\ L$	$1.99 \pm 0.57 \text{ L*}$	$+260 \pm 182 \text{ mL}$

Table 2.2. Overview of previous studies investigating the effect of dehydration on pulmonary function, and the magnitude of change.

EIB: Exercise induced bronchoconstriction; FEV₁: Forced expiratory volume in one second, VC: Vital capacity; FVC: forced vital capacity; PEFR: Peak expiratory flow rate; MVV: Maximal voluntary ventilation; FRC: Functional residual capacity; RH: relative humidity; RV: Residual volume. Δ : delta change, \downarrow = decrease from baseline, \uparrow = increased from baseline, \leftrightarrow = no change from baseline. *Significant change (p < 0.05) vs euhydrated.



Figure 2.11. Changes in FVC following exercise in a dehydrated state (dehydration), exercise in a euhydrated state (control) and a time-matched rest period (rest). Values are shown as means \pm 95% confidence interval. *p<0.05; **p<0.01 *vs* control and rest conditions. The dashed line represents a clinically meaningful reduction in FVC (>200ml). Figure from Simpson et al. (2017).

The impairment to pulmonary function noted following exercise-induced dehydration in asthmatic individuals is contradictory to the improvement in pulmonary function shown by Javaheri et al., (1987). Of those studies, an impairment in pulmonary function was observed when intracellular dehydration (hypertonic-hypovolemia; i.e. via exercise and fluid-restriction), but not extracellular (isotonic-hypovolemia; i.e. diuretic administration) was induced. It is possible that extracellular dehydration would result in lesser water loss from the airway surface compared to intracellular dehydration and could explain the observed pulmonary response.

Whilst Govindaraj, (1972) and Simpson et al., (2017) saw an overall detrimental pulmonary function response, there remain inconsistencies between these studies. Govindaraj (1972) demonstrated a reduction in expiratory flow rate (i.e. FEV₁), with no associated change in lung volume (FVC), in healthy participants; whilst Simpson et al., (2017) recorded changes in pulmonary volumes only (FVC, FRC and RV; change in FVC presented in Figure 2.11)

in individuals with pre-existing lung conditions. The findings from Simpson et al., (2017) are the first to highlight the possibility of compromised small airway function following exercise-induced systemic dehydration. However, it is not to exclude that the pre-existing respiratory condition (i.e., asthma) has influenced these findings – especially as asthma has previously been associated with impaired fluid secretion at epithelial level (Park et al., 2008). Whilst it is possible that the perturbations in small airway function found by Simpson et al., (2017) will also occur in healthy individuals, there is currently no research to support or refute this proposal.

2.3 Exercise and the pulmonary system

Exercise can induce significant fluid loss (see section 2.1.2.2), and is a common cause of dehydration in recreational and elite athletes (Sawka et al., 2007). Given the proposed importance of water in maintaining normal pulmonary function at rest, it is critical to also understand the impact of dehydration on the ventilatory response during physical activity and exercise. Whilst the normal ventilatory response to exercise ensures appropriate pulmonary gas exchange via increased delivery of O_2 and removal of excess CO_2 in most healthy adults, ventilatory limitation during exercise can occur in both clinical and healthy populations. This section will first discuss the normal ventilatory response to exercise from the perspective of the healthy individual (i.e., with no pre-existing respiratory disease), and will discuss the causes and consequences of ventilatory limitation during exercise and review methods of assessing ventilatory limitation. Finally, the impact of external factors (such as environmental conditions and the hydration status of the individual) on ventilatory limitation will be considered.

The pulmonary system functions to facilitate the exchange of gases into and out of the pulmonary circulation. At the onset of exercise, demand for O_2 and production of CO_2 are significantly increased. In order to compensate for these changes, tidal volume (V_T ; i.e., the volume of air displaced in one full breathing cycle) and breathing frequency (f_b ; i.e., the number of breaths taken per minute) rapidly increase, producing an elevation in \dot{V}_E (Forster et al., 2012). The increase in V_T occurs due to an increase in end inspiratory lung volume (EILV) and a reduction in end expiratory lung volume (EELV). The reduction in EELV is a beneficial mechanism, which occurs due to expiratory muscle recruitment, and allows for a more optimal inspiratory muscle length (Smith et al., 2017). To meet the requirements

for elevated O_2 demand and removal of excess CO_2 and hydrogen (H⁺), alveolar ventilation (\dot{V}_A ; the exchange of gas between the alveoli and the external environment) and alveolarcapillary diffusion must increase in proportion to the increase in metabolic rate (Forster et al., 2012), so that respiratory homeostasis can be maintained.

The exact mechanism(s) by which the ventilatory response to exercise occurs remains incompletely understood. The elevation in \dot{V}_E at the onset of exercise is exactly matched with the elevation in metabolism, which, when first reported by Haldane and Priestly (1905), was proposed to be caused by a stimulation of chemoreceptors. The exerciseinduced increase in alveolar partial pressure of CO_2 (P_aCO_2) and arterial partial pressure of O_2 (P_aO_2) was thought to induce the increase in \dot{V}_E and to provide the link between \dot{V}_E and $\dot{V}CO_2$. However, since \dot{V}_E and $\dot{V}CO_2$ are so precisely matched, doubts regarding the feasibility of a 'feedback' mechanism have arisen. The potential mechanisms that underpin the exercise-induced elevation in \dot{V}_E are often categorised as either neural (i.e. feed-forward and feed-back mechanisms) or humoral (blood-borne) mechanisms and are associated with signals sent to the respiratory neurons of the brain that regulate breathing. The neurohumoral response, a theory first set out by Dejours (1964), proposed that the ventilatory response to exercise can generally be categorised into three phases (Figure 2.12): phase one (I) sees an immediate elevation in \dot{V}_E at the onset of exercise to compensate for the sudden increase in O_2 demand. In phase two (II), a slow exponential increase in \dot{V}_E occurs (with a time constant of ~ 1 min), which is followed by phase three (III), a steady state of VE. During severe intensity exercise, the steady state (phase three) will not be reached, and \dot{V}_E will continue to increase until either exhaustion occurs and/or exercise is terminated. During steady state exercise, the elevation in \dot{V}_E is proportional to the increase in CO₂ production and O₂ consumption (Haverkamp et al., 2005).



Figure 2.12. The normal ventilatory response to exercise, representing the three-phase response: I) the rapid increase in \dot{V}_E at the onset of exercise, II) a slow exponential increase in \dot{V}_E , and III) a steady state of \dot{V}_E . From Caruana-Montaldo et al., (2000).

It is thought that a feed-forward neural control underpins the rapid ventilatory response at the onset of exercise (phase I). The neural processes involved with the control of breathing are thought to begin in the medulla, where breathing rhythms begin (Mitchell et al., 2009). A signal is generated at the brain that initiates the hyperpnea stimulus, either with, or in advance of locomotion (Forster et al., 2012). The first evidence to support this mechanism was presented by Krogh and Lindhard (1913), who investigated the \dot{V}_E response to high intensity bicycle exercise in six healthy adults (n=3 trained, n=3 untrained). With the onset of exercise, a rapid increase in \dot{V}_E was observed in all participants. Based on the rapid respiratory changes at the onset of exercise (with a latent period of less than 1 s), the authors concluded that the changes must be neurally-mediated. Ventilatory changes associated with chemical regulation from processes in the working muscles would indeed not be able to occur as quickly, and thus feed-forward control must contribute to the immediate ventilatory response to exercise.

These early findings have since been supported and understanding of the neurally-mediated rise in \dot{V}_E in response to exercise has been enhanced. The proposal of a 'feed-forward' command to elevate \dot{V}_E in anticipation of exercise was supported by Asmussen and Nielsen (1964), who occluded circulation at the upper thigh in healthy males prior to exercise and found that the rapid \dot{V}_E response to cycling remained present. This finding implied that the

 \dot{V}_E response is most likely mediated by a centrally-driven neural activation, as the occlusion at the legs blocked the signal from the muscle chemoreflex. The neural feed-forward mechanism is further supported by evidence that show an increase in \dot{V}_E at rest when exercise is imagined (Decety et al., 1993) and following passive limb movement (Bell and Duffin, 2006).

In contrast to the rapid and immediate rise in \dot{V}_E experienced during phase one, the phase two response occurs when \dot{V}_E has reached a steady-state and is sufficient to meet the demands for metabolic gas exchange (West, 2013). Finally, the phase three response is independent of feed-forward control and uses peripheral sensory feedback mechanisms to refine \dot{V}_E to meet demand. Both phase two and phase three of the ventilatory response to exercise are governed by central neural command and metabolic control (West, 2013).

The \dot{V}_E response to exercise may be altered by the duration, mode, and intensity of exercise. The \dot{V}_E response may be further altered as a result of: external factors, such as the sex of the individual (Sheel et al., 2004); and environmental factors, such as hypoxia (Flenley et al., 1979), heat stress (Hayashi, 2015), and its associated side effects [i.e., elevated body temperature] (Tipton et al., 2017a). Interestingly, there are still many unknowns in regard to the ventilatory response to exercise. For example, whilst dehydration is commonly experienced during exercise in the heat, there is little information regarding how the ventilatory system responds to fluid loss, and whether dehydration may have negative implications for ventilatory function during exercise.

2.4 Ventilatory limitation during exercise

Whilst a normal ventilatory response to exercise is commonly experienced by healthy individuals (as described above), it has also been noted that ventilatory limitation can occur within this population. It has been proposed that the healthy respiratory system may be 'underbuilt' for the demands imposed during exercise in elite athletes and in those undertaking highly demanding endurance-based exercise (Dempsey et al., 2020). Three key factors may contribute to ventilatory limitation during exercise in healthy individuals: *i*) impairment of pulmonary gas exchange (Stickland et al., 2013) (see section 2.4.1); *ii*) respiratory muscle fatigue (Johnson et al., 1996) and sympathetic-mediated blood flow distribution (Dempsey et al., 2006; Harms et al., 1997) (see section 2.4.2); and *iii*)

expiratory flow limitation (EFL) and dynamic hyperinflation (Babb, 2013) (see section 2.4.3).

2.4.1 Pulmonary gas exchange impairment

Pulmonary gas exchange is the first step of the oxygen-transport chain: the lungs are required to optimise the exchange of respiratory gases to maintain the delivery of O₂ and removal of CO₂ (Stickland et al., 2013). Impairment to pulmonary gas exchange can therefore result in ventilatory limitation. The alveolar-arterial difference (A-aDO₂) provides a measure of the alveolar concentration of O₂ and is often relatively low (~5-10 mmHg) (Stickland et al., 2013). A widening of the A-aDO₂ [from 5-10 Torr at rest to 20-25 Torr at maximal exercise (Dempsey and Wagner, 1999)] can indicate exercise-induced arterial hypoxemia (EIAH) and is a sign of impaired pulmonary gas exchange (Phillips and Stickland, 2019). Whilst arterial O₂ concentration is well-maintained in healthy untrained to moderately trained individuals, healthy well-trained athletes may experience EIAH when undertaking exercise (Constantini et al., 2017). A-aDO₂ widens linearly with VO₂, and is therefore indicative of alterations to pulmonary gas exchange during exercise (Prefaut et al., 2000). Wagner, (2015) has previously described the six key mechanisms that primarily contribute to this pulmonary gas exchange impairment, including i) relative hypoventilation (i.e., when alveolar ventilation is below the rate required for normal values of arterial blood gases); ii) mismatching of alveolar ventilation and pulmonary perfusion, and iii) diffusion limitation (leading to widened A-aDO₂), iv) reduced inspired PO₂, v) shunting of blood flow from the right to left sides of the heart, and vi) a reduction in pulmonary arterial PO₂.

The first recorded report of EIAH in a healthy population was presented by Dempsey, Hanson and Henderson, (1984), who showed that many highly trained men could not maintain arterial blood gas homeostasis during whole body exercise (quantified by a PaO₂ < 75 mmHg), suggesting that the large reserves for gas exchange are insufficient to meet the metabolic requirements achievable by trained individuals. Through inadequate supply of O₂ to the locomotor muscles, the occurrence of EIAH during exercise may limit performance. Indeed, an association has been previously been noted between EIAH and reduced $\dot{V}O_{2max}$ (Powers et al., 1993). Severe EIAH [SpO₂ < 88% (Dempsey and Wagner, 1999)] has been associated with a reduction in endurance exercise performance. Harms *et al.*, (2000) reported an association between EIAH and alterations in $\dot{V}O_{2max}$ in twenty-five healthy females, whereby preventing EIAH led to an improvement in $\dot{V}O_{2max}$ from 115% to 200% of normal predicted values. The prevalence of EIAH has previously been reported at ~50 % in male endurance athletes (Powers et al., 1988), which might be slightly underestimated. Constantini *et al.*, (2017) suggested that the prevalence of EIAH in healthy male athletes is more likely >70%: in a sample of 124 athletes, 84% experienced moderate or severe EIAH (when EIAH was defined as an oxygen saturation, $SpO_2 \le 93\%$). When a more strict criteria was implemented (SpO_2 of $\le 91\%$), 70% of athletes experienced EIAH.

Further, it has been observed that EIAH is more common in male athletes with a high $\dot{V}O_{2max}$ (>60 mL·kg·min⁻¹) (Powers et al., 1988; Powers and Williams, 1987). In females, however, the training status of the individual does not appear to influence the risk of developing EIAH in the same way as in males. Richards *et al.*, (2004) reported a prevalence rate of 67% in 52 healthy young females undertaking an incremental test to exhaustion. Dominelli *et al.*, (2013) assessed pulmonary gas exchange and EIAH in thirty healthy females ($\dot{V}O_{2max}$ ranging from 28 – 62 mL·kg·min⁻¹) during a treadmill exercise test. EIAH was found to occur in 65% of all participants, and in 93% of the trained individuals. These findings therefore suggests that EIAH is more common in females than males; a finding that has been attributed to the ventilatory constraints (i.e., EFL; see Section 2.4.3) experienced by females during exercise (Sheel et al., 2004).

Whether athletes performing in a dehydrated state may be at increased risk of EIAH has not yet been fully investigated. However, González-Alonso et al., (1998) reported average group values for PaO₂ in hydrated and dehydrated endurance-trained males. After 135 min of cycling in a dehydrated state (- $3.9 \pm 0.3\%$ body mass), PaO₂ was significantly higher (108.8 ± 0.6 mmHg) compared to the euhydrated state (102.2 ± 0.8 mmHg). This suggests that dehydration may not significantly compromise gas exchange and blood gas homeostasis during prolonged exercise in endurance-trained male athletes.

2.4.1.1 Assessing pulmonary gas exchange impairment

Direct measurement of pulmonary gas exchange involves highly invasive procedures (i.e., arterial blood sampling for assessment of blood gases – largely focused upon PaO₂, PaCO₂, and A-aDO₂), requiring specialist medical training. As an alternative, SpO₂, via pulse oximetry, can be used as an indirect measurement of EIAH. This simple, non-invasive technique (which measures blood oxygen saturation), requires the placement of a pulse

oximeter onto the earlobe, finger-tip, or forehead of the participant, with a drop in SpO₂ of >4% from resting levels considered as EIAH (Prefaut et al., 2000). This method has been used to identify EIAH in a variety of populations and settings, including: competitive cyclists at altitude (Siegler *et al.*, 2007), swimmers (Spanoudaki et al., 2004) and children (Nourry et al., 2004). Further, SpO₂ has been shown to correlate strongly with arterial blood gases in both clinical- (Fanconi et al., 1985) and research-based settings (Ross et al., 2013), which adds confidence that this technique can be implemented for assessment of EIAH without the need for arterial blood sampling. The simplicity, reliability and availability of indirect EIAH assessment renders it a valuable tool for understanding ventilatory limitation during exercise.

2.4.2 Respiratory muscle fatigue

The second key contributing factor to ventilatory limitation in healthy adults during exercise is the onset of respiratory muscle fatigue. The diaphragm, a skeletal muscle, is the primary muscle involved in inspiration (Poole et al., 1997), and is supported by the other respiratory muscles, including the intercostal, ribcage and abdominal muscles (Welch et al., 2019). These muscles are vital to normal pulmonary function; activation of these muscles helps EELV to reduce below resting levels during exercise (Henke et al., 1988). The reduction in EELV means the diaphragm is lengthened and can operate and near optimal length to generate an adequate amount of force to meet the demands of exercise (Smith and Bellemare, 1987).

In healthy untrained individuals, the O_2 cost of breathing at maximal effort is ~8-10% of total $\dot{V}O_{2max}$ (Aaron et al., 1992); however, in the highly trained athlete this demand can be up to ~16% (Aaron et al., 1992). It is possible, therefore, that the increased O_2 demand during exercise cannot be met, particularly if the respiratory muscle work needs to be sustained for longer durations. Harms et al., (1997) and Dominelli et al., (2017) have previously reported a significant inverse relationship between work of breathing and locomotor blood flow. This infers that the diaphragm must compete for its allocation of cardiac output [which is estimated to be ~14-16% of overall cardiac output during maximal exercise (Harms et al., 1998)]. If a reduction in O_2 supply to the diaphragm occurs, the likelihood of respiratory muscle fatigue is increased (Romer and Polkey, 2008). Previous work by Vogiatzis *et al.*, (2009) in ten trained cyclists showed that intercostal muscle blood flow increases linearly with the work of breathing at rest during hyperpnea; however,

during exercise at intensities >80% WR_{max}, a plateau in muscle blood flow occurs, with blood flow lower than during resting hyperpnea (despite a matched \dot{V}_E). During exercise, the circulatory system may therefore not be able to meet the increased demands for O₂ of both the locomotor muscles and the respiratory muscles, thereby contributing to respiratory muscle fatigue. Dehydration has been shown to lead to alterations in the distribution of blood flow under specific exercising conditions. González-Alonso et al., (1998) showed a reduction in locomotor blood flow by ~2 L·min⁻¹ during prolonged submaximal cycling exercise (~60% $\dot{V}O_{2max}$) until volitional exhaustion (135 ± 4 min) in healthy endurance-trained adults. During one-legged knee extensor exercise (23 ± 1 W at ~65rpm for 6 min), Pearson et al., (2013) however demonstrated that dehydration did not reduce leg blood flow and cardiac output at rest in healthy male participants. Therefore, factors causing alterations to muscle blood flow, such as systemic fluid loss, may only contribute to the onset of respiratory muscle fatigue and subsequently lead to ventilatory limitation when large muscle mass are recruited during exercise.

2.4.3 Expiratory flow limitation and dynamic hyperinflation

The third key contributor to ventilatory limitation in healthy exercising adults is the onset of EFL and dynamic hyperinflation. EFL is defined as an increase in transpulmonary pressure with no increase in expiratory flow (Calverley and Koulouris, 2005). EFL is a sign of intrathoracic airflow obstruction and, as well as being shown to limit ventilation (Tantucci, 2013), has been associated with increased perceived difficulty of breathing (Iandelli et al., 2002; Kayser et al., 1997), known as dyspnea, and increased work of breathing (O'Donnell et al., 2001). EFL, dyspnea and an increased work of breathing, alone or in combination, can ultimately lead to impaired performance and/or premature termination of exercise (Abdel Kafi et al., 2002). During high intensity exercise, the increased ventilatory demand is met via elevations of V_T, which is achieved by reducing EELV below FRC and increasing EILV (McClaran et al., 1999). When EELV increases above resting values during exercise, dynamic hyperinflation occurs (O'Donnell and Laveneziana, 2006). During dynamic hyperinflation, expiration is terminated prematurely, and the individual breathes at higher lung volumes. Working at higher lung volumes reduces ventilatory capacity by preventing the required increase in V_T. This can lead to an increased work of breathing (Loring et al., 2009), breathing discomfort (Iandelli et al., 2002), and may ultimately induce premature termination of exercise, particularly in individuals with pre-existing pulmonary disease (O'Donnell et al., 2001; O'Donnell and

Webb, 2008). Dynamic hyperinflation is often used as an effective compensatory strategy to facilitate greater airflow and avoid EFL.

Lung compliance refers to the lungs ability to stretch and expand (Kraman, 2007), and is directly proportional to lung volume (i.e., with increased lung compliance, lung volume increases). Elasticity refers to the resistance to the stretch and is inversely proportional to compliance; the more compliant the lung, the better the elastic recoil. The onset of EFL or dynamic hyperinflation has been associated with impaired elastic recoil function of the lung, which reduces its ability to produce high flow rates (O'Donnell and Laveneziana, 2006). Elastic recoil of the lung is highly dependent upon airway surface tension, which is mediated by ASL (Widdicombe and Widdicombe, 1995). Since ASL is an important contributor to surface tension, it can be postulated that reductions to this surface liquid volume may contribute to changes in lung compliance, and thus, contributes to EFL and dynamic hyperinflation. At present, no research has been conducted to assess the impact of systemic fluid loss upon EFL and dynamic hyperinflation. A greater understanding of the role of systemic water balance on ventilatory limitation is therefore required.

Whilst EFL and dynamic hyperinflation are more commonly experienced in clinical populations, such as in individuals with airway obstruction (i.e., chronic obstructive pulmonary disease; COPD, and asthma), it has also been shown to occur in healthy individuals with normal pulmonary function (Johnson et al., 1992). Guenette et al., (2007) reported significant EFL (assessed using the negative expiratory pressure technique; detailed in Section 2.4.3.1) in twelve out of seventeen endurance-trained cyclists at maximal exercise. Of the seventeen participants involved in this study, nine out of ten females and three out of seven males (>70% of the cohort) experienced EFL, demonstrating the risk of EFL to healthy individuals, and reinforcing that females may be more prone to EFL than males. Dominelli et al., (2013) also reported that fourteen out of thirty female participants (ranging from sedentary to elite athletes) experienced EFL (measured via oesophageal balloon-tipped catheter) during an incremental cycling test to exhaustion. Alongside this finding, eighteen of the participants also experienced EIAH at submaximal intensities during the test. These findings highlight how more than one factor may contribute to ventilatory limitation during exercise in healthy individuals.

2.4.3.1 Assessing expiratory flow limitation and dynamic hyperinflation

Assessment of EFL and dynamic hyperinflation has previously been somewhat challenging. However, in recent years numerous methods of detection have been developed. The direct assessment of EFL requires mostly invasive procedures with expensive equipment. To confirm the changes in inspiratory and expiratory pleural or oesophageal pressures for the measurement of EFL and dynamic hyperinflation, an oesophageal balloon is often inserted, which can assess flow, volume and transpulmonary pressure simultaneously whilst the participant performs repeated expiratory vital capacity efforts (Grieco et al., 2017). The oesophageal balloon methodology is complex and time consuming for both participant and researcher, and the invasive nature of the method renders it unfavourable with participant populations (Koulouris et al., 2012).

Alternatively, the negative expiratory pressure (NEP) technique has been implemented, which involves applying negative pressure at the mouth during tidal breathing. The principle of the NEP technique is that when flow-limitation is absent, an elevated pressure gradient between the alveoli and the airway opening caused by the negative pressure should lead to increased expiratory flow. On the other hand, when the participant is experiencing EFL, the application of negative pressure should not influence their expiratory flow (Koulouris et al., 1995). The NEP method is often considered the 'gold standard' for detection of flow limitation; however, alternative methods exist if the NEP equipment is unavailable.

Assessment of EFL without invasive procedures and specialist equipment is also possible, with two commonly used methods available. Manual compression of the abdomen is the first non-invasive technique, which follows a similar principle to the NEP method. The researcher applies a forceful pressure to the abdomen of the participant at the onset of expiration, and failure of the participant to increase expiratory flow is indicative of EFL (Koulouris et al., 2012). This method has been implemented during exercise (Abdel Kafi et al., 2002); however it has been less commonly used in research, likely due to the difficulty of squeezing the abdomen at the precise point of expiration, thus leaving potential for inaccurate results.

Another non-invasive but effective method for use at rest and during exercise is the inspiratory capacity (IC) manoeuvre to determine EELV (Hyatt, 1961). The IC is the

maximal volume of air that can be inhaled after a quiet breath out. This simple measurement allows accurate determination of EELV and EILV, without the need of specialist equipment (as all metabolic analysers are capable of measuring lung volumes). This measurement can provide information regarding changes to operating lung volumes, thus assisting with the assessment of dynamic hyperinflation. To establish whether EFL is present, the flow volume loop of a tidal breath needs to be superimposed within the maximum flow-volume curve (Figure 2.13). When the tidal breath is below the maximal expiratory flow-volume curve (Figure 2.13, panel A), EFL is not present. However, when the tidal breath appears to impinge or overlap the maximal expiratory flow-volume curve (Figure 2.13, panel B), EFL has occurred. The degree of EFL is quantified by the percent of the tidal flow-volume loop that exceeds the expiratory portion of the maximal expiratory flow-volume curve (Johnson et al., 1999). This technique relies on TLC remaining constant, which is known to occur in healthy adults (Stubbing et al., 1980). It also relies heavily on participant cooperation, which may be difficult in clinical populations. Whilst this conventional method does not provide direct measurement of inspiratory pressures, it is a simple, effective method for the assessment of both EFL and dynamic hyperinflation (Dolmage and Goldstein, 2002), which requires minimal specialist equipment and is non-invasive. An advantage of this method is that the assessment of operating lung volumes can be performed concurrently to the exercise test. The measurement of operating lung volumes (i.e., EELV, EILV) and degree of EFL can be useful indicators of ventilatory constraint, particularly during exercise (Guenette et al., 2013). When combined with breathing pattern responses (i.e., f_b and V_T), a comprehensive evaluation of ventilatory limitation during exercise can therefore be obtained.

Utilising one or more of the above-mentioned methods for the assessment of ventilatory limitation is needed when one wants to thoroughly evaluate the ventilatory response to exercise. Whilst it is apparent that ventilatory limitations can occur in both, clinical and healthy populations, external/environmental factors may also contribute to the development of such limitations.



Figure 2.13. Examples of two expiratory flow volume loops a) without expiratory flow limitation (EFL) and b) with EFL. When tidal expiratory flow approaches or impinges on maximal expiratory flow (as shown in panel B), this is referred to as EFL. Taken from Babb (2013).

2.4.4 Factors influencing ventilatory limitation

2.4.4.1 Ventilatory responses to heat exposure

External (i.e., heat stress) and internal (i.e., elevated T_{core}) factors can influence the response of the ventilatory system at rest and during exercise. Early work by Haldane (1905) demonstrated that elevated T_{core} led to significant elevations of \dot{V}_E . This response has now been well-established (Tsuji et al., 2016) and is referred to as hyperthermia- (or heat-) induced hyperventilation. Hyperthermia-induced hyperventilation in humans is accompanied by elevations in alveolar ventilation; consequently, blood gases are altered (PaO₂ is increased and PaCO₂ decreased) when body temperature raises by 1.5°C (Saxton, 1975). For core temperatures above 38.0–38.5°C, increases of ~20–30 L·min⁻¹ in \dot{V}_E are commonly noted (Fujii *et al.*, 2008; Tsuji *et al.*, 2012).

The ventilatory response to heat exposure has been shown both at rest and during exercise. Tsuji *et al.*, (2019) demonstrated significant elevations in \dot{V}_E following passive heating (via water immersion at 41°C) until T_{core} reached 39.0°C in ten healthy male participants. An increase in \dot{V}_E from 9.3 ± 0.8 L·min⁻¹ to 26.7 ± 6.8 L·min⁻¹ was noted after 30 min of passive heating. These elevations in \dot{V}_E were also associated with an increased work of breathing (from $13.0 \pm 8.9 \text{ J} \cdot \text{min}^{-1}$ at rest to $59.4 \pm 49.5 \text{ J} \cdot \text{min}^{-1}$ at termination of heating). This increased work of breathing was likely due to the fact that \dot{V}_E was elevated with no change in EELV. The authors discussed that these changes in ventilatory responses are involuntary and likely associated with increased brain temperature. Further investigation using passive heating showed that pulmonary function can also be influenced by changes in T_{core} (Tipton *et al.*, 2017). Following 30 min of water immersion at 40°C, nine healthy males displayed improvements in FEV₁, expiratory flow at 50% (FEF₅₀) and 75% (FEF₇₅) of FVC, indicative of a bronchodilator effect of elevated T_{core} (no breathing pattern data were recorded in that study). The authors proposed that an increase in T_{core} , independent of exercise, may contribute to airway smooth muscle compliance, and thus caused bronchodilation.

Alterations to the ventilatory response to exercise during heat stress have also been displayed during sub-maximal exercise. A linear relationship between T_{core} and \dot{V}_{E} (mediated by increased f_b) was demonstrated by Hayashi *et al.*, (2006) in thirteen healthy males exercising at sub-maximal intensity (50% of peak O₂ uptake; VO_{2peak}). Throughout the 60 min cycling bout, \dot{V}_E increased at a rate of 5-6 L·min⁻¹ for every 1°C increase in $T_{core.}$ In a study by Tsuji et al., (2012b), the T_{core} of ten healthy males was elevated to 37.5 \pm 0.35°C (via pre-heating with water immersion at 40°C) prior to cycling at 50% of VO_{2peak} in hot conditions (37°C and 50% relative humidity), and rose to 38.6 °C following exercise. Significant elevations in \dot{V}_{E} , f_{b} and $\dot{V}CO_{2}$ were noted, whilst V_{T} significantly decreased, and VO₂ remained unchanged. Further, a linear relationship was reported between increasing $T_{\rm core}$ and increasing $\dot{V}_{\rm E}$. The reduction in $V_{\rm T}$ alongside an elevation of $f_{\rm b}$, demonstrates that, during exercise in the heat, hyperventilation is modulated by the rate, rather than the depth of the ventilatory response. The findings from Tsuji et al., (2012b) were confirmed by further investigations into the ventilatory response to exercise heatstress. Tsuji et al., (2015) demonstrated that hyperthermia-induced hyperventilation can be supressed by controlled breathing during exercise. Twelve healthy males followed the same protocol as described above (Tsuji et al., 2012). In one condition, participants breathed freely during exercise, and in the other, participants were required to control their own breathing by timing their f_b using a metronome. In the normal breathing trial, \dot{V}_E increased from 9.9 \pm 1.5 L·min⁻¹ at rest to 55.1 \pm 8.9 L·min⁻¹ at termination of the 60 min exercise bout. The rate of increase in \dot{V}_E of $8 \pm 4 \text{ L} \cdot \text{min}^{-1}$ for every 1°C increase in T_{core} was comparable to that reported by Hayashi et al., (2006). After the initial increases in V_T and

 f_b at the start of exercise, V_T gradually reduced, whilst f_b increased, demonstrating that the depth of the ventilatory response may play a major role in hyperthermia-induced hyperventilation. In contrast, \dot{V}_E and f_b in the controlled-breathing trial were lower and V_T was higher, indicating that the ventilatory response to hyperthermia can be voluntarily supressed. Altogether this information suggest that it is important to consider the impact of heat-stress upon the ventilatory response to exercise when designing research studies involving exercise in which T_{core} is likely to be elevated.

As an elevated T_{core} can alter the ventilatory response to exercise, and as dehydration is a common occurrence during exercise in the heat (Galloway and Maughan, 1997; Gibson et al., 2014), exploring the independent and combined effects of dehydration and heat stress on ventilatory response during exercise is of relevance.

2.4.4.2 Ventilatory responses to dehydration

Little work has been conducted so far to directly investigate the impact of dehydration upon the ventilatory response at rest and during exercise in humans. Of the research currently available, conflicting results have been reported, with studies reporting increases (Fan et al., 2008; Senay and Christensen, 1967), decreases (Caldwell et al., 1984), and no change (Dengel et al., 1992; England et al., 1984; Fujii et al., 2008a) in \dot{V}_E in a state of dehydration.

Early work by Senay and Christensen (1967) investigated the impact of heat-induced dehydration on the resting ventilatory response. Five males were exposed to 43°C for 12 h, resulting in a dehydration severity of 5% body mass loss. In the dehydrated trial, elevations in \ddot{V}_E (from $8.3 \pm 2.0 \text{ L} \cdot \text{min}^{-1}$ to $10.6 \pm 3.8 \text{ L} \cdot \text{min}^{-1}$ at rest) and P_{osm} (from $289 \pm 3 \text{ mOsm} \cdot \text{kg}^{-1}$ to $300 \pm 4 \text{ mOsm} \cdot \text{kg}^{-1}$) were noted. Similar changes did not occur in the control condition, in which participants' body mass loss was replenished hourly with 0.1% saline throughout the 12h exposure period. Notably, f_b was not altered, suggesting that the observed changes in \dot{V}_E were mediated by changes in V_T . These findings also suggested an association between increased P_{osm} and elevated \dot{V}_E . One limitation to this study is that the elevations in body temperature were not the same between trials: in the dehydration condition, body temperature was elevated by ~1°C (from $36.6 \pm 0.3°C$ to $37.7 \pm 0.2 °C$), whereas in the control trial, the increase was only ~0.5 °C (from $36.5 \pm 0.2 °C$ to $37.1 \pm 0.4°C$). Based on information presented in section 2.4.4.1, it is likely that the change in body temperature acted as a confounder and contributed to the changes in ventilatory response. Based on

these data, it is therefore difficult to isolate the effects of dehydration (and the associated change in Posm) on ventilatory response at rest. Future work should aim to avoid significant changes in $T_{\rm core}$ during dehydration to fully understand the role of dehydration upon ventilatory function. Follow-up work by the same group investigated the impact of elevated blood osmolarity on ventilation in dehydrated males independent of changes in body temperature (Senay, 1969). In this study, eight males undertook 2 h of heat exposure (at 43°C), with 10 min of stair stepping undertaken at 30 min intervals (at 0, 30, 60, and 90 min) on two occasions, with 60-90 min break between exposures. Participants were fluid restricted throughout the trials, and thus hypertonic-hypovolemia was induced (quantified by elevations in P_{osm} from $301 \pm 9 \text{ mOsm} \cdot \text{L}^{-1} \text{ H}_2\text{O}$ to $317 \pm 8 \text{ mOsm} \cdot \text{L}^{-1} \text{ H}_2\text{O}$). The authors reported findings that contradicted their previous work and showed that the elevated Posm reduced the respiratory response (quantified by reductions in alveolar ventilation) to elevated body temperatures. These findings suggest that increased $T_{\rm core}$ may alter the ventilatory response to dehydration, and again highlights the importance of controlling this confounding variable in future research investigating the impact of changes to body fluid balance upon the pulmonary system.

More recently, Fujii et al., (2008) investigated the impact of dehydration upon hyperthermic-hyperventilation. Thirteen healthy adult males undertook two bouts of exercise in the heat (35 °C, 50% RH) at 50% VO_{2peak} (50-60 min in bout one, and 30-50 min in bout two). The exercise bouts were separated by a period of either fluid replacement with sodium water (150% of body mass loss during bout one was replaced) or no fluid replacement. By the end of exercise bout two in the fluid replacement trial, participants were dehydrated by ~2% body mass (no change in P_{osm} from pre-exercise: 290 ± 4 mOsm·kg⁻¹ H₂O to post-exercise: 291 \pm 3 mOsm·kg⁻¹ H₂O) and by ~4% body mass (increase in P_{osm} from pre-exercise: 290 ± 3 mOsm·kg⁻¹ H₂O to post-exercise: 299 ± 4 $mOsm \cdot kg^{-1} H_2O$) in the no fluid trial. The authors reported no difference in the rate of change in \dot{V}_E following exercise in the heat with no fluid replacement (i.e., in a dehydrated state; increase in \dot{V}_E of 9.9 ± 7.6 L·min⁻¹ per 1°C increase in T_{core}) compared to with fluid replacement (i.e., a euhydrated state; increase in \dot{V}_E of 8.8 ± 6.1 L·min⁻¹ per 1°C increase in T_{core}). These findings suggested that it is the change in T_{core} , rather than the change in hydration status, that primarily influenced the ventilatory response to sub-maximal exercise in the heat. However, it is important to consider that whilst Fujii et al., (2008) did provide fluid to their participants between exercise bouts in their control condition, participants still

completed the trial in a state of 2% body mass loss, which would be classified as a state of mild dehydration (Cheuvront and Kenefick, 2014). It therefore difficult to confirm that the observed responses were not, at least in part, attributable to the change in hydration status from baseline to post-exercise. Further, since exercise was performed at moderate intensity and in a steady-state, it remains unknown how the ventilatory response to incremental and maximal exercise is impacted by hydration status.

Alongside the ventilatory response to exercise-induced dehydration, concomitant perceptual responses associated with respiratory comfort may also be of interest. Endurance-trained individuals exercising at high intensities develop extremely high ventilatory rates (Wells and Norris, 2009). Elite athletes working at such intensities commonly report respiratory symptoms during exercise, such as difficulty breathing, breathlessness and feelings of breathing discomfort (Smoliga et al., 2016; Turcotte et al., 2003). Respiratory symptoms are particularly common in athletes competing in cold/dry environments (Lennelöv et al., 2019) who ventilate high volumes of cold/dry air. The high volumes of cold/dry air that is ventilated in those environments must be warmed and humified upon inspiration, a process which may promote local airway dehydration (Kippelen et al., 2012). Respiratory symptoms may impair an athlete's performance in training and/or competition. Understanding whether systemic dehydration may contribute to the onset of breathing discomfort and other respiratory symptoms would be beneficial to understanding the overall ventilatory response to exercise.

Whilst components (i.e. V_T , \dot{V}_E , and f_b) of the ventilatory response to exercise in dehydrated individuals have been reported in a limited number of studies (Table 2.3), a direct and comprehensive analysis of this response, including a combination of breathing pattern, operating lung volumes, and respiratory symptoms is still warranted.

Author (year)	Participants	Dehydration method	Dehydration severity (%)	Exercise test	T _{core}	Ventilatory response
Senay and Christensen, (1967)	5 males (health / training status not included)	12 h resting heat exposure (43°C)	-5 % body mass	None	Rest: 36.67°C Dehy: 37.69°C	$\dot{\mathbf{V}}_{\mathbf{E}}$ ↑*: Rest: 8.3 ± 2.0 L·min ⁻¹ Dehy: 10.6 ± 3.8 L·min ⁻¹ $f_{\mathbf{b}}$ ↔: Rest: 17.3 ± 6.3 breaths·min ⁻¹ Dehy: 18.3 ± 6.6 breaths·min ⁻¹
Caldwell, Ahonen and Nousiainen, (1984)	62 male athletes	 Diuretic (furosemide) Sauna (80°C, 50% RH) Exercise (running / swimming) Control (n=15) 	1) -3.1 ± 0.8 kg 2) -3.5 ± 0.8 kg 3) -2.3 ± 0.8 kg 4) -0.8 ± 1.0 kg	Incremental cycle test to exhaustion	Not reported	Submaximal intensities: 1) $\dot{\mathbf{V}}_{\mathbf{E}} \downarrow^*$: 2) $-5.1 \pm 8.8 \text{ L} \cdot \text{min}^{-1}$ $\mathbf{V}_{\mathbf{T}} \leftrightarrow$: $-0.2 \pm 0.4 \text{ L}$ $f_{\mathbf{b}} \leftrightarrow$: $-0.1 \pm 0.6 \text{ breaths} \cdot \text{min}^{-1}$ 3) $\dot{\mathbf{V}}_{\mathbf{E}} \downarrow$: $-0.4 \pm 9.8 \text{ L} \cdot \text{min}^{-1}$ $\mathbf{V}_{\mathbf{T}} \leftrightarrow$: $0.2 \pm 0.3 \text{ L}$ $f_{\mathbf{b}} \leftrightarrow$: $0.1 \pm 0.6 \text{ breaths} \cdot \text{min}^{-1}$ 4) $\dot{\mathbf{V}}_{\mathbf{E}} \downarrow$: $1.0 \pm 6.2 \text{ L} \cdot \text{min}^{-1}$ $\mathbf{V}_{\mathbf{T}} \leftrightarrow$: $0.0 \pm 0.2 \text{ L}$ $f_{\mathbf{b}} \leftrightarrow$: $0.1 \pm 0.8 \text{ breaths} \cdot \text{min}^{-1}$ 5) $\dot{\mathbf{V}}_{\mathbf{E}} \leftrightarrow$: $1.9 \pm 7.0 \text{ L} \cdot \text{min}^{-1}$ $\mathbf{V}_{\mathbf{T}} \leftrightarrow$: $0.0 \pm 0.3 \text{ L}$ $f_{\mathbf{b}} \leftrightarrow$: $0.2 \pm 0.7 \text{ breaths} \cdot \text{min}^{-1}$ Peak exercise: 1) $\dot{\mathbf{V}}_{\mathbf{E}} \downarrow^*$: $-9.4 \pm 17.3 \text{ L} \cdot \text{min}^{-1}$ $\mathbf{V}_{\mathbf{T}} \leftrightarrow$: $-0.3 \pm 0.2 \text{ L}$

Table 2.3. The impact of dehydration upon ventilatory parameters at rest and during exercise
						$f_{b}\leftrightarrow: 1.3 \pm 6.0 \text{ breaths} \cdot \text{min}^{-1}$ 2) $\dot{\mathbf{V}}_{E}\downarrow^{*:} \cdot 9.1 \pm 12.9 \text{ L} \cdot \text{min}^{-1}$ $\mathbf{V}_{T}\leftrightarrow: -0.3 \pm 0.2 \text{ L}$ $f_{b}\leftrightarrow: 1.8 \pm 6.3 \text{ breaths} \cdot \text{min}^{-1}$ 3) $\dot{\mathbf{V}}_{E}\downarrow: -1.5 \pm 10.4 \text{ L} \cdot \text{min}^{-1}$ $\mathbf{V}_{T}\leftrightarrow: -0.1 \pm 0.2 \text{ L}$ $f_{b}\leftrightarrow: 2.7 \pm 5.5 \text{ breaths} \cdot \text{min}^{-1}$ 4) $\dot{\mathbf{V}}_{E}\uparrow: 12.0 \pm 12.3 \text{ L} \cdot \text{min}^{-1}$ $\mathbf{V}_{T}\leftrightarrow: 0.0 \pm 0.1 \text{ L}$ $f_{b}\leftrightarrow: 5.1 \pm 6.0 \text{ breaths} \cdot \text{min}^{-1}$
England <i>et</i> <i>al.</i> , (1984)	6 trained males	Intermittent sauna exposure (65°C)	-5% mass	Incremental cycle test to exhaustion	Dehydration: ~38.2°C Euhydration: ~ 37.5°C	Submaximal: $\dot{\mathbf{V}}_{\mathbf{E}} \leftrightarrow vs$ euhydration Peak: $\dot{\mathbf{V}}_{\mathbf{E}} \leftrightarrow vs$ euhydration
Dengel <i>et al.</i> , (1992)	9 healthy males	Exercise at 50% VO _{2max} for 1.5h (38°C), repeated x2 in a 36 h period	1) - 3% mass 2) - 6% mass	Incremental cycling test to exhaustion	Not reported	Submaximal intensities: 1) $\dot{\mathbf{V}}_{\mathbf{E}} \leftrightarrow vs$ euhydration 2) $\dot{\mathbf{V}}_{\mathbf{E}} \leftrightarrow vs$ euhydration Peak exercise: 1) $\dot{\mathbf{V}}_{\mathbf{E}} \leftrightarrow vs$ euhydration 2) $\dot{\mathbf{V}}_{\mathbf{E}} \leftrightarrow vs$ euhydration 3)
Fan <i>et al.</i> , (2008)	10 healthy males	Passive heating in water perfused suit (48°C)	40°C, 20% RH	None	↑ by 2°C <i>vs</i> rest	$\dot{\mathbf{V}}_{\mathbf{E}} \uparrow^*:$ Rest: $10 \pm 3 \text{ L} \cdot \text{min}^{-1}$ End: $18 \pm 5 \text{ L} \cdot \text{min}^{-1}$ $\mathbf{V}_{\mathbf{T}} \leftrightarrow:$

						Rest: 0.7 ± 0.3 L End: 0.9 ± 0.4 L $f_b^*:$ Rest: 15 ± 3 breaths \cdot min ⁻¹ End: 20 ± 5 breaths \cdot min ⁻¹
Fujii <i>et al.</i> , (2008)	13 healthy males	2x bouts cycle exercise of 30-60 min at 50% VO _{2peak} in 35°C with no fluid	-2.5% mass	Steady state cycling exercise at 50% VO _{2peak}	Dehydration: $\uparrow 2.1 \pm 0.3^{\circ}C$ Euhydration: $\uparrow 1.8 \pm 0.2^{\circ}C$	$\dot{\mathbf{V}}_{\mathbf{E}} \leftrightarrow vs$ euhydration $\mathbf{V}_{\mathbf{T}} \leftrightarrow vs$ euhydration $f_{\mathbf{b}} \leftrightarrow vs$ euhydration

 \dot{V}_E : minute ventilation; V_T : tidal volume; $\dot{V}O_{2max}$: maximal volume of oxygen consumption; f_b : breathing frequency; kg: kilograms; RH: relative humidity. *p<0.05: dehydration vs euhydration

2.5 Overall summary of the literature

Water is fundamental for normal physiological function in humans and is an essential component of the pulmonary system. It has been shown that body fluid loss (i.e. dehydration) during exercise negatively influences a multitude of physiological systems (including the cardiovascular, renal, metabolic, neurohumoral, and gastrointestinal systems), whereas the function of these physiological systems during prolonged exercise heat stress in a euhydrated state are well maintained (Travers et al., 2020). The impact of dehydration upon the pulmonary system however, remains unclear. Since optimal function of the pulmonary system in humans is vital both at rest and during exercise, it is of growing importance to further our understanding of *i*) the pulmonary response to systemic fluid loss, and *ii*) potential mechanisms associated with the observed response. During large muscle mass exercise (such as long duration cycling), the pulmonary system is placed under extreme stress, and ventilatory limitation (i.e. impaired gas exchange, respiratory muscle fatigue, and/or EFL) can occur in both healthy and clinical populations. However, the functional implications of fluid loss (commonly experienced during exercise – particularly in hot conditions) remains to be fully elucidated.

2.6 Thesis aims and hypotheses

The overarching aim of this thesis was to determine the effects of systemic hydration on normal pulmonary function and ventilatory response to exercise in healthy adults. Following an in-depth review of the literature, the following objectives, which were addressed by specific experimental chapters, were developed:

- 1. To investigate the inter-day repeatability and intra-day reproducibility of pulmonary function in healthy young adults (Chapter 4).
 - a. It was hypothesised that spirometry and whole body plethysmography would show good repeatability when performed on multiple days (interday), and good reproducibility when performed at multiple times in the same day (intra-day).
- 2. To investigate the impact of mild systemic dehydration on resting pulmonary function in healthy young adults (Chapter 5).
 - a. It was hypothesised that pulmonary function would be impaired following systemic dehydration induced via both, exercise in the heat, and a prolonged period of fluid restriction.
- 3. To establish whether dehydration-induced changes in pulmonary function at rest are reversible with immediate systemic and/or local airway rehydration (Chapter 5).
 - It was hypothesised that immediate rehydration by oral fluid intake and isotonic saline nebulisation would successfully reverse dehydration-induced pulmonary function impairments.
- 4. To investigate the impact of moderate dehydration induced by exercise on resting pulmonary function in trained young adults (Chapter 6).
 - a. It was hypothesised that moderate dehydration would lead to negative alterations in pulmonary function in trained young adults.
- 5. To establish the effect of dehydration on ventilatory and perceptual responses to exercise.
 - a. It was hypothesised that ventilatory parameters would be negatively altered and breathing discomfort would increase when healthy trained individuals perform an incremental exercise test to exhaustion in a state of moderate dehydration.

Chapter 3 General methods

Within this thesis, three experimental studies are presented. This chapter details the general materials and methods that were implemented throughout the experimental studies. Details of additional (experiment-specific) protocols are presented in the relevant chapters, although some specific techniques requiring detailed explanation are also outlined in this chapter.

3.1 Ethical approval

The University Research Ethics Committee (UREC) approved the protocols and procedures of all experimental studies presented in this thesis. Ethical approval codes are provided in the 'ethical approval' sections of each experimental chapter. Evidence of ethical approval is presented in Appendix A.

3.2 Participants

Healthy adults (male and female) aged between 18 and 50 years were recruited for each experimental study. The age range was capped at 50 years to avoid confounding issues of age on pulmonary function (Thomas et al., 2019). Participants were deemed healthy to take part prior to participation following completion of a health questionnaire (Appendix B). Individuals that reported adverse health issues were excluded from study participation. Smokers were not permitted to take part in the experiments due to the well-established negative impact of smoking on pulmonary health and function (Comstock et al., 1970; Xu et al., 1994). Individuals with a history of respiratory illness or disease (i.e., asthma), or any other chronic illness that may have impacted participation, were also excluded. A detailed description of the participants recruited to each study is provided in the relevant experimental chapters.

3.2.1 Participant recruitment

Participants were recruited via posters placed around Brunel University London and the surrounding areas. Announcements were made in lectures, and the research was posted on the University Intranet site (under '*Call for Participants*') and on social media (including

Facebook and Twitter). For study 3 (Chapter 6), information was also distributed to local cycling and triathlon clubs, and announcements were made at local sporting events.

3.2.2 Pre-participation

Before agreeing to participate, volunteers were provided with a detailed participant information sheet, which described: the requirements of the study; precise experimental procedures; benefits and risks associated with participation. Willing volunteers were encouraged to ask any questions regarding the studies before deciding whether or not to take part. All participants signed written informed consent (Appendix C) prior to taking part.

3.3 Participant characteristics

3.3.1 Anthropometry: stature

Participants' standing stature (cm) was recorded at the first experimental visit of each study. Stature was measured using a stadiometer (SECA model 798, Hamburg, Germany), with shoes and socks removed. Participants were required to stand vertically, facing away from the stadiometer. The stadiometer measurement arm was lowered until rested upon the top of the head, participants were instructed to take one deep inspiration, followed by a relaxed expiration to ensure correct posture. Stature was recorded to the nearest 0.5 cm.

3.3.2 Anthropometry: body mass

Participants self-reported nude body mass (to the nearest 0.1 kg) in the privacy of a lockable bathroom using electronic scales (SECA model 798, Hamburg, Germany) at each experimental visit (specific time points of measurement are detailed in the relevant experimental chapters). Participants were instructed to remove all clothing, dry themselves with a towel (to remove any excess sweat), and step onto the zeroed scales until the digital display was stable.

3.4 Control measures and standardisation

The following control measures were adhered to within each experiment to reduce the risk of confounding factors influencing the dependent variables.

3.4.1 Pre-trial restrictions

Participants were required to avoid alcohol, caffeine, diuretics, and strenuous exercise in the 24 h prior to each experimental trial to avoid any potential confounding impact upon: pulmonary function (Chapman and Mickleborough, 2009), T_{core} (McHill et al., 2014), hydration status (Roberts, 1963), and exercise effort (Ganio et al., 2009b). Participants recorded a food diary in the 24 h prior to the first experimental trial and replicated this food diary prior to each visit. Participants were required to arrive to the laboratory in a euhydrated state on each visit, by maintaining normal drinking and consuming a minimum of 500 mL the night before and the morning of each experimental trial.

3.4.2 Diurnal variation

Unless necessitated by experimental design, comparable trials were performed at the same time of day in order to reduce the impact of diurnal variation on pulmonary function (Spengler and Shea, 2000), T_{core} and exercise performance (Waterhouse et al., 2005). Each experimental trial began between 08:00 h – 10:00 h to ensure inter-individual standardisation. All participants completed their individual trials at the same start time to ensure intra-individual standardisation. Chapter 4 provides a detailed explanation of control data collected to assess reproducibility of pulmonary function tests performed at multiple times on the same day (intra-day reproducibility).

3.5 Dehydration protocols

3.5.1 Exercise

Exercise was used as a method of inducing dehydration in experiments 2 and 3 (Chapters 5 and 6). Specific exercise protocols are detailed in the relevant experimental chapters.

3.5.2 Cycle ergometry

All cycling tests were performed on a cycle ergometer (Lode Excalibur, Lode, B.V, Groningen, The Netherlands). Participants were required to maintain a self-selected steady cadence of 70-90 rpm for the duration of the exercise trials and remained seated on the cycle ergometer at the same saddle height at all times during exercise. The ergometer provides a workload accuracy of ± 2 W when operated at workloads below 100 W, and \pm

2 % when operated at workloads from 100 to 1,500 W (Lode, 2016). Power output was controlled by the electro-magnetic braking mechanism of the ergometer using the following equation:

Power output (W) = Resistance × Cadence Note. Where resistance is measured in kilograms (kg) and cadence recorded in revolutions per minute (rpm).

Workload was determined specifically for each individual study. For study 2 (Chapter 5), participants cycled at 25% of estimated peak power, in line with the protocol used by Simpson et al., (2017). Estimated peak power was determined using the following equations (Hansen et al., 1984):

Male estimated peak power = [(stature – age)×20] / 10 Female estimated peak power = [(stature – age)×14] / 10 Note. Where stature is measured in centimetres (cm), and age is measured in years.

To induce a moderate severity of dehydration in study 3 (Chapter 6), participants were required to work at 40% of their peak power (determined via an incremental test to exhaustion - see section 3.5.4). This power output was adapted from previous work (Trangmar et al., 2014), in which $3.1 \pm 0.3\%$ of body mass loss was induced via semi-recumbent cycling at 55% maximal work rate. Semi-recumbent cycling is associated with reduced maximal work rate and \dot{VO}_{2max} in comparison to upright cycling (Scott et al., 2006); therefore the relative workload applied to induce moderate dehydration in study 3 via upright cycling was set at 40 % of their peak power.

3.5.3 Exercise in the heat

Exercise in the heat was used in studies 2 and 3 (Chapters 5 and 6) as a mode of inducing dehydration via elevated sweat loss. Environmental conditions were controlled by a purpose-built environmental chamber (Procema Ltd., Twickenham, UK). Conditions were set at 37°C and 50% relative humidity (RH) for the duration of exercise. These environmental conditions were based on previous work investigating the impact of dehydration upon pulmonary function of individuals with asthma (Simpson et al., 2017).

Temperature and humidity were monitored and recorded every 15 min using a hygrometer (RH32, Omega, Manchester, UK) to ensure stability at the desired levels.

3.5.4 Incremental exercise test

A maximal incremental exercise test was used as a means to *i*) determine peak power output of participants in study 3, and *ii*) to establish the ventilatory response to incremental exercise in a dehydrated state. Participants performed a standardised warm up for 3 min at 50 W, followed by increments of 50 W every 2 min until exhaustion. To ensure similarity in test duration between participants, females began the first stage at 50 W, whilst males began at 100 W. Cadence was maintained between 70 and 90 rpm throughout the test. Participants were verbally encouraged throughout the test by the experimenter to ensure maximal effort was obtained. The test was terminated when the participant reached volitional exhaustion, or when the cadence dropped below 60 rpm for > 5 s.

Criteria for determining whether $\dot{V}O_{2max}$ had been reached was conducted in accordance with the guidelines from the British Association of Sport and Exercise Sciences (Winter et al., 2006). The end-point criteria were as follow: achievement of a plateau in $\dot{V}O_2$ despite an increase in workload; heart rate within 10 beats min⁻¹ of age related maximum (see section 3.9.1); a respiratory exchange ratio (RER) of \geq 1.15; and a perceived exertion of \geq 19 (see section 3.10.2).

3.6 Ventilatory parameters during exercise

3.6.1 Calibration of breath-by-breath gas analyser

During the exercise trials, ventilatory parameters were recorded via breath-by-breath analysis (Vyntus CPX, Carefusion, Hoechberg, Germany) using the SentrySuite 360° \mathbb{R} software (Carefusion, Hoechberg, Germany). The system was calibrated for volume and gas concentration prior to each test. The gas calibration was performed first using the SentrySuite 360° \mathbb{R} automated gas calibration function, and the gas analyser was calibrated using certified gas concentrations (CO₂ = 5%, O₂ = 15%; balanced with N₂). Volume calibration was performed used a 3 L calibration pump (Jaeger Calibration Pump, Jaeger, Hoechberg, Germany), with the pump piston pulled back and forth at a steady speed to ensure the pump was completely filled and emptied with each stroke. The SentrySuite 360° \mathbb{R} software provided live feedback throughout the calibration, and calibration was repeated if volume deviated from an acceptable range (± 10%).

3.6.2 Breath-by-breath analysis

Parameter	Units	Definition
Minute ventilation (\dot{V}_E)	L∙min ⁻¹	Total volume of gas inhaled or exhaled from the lungs per minute
Breathing frequency (<i>f</i> _b)	breaths.min ⁻¹	The number of breathing cycles <i>per</i> minute
Tidal volume (V _T)	L	The volume of gas which is inhaled and exhaled during one ventilatory cycle
Rate of oxygen uptake $(\dot{V}O_2)$	L·min ⁻¹ / mL·kg·min ⁻¹	Volume of oxygen utilised <i>per</i> minute / Volume of oxygen utilised <i>per</i> minute, relative to body mass
Rate of carbon dioxide produced (VCO ₂)	L∙min ⁻¹	Volume of carbon dioxide exhaled per minute
Inspiratory time (T _i)	S	Time taken for inhalation
Total time of breath (T _{tot})	S	Total time taken for whole breath

Table 3.1. Names and definitions of ventilatory parameters presented within this thesis.

Participants breathed into a small mouthpiece with a nose-clip on for breath-by-breath analysis. During exercise in the heat (studies 2 and 3), participants breathed into the mouthpiece for 5 min at each data collection point (both at rest and during exercise). Data from the final minute of recorded breathing was taken for analysis to allow stabilisation of breathing rate when using the mouthpiece. Table 3.1 details the specific ventilatory parameters recorded. Analysing multiple ventilatory parameters during exercise provides a comprehensive analysis of the breathing pattern and the ventilatory response of the individual tested (Neder et al., 2003). Parameters recorded and analysed within each study are detailed in the relevant experimental chapters.

3.6.3 Operating lung volumes

In study 3 (Chapter 6), the ventilatory response to exercise was assessed by measuring dynamic changes in operating lung volumes, i.e., EELV (L) and EILV (L). Analysis of operating lung volumes, alongside breathing pattern (see section 3.6.2) and perceptions of breathing discomfort (see section 3.10.1) allowed for a detailed evaluation of ventilatory abnormalities during exercise (Guenette et al., 2013).

Assessment of operating lung volumes was performed using IC manoeuvres. During the incremental exercise test (see section 3.5.4), participants performed IC manoeuvres in duplicate at rest, during the last 30 s of each incremental exercise stage, and at maximal exertion. The manoeuvre was clearly explained to the participant using the following instruction, as recommended by Guenette et al., (2013): "Take a deep breath in until you are completely full. First finish your normal breath out, and then proceed to fill your lungs quickly and without hesitation until you are as full as possible. When you can get no more air in, then you can return to normal breathing." Following this explanation, an example of how the manoeuvre should be performed was demonstrated by the experimenter. Participants performed practice manoeuvres at rest until the experimenter was satisfied and the participants were comfortable with the technique. Prior to the test, participants were instructed to raise their hand when they felt they had approximately 10 s until exhaustion, to allow the final IC manoeuvre to be performed. During the test, approximately 10 s prior to each IC manoeuvre, participants were instructed as follow: "at the end of a normal breath out, take a fast maximal breath in until your lungs are completely full." Participants then repeated the manoeuvre following 5-10 normal breaths. Verbal encouragement was provided throughout each manoeuvre to ensure a maximal inspiratory effort was achieved.

Stability of EELV prior to IC manoeuvres was checked by the experimenter via visual inspection of real-time breath-by-breath recordings throughout each manoeuvre. The experimenter was able to ensure the breathing pattern of the participant was not altered in anticipation of the deep inspiration. Figure 3.1 shows examples of a correctly performed IC manoeuvre (panel a), alongside two incorrectly performed manoeuvres that would lead to either b) underestimated or c) overestimated IC values. When the experimenter deemed EELV to be unstable, or when IC was performed incorrectly, the participant was asked to repeat the manoeuvre.

As TLC is considered to remain stable throughout exercise (Stubbing et al., 1980), operating lung volumes can be calculated using the following equations (operating lung volumes were presented as a percentage of TLC for analysis):

EELV (L) = TLC (L) – IC (L)
EILV (L) = EELV (L) +
$$V_T$$
 (L)



Figure 3.1. Examples of inspiratory capacity (IC) manoeuvres performed during exercise. A) Represents a correctly performed manoeuvre, with IC initiated at the correct end-expiratory lung volume (EELV), B) represents an example of an underestimated IC, characterised by the IC being initiated before the EELV and C) demonstrates an overestimated IC as a result of the manoeuvre being initiated after surpassing EELV [from Guenette *et al.*, (2013)].

3.7 Hydration status

3.7.1 Capillary blood samples

In all experiments, capillary blood samples were collected (in triplicate) from the participants' finger-tip at each time point and analysed for haemoglobin content and

haematocrit (for the calculation of plasma volume), and P_{osm}. The mean value of the three recorded measures was calculated and used for analysis.

Participants submerged their arm (up to the elbow) in warm water (~50 °C) for 5 min prior to the collection of the sample to increase arterialisation of capillary samples. The fingertip was cleaned using an alcohol wipe. A single-use disposable lancet (Accu-Check ®, Safe-T Pro Plus, Roche, Basel, Switzerland) was inserted ~2.3 mm into the fingertip, the first drop of blood was wiped away with a tissue, as this drop may be contaminated with tissue fluid (World Health Organization, 2010). Blood was drawn into the appropriate tube for each sample type (described below); if blood flow ceased before all samples were collected, a second fingertip puncture was made on an alternative finger.

3.7.1.1 Haemoglobin

For haemoglobin $(g \cdot L^{-1})$ determination, 10 µL of whole blood was collected into three HemoCue® Hb 201 microcuvettes (HemoCue® Ltd., Dronfield, Derbyshire, UK) and placed into a HemoCue® Hb 201⁺ (HemoCue® Ltd., Dronfield, Derbyshire, UK) for analysis. The average of the three samples was calculated and used for analysis. If one sample presented a large deviation, the average from the two other samples was taken.

3.7.1.2 Haematocrit

For haematocrit, 75 mm whole blood samples were collected into three microhaematocrit capillary tubes (Hawksley, Lancing, Sussex, UK), and were then centrifuged for 3 min at 12,000 g (Hawksley HaematoSpin 1400, Hawksley, Lancing, Sussex, UK). Following this, capillary tubes were placed under a microscope (173582, Vickers Instruments, York, UK), on a 150 mm ruler. Haematocrit (%) was calculated using the following equation, with the mean of the three samples used for analysis:

Haematocrit (%) = (blood total length / total sample length) \times 100

Note. Where total blood length and total sample length are measured in millimetres

(mm).

Haemoglobin and haematocrit concentration were used to measure changes in plasma volume using the following equation (Dill and Costill, 1974; Strauss et al., 1952):

 Δ plasma volume =

 $((100 \times Hb \text{ pre/Hb post}) \times (1 - (Hct \text{ post} - 100) / (1 - (Hct \text{ pre} - 100)) - 100)$

Note. Hb: haemoglobin, Hct: haematocrit

3.7.1.4 Plasma osmolality

For P_{osm} , three 200 µL whole blood samples were collected into lithium heparin microvette tubes (CB 300 LH) and centrifuged for 3 min at 12,000 g (1-15k microfuge, Sigma, SciQuip Ltd. UK). A sample of plasma (20 µL) was extracted from the centrifuged sample using the Ease-Eject Sampler pipette (3M0825 20 µL Ease-Eject Sampler, Advanced Instruments, Massachusetts, USA) for analysis of P_{osm} . The osmolality (mOsm·kg⁻¹) of the plasma was analysed via freezing point depression (3320 micro-osmometer, Vitech Scientific Ltd., West Sussex, UK). The freezing point depression osmometer cools the plasma to a temperature below its expected freezing point, with a wire rotating to stir the plasma and form ice crystals. When ice crystals are formed, thermal energy is released, which raises the temperature of the sample. Freezing point osmometry is the temperature at which the solid and liquid phases will co-exist in equilibrium (Koumantakis and Wyndham, 1989). A standard freezing point curve is then generated, with the osmolality of the plasma sample calculated from the freezing point depression. The mean osmolality of the three samples was calculated and used for analysis.

3.7.1.5 Measurement error of blood sample analysis

To confirm reproducibility and repeatability of blood sample analysis for hydration status markers, measurement error was assessed and is presented in Table 3.2. A coefficient of variation (CV), defined as the ratio of the standard deviation (SD) to the mean, was calculated for each variable; a CV of <5% is deemed to indicate 'excellent' repeatability (David et al., 2006). The intraclass correlation (ICC), a common statistical measure of reliability (Atkinson and Nevill, 1998), was also calculated. ICC is a measure of agreement to determine how closely data within the same group agrees with each other. An ICC greater

than 0.800 or greater than 0.900 indicates 'good' or 'excellent' agreement between measurements, respectively (Liljequist et al., 2019).

The technical error of measurement (TEM), i.e., the variability encountered when the same specimen is measured at multiple sessions, was also calculated to provide an indication of the precision associated with the measure, where error due to both biological and technical factors is considered (Harris and Smith, 2009). The following equation is used to calculate TEM (Arroyo et al., 2010):

$\text{TEM} = \sqrt{(\Sigma d^2) / 2n}$

Note. Where d is the difference between repeated measures, and n is the number of individuals measured.

Table 3.2. Measurement error for blood sample analysis at baseline (euhydrated) across four experimental visits Chapter 5.

Variable	ICC	ICC 95 % CI	CV (%)	TEM
Haematocrit (%)	0.911	0.771 - 0.975	0.98	1.14
Haemoglobin (g·L ⁻¹)	0.973	0.930 - 0.992	3.27	4
Posm (mOsm·kg ⁻¹)	0.973	0.930 - 0.993	2.92	2
Plasma volume (%)	0.973	0.930 - 0.993	2.34	1.1

P_{osm:} plasma osmolality; ICC: intraclass correlation; 95 % CI: 95 % confidence interval; CV: coefficient of variation; TEM: technical error of measurement.

3.7.2 Urine osmolality

Participants provided a urine sample for the analysis of urine osmolality (U_{osm}) – Note. This sample was not their first void of the day. Urine osmolality was measured using a portable refractometer (Pocket Pal-Osmo, Atago Vitech Scientific, UK). Euhydration was accepted as $U_{osm} < 700 \text{ mOsmol} \cdot \text{kgH}_2\text{O}^{-1}$ (Sawka et al., 2007). Individuals that exceeded this threshold upon arrival to the laboratory were excluded from participation on that day and were asked to return on an alternative day.

3.7.3 Fluid replacement

In studies 2 and 3 (Chapters 5 and 6, respectively), fluid replacement strategies were implemented to either rehydrate or maintain euhydration. Details of fluid consumption/rehydration methods are provided below. When fluid was consumed orally, the volume of fluid ingested (in L) was matched to the loss of body mass (in kg) for each individual.

3.7.3.1 Systemic (oral) rehydration

In study 2, participants underwent a 1 h rehydration period (see Chapter 5 for detailed experimental protocol). Participants consumed a bolus of water at room temperature, mixed with 3g NaCl·LH₂O⁻¹ to improve fluid retention (Maughan and Leiper, 1995). Fluid was divided equally into three bottles, and participants were required to finish each bottle within each of the three 15 min rehydration blocks.

3.7.3.2 Nebulized (local) rehydration

In a second condition of study 2 (Chapter 5), local rehydration of the airways was performed using an ultrasonic nebuliser (UltraNeb, DeVilbiss Healthcare Ltd., UK) with isotonic saline solution (0.9 %). The nebuliser was set to the maximum flow rate and participants breathed tidally through a two-way non-rebreathing valve (Series 1410, Hans Rudolph Inc, Kansas, USA) with a nose-clip in place. Each bout of nebulisation lasted 15 min, and participants performed a total of three bouts over the 1 h rehydration period.

3.7.3.3 Exercise fluid replacement

In study 3, fluid replacement was delivered during exercise in the control trial (see Chapter 6 for detailed experimental design). Fluid replacement was matched to target body mass loss and was delivered as four equal boluses of room temperature water mixed with 40 g electrolyte powder (36 g carbohydrate, 20 mmol·L⁻¹ sodium; SiS GO Electrolyte Powder, Science in Sport®, UK) *per* 500 mL of water to maintain fluid balance (Evans et al., 2017). Participants were required to finish each bolus within 30 min.

3.8 Pulmonary function

In all experimental studies, pulmonary function tests (PFT) were performed in the same order: impulse oscillometry (IOS, Chapter 6 only), spirometry and then whole body plethysmography. All pulmonary function equipment was calibrated prior to each data collection time point using a 3 L calibration pump (3 L calibration syringe, Carefusion, Hoechberg, Germany). The pump piston was pulled back and forth slowly and at a consistent speed, ensuring the pump was completely emptied and completely filled with each repetition. The correction factors were logged by the computerised system; an error message was produced if the volume deviated from the acceptable range (i.e., $\pm 10\%$), and calibration was then repeated until requirements were met. For IOS, the screen flap at the back of the pneumotach was open throughout the volume calibration, and was closed prior to and throughout measurement, as per the manufacturer's instructions (Carefusion, 2017).

3.8.1 Impulse oscillometry

Impulse oscillometry was performed as the first lung function test at all data collection points, as the forced manoeuvres of spirometry and whole body plethysmography can impact the resistance and reactance values measured with IOS (Brashier and Salvi, 2015). The main principle of IOS is that impulses of multiple frequency sound waves are pushed into the lungs as pressure waves to allow the measurement of respiratory resistance and reactance (Brashier and Salvi, 2015).

In accordance with the guidelines of Brashier and Salvi, (2015), participants were asked to assume a seated position on a chair (legs un-crossed). The mouthpiece was adjusted to a comfortable height for the participant, so the neck was slightly extended, and a nose-clip was worn throughout the test. An add-on mouth clip was worn to keep the tongue at the bottom of the mouth. Participants were asked to press their hands firmly against their cheeks for the duration of the test to reduce impedance of extra-thoracic airway walls as a result of pressure oscillations applied at the mouth (Brashier and Salvi, 2015). Participants were then asked to perform normal tidal breathing in a relaxed state for 30-45 s. A minimum of three tests were performed until three technically acceptable manoeuvres were completed. In line with the ATS/ERS guidelines (Oostveen et al., 2003), tests were discarded and repeated if any breathing segments contained the following artefacts: poor cheek support, tongue position causing interference, air leaks, swallowing, breath holding,

and/or vocalisation. Respiratory resistance at 5 and 20 Hz (R_5 and R_{20} , respectively), frequency-dependence of resistance ($R_5 - R_{20}$), respiratory reactance at 5 Hz (X_5), area of reactance (A_x), and resonant frequency (F_{res}) were recorded in accordance with the ATS/ERS guidelines (Oostveen et al., 2003) and are detailed in Table 3.3. The mean values over three acceptable tests were retained for analysis.

Parameter	Definition	Units	Relevance
R ₅	Respiratory resistance at 5 Hz	kPa·L ⁻¹ ·s ⁻¹	Total airway resistance
R ₂₀	Respiratory resistance at 20 Hz	kPa·L ⁻¹ ·s ⁻¹	Resistance at the large airways
R ₅₋ R ₂₀	Difference between R_5 and R_{20}	kPa·L ⁻¹ ·s ⁻¹	Resistance at the small airways
X5	Respiratory reactance	kPa·L ⁻¹ ·s ⁻¹	Provides information about the distensible airways and reflects elastic recoil at peripheral airways
A _x	Integrated low frequency respiratory reactance magnitude between 5 Hz and F _{res}	kPa∙L ⁻¹	Respiratory compliance and small airway patency. Reflects changes in the degree of peripheral airway obstruction
F _{res}	Resonant frequency	Hz	Reflects the frequency that the lung tissue moves from passive distension to active stretch.

Table 3.3. Definitions and application of IOS parameters reported within this thesis.

kPa, kilopascals; L, litres; s, seconds; Hz, hertz.

3.8.2 Spirometry

Spirometry measurements of FEV₁ (L), FVC (L), FEF₂₅₋₇₅ (L·s⁻¹), FEV₁/FVC (%) ratio and PEF (L·s⁻¹) were recorded using a spirometer (studies 1 and 2 used a MasterScreen PFT, Carefusion, Hoechberg, Germany; study 3: MicroLoop, Micromedical Limited, Kent, England). The alternative spirometer was used for study 3 due to the requirement for a portable device. Figure 3.2 provides a graphical representation of the lung volumes and flow rates measured using spirometry. In accordance with the ATS/ERS guidelines (Miller et al., 2005b), participants were required to perform the test in a seated, upright position, with a nose-clip affixed to occlude and prevent air leakage from the nostrils. Prior to the commencement of the test, the procedure was explained in full. Participants were instructed to breathe tidally into the spirometer via a mouthpiece for \sim 5-10 s and were then asked to inhale rapidly and forcefully to TLC. This was immediately followed by a forced expiration

(the duration being a minimum of 6 s). Participants were encouraged by the experimenter throughout the test. The manoeuvres were compared to the published acceptability criteria (within- and between-manoeuvre) (Miller et al., 2005b). Three technically acceptable manoeuvres were required, with two manoeuvres within 150 mL of each other (for FEV₁ and FVC). The highest FEV₁ and FVC of two repeatable manoeuvres, and the highest peak expiratory flow (PEF) of three acceptable manoeuvres were recorded. The forced expiratory flow at 25-75 % (FEF₂₅₋₇₅) was selected from the manoeuvre with the highest sum FEV₁ + FVC. A maximum of eight manoeuvres were conducted *per* time point.



Figure 3.2. A) Spirometry flow-volume loop and B) volume-time graph showing lung volumes and flow rates from a forced expiratory manoeuvre. PEF, peak expiratory flow; FVC, forced vital capacity; FEV₁, forced expiratory volume in one second; FEF₂₅, forced expiratory flow at 25 % of FVC; FEF₅₀, forced expiratory flow at 50 % of FVC; FEF₇₅, forced expiratory flow at 75 % of FVC.

3.8.3 Whole body plethysmography

Whole body plethysmography was performed in all studies following ATS/ERS guidelines (Wanger et al., 2005). Participants were required to enter the MasterScreen plethysmograph box (Carefusion, Hoechberg, Germany) and sit for 1-2 min to allow stabilisation of pressure and temperature. Participants were instructed to breathe at a rate of 25 breaths min⁻¹ into the mouthpiece (with nose-clip on). At the end of a normal expiration, a shutter was closed

for ~2-3 s. Participants were required to continue breathing normally against the closed shutter without increasing their effort. Upon the shutter re-opening, participants were asked to perform a full exhalation to RV (L), and then a full inspiration to TLC (L), followed by a final forced exhalation. Participants were verbally encouraged throughout each manoeuvre. FRC (L) was calculated (JLab software, Carefusion, Germany) and the mean FRC was selected for analysis. RV was derived from the mean FRC minus mean expiratory reserve volume (ERV), and TLC was calculated as the maximum vital capacity (VC) *plus* RV. A minimum of three manoeuvres were performed to ensure reproducibility (FRC was required to be within 5% across the three trials) A graphical representation of the static lung volumes recorded via whole body plethysmography is presented in Figure 3.3.

The basic principle of whole body plethysmography applies Boyle's law and works on the detection of changes in mouth pressure or with flow rates under defined breathing conditions (Criée et al., 2011). Boyle's Law states that *'the pressure of a given mass of a given gas is inversely proportional to its volume at a constant temperature'*. Thus, relative volume changes can be inferred from pressure changes. The key principle in body plethysmography is that changes in alveolar pressure may be inferred from changes in plethysmograph pressure (Goldman et al., 2005). The small volume changes detected due to compression and decompression of the lungs allows for the measurement of gas flow into and out of the lungs.



Figure 3.3. Static lung volumes and capacities based on a volume–time graph of an inspiratory vital capacity (IVC) manoeuvre. IC: Inspiratory capacity; IRV: inspiratory reserve volume; V_T : tidal volume; ERV: expiratory reserve volume; RV: residual volume; IC: inspiratory capacity; FRC: functional residual capacity; TLC: total lung capacity, from Wanger et al., (2005).

The volume calibration of the pneumotachograph was performed using the same procedures as described above (see section 3.8) prior to each test. The plethysmograph pressure transducer was calibrated following the manufacturer's instructions (Carefusion, 2017) and performed prior to each test using the 'box calibration' function. The door of the box was closed to allow box pressure and volume to stabilise. The automatic calibration was internally performed and controlled by a motor-driven syringe. Following 2 min of volume and pressure stabilisation, 30–50 mL of air was repeatedly inserted and removed from the box. Changes in pressure following calibration reflected the changes in thoracic gas volume resulting from compression/decompression of thoracic gas. When the participant entered the box to perform a manoeuvre, a one min rest period was first observed to allow the calibration to correct for the participant's body volume. The final calibration coefficient was calculated using the body mass of the participant.

3.8.3.1 *Airway resistance*

Airway resistance is defined as the pressure difference between the mouth and the alveoli, divided by the airflow (Sidebotham and Le Grice, 2007). In this thesis, airway resistance was measured using the interrupter (i.e., airway occlusion) technique, as described by Goldman et al., (2005). This technique relies on short interruptions of airflow (i.e., when the shutter closes – as described above), based on the assumption that during periods of no airflow, pressures through the respiratory system will equilibrate rapidly. Specific airway resistance (sRaw) was calculated by taking the difference between the recorded alveolar pressure (box pressure) and mouth pressure and dividing this value by airflow.

3.9 Other physiological measurements

3.9.1 Heart rate

Heart rate (beats \cdot min⁻¹) was measured via a telemetric heart rate monitor (Polar, FS1, Birmingham, UK). Participants wore a telemetric belt around their chest at all times during the exercise trials. Heart rate was recorded from a paired watch at regular intervals as necessitated by the specific experimental trial and was continuously monitored to ensure participant safety. Maximum heart rate (HR_{max}) was calculated using the following equation (Fox et al., 1971):

$$HR_{max} = 220 - age$$

3.9.2 Core temperature

Measurement of T_{core} was performed using tympanic temperature (T_{tymp}) in study 2 and using rectal temperature (T_{rec}) in study 3. Tympanic temperature was measured at the tympanic membrane using ear canal placement (ThermoscanExactemp 6022, Braun, Germany). The temperature monitor was placed into the ear canal on three occasions for each measurement point, and the mean recorded value was taken as the tympanic temperature at each point. Whilst T_{tymp} typically underestimates T_{rec} or other deep body sites [by ~0.5-1 °C (Roth et al., 1996)], it is still recognised as an appropriate method for monitoring changes in T_{core} (Taylor et al., 2014).

Due to the increased exercise intensity and severity of dehydration induced in study 3, T_{rec} was used as the measure of T_{core} . Oesophageal temperature (an alternative internal

measurement site) was considered for use, as this measurement site may respond faster to changes in body temperature (Taylor et al., 2014). However, T_{rec} is regarded as the gold standard measure for T_{core} due to its precision (Ganio et al., 2009a). Further, due to i) the primary experimental outcomes (i.e. to avoid interference with pulmonary and ventilatory parameters) and ii) to improve comfort of participants during the experimental trials (>6 h in duration), T_{rec} was considered the most appropriate method of temperature measurement.

Participants were provided with a rectal thermistor (RET-1 Rectal probe, Physitemp, New Jersey, USA) and were instructed to self-insert the thermistor in the privacy of a bathroom. The thermistor was inserted to a marked depth of 10 cm into the anal sphincter for measurement of $T_{\rm rec}$ (Taylor et al., 2014). Recordings of $T_{\rm rec}$ were taken every 15 min and were monitored continuously to 0.01°C throughout exercise using a temperature logger (TC-2000 Thermocouple Meter, Sable Systems International, North Las Vegas, USA) to ensure participant safety. In accordance with our ethics application, participants were to be removed from the chamber if $T_{\rm rec}$ increased above 40°C (no incidence of this occurred in the studies presented within this thesis).

3.9.3 Oxygen saturation

In study 2, peripheral oxygen saturation (SpO₂) was measured throughout the nebulised rehydration trials via a pulse oximeter (9590 Onyx Vantage Finger Pulse Oximeter, Nonin Medical, Plymouth, USA) placed on the tip of the participants' index finger. In study 3, SpO₂ was measured throughout the $\dot{V}O_{2max}$ test using a pulse oximeter (Xpod® 3012LP External OEM Pulse Oximeter, Nonin Medical, Plymouth, USA) attached to the earlobe of the participant. Resting SpO₂ was recorded after ~1 min of rest to allow stability of readings. Subsequent values were recorded at the end of each 2 min stage throughout the incremental test.

3.10 Perceptual scales

3.10.1 Breathing discomfort

The breathing discomfort scale was used to determine subjective feelings of breathing difficulty. A modified Borg Scale (Appendix D) was used to rate breathing discomfort on a scale of 0 = 'no discomfort at all' to 10 = 'very, very severe discomfort' (Mahler and Horowitz, 1994). Participants were shown the breathing discomfort scale at rest (prior to

each trial), when the rating system was explained in detail. During study 2, participants were asked to rate breathing discomfort at the end of each stage (i.e., during the last 5 min of each cycling and stepping bout) by pointing to the appropriate rating on the scale. In study 3, breathing discomfort was recorded every 2 min throughout the $\dot{V}O_{2max}$ test, and every 15 min throughout the exercise-induced dehydration trials.

3.10.2 Rating of perceived exertion

Participants were asked to rate their perceived exertion (RPE) on a Borg Scale (Borg, 1982) from 6 = 'very very light' to 20 = 'maximal' (see Appendix E). Participants were shown the RPE scale at rest prior to each trial, when the rating system was explained in detail. In study 2, participants were asked to rate RPE at the end of each stage (i.e. during the last 5 min of each cycling and stepping bout). In study 3, participants were asked to rate RPE every 2 min during the \dot{VO}_{2max} test, and every 15 min during the exercise-induced dehydration trial.

3.11 Statistical analysis

All statistical analyses were performed using statistical software (SPSS 20, SPSS, Chicago, IL). Data were tested for normality using the Shapiro-Wilk test. Statistical significance was set at $p \le 0.05$. Data are presented as mean \pm SD, unless otherwise stated. Specific statistical tests used for each study are reported in the relevant experimental chapters.

3.11.1 Sample size determination

Sample size was determined based on previous work (see specific study chapters for details) and was conducted using G*Power Version 3.9.1.2 (Faul et al., 2007). Mean changes of key dependent variables presented in previous studies with similar methods were used to determine the sample size required to detect a meaningful change at a power of 80% and an alpha level of significance of 0.05. In study 2, eighteen participants were recruited and ten completed all experimental trials. In study 3, seventeen participants were recruited and eleven completed all experimental trials.

3.11.2 Statistical significance

Results within this thesis have been classed as statistically significant if the probability (p) value was ≤ 0.05 . This means that the probability that the test statistic would be greater than or equal to the observed results (when the null hypothesis is true) is beyond the 0.05 level (i.e., there is 95% confidence that the outcome has not been reached by chance). The statistical test used to determine statistical significance varies between experimental chapters, with the most appropriate test for each individual research question implemented in each case. The statistical test used for each study is detailed in the relevant experimental chapters.

3.11.3 Tests of normality

Tests of normality were performed on all data sets, to ensure samples were normally distributed. The Shapiro-Wilk test was used to test for normality, and thus helped determine the correct statistical test to be used for analysis. The Shapiro-Wilk test compares the sample to a normally distributed set of scores with the same mean and standard deviation (Field, 2017). If the Shapiro-Wilk test is non-significant (p > 0.05), it can be assumed that the there is no difference in the distribution of the sample, and thus the data is classed as normally distributed. All data collected within this thesis was found to be normally distributed, and thus alternative tests for non-normally distributed data were not required.

3.11.4 Analysis of Variance (ANOVA)

Analysis of Variance (ANOVA) is a set of univariate statistical techniques used to compare means from experiments with three or more treatment conditions or groups (Gray and Kinnear, 2012). Within this thesis, ANOVA was determined to be the most appropriate test to assess whether a significant difference existed between means; this test compares the variances within and/or between groups and whether or not they are equal. Within and/or between conducted in this thesis using either: one-way, two-way, or three-way ANOVA (detail of the specific statistical test implemented is provided within the relevant experimental chapters). In studies 2 and 3, three-way ANOVA were implemented to include further comparison of an additional independent variable. If the ANOVA demonstrated statistical significance, a post hoc analysis was conducted – these are detailed in section 3.11.5 below.

3.11.5 Post hoc analysis

Post hoc tests are pairwise comparisons that are used to compare all different combinations of the analysis, and thus locate the specific differences (Field, 2017). Where statistical significance was demonstrated using ANOVA, the Bonferroni correction was implemented as the post hoc test to determine differences between multiple comparisons. The Bonferroni correction divides the overall type I error rate across all conditions by the number of comparisons, to ensure that the type I error rate is below 0.05 (Field, 2017); this is the most robust univariate technique if sphericity is violated (Field, 2017).

Chapter 4 Inter-day repeatability and intraday reproducibility in pulmonary function in healthy adults

4.1 Abstract

Pulmonary function testing is used on a regular basis for diagnosis of pulmonary illness and for research purposes. Pulmonary function research often seeks to detect relatively small changes in lung volumes and capacities, and therefore it is essential that the tests performed are not impacted by confounding factors, and that measurements are reliable and reproducible. The present study aimed to investigate in healthy adults i) the inter-day repeatability of pulmonary function measured by spirometry and whole body plethysmography and *ii*) the intra-day reproducibility in spirometry and whole body plethysmography. Participants performed repeated pulmonary function tests on *i*) four separate occasions (at the same time of day) to assess inter-day repeatability, and *ii*) multiple times within the same day (1 morning and 2 afternoon visits) to assess intra-day reproducibility. Pulmonary function tests (FVC, FEV1, PEF, RV, FRC) displayed 'excellent' repeatability (ICC > 0.9 and CV < 5%) when performed on multiple days, and were shown to display 'very good' reproducibility when performed on multiple times within the same day. These findings provide support for the use of spirometry and whole body plethysmography in experimental research aiming to detect small, but physiologically relevant alterations in pulmonary function of healthy adults across multiple days, and at different times within the same day.

4.2 Introduction

Pulmonary function tests (PFT) are used daily in hospitals and research settings for the diagnosis and management of disease, and to evaluate the effectiveness of experimental interventions (Douglas et al., 2008; Strivens, 2017). Spirometry, the most commonly used PFT (Dancer and Thickett, 2012), assesses the volume of inhaled and exhaled airflow from an individual as a function of time. The two key parameters of spirometry tests are FVC – which provides an index of lung size, and FEV₁ – which provides an index of airway calibre. The FEV₁/FVC ratio represents the portion of the vital capacity that an individual can expire in the first second of expiration, and is > 70% in healthy adults (Vogelmeier et al., 2017). A reduced FEV₁/FVC ratio indicates an obstructive lung defect (such as asthma or COPD), whereas reduced FEV₁ and FVC, with a normal ratio (>70%), implies presence of a restrictive lung defect (Pellegrino et al., 2005). Spirometry is considered 'gold standard' in pulmonary function; however, it only allows partial pulmonary function assessment, as lung volumes (i.e., RV, FRC, and TLC) are not captured.

Whole body plethysmography is often performed in conjunction with spirometry for the measurement of lung volumes and capacities. Plethysmography provides measures of the lung volumes and capacities not captured by spirometry, including TLC, RV, FRC, ERV, VC, and IRV, as well as measurement of airway resistance (sRaw). Minor increases in static lung volumes, such as RV and FRC, can indicate possible air trapping and/or pulmonary dysfunction (Ruppel, 2012). When associated with reductions in vital capacity (Dykstm et al., 1999; Lutfi, 2017), reduced RV and FRC suggest that the dysfunction is localised at the level of the small airway.

Precision of PFT is critical in clinical settings to inform diagnosis and, in research setting, to confidently detect pulmonary function changes (that may be small, but meaningful) in response to interventions. Compared to spirometry, the variability of whole body plethysmography is greater which limits the sole use of whole body plethysmography in clinical trials (Houghton et al., 2005; Tattersfield and Keeping, 1979), and supports the use of both techniques in combination. Knowing the reproducibility [i.e., variation in measurements made on a subject under changing conditions (Bartlett and Frost, 2008)] and the repeatability [i.e., variation in repeat measurements made on the same subject under identical conditions (Bartlett and Frost, 2008)] of PFT is important for interpretation of the

results. Variation in PFT results may arise from: faulty equipment; observer influences; biological factors [including inter (within)- and intra (between)-day variations] (Miller et al., 2005b). Intra-day variations in pulmonary functions are expected in some disease states, such as asthma [which is characterised by variability of airway calibre (GINA, 2020)]. Spengler and Shea, (2000) also presented increases in FEV₁ of up to 18% when testing was performed in healthy adults in the afternoon compared to the evening, which was thought to be associated with an endogenous circadian rhythm. The intra-day variation in whole body plethysmography has not been reported as widely as that of spirometry; however Hruby and Butler (1975) presented early evidence of increased airway resistance in the afternoon compared to the morning. Estimating intra- and inter-day reproducibility and repeatability in PFT will ensure that variation can be recorded and accounted for in following experimental interventions, thereby reducing the risk of over- or underestimation of the effect of the intervention.

The first aim of this experimental chapter was to investigate the inter-day repeatability of pulmonary function measured by spirometry and whole body plethysmography in healthy adults. The second aim was to test, in a similarly healthy population, intra-day reproducibility in spirometry and whole body plethysmography. It was hypothesised that, in healthy young adults, *i*) a high level of agreement would be noticed between PFT data when tests are repeated on separate days, and *ii*) variations in spirometry and whole body plethysmography data may be present when PFT are repeated at multiple times on a single day.

4.3 Method

The study was split into two parts: Part A focused on inter-day repeatability, and part B on intra-day reproducibility.

4.3.1 Participants

For Part A, ten participants (two females) aged between 18 and 50 years were recruited. Six of these participants (two females) took part in Part B, with an additional four participants recruited (one female). For descriptive data the reader is referred to section 4.4.1. All participants were healthy, non-smokers, with no history of chronic respiratory disease. All participants provided written informed consent prior to taking part and adhered to the pre-trial controls described in Chapter 3.4.1.

4.3.2 Experimental design

In both protocols, participants were asked to abstain from exercise, caffeine and alcohol for 24 h prior to the experimental visits.

4.3.2.1 Part A: inter-day repeatability

Participants attended the laboratory on four separate days, with a minimum of 48 h between visits. Each visit started with a hydration status assessment (via U_{osm}) and a nude body mass measurement (section 4.3.3). Pulmonary function testing was then performed. Participants arrived between 08:00 h – 10:00 h over the four experimental visits (participants arrived at the same time of day for each visit).

4.3.2.2 Part B: Intra-day reproducibility

Participants attended the laboratory at three separate times on the same day. Between 08:15 - 10:15 h (AM), 12:15 - 14:15 h (PM1, early afternoon) and 13:30 - 15:30 h (PM2, midafternoon), hydration status (via U_{osm} ; section 4.3.3) and pulmonary function (via spirometry, then whole body plethysmography; see section 4.3.4) were assessed (*Note*. Times were matched with data collection times used in Chapter 5). Participants were free to leave the laboratory between data collection points but were asked to consume a minimum of 500 mL water between data points to ensure euhydration was maintained.

4.3.3 Hydration status

Participants were required to arrive at the laboratory in a euhydrated state. Hydration status was checked via U_{osm} , with a threshold of < 700 mOsm.kg⁻¹ used for inclusion (details of the technique can be found in Chapter 3.7.2). This was followed by a nude body mass measurement.

4.3.4 Pulmonary function

Pulmonary function was assessed in a seated position using spirometry and whole body plethysmography (described in detail in Chapter 3.8). ATS/ERS guidelines were strictly followed (Miller et al., 2005b; Wanger et al., 2005), with participants reminded of the

procedures for each manoeuvre before the commencement of the test. Tests were always performed in the same order [i.e., spirometry first, in line with ERS/ATS guidelines (Miller et al., 2005b)].

4.3.5 Statistical analysis

All data were analysed using SPSS Statistical Software (Version 25, SPSS, Chicago, IL), as described in Chapter 3.11. Data were analysed for normality of distribution using the Shapiro-Wilk test. Data are presented as mean \pm SD, with 95% confidence intervals (CI), whenever appropriate. Statistical significance was accepted at *p* < 0.05.

4.3.5.1 Part A: inter-day repeatability

A repeated measures ANOVA was conducted to assess changes in U_{osm} between visits. Bonferroni post hoc adjusted pairwise comparisons were used where significant main effects occurred. Coefficient of variation (CV) and intraclass correlation coefficients (ICC) were calculated to test inter-day repeatability of pulmonary function. Intra-subject CV (in %) was calculated and defined as the ratio of the SD to the mean (where SD represents the standard deviation and the mean calculated from values recorded on four separate days). A CV < 5% was deemed to indicate 'excellent' repeatability. ICC is a measure of agreement to determine how closely data within the same group agree with each other and was calculated from PFT outputs collected in the morning on four separate experimental days. An ICC > 0.800 or > 0.900 indicates 'good' or 'excellent' agreement between measurements, respectively (Liljequist et al., 2019). Technical error of measurement (TEM; the variability encountered when the same specimen is measured at multiple sessions, where error due to both biological and technical factors is considered (Harris and Smith, 2009)) was calculated for all PFT outputs (detail of this measurement is provided in Chapter 3.7.1.5). Average inter-day variation in pulmonary function was calculated using the minimum and maximum values recorded over the four visits.

4.3.5.2 Part B: intra-day reproducibility

To assess intra-day reproducibility, repeated measures ANOVA were conducted on hydration status (body mass and U_{osm}), spirometry and whole body plethysmography parameters recorded at three different times on the same day (AM, PM1, PM2). Bonferroni post hoc adjusted pairwise comparisons were used where significant main effects occurred.

4.4 Results

4.4.1 Participants

4.4.1.1 Part A: inter-day repeatability

Participants were aged 29 ± 8 y, had a body mass of 62.8 ± 8.5 kg and a stature of 173 ± 10 cm at visit 1.

4.4.1.2 Part B: intra-day reproducibility

Participants were aged 29 ± 7 y, had a body mass of 68.0 ± 11.7 kg and a stature of 175 ± 11 cm at visit 1.

4.4.2 Hydration status

4.4.2.1 Part A: inter-day repeatability

All participants were euhydrated upon arrival, and their U_{osm} did not significantly differ between visits (visit #1: 200 ± 137 mOsm·kg⁻¹; visit #2: 255 ± 200 mOsm·kg⁻¹; visit #3: 170 ± 140 mOsm·kg⁻¹; visit #4: 130 ± 130 mOsm·kg⁻¹).

4.4.2.2 Part B: intra-day reproducibility

All participants remained euhydrated throughout the day, with a U_{osm} of 150 ± 95 mOsm·kg⁻¹ at AM, 180 ± 100 mOsm·kg⁻¹ at PM1 and 250 ± 160 mOsm·kg⁻¹ at PM2; no difference was noted between time points for U_{osm} . Body mass did not significantly change during the experimental day (AM: 68.0 ± 11.7 kg; PM1: 68.0 ± 11.8 kg; PM2: 68.0 ± 11.6 kg).

4.4.3 Pulmonary function

4.4.3.1 *Part A: inter-day repeatability*

CV, ICC and TEM for each day, as well as mean values for all spirometry and whole body plethysmography parameters are presented in Table 4.1. The inter-day ICC exceeded 0.900 for both spirometry (range: 0.966 - 0.994) and whole body plethysmography (range: 0.944 - 0.998). CV below 5% (suggesting excellent repeatability) were noted for all data, except for FEF₂₅₋₇₅ (6.9%), ERV (9.1%) and sRaw (8.7%). The average inter-day variation for

FEV₁ and FVC was 188 ± 66 mL and 182 ± 71 mL, respectively. The average inter-day variation in RV, FRC, and TLC was 202 ± 103 mL, 364 ± 247 mL, and 255 ± 195 mL, respectively.

Variable	Visit 1	Visit 2	Visit 3	Visit 4	ICC (95% CI)	CV (%)	Variance (%)	Absolute TEM
Spirometry								
FEV ₁ (L)	3.94 ± 0.75	4.01 ± 0.73	4.02 ± 0.77	4.00 ± 0.77	0.994	2.6	5.4 ± 2.0	0.08
(% predicted)	$(100 \pm 12\%)$	$(102 \pm 11\%)$	$(102 \pm 12\%)$	$(101 \pm 11\%)$	(0.985 - 0.998)			
FVC (L)	5.03 ± 1.08	5.10 ± 1.06	5.04 ± 1.07	5.04 ± 1.08	0.998	1.8	3.3 ± 2.7	0.06
(% predicted)	$(107 \pm 13\%)$	$(109 \pm 13\%)$	$(107 \pm 12\%)$	$(107 \pm 12\%)$	(0.995 - 0.999)			
FEV ₁ /FVC (%)	79.1 ± 6.8	79.3 ± 6.8	80.4 ± 7.0	80.0 ± 6.7	0.987 (0.967 – 0.966)	1.8	3.5 ± 2.5	1.2
PEF (L·s ⁻¹)	9.57 ± 1.96	9.78 ± 1.98	9.49 ± 2.03	9.59 ± 1.96	0.983	4.6	9.2 ± 5.1	0.33
(% predicted)	$(105 \pm 10\%)$	$(107 \pm 13\%)$	$(104 \pm 14\%)$	$(105 \pm 12\%)$	(0.955 - 0.995)			
$FEF_{25-75}(L \cdot s^{-1})$	3.52 ± 0.82	3.60 ± 0.80	3.71 ± 0.93	3.62 ± 0.84	0.966	6.9	13.9 ± 6.6	0.20
(% predicted)	$(76 \pm 16\%)$	$(78 \pm 15\%)$	$(80 \pm 19\%)$	$(78 \pm 16\%)$	(0.912 - 0.990)			
Whole body plethysm	nography							
TLC (L)	7.07 ± 1.49	7.06 ± 1.49	7.12 ± 1.55	7.10 ± 1.45	0.998	1.6	3.5 ± 2.6	0.09
					(0.994 - 0.999)			
FRC (L)	4.03 ± 1.00	3.91 ± 0.99	4.06 ± 1.12	4.07 ± 1.03	0.990	4.3	8.1 ± 5.4	0.13
					(0.974 - 0.997)			
RV (L)	2.14 ± 0.52	2.19 ± 0.53	2.22 ± 0.55	2.23 ± 0.53	0.991	4.1	8.6 ± 4.2	0.07
			21 . 5	01.4	(0.977 - 0.997)	2.0	0.1 + 4.0	
RV/TLC (%)	30 ± 5	31 ± 4	31 ± 5	31 ± 4	0.974	3.9	8.1 ± 4.9	I
	1.00 + 0.55	1 72 + 0 49	1.95 + 0.66	1.02 + 0.52	(0.932 - 0.993)	0.1	100 ± 00	0.12
ERV (L)	1.89 ± 0.55	1.72 ± 0.48	1.83 ± 0.00	1.83 ± 0.33	0.908	9.1	10.0 ± 8.8	0.13
ЮЛ	3.12 ± 0.70	3.22 ± 0.80	3.10 ± 0.66	3.00 ± 0.63	(0.919 - 0.991)	15	0.1 ± 5.1	0.11
IC (L)	5.12 ± 0.70	3.22 ± 0.80	5.10 ± 0.00	5.09 ± 0.03	(0.960 - 0.996)	4.5	9.1 ± 3.1	0.11
IVC (L)	494 + 115	4 78 + 1 24	4.90 ± 1.15	490 + 104	0 990	36	74 + 90	0.13
		1.70 ± 1.21	1.90 - 1.19	1.20 - 1.01	(0.975 - 0.997)	5.0	/	0.15
sRaw (kPa·s ⁻¹)	0.99 ± 0.19	1.05 ± 0.21	1.01 ± 0.22	1.00 ± 0.25	0.944	8.7	16.9 ± 6.1	0.07
situa (ni u b)	0.77 - 0.17	1.00 + 0.21	1.01 ± 0.22	1.00 ± 0.20	(0.854 - 0.984)	0.7	10.7 ± 0.1	0.07

Table 4.1. Inter-day variability of resting pulmonary function measurements in ten healthy adults (two females).

Data are means \pm SD. FEV₁, forced expiratory volume in 1 second; FVC, forced vital capacity; PEF, peak expiratory flow; FEF₂₅₋₇₅, forced expiratory flow at 25–75% of forced vital capacity; TLC, total lung capacity; FRC, functional residual capacity; RV, residual volume; ERV, expiratory reserve volume; IC, inspiratory capacity; IVC, inspiratory vital capacity; sRaw, specific airway resistance; ICC, intraclass correlation; CV, coefficient of variation. TEM, technical error of measurement.

4.4.3.2 Part B: intra-day reproducibility

Throughout the experimental day, a significant time effect was detected for FEV₁ (p = 0.003), with an increase of 152 ± 98 mL ($3.7 \pm 2.3\%$) from morning to early afternoon (AM to PM1; Figure 4.1). This increase in FEV₁ was not sustained, as the 96 ± 137 mL ($2.3 \pm 3.3\%$) difference between AM and PM2 did not reach statistical significance (p = 0.162). Four participants (40%) presented a significant (≥ 200 mL) increase in FEV₁ at PM1, with two of those four presenting a sustained increase at PM2 (Figure 4.1).

A significant time effect was observed for FVC (p = 0.010). However, post hoc analysis did not reveal any significant difference between individual time points: AM to PM1 (118 ± 130 mL; p = 0.055), AM to PM2 (61 ± 106 mL; p = 0.305), and PM1 to PM2 (-57 ± 84 mL; p = 0.184). Four participants presented a ≥ 200 mL increase in FVC at PM1, with none reaching this threshold at PM2 (Figure 4.1). Neither FEV₁/FVC, nor PEF and FEF₂₅₋₇₅ changed significantly during the day (Table 4.2).

For whole body plethysmography, a significant time effect was detected for RV (p = 0.046), with an increase in RV from AM to PM2 (103 ± 84 mL; p = 0.011), but no difference between AM and PM1 (3 ± 162 mL), or PM1 and PM2 (106 ± 162 mL). FRC and TLC remained stable from AM to PM1 (FRC: -31 ± 217 mL; TLC: 62 ± 201 mL) and AM to PM2 (FRC: 40 ± 128 mL; TLC: 58 ± 128 mL), as did all the other parameters (Table 4.2).


Figure 4.1. Changes in A) FEV₁ (mL) and B) FVC (mL) between 09:15 ± 1:00 h and 13:15 h ± 1:00 h (Δ AM-PM1), and between 09:15 ± 1:00 h and 14:30 ± 1:00 h (Δ AM-PM2) in ten healthy adults (two females). Boxplots represent the median and interquartile range, with whiskers representing the minimum and maximum values. *p < 0.05, significant difference between AM and PM1.

	AM	PM1	PM2	Maximum difference
Spirometry				
FEV ₁ (L)	4.09 ± 0.63	4.24 ± 0.66 *	4.19 ± 0.67	0.18 ± 0.08
FVC (L)	5.20 ± 0.93	5.32 ± 0.93	5.27 ± 0.97	0.16 ± 0.09
FEV ₁ /FVC (%)	79.3 ± 7.6	80.2 ± 6.6	80.1 ± 7.5	2.1 ± 1.0
PEF (L·s ⁻¹)	9.59 ± 1.53	9.71 ± 1.55	9.71 ± 1.60	0.56 ± 0.52
FEF ₂₅₋₇₅ (L·s ⁻¹)	3.87 ± 0.86	3.96 ± 0.90	3.96 ± 0.90	0.45 ± 0.25
Whole body plethysmography				
TLC (L)	7.12 ± 1.18	7.19 ± 1.29	7.18 ± 1.24	0.18 ± 0.11
FRC (L)	3.96 ± 0.74	3.93 ± 0.77	4.00 ± 0.75	0.22 ± 0.11
RV (L)	1.97 ± 0.52	1.96 ± 0.50	$2.07\pm0.47\ ^*$	0.18 ± 0.11
RV/TLC (%)	28 ± 7	28 ± 7	29 ± 7	2 ± 2
ERV (L)	1.99 ± 0.44	1.96 ± 0.48	1.93 ± 0.47	0.13 ± 0.11
IC (L)	3.24 ± 0.68	3.27 ± 0.72	3.25 ± 0.67	0.18 ± 0.11
IVC (L)	5.16 ± 1.05	5.17 ± 1.05	5.11 ± 1.11	0.13 ± 0.07
sRaw (kPa·s ⁻¹)	1.12 ± 0.23	1.05 ± 0.22	1.06 ± 0.21	0.12 ± 0.11

Table 4.2. Spirometry and whole body plethysmography measurements recorded at $09:15 \pm 1:00$ h (AM), $13:15 \pm 1:00$ h (PM1) and $14:30 \pm 1:00$ h (PM2) in ten healthy participants (two females).

Data are means \pm SD. FEV₁, forced expiratory volume in 1 second; FVC, forced vital capacity; PEF, peak expiratory flow; FEF₂₅₋₇₅, forced expiratory flow at 25–75% of forced vital capacity; TLC, total lung capacity; FRC, functional residual capacity; RV, residual volume; ERV, expiratory reserve volume; IC, inspiratory capacity; IVC, inspiratory vital capacity; sRaw, specific airway resistance. * Significant difference vs. AM (p<0.05).

The aim of the present study was to investigate the inter-day repeatability (Part A) and intra-day reproducibility (Part B) of pulmonary function, assessed via spirometry and whole body plethysmography, in healthy young adults. It was hypothesised that a high level of agreement would be apparent between PFT parameters when repeated on separate days, but slight variations may be present when PFT are repeated at multiple times on a single day.

This study showed that, in agreement with the first hypothesis, the repeatability of pulmonary volumes and capacities measured via spirometry and whole body plethysmography was 'excellent' (i.e., ICC >0.9 and CV <5%) when the tests were performed on multiple days. Intra-day reproducibility was also 'very good' for both PFT, in partial agreement with hypothesis two, whereby the majority of assessed parameters remained stable throughout the day. Small, but statistically significant differences between morning and early afternoon measurements were observed for a limited number of pulmonary function measurements (i.e., FEV1 and RV). These alterations were not sustained between the two afternoon time points. Findings from the present study suggest that, in healthy young participants, spirometry and whole body plethysmography parameters are stable when recorded on multiple days. Whilst small, but statistically significant intra-day variation occurs in selected spirometry and plethysmography parameters (i.e. FEV1 and RV), the majority of pulmonary function parameters remain stable throughout the day. These findings support the widespread use of these two PFT, both in clinical and research settings, and provide confidence for implementing these methods to detect changes in pulmonary function of healthy adults under future experimental conditions.

4.5.1 Inter-day repeatability

4.5.1.1 Spirometry

The small CV reported in this study for FEV₁ (5.6%) and FVC (3.3%) are aligned with data from Rozas and Goldman (1982), who reported CV of 2.8% for both FEV₁ and FVC in 15 healthy adults. The absolute variations recorded in participants from the present study (188 \pm 66 mL for FEV1 and 182 \pm 71 mL for FVC) remain, on average, below the 200 mL threshold which is considered of clinical significance (Pellegrino et al., 2005). Variation in

FEV₁ measured on recurrent visits has previously been associated with asthma and instability of airway calibre. According to the Global Initiative for Asthma (GINA, 2020), a decrease in FEV₁ >200 mL (or a >12% change) between visits may be indicative of airflow limitation and can therefore be used in the diagnosis of asthma. Dean et al., (2018) presented a mean inter-visit variability in FEV₁ of 7.3% in 584 adults with asthma, and 4.8% in 380 adults without asthma. Data from the present study shows an average inter-day variability in FEV₁ of 5.4 ± 2.0% in healthy adults, which is comparable to the variation presented in healthy adults by Dean et al., (2018). Further, in the present study inter-day variations in FEV₁ and FVC were maintained below 150 mL in 84% of tests, which conforms to the normal spirometry intra-test repeatability criteria (Graham et al., 2019).

PEF and FEF₂₅₋₇₅ were the most variable of the recorded spirometry parameters in the present study, with an average variance of $9.2 \pm 5.1\%$ and $13.9 \pm 6.6\%$, respectively. However, repeatability remained 'excellent', with ICC of 0.983 and 0.966 for PEF and FEF₂₅₋₇₅, respectively. PEF principally represents large airway flow and is well known to be dependent upon effort from the participant; hence, as recommended by ATS/ERS (Graham et al., 2019), encouragements were provided by the experimenter during completion of all FVC manoeuvres. In regard to FEF25-75 variability, Hansen, Sun and Wasserman (2006) examined spirometry tests from 5,938 non-smokers and 3,570 current smokers (both male and female) and highlighted that the use of FEF₂₅₋₇₅ to confirm airway obstruction led to false-negative results in 42% of patients. This study presented high variability of FEF₂₅₋₇₅ and warned against potentially misleading results when using this parameter for diagnosing airway obstruction. In addition, Quanjer et al., (2014) examined spirometry measurements from 22,767 patients (aged 2-94 years), and presented evidence that, in 3% of cases, FEF25-75 left airway obstruction undetected. Finally, as FEF25-75 represents the mean expiratory flow between 25 and 75% of FVC, changes in FVC directly impact on FEF₂₅₋₇₅ readings. The interpretation of FEF₂₅₋₇₅ data should therefore be made with caution.

On the whole, the present study indicates excellent repeatability of spirometry parameters, particularly for the most physiologically and clinically meaningful indexes (i.e. FVC, FEV₁, and FEV₁/FVC). These findings therefore justify the wide use of spirometry for assessing pulmonary function changes in experimental trials.

4.5.1.2 *Whole body plethysmography*

The findings from the present study also indicate 'excellent' repeatability for whole body plethysmography measurements taken on multiple days. Whilst whole body plethysmography parameters are, in general, more variable than those recorded during spirometry testing, findings from the present study show excellent repeatability. The healthy young adults assessed here displayed CV of 4.3%, 4.1% and 1.6% for FRC, RV and TLC, respectively. Previously, Hankinson et al., (1998) reported the following CV for plethysmography parameters in adults: FRC 3.9 to 10%, RV 2.4 to 14.0%, and TLC 1.5 to 4%, however, these data should be interpreted with caution since some of the studies analysed did not include descriptions of their participants' respiratory health status. In fact, data reported in the present study show slightly lower CV, highlighting the quality of data recorded here, which is supported by the 'excellent' ICC values (i.e., FRC: 0.990, RV: 0.991, TLC: 0.998). Further, in fourteen healthy adults performing five consecutive measurements (within 24 h), Teculescu et al., (1982) reported CV of 7.5% and 4.2% for FRC and TLC, respectively (variation in RV was not reported). These data support the findings from the present study and confirm the very good repeatability of whole body plethysmography.

The data from the healthy young adults assessed within this study suggest that the most variable whole body plethysmography parameters are ERV (with a CV of 9.1%) and sRaw (CV of 8.7%); however, the 16.9% variance in sRaw remains lower than previously reported. Teculescu *et al.*, (1982) reported a variation of 28% (ranging from 17.8 to 43.4%) in four healthy young adults (aged 21 - 43 years), although these findings should be interpreted with care due to the small sample size used. Whilst sRaw is an important parameter for the assessment of airway resistance, the variability of this parameter may be elevated due to the complexity/discomfort involved in the test manoeuvre. As described in Chapter 3.8.3, the manoeuvre requires participants to continue to breathe 'normally' whilst a shutter occludes their airways. This element of the test is the most prone to artefacts, especially due to the lack of participant cooperation (Gosselink and Stam, 2005). Findings from the present study, alongside previous work presented above, suggest that sRaw and ERV are not best suited for detecting small changes in airway resistance and that their interpretation should account for inter-day variability. Overall however, these findings indicate excellent repeatability of whole body plethysmography, and render the use of this

technique highly appropriate in respiratory-focused experiments involving healthy young adults.

4.5.2 Intra-day reproducibility

4.5.2.1 Spirometry

Healthy young adults performing spirometry at multiple times within the same day produced highly reproducible results for FVC, FEV₁/FVC, PEF, and FEF₂₅₋₇₅. Aside from FEV₁, no significant changes were noted in spirometry performance undertaken in the morning *vs* the afternoon.

Contradictory results have previously been reported regarding the intra-day variation of FVC. The finding that no significant variation in FVC was noted participants of the present study is well aligned with Spengler and Shea's results (2000). In that study, no significant variation in FVC was noticed in ten healthy males who performed spirometry every 2 h over a 41 h time period. An absolute range of variation of 0.2-8.9% was reported by Spengler and collaborators (2000), which was statistically non-significant. These findings are similar to the present study, in which the range of variation was 0.7–7.6% from morning to early afternoon. Goel et al., (2015) also compared intra-day variation of pulmonary function and found little variation in FVC in 161 healthy young adults (average morning FVC of 4.02 ± 0.57 L compared to an afternoon average of 4.02 ± 0.56 L). In contrast, Borsboom et al., (1999) displayed average increases in FVC of 200 mL from 09:00h to 12:00h in 876 healthy adults. They reported that the increased FVC occurred more commonly in their older participants compared to the younger adults and suggested that changes to airway calibre with age may contribute to intra-day variation in pulmonary function. The range of participants recruited within the study by Borsboom et al., (1999) highlight the importance of interpreting their presented data with caution.

In the present study, minimal variance in FVC across a single day was displayed. These findings, supported by the little variation reported in previous work (Goel et al., 2015; Spengler and Shea, 2000), provide confidence that spirometry can be used in healthy young adults to compare small changes in pulmonary function.

Although no change in FVC occurred throughout the day in participants of the present study, FEV₁ transiently increased by 152 ± 98 mL (3.7%) between morning and early

afternoon. Spengler and Shea (2000) reported similar findings, with mean diurnal change in FEV₁ of 3.5% (range 1.9–18.2%) in ten healthy young adult males (aged 24 ± 4 years). Further, Troyanov et al., (1994) presented average maximum elevation in FEV₁ of 9.6 \pm 3.3% (range 3.5–18.4%) in ten healthy adults when spirometry was performed every 2 h between 08:00 h and 22:00 h; with the peak FEV₁ being reported at 13:12 \pm 1:24 h. These findings are comparable to the 0.5–6.8% range reported in the present study. Troyanov et al., (1994) also reported that asthmatic individuals recorded a greater change in FEV₁ (average 16.5 \pm 6.3%, range 7.0–26.9%) compared to healthy participants (*Note*. this study did not report changes in FVC). Given that airflow limitation and variable airway tone are characteristics of asthma (Barnes, 2008), it is to be expected that variation of FEV₁ (an index of airway calibre) would be higher in those patients compared to healthy participants.

4.5.2.2 Whole body plethysmography

Static lung volumes and capacities in the present study displayed very good reproducibility, with only RV displaying a significant increase between morning and afternoon. Experiments investigating the intra-day variability of whole body plethysmography indexes are currently sparse. In an early study, Hruby and Butler (1975) compared pulmonary function and airway resistance in fifteen adults [healthy: n = 6, obstructive lung disease patients (Note. No patients with asthma were included): n = 5, restrictive lung disease : n = 4] at multiple time points across a single day (08:00 h, 10:00 h, 12:00 h, 15:00 h, and 18:00 h) using an iso-pressure body plethysmograph. In line with the findings of the present study, no significant diurnal change was noted for FRC or VC. Increased sRaw was however noted in the afternoon, which is in contrast to the data collected in the present study (with no change in sRaw detected). This discrepancy in sRaw is likely due to the inclusion of clinical patients within the analysis from Hruby and Butler (1975). Further, a significant intra-day reduction in RV of ~144 mL (7%) has previously been noted in the aforementioned study by Borsboom et al., (1999), when measurements were taken at 09:00 h and 12:00. This compares to a 103 ± 84 mL increase in RV (+5.6 ± 4.4%) in our study participants, though it is important to consider that the large sample size (and therefore statistical power) of the study by Borsboom et al., (1999), which increases the reliability of those findings. These observed changes in RV may indicate a role for air trapping and/or airflow limitation in intra-day variation of pulmonary function (Ruppel, 2012). Since TLC remained stable throughout the day, it is unlikely that the observed changes in RV are attributable to intra-day changes in lung elastic recoil.

4.5.3 Study limitations

Based on guidelines from an ERS/ATS task force (Miller et al., 2005a), dynamic lung volume assessments (i.e., spirometry) were performed prior to static lung volume assessments (i.e., whole body plethysmography). Whilst in individuals with asthma, the deep inspiration of the spirometry manoeuvre may influence the airway resistance readings obtained through plethysmography [due to deep inspiration-induced bronchoconstriction (Burns and Gibson, 2002)], this is unlikely to have occurred in the healthy young participants assessed in the present work (Chapman et al., 2009; Kapsali et al., 2000). As a precaution, the order of PFT will remain consistent throughout future experiments presented within this thesis.

It is also worth noting that the intra-day evaluation of pulmonary function performed in this study does not provide a direct assessment of circadian rhythms/diurnal variation. Whilst this was not the aim of the present study, it is important to consider when making comparisons with previous work [i.e., work from Troyanov et al., (1994); Borsboom et al., (1999); Goel et al., (2015); Spengler & Shea, (2000)]. Refinetti et al., (2007) suggested that ANOVA should not be used for assessment of circadian rhythms, as this test does not evaluate the existence of a rhythmic pattern. However, the purpose of the present study was not to assess circadian rhythms per se, but instead to estimate variation (if any) of key pulmonary function parameters across a single day. The use of the ANOVA to assess variation between time points therefore allows understanding of variation within a single day and ensures that this can be accounted for in the interpretation of findings in the subsequent experimental chapters of this thesis.

4.5.4 Significance of findings

The findings from this study have substantial relevance to future/subsequent research presented both, within and beyond this thesis. Reproducibility and repeatability of data are integral for conducting robust scientific experiments. Ensuring PFT are repeatable and reproducible between and within days allows for trusted interpretation of results, particularly when assessing small variations in specific parameters. Furthermore, acknowledgment of inherent variations in pulmonary function parameters can contribute to the design of robust scientific experimental studies and acquisition of high-quality scientific data.

4.5.5 Conclusion

Spirometry and whole body plethysmography in healthy young adults displayed 'excellent' repeatability when performed on multiple days, and 'very good' reproducibility when performed at multiple time points within the same day. These findings therefore support the use of both PFT in experimental studies aiming to detect small but physiologically meaningful changes in pulmonary function of healthy young adults.

Chapter 5 Systemic but not local rehydration restores dehydration-induced changes in pulmonary function in healthy adults

5.1 Abstract

Water transport and local (airway) hydration are critical for the normal functioning of lungs and airways. Currently, there is uncertainty regarding the effects of systemic dehydration on pulmonary function. The aims of this study were: i) to clarify the impact of exercise- or fluid restriction-induced dehydration on pulmonary function in healthy adults; and *ii*) to establish whether systemic or local rehydration can reverse dehydration-induced alterations in pulmonary function. Ten healthy participants performed four experimental trials in a randomized order (2 h exercise in the heat twice, and 28 h fluid restriction twice). Pulmonary function was assessed using spirometry and whole-body plethysmography in the euhydrated, dehydrated, and rehydrated states. Oral fluid consumption was used for systemic rehydration, and nebulized isotonic saline inhalation for local rehydration. Both exercise and fluid restriction induced mild dehydration ($2.7 \pm 0.7\%$ and $2.5 \pm 0.4\%$ body mass loss, respectively; p < 0.001) and elevated plasma osmolality (p < 0.001). Dehydration across all four trials was accompanied by a reduction in forced vital capacity (152 ± 143) mL, p < 0.01) and concomitant increases in residual volume (216 ± 177 mL, p < 0.01) and functional residual capacity (130 \pm 144 mL, p < 0.01), with no statistical differences between modes of dehydration. These changes were normalized by fluid consumption, but not nebulization. These results suggest that, in healthy adults: i) mild systemic dehydration induced by exercise or fluid restriction leads to pulmonary function impairment, primarily localized to small airways; and *ii*) systemic, but not local, rehydration reverses these potentially deleterious alterations.

5.2 Introduction

Systemic dehydration commonly occurs in individuals who perform sustained physical activity in hot environments (Sawka et al., 2007), as well as in patients and older adults (Allison and Lobo, 2004). Even at a mild level [i.e., ~2-3% body mass loss (Cheuvront and Kenefick, 2014)], systemic dehydration can have unfavourable effects on multiple organ systems, including the cardiovascular, renal and nervous systems (Popkin et al., 2010), and can compromise physical and cognitive performance (Cheuvront and Kenefick, 2014). Limited and contradictory data currently exist regarding the effects of systemic dehydration on the respiratory system.

Two previous studies have showed deleterious alterations in expiratory flow or lung volumes in healthy adults (Govindaraj, 1972) and in athletes with mild asthma (Simpson et al., 2017) following mild systemic dehydration (up to 2.5% body mass loss). A third study (Javaheri et al., 1987) however showed improvements in selected measures of pulmonary function (i.e., FEV₁ and FEF) in healthy adults following moderate dehydration (4.5% body mass loss). The different population groups and severities of dehydration, as well as the various modes of dehydration [i.e., fluid restriction (Govindaraj, 1972) *vs* exercise (Simpson et al., 2017) *vs* diuretic drug (Javaheri et al., 1987)], have generated uncertainty regarding the impact of systemic dehydration on pulmonary function.

Fluid supply to the airways stems primarily from the bronchial circulation, which itself arises from the systemic circulation (Baile, 1996). Optimal lung fluid balance is a critical component of normal pulmonary functioning (Boucher, 2003), with ASL dehydration implicated in several respiratory disease states, such as cystic fibrosis (Haq et al., 2016) and EIB (Anderson and Daviskas, 1997). Water flows across the airway epithelia in response to an osmotic gradient. Thus, when individuals become dehydrated and bronchial blood flow and/or composition changes, water movement to the airways is modified and airway hydration may become compromised. Alterations in ASL thickness ('depth'), composition, and/or rheology can promote peripheral or small airway instability and provoke premature airway closure (Macklem et al., 1970), potentially increasing occurrence of respiratory symptoms (in particular, breathlessness) and worsening respiratory reserve in susceptible individuals.

Exercise in the heat and/or insufficient fluid intake are two common causes of systemic dehydration. Both modes of dehydration lead to hypertonic-hypovolemia and are associated with an increase in P_{osm} (Cheuvront et al., 2013). Fluid losses and the associated fluid shifts occur at different rates during acute exercise compared to prolonged periods of insufficient fluid intake. Exercise- and low fluid intake-induced dehydration may therefore affect bronchial blood flow and/or composition. Whether a fast rate of fluid loss (as occurs during acute exercise) leads to more severe alterations in pulmonary function than a slow rate (with prolonged fluid restriction) is currently unknown. Further, whether changes in pulmonary function induced via fluid loss can be reversed by replacing that fluid also remains undetermined. Since it is proposed that direct water lost from the airways (as a result of systemic dehydration) could be responsible for the change in pulmonary function, it is also of interest to compare different types of fluid replacement (i.e., systemic rehydration *vs* direct local airway rehydration) and their subsequent effects upon pulmonary function.

The aim of this study was to clarify the impact of mild systemic dehydration on pulmonary function in healthy adults. In line with previous findings following research in athletes with asthma (Simpson et al., 2017), it was hypothesised that pulmonary function would be compromised in dehydrated healthy adults, as evidenced by changes in spirometry and whole body plethysmography variables. To test whether the mode of dehydration influences the pulmonary response, the effects of 2 h of exercise in the heat (fast rate of fluid loss) were compared to 28 h of fluid restriction (slow rate of fluid loss). Additionally, this study aimed to establish: i) whether dehydration-induced changes in pulmonary function are reversible with immediate rehydration, and ii) whether local rehydration delivered directly at the site of the airways (via nebulised isotonic saline) is superior to systemic rehydration (via oral fluid intake) in restoring pulmonary function.

5.3 Methods

5.3.1 Ethical approval

All protocols and procedures were approved by the Brunel University London Research Ethics Committee (6639-TISS-Jul/2017- 7774-2; Appendix A) and conformed to the guidelines of the Declaration of Helsinki, 7th version (World Medical Association, 2013).

5.3.2 Participants

Seventeen (five female) participants, aged 19 to 42 years, were initially recruited to take part in this study. Seven participants failed to complete all four experimental visits and were subsequently excluded from the analysis (six participants voluntarily withdrew from the study, and one participant developed pneumonia between experimental visits and was excluded from further involvement). All participants were healthy and had no history of respiratory illness (incl. asthma and EIB). Pulmonary function was checked for normality at study entry via spirometry (with all FEV₁>80% predicted values and all FEV₁/FVC ratio >70% predicted), using GLI-2012 equations as reference (Quanjer et al., 2012). Participants provided written informed consent prior to taking part, and adhered to the pre-trial control measures described in Chapter 3.4.1 (including avoiding caffeine, alcohol, and strenuous exercise in the 24 h prior to the test).

5.3.3 Experimental overview

A repeated-measures, randomized crossover design was utilized, with all participants completing four experimental trials on separate days (Figure 5.1). Alcohol, caffeine and strenuous exercise were prohibited in the 24 h prior to testing. Before the first trial, participants completed a 24 h food diary, which they subsequently replicated before each trial (as described in Chapter 3.4.1)

Participants arrived at the laboratory at between 08:00h - 10:00h in a euhydrated state. Basic anthropometrics, hydration status, and pulmonary function were assessed. Resting \dot{V}_E was then recorded to allow for estimation of ASL loss over the 28 h fluid restriction trials. Following baseline measurements, participants underwent one of two dehydration trials: 28 h fluid restriction (FR) or exercise-induced (EX) dehydration. Upon completion of the dehydration trials, hydration status and pulmonary function were re-assessed; this was followed by a period of rehydration with oral fluid or isotonic saline nebulisation. Spirometry was performed 15 and 35 min within the rehydration periods. Hydration status and pulmonary function were recorded 60 min after commencing rehydration.



Figure 5.1. Schematic representation of the four experimental trials: A) fluid restriction with systemic rehydration (oral fluid intake); B) fluid restriction with local rehydration (nebulised isotonic saline); C) exercise with systemic rehydration; D) exercise with local rehydration. The order of trials was randomized.

5.3.4 Hydration status

Hydration status was assessed via changes in nude body mass, P_{osm} , and U_{osm} . A U_{osm} of < 700 mOsm·kg⁻¹ was used as inclusion criteria for euhydration at the start of each visit (Sawka et al., 2007). Details of techniques are provided in Chapter 3.7.

5.3.5 Pulmonary function

Pulmonary function was assessed at each time point via spirometry and whole body plethysmography (in that order) at baseline and 60 min of rehydration. At 15 min and 35 min rehydration, forced manoeuvres were performed in duplicate only (as long as FEV₁ and FVC were reproducible). sRaw was measured using the interrupter (i.e., airway occlusion) technique (Goldman et al., 2005). All tests were performed in accordance with ATS/ERS guidelines (Miller et al., 2005b; Wanger et al., 2005) and are described in detail in Chapter 3.8.

5.3.6 Dehydration protocols

5.3.6.1 Fluid Restriction

As done previously (Szinnai et al., 2005), participants were prohibited from consuming any fluid and were restricted to consuming foods with low water content (< 30%) from a list of acceptable/prohibited foods (Popkin et al., 2010) for 28 h. Participants kept a diary of all food consumed, which they replicated during the second fluid restriction trial. Participants were fitted with an activity monitor (ActivPal, PAL Technologies Ltd., Glasgow, UK) and asked to limit physical activity for the entire duration of the fluid restriction. Local environmental temperature and humidity were recorded throughout 28 h using a portable logger (Hygrochron, iButton, Maxim Integrated, California, USA) and were later used to estimate absolute water content of inspired air and ASL loss (Anderson and Daviskas, 1997; Daviskas et al., 1991). Expired water content was assumed to equal 33 mg H₂O·L⁻¹ of air (Anderson and Daviskas, 1997). The difference between inspired and expired absolute water content was calculated and multiplied by resting \dot{V}_E . Total water loss over the duration of the fluid restriction trial was estimated assuming negligible variations in \dot{V}_E over the 28 h period.

5.3.6.2 Exercise-induced dehydration

Participants completed 2 h of low intensity exercise in hot conditions (37°C, 50% RH) with total fluid restriction. The exercise protocol was identical to that used in previous work (Simpson et al., 2017), alternating cycling on an Excalibur Sport stationary bike (Lode BV, Groningen, The Netherlands) at 25% of estimated peak power output (Section 3.5.2) and stepping (on a 20 cm step, at a rate of 45 steps per minute regulated by a metronome). At the end of each bout of cycling (20 min) and stepping (10 min), the following measurements were taken: heart rate (via telemetry: FT1, Polar Electro Oy, Kempele, Finland), tympanic temperature (Thermoscan Exactemp 6022, Braun, Germany), and ratings of perceived exertion (RPE) and breathing discomfort [via modified Borg scales (Borg, 1982)]. During the final 5 min of each bout of cycling/stepping, \dot{V}_E and $\dot{V}O_2$ were recorded breath-by-breath (Vyntus CPX, Carefusion, Germany), with mean \dot{V}_E over the final minute kept for analysis (details of measurement techniques are provided in Chapter 3.6 and 3.9). Mean $\dot{V}O_2$ over 2 h of exercise was used for estimation of ASL loss, based on calculations provided by Mitchell *et al.* (Mitchell et al., 1972):

$$\dot{m}_e = 0.019 \text{ VO}_2 (44 - \text{Pa})$$

Where \dot{m}_e is the rate of evaporative water loss in the expired air (g·min⁻¹), Pa is the ambient water vapour pressure (mmHg), and $\dot{V}O_2$ is the oxygen uptake (L·min⁻¹ STPD).

5.3.7 Rehydration protocols

5.3.7.1 Systemic Rehydration

Participants rehydrated by ingesting water at room temperature, mixed with 3 g NaCl·L H_2O^{-1} to improve fluid retention (Evans et al., 2017). The volume of fluid ingested (L) matched the loss of body mass (kg). Participants ingested water in three equal boluses (550 \pm 176 mL) over 15 min, with a 5 min break between boluses to perform spirometry.

5.3.7.2 Local Rehydration

An ultrasonic nebuliser (UltraNeb, DeVilbiss Healthcare Ltd., UK) and isotonic saline (0.9%) were used to locally rehydrate the airways at a measured output of 1.4 ± 0.2 mL·min⁻¹. Participants were required to breathe tidally through a two-way non-rebreathing valve (Series 1410, Hans Rudolph Inc, Kansas, USA) with a nose clip in place. Participants were exposed to 3×15 min bouts of nebulisation, with 5 min breaks in-between.

5.3.8 Statistical power

Power analyses were conducted using G*Power Software (see Chapter 3.11.1 for detail). Utilising FVC data from a previous experiment which investigated the effects of dehydration via exercise in the heat upon pulmonary function of asthmatic individuals (Simpson et al., 2017), it was calculated that a minimum of eight participants will be required to reach a statistical power of 80%.

5.3.9 Statistical analysis

Statistical analyses were performed using dedicated software (SPSS version 26, SPSS, IBM Corp., Armonk, USA). Data were tested for normality using the Shapiro-Wilk test. To assess changes in spirometry, plethysmography and hydration within and between trials, 3-way repeated measures ANOVA were used (with mode of dehydration, mode of rehydration and time as main factors). Post hoc Bonferroni-adjusted pairwise comparisons were used where significant main or interaction effects were detected. A within-subjects repeated measures correlation (Bland and Altman, 1995) was used to determine the

relationship between changes in hydration and pulmonary function. Statistical significance was set at p < 0.05. Data are presented as mean \pm SD, unless otherwise stated.

5.4 Results

5.4.1 Participants

Ten healthy, non-smoking individuals (2 females; age 29 ± 8 y, body mass 62.8 ± 8.5 kg, stature 173 ± 10 cm) completed the study. At study entry, baseline spirometry data were within normal range for all participants, with group mean data of 105 ± 7 % predicted for FEV₁, 111 ± 6 % predicted for FVC and FEV₁/FVC 80 ± 5 %.

5.4.2 Dehydration protocols

5.4.2.1 Fluid Restriction

Over the 28 h period, participants spent 21 ± 3 h sedentary, 5 ± 2 h standing, and 2 ± 0.2 h stepping/walking. Based on the recorded environmental conditions ($23.8 \pm 2.5^{\circ}$ C, $52 \pm 9\%$ RH) and resting \dot{V}_E ($9 \pm 3 \text{ L} \cdot \text{min}^{-1}$), estimated total water loss from the airways was $357 \pm 110 \text{ mL}$ ($13 \pm 4 \text{ mL} \cdot \text{h}^{-1}$), with no difference between the two trials (systemic rehydration trial: $344 \pm 130 \text{ mL}$, $12 \pm 5 \text{ mL} \cdot \text{h}^{-1}$; local rehydration trial: $370 \pm 93 \text{ mL}$, $13 \pm 3 \text{ mL} \cdot \text{h}^{-1}$).

5.4.2.2 Exercise

Estimated peak power output was 273 ± 52 W, therefore participants cycled at 25% peak power output (71 ± 9 W) in both exercise trials. No difference was reported between the two exercise trials for heart rate, tympanic temperature, \dot{V}_E , RPE, breathing discomfort or estimated water loss from the airways (all p > 0.05, data are provided in Table 5.1). Compared to fluid restriction, the estimated total water loss from the airways during exercise was smaller (p < 0.001), whilst the rate of water loss was larger (p < 0.001).

	EX-Systemic	EX-Local
Heart Rate (beats · min ⁻¹)	131 ± 23	130 ± 27
Tympanic temperature (°C)	37.1 ± 0.4	37.0 ± 0.4
$\dot{V}_{E}(L \cdot min^{-1})$	37 ± 7	39 ± 7
RPE	12 ± 2	11 ± 3
Breathing discomfort	3 ± 2	2 ± 2
Airway water loss (mL)	79 ± 16	80 ± 19
Airway water loss (mL·h ⁻¹)	39 ± 8	40 ± 10

Table 5.1. Average physiological responses throughout 2 h of exercise in the heat with no fluid replacement (n=10).

Data are means \pm SD. EX-Systemic, exercise with systemic rehydration; EX-Local, fluid restriction with local rehydration (nebulised isotonic saline); \dot{V}_E : minute ventilation; RPE: rating of perceived exertion.

5.4.3 Hydration status

Data for hydration status are shown in Table 5.2.

5.4.3.1 Effect of dehydration

Both modes of dehydration induced a mild level of dehydration, with a reduction in body mass of $2.5 \pm 0.4\%$ after exercise and $2.7 \pm 0.7\%$ after fluid restriction [main effect of time: $F_{2,18} = 183.18$, p < 0.001, interaction effect (i.e. dehydration method x time): $F_{2,18} = 23.89$, p < 0.001]. The reduction in body mass was associated with an increase in P_{osm} in all trials (main effect of time: $F_{2,18} = 55.32$, p < 0.001). U_{osm} increased following exercise and fluid restriction (main effect of time: $F_{2,18} = 124.48 \ p < 0.001$), but the increase was greater following fluid restriction (interaction effect: $F_{2,18} = 23.89$, p = 0.001). Plasma volume, haemoglobin and haematocrit did not change after exercise or fluid restriction.

5.4.3.2 Effect of rehydration

Following systemic, but not local rehydration, body mass increased (interaction effect rehydration method x time: $F_{2, 18} = 126.62$; p < 0.001 vs dehydration). Post-systemic rehydration, body mass remained slightly lower compared to baseline (interaction effect: $F_{2,18} = 126.62$, p < 0.001). Post-hoc tests revealed that P_{osm} was restored following systemic rehydration but remained elevated following local rehydration (p < 0.001 vs baseline).

Neither systemic nor local rehydration normalized U_{osm} (p < 0.001 vs baseline). In fact, following local rehydration, U_{osm} increased (p = 0.001 vs dehydration). Consequently, U_{osm} was higher after local compared to systemic rehydration (interaction effect: $F_{2,18} = 23.89$, p = 0.001). Systemic rehydration increased plasma volume (p = 0.013 vs dehydrated, p = 0.012 vs baseline), alongside reductions in haemoglobin (p = 0.017). Haematocrit was lower following systemic vs local rehydration (p = 0.004). No change was noted following local rehydration for plasma volume, haemoglobin concentration, or haematocrit. Detailed statistical analysis is presented in Table 9.1 (Appendix F).

	FR-Systemic	EX-Systemic	FR-Local	EX-Local
Body mass (kg)				
Baseline	62.9 ± 8.7	62.5 ± 8.6	63.1 ± 8.8	63.0 ± 8.5
Dehydration	$61.2\pm8.4^*$	$61.0\pm8.5^*$	$61.4\pm8.5^{\ast}$	$61.4\pm8.3^*$
Rehydration	$62.5\pm8.7^{\dagger\ddagger}$	$62.2\pm8.6^{\dagger\ddagger}$	$61.3\pm8.5^{\ast}$	$61.3\pm8.3^*$
Posm (mOsm·kg ⁻¹)				
Baseline	294 ± 5	294 ± 6	291 ± 5	293 ± 7
Dehydration	$300\pm4^{\ast}$	$300\pm4^{\ast}$	$300\pm5^{\ast}$	$300\pm4^{\ast}$
Rehydration	$293\pm4\$^{$	$292\pm5^{\$\ddagger}$	$301\pm5^{\ast}$	$300\pm7^{\ast}$
U _{osm} (mOsm·kg ⁻¹)				
Baseline	201 ± 137	166 ± 137	255 ± 199	132 ± 134
Dehydration	$897\pm103^{\ast_a}$	$477 \pm 188^{\ast}$	$966\pm135^{\ast_a}$	$442\pm232^{\ast}$
Rehydration	$544\pm261^{*\ddagger}$	$694\pm224^{*\ddagger}$	$1024\pm99^{\dagger}$	$851\pm171^\dagger$
Haemoglobin (g·L ⁻¹))			
Baseline	147 ± 15	150 ± 16	145 ± 14	148 ± 18
Dehydration	151 ± 14	148 ± 11	150 ± 18	150 ± 15
Rehydration	143 ± 13	142 ± 20	147 ± 13	148 ± 18
Haematocrit (%)				
Baseline	45 ± 4	45 ± 6	45 ± 5	45 ± 5
Dehydration	45 ± 5	45 ± 3	45 ± 5	45 ± 5
Rehydration	$44\pm4^{\ddagger}$	$44\pm5^{\ddagger}$	46 ± 5	46 ± 5
Plasma Volume (%))			
Baseline	55.4 ± 4.2	55.3 ± 5.8	54.8 ± 4.6	55.1 ± 5.4
Dehydration	53.5 ± 6.1	55.7 ± 2.7	53.6 ± 6.6	54.0 ± 5.1
Rehydration	$60.1\pm6.3^{\dagger\ddagger}$	$59.5\pm5.4^{\dagger\ddagger}$	55.4 ± 4.4	54.7 ± 6.3

Table 5.2. Hydration status at baseline, immediately after fluid restriction- and exerciseinduced dehydration and following systemic and local (airway) rehydration (n = 10).

Data are means \pm SD. FR-Systemic, fluid restriction with systemic rehydration (oral fluid intake); EX-Systemic, exercise with systemic rehydration; FR-Local, fluid restriction with local rehydration (nebulised isotonic saline); EX- Local, exercise with local rehydration; P_{osm}, plasma osmolality; U_{osm}, urine osmolality. *p < 0.05 vs baseline; $^{\dagger}p < 0.05 vs$ baseline and dehydration; $^{\ddagger}p < 0.05 vs$ FR-Local and EX-Local at corresponding time point; $^{\$}p < 0.05 vs$ dehydrated; $^{a}p < 0.05 vs$ FR-Systemic and FR-Systemic at corresponding time point. *Note. For detailed statistical output see Appendix F*.

5.4.4 Spirometry

Spirometry data are presented in Table 5.3. Due to a technical issue, data from one participant had to be excluded from the analysis (n = 9).

5.4.4.1 Effect of dehydration

At baseline, spirometry values did not differ between trials. Mild dehydration induced by exercise and fluid restriction was associated with a reduction in FVC (main effect for time: $F_{4,36} = 17.52$, p < 0.001), but not FEV₁. The magnitude of change in FVC was not different between modes of dehydration (exercise: -173 ± 168 mL; fluid restriction: -131 ± 70 mL; Figure 5.2). As FEV₁ did not change, the ratio FEV₁/FVC increased post- dehydration (main effect for time: $F_{4,36} = 22.58$, p < 0.001), with the increase slightly greater following exercise (interaction effect: $F_{4,36} = 2.94$, p = 0.032). No differences were noted between or within trials for PEF.

5.4.4.2 Effect of rehydration

After only 15 min of systemic rehydration, FVC was restored (main effect for time: $F_{4,36}$ = 17.52, *p* <0.001, interaction effect: $F_{4,36}$ = 4.537, *p* = 0.005; *p* > 0.05 at 15 min of rehydration *vs* baseline). With local rehydration, however, FVC remained below baseline over the entire 60 min period of rehydration (Figure 5.2). FEV₁/FVC was restored by systemic rehydration (interaction effect rehydration method x time: $F_{4,36}$ = 6.69, *p* > 0.05 *vs* baseline at all recovery time points), while only transient improvements in FEV₁/FVC were noted at 15 min and 35 min during local rehydration (*p* > 0.05 *vs* baseline; Figure 5.2). FEV₁ and PEF remained unaltered following rehydration.



Figure 5.2. Changes in forced vital capacity (FVC) following fluid restriction- and exercise- induced dehydration, and at 15, 35 and 60 min of systemic (oral fluid intake) and local (nebulised isotonic saline) rehydration. Values are mean \pm SEM for nine healthy adults (2 females). *p < 0.05 vs baseline, † p < 0.05 vs dehydration.

	FR-Systemic	EX-Systemic	FR-Local	EX-Local
FEV ₁ (L)				
Baseline	3.95 ± 0.79	4.01 ± 0.81	4.00 ± 0.78	4.01 ± 0.81
Dehydration	3.94 ± 0.86	4.04 ± 0.87	3.94 ± 0.80	4.03 ± 0.79
15 min rehydration	3.94 ± 0.80	3.98 ± 0.89	3.95 ± 0.78	3.98 ± 0.84
35 min rehydration	3.92 ± 0.83	3.97 ± 0.86	3.96 ± 0.79	3.99 ± 0.80
60 min rehydration	3.93 ± 0.80	3.97 ± 0.86	3.98 ± 0.82	3.99 ± 0.80
FVC (L)				
Baseline	5.03 ± 1.15	5.04 ± 1.14	5.11 ± 1.12	5.06 ± 1.14
Dehydration	$4.92\pm1.19^{\ast}$	$4.86 \pm 1.22^{\ast}$	$4.96\pm1.13^{\ast}$	$4.89 \pm 1.06^{\ast}$
15 min rehydration	5.01 ± 1.17	4.91 ± 1.22	$4.96\pm1.11^*$	$4.85\pm1.11^*$
35 min rehydration	$4.98 \pm 1.20^\dagger$	$4.95\pm1.20^{\dagger}$	$4.99 \pm 1.14^{\ast}$	$4.86 \pm 1.07^{\ast}$
60 min rehydration	4.98 ± 1.16	4.97 ± 1.19	$4.99 \pm 1.19^{\ast}$	$4.87 \pm 1.07^{\ast}$
FEV ₁ /FVC (%)				
Baseline	79.1 ± 7.2	80.3 ± 7.4	79.0 ± 7.1	79.9 ± 7.1
Dehydration	$81.1\pm7.8^{*\ddagger}$	$84.1\pm8.0^*$	$79.9\pm6.7^{*\ddagger}$	$83.0\pm5.8^{\ast}$
15 min rehydration	$79.4\pm7.5^\dagger$	$81.8\pm6.9^\dagger$	80.3 ± 6.7	82.8 ± 5.6
35 min rehydration	$79.7\pm7.1^\dagger$	$81.0\pm7.2^\dagger$	79.9 ± 6.2	82.6 ± 5.8
60 min rehydration	$79.7\pm7.4^{\text{ts}}$	$80.5\pm6.9^{\text{ts}}$	$80.5\pm6.8^{\ast}$	$82.4\pm 6.0^{\ast}$
PEF (L·s ⁻¹)				
Baseline	9.41 ± 2.01	9.22 ± 1.96	9.63 ± 2.05	9.42 ± 2.00
Dehydration	9.39 ± 2.06	9.21 ± 2.03	9.55 ± 1.90	9.41 ± 1.85
15 min rehydration	9.54 ± 2.04	9.04 ± 1.94	9.22 ± 1.76	9.08 ± 2.08
35 min rehydration	9.40 ± 2.01	9.05 ± 1.95	9.51 ± 2.02	8.98 ± 2.03
60 min rehydration	9.53 ± 2.01	9.19 ± 1.96	9.43 ± 2.01	9.21 ± 1.96

Table 5.3. Spirometry data at baseline, after fluid restriction- and exercise- induced dehydration, and at 15, 35 and 60 min of systemic and local (airway) rehydration (n = 9).

Data are mean \pm SD. FEV₁, forced expiratory volume in 1 second; FVC, forced vital capacity; PEF, peak expiratory flow; FR-Systemic, fluid restriction with systemic rehydration (oral fluid intake); EX-Systemic, exercise with systemic rehydration; FR-Local, fluid restriction with local rehydration (nebulised isotonic saline); EX- Local, exercise with local rehydration. *p < 0.05 vs baseline, †p < 0.05 vs dehydration, ‡p < 0.05 vs FR-Systemic and FR-Local at corresponding time point, §p < 0.05 vs FR-Local at corresponding time point, §p < 0.05 vs FR-Local at corresponding time point. Note. For detailed statistical output see Appendix F.

5.4.5 Whole body plethysmography

Whole body plethysmography data are presented in Table 5.4.

5.4.5.1 Effect of dehydration

Static lung volumes and capacities were not different at baseline between trials. Following dehydration with both fluid restriction and exercise, increases in FRC (main effect for time: $F_{2,18} = 12.38$, p < 0.001) and RV (main effect for time: $F_{2,18} = 25.39$, p < 0.001) were noted. The magnitude of change in FRC (fluid restriction: 134 ± 152 mL; exercise: 131 ± 151 mL) and RV (fluid restriction: 151 ± 131 mL; exercise: 282 ± 194 ml) was not different between modes of dehydration (Figure 5.3). As TLC remained unchanged following dehydration, the RV/TLC ratio increased (main effect for time: $F_{2,18} = 28.44$, p < 0.001), with exercise inducing a larger change (interaction effect: $F_{2,18} = 4.44$, p = 0.023). ERV and sRaw were unaffected by dehydration.

5.4.5.2 Effect of rehydration

FRC and RV were both restored following systemic rehydration (both p>0.05 *vs* baseline) but did not change following local rehydration (FRC: interaction effect: $F_{2,18} = 4.41$, p = 0.028; RV: main effect for time $F_{2, 18} = 25.39$, p < 0.001, main effect for rehydration method: $F_{1, 9} = 11.06$, p = 0.008; Figure 5.3). TLC was not impacted by rehydration. Consequently, RV/TLC returned to baseline after systemic rehydration (main effect for time: $F_{2,18} = 28.44$, p < 0.001, main effect for rehydration method: $F_{1, 19} = 8.311$, p = 0.015), but not after local rehydration (p = 0.007 *vs* baseline; Figure 5.3). ERV was slightly reduced after 60 min of systemic and local rehydration (main effect for time: $F_{2,18} = 5.33$ p = 0.015). sRaw was unaltered by rehydration.



Figure 5.3. Changes in A) functional residual capacity (FRC) and B) residual volume (RV) after fluid restriction- and exercise- induced dehydration and following systemic (oral fluid intake) and local (nebulised isotonic saline) rehydration in ten healthy adults (2 females). Boxplots represent the median and interquartile range, with whiskers representing the minimum and maximum values. FR-Systemic, fluid restriction with systemic rehydration; EX-Systemic, exercise with systemic rehydration; FR-Local, fluid restriction with local rehydration; EX-Local, exercise with local rehydration. *p < 0.05 vs dehydration, †p < 0.05 vs FR-Local and EX-Local at corresponding time point.

(
	FR-Systemic	EX-Systemic	FR-Local	EX-Local
TLC (L)				
Baseline	7.05 ± 1.48	7.06 ± 1.54	7.06 ± 1.49	7.10 ± 1.45
Dehydration	7.09 ± 1.46	7.10 ± 1.55	7.12 ± 1.40	7.14 ± 1.56
Rehydration	7.07 ± 1.46	7.19 ± 1.48	7.15 ± 1.50	7.17 ± 1.60
FRC (L)				
Baseline	4.03 ± 1.00	4.01 ± 1.07	3.91 ± 0.99	4.07 ± 1.03
Dehydration	$4.08\pm1.08^{\ast}$	$4.15\pm1.01^{\ast}$	$4.12\pm0.93^{\ast}$	$4.19\pm1.02^{\ast}$
Rehydration	$3.90\pm0.97^{\dagger\ddagger}$	$4.02\pm1.00^{\dagger\ddagger}$	$4.09\pm1.02^{\ast}$	$4.15\pm1.11^{\ast}$
RV (L)				
Baseline	2.14 ± 0.52	2.19 ± 0.55	2.19 ± 0.53	2.23 ± 0.53
Dehydration	$2.27\pm0.54^{\ast}$	$2.49\pm0.62^{\ast}$	$2.36\pm0.51^{\ast}$	$2.49\pm0.69^{\ast}$
Rehydration	$2.13\pm0.47^{\dagger\ddagger}$	$2.29\pm0.55^{\dagger\ddagger}$	$2.35\pm0.60^{\ast}$	$2.47\pm0.72^{\ast}$
RV/TLC (%)				
Baseline	30.3 ± 4.9	31.0 ± 5.0	31.0 ± 4.4	31.4 ± 4.3
Dehydration	$32.1\pm5.2^{*\S}$	$35.3\pm6.3^*$	$33.5\pm5.4^{*\$}$	$34.9\pm6.5^{\ast}$
Rehydration	$30.4\pm3.3^{\dagger\ddagger}$	$31.9\pm4.1^{\texttt{+}\ddagger}$	$32.9\pm5.2^{\ast}$	$34.4\pm6.7^{\ast}$
ERV (L)				
Baseline	1.89 ± 0.55	1.83 ± 0.63	1.72 ± 0.48	1.83 ± 0.53
Dehydration	1.81 ± 0.59	1.69 ± 0.54	1.76 ± 0.46	1.70 ± 0.49
Rehydration	$1.75\pm0.55^{\ast}$	$1.73\pm0.50^{\ast}$	$1.74\pm0.48^{\ast}$	$1.68\pm0.52^{\ast}$
sRaw (kPa·s ⁻¹)				
Baseline	0.99 ± 0.19	1.01 ± 0.22	1.05 ± 0.21	1.00 ± 0.25
Dehydration	1.03 ± 0.22	1.06 ± 0.22	1.08 ± 0.27	1.03 ± 0.24
Rehydration	0.97 ± 0.23	1.04 ± 0.29	1.06 ± 0.26	1.05 ± 0.26

Table 5.4. Whole body plethysmography data at baseline, after fluid-restriction- and exercise- induced dehydration, and after 60 min of systemic and local (airway) rehydration (n = 10).

Data are mean \pm SD. TLC, total lung capacity; FRC, functional residual capacity; RV, residual volume; ERV, expiratory reserve volume; sRaw, specific airway resistance; FR-Systemic, fluid restriction with systemic rehydration (oral fluid intake); EX-Systemic, exercise with systemic rehydration; FR-Local, fluid restriction with local rehydration (nebulised isotonic saline); EX-Local, exercise with local rehydration. *p < 0.05 vs baseline; $^{\dagger}p < 0.05 vs$ Gehydration; $^{\ddagger}p < 0.05 vs$ FR-Local and EX- Local at corresponding time point, $^{\$}p < 0.05 vs$. FR- Systemic and FR-Local at corresponding time point. *Note. For detailed statistical output see Appendix F*.

5.4.6 Correlation analysis

The percent change in body mass at dehydration and rehydration (60 min) showed a moderate positive correlation with the change in FVC (r = 0.643, p < 0.001; Figure 5.4A), and moderate negative correlations with FRC (r = -0.644, p < 0.001; Figure 5.4C) and RV (r = -0.693, p < 0.001; Figure 5.4E). The change in P_{osm} following the dehydration and rehydration interventions showed a moderate negative correlation with the change in FVC (r = -0.653, p < 0.001; Figure 5.4B), and moderate positive correlations with FRC (r = 0.524, p < 0.001; Figure 5.4D) and RV (r = 0.587, p < 0.001; Figure 5.4F). No other significant relationships were noted.



Figure 5.4. Relationship between changes in body mass and changes in A) FVC, C) FRC, and E) RV; and relationship between changes in plasma osmolality (P_{osm}) and changes in B) FVC, D) FRC, and F) RV over the course of four trials (at dehydration and rehydration) in healthy adults (n = 9 for FVC and n = 10 for FRC and RV; 2 females). Closed circles, fluid restriction with systemic rehydration; closed triangles, exercise with systemic rehydration; open circles, fluid restriction with local rehydration; open triangles, exercise with local rehydration.

5.5 Discussion

The findings from this study show negative alterations in pulmonary function in mildly dehydrated healthy young adults at rest. The observed reduction in FVC combined with an elevated RV and FRC suggest that the dehydration-induced pulmonary alteration is primarily localised to the small airways. That the mode of dehydration (i.e., 28 h of fluid restriction and 2 h of exercise in the heat) did not influence the airway response indicates that the severity, rather than the rate, of dehydration is likely responsible for the observed alterations. In this study, dehydration-induced alterations in pulmonary function were reversed following acute systemic rehydration (via oral fluid intake), but not following local rehydration of the airways (via nebulised isotonic saline). Systemic hydration via restoration of P_{osm} may therefore play a regulatory role in the maintenance of small airway patency.

5.5.1 Comparison to previous research

5.5.1.1 *Effects of dehydration*

This study shows that mild systemic dehydration, induced by both exercise and fluid restriction, leads to a reduction in FVC (~150 mL) and elevations in RV (~220 mL) and FRC (~130 mL) in healthy adults. These findings are in line with previous work that demonstrated negative alterations in FVC, RV and FRC in athletes with mild asthma following 2 h of exercise in the heat (Simpson et al., 2017). The present study was able to replicate the findings from Simpson et al., (2017) in a healthy population, which suggests that dehydration-induced pulmonary alteration is a general phenomenon that is present irrespective of the presence of pulmonary or airway disease. The reduced severity of the pulmonary function alterations [mean reduction in FVC following exercise ~170 mL *vs* ~300 mL in asthmatic individuals (Simpson et al., 2017)], with only 30% of healthy participants in the present study reaching the 'clinical threshold' of 200 mL (Pellegrino et al., 2005) suggest that, whilst still affected, the airways of healthy individuals have a higher tolerance to systemic dehydration in comparison to individuals with pre-existing lung conditions.

The spirometry results in the present study are in contrast to those previously obtained in healthy individuals (Govindaraj, 1972; Javaheri et al., 1987). Govindaraj (1972) reported

that mild dehydration $(2.0 \pm 0.9\%$ loss of body mass) induced by 16 h of fluid restriction caused negligible changes in FVC, but was associated with a significant reduction in FEV₁ (~180 mL). While the differences observed in FEV₁ are difficult to explain, the absence of a detectable change in FVC may be explained by the fact that in the study by Govindaraj (1972) only five out of the twenty participants lost >2% body mass, whereas all participants in the present study reached this threshold. According to Cheuvront & Kenefick (2014), a day-to-day change in body mass >2% provides 95% probabilistic certainty that dehydration has occurred. A further study conducted by Javaheri *et al.* (1987) showed improvements in pulmonary function (incl. FEV₁, FEV₁/FVC, and flow rates at all lung volumes) following moderate dehydration (i.e., 4.0 to 4.5% loss of body mass) induced by diuretics in a small sample (n = 6) of healthy men. The use of chlorthalidone could have contributed to the divergent findings, as diuretics cause iso-osmotic hypovolemia, when exercise and fluid restriction lead to hyper-osmotic hypovolemia (Cheuvront et al., 2013).

The comparison of two modes of dehydration (i.e., exercise *vs* fluid restriction) is a novel aspect of the present research that supports the idea that hyper-osmotic hypovolemia can compromise pulmonary function in humans. Indeed, with matched changes in body mass loss and in P_{osm} , comparable alterations in pulmonary function (i.e., reduced FVC, and elevated RV and FRC) were noted across trials. As the magnitude of changes in lung volumes were not different when the dehydration rate was fast (i.e., 2 h exercise in the heat) and slow (i.e., 28 h fluid restriction), it is inferred that the rate of dehydration is unlikely the key determinant of dehydration-induced pulmonary alterations.

5.5.1.2 Effects of rehydration

A further novel aspect of the current study is the fact that systemic rehydration was effective at restoring selected lung volumes and capacities (i.e., FVC, RV and FRC). The positive effect of oral fluid intake on FVC was noted after only 15 min, which suggests a rapid reversal of the pulmonary alterations. Previously, dehydration-induced alterations in FVC, RV, and FRC were not restored following 40 min *ad libitum* water intake in individuals with asthma (Simpson et al., 2017). The use of a matched-volume rehydration strategy [with 100% of fluid replaced *vs* 61 ± 19% in previous work (Simpson et al., 2017)], together with administration of a hypertonic solution known to improve fluid retention (Evans et al., 2017), enabled body mass to return close to baseline within an hour. In contrast, following nebulised isotonic saline rehydration, body mass remained below (-1.7 ± 0.5 kg) and P_{osm} above $(9 \pm 4 \text{ mOsm} \cdot \text{kg}^{-1})$ baseline, and FVC, RV, and FRC were not restored. These findings therefore suggest that oral hypertonic fluid intake, but not nebulised isotonic saline solution, is an effective strategy to reverse dehydration-induced pulmonary alterations.

5.5.2 Interpretation of findings

A decrease in FVC alongside concomitant increases in RV, RV/TLC and FRC is usually indicative of airway closure and air trapping (Macklem et al., 1970). These findings therefore suggest that systemic dehydration may selectively impair small airway function. Similar alterations in spirometry and plethysmography were observed following both modes of dehydration (i.e., exercise and fluid restriction), at a time when P_{osm} was elevated. The reversal of FVC, RV, FRC and RV/TLC under systemic rehydration only (i.e., when P_{osm} was normalized), alongside the significant association between P_{osm} and lung volumes, points toward P_{osm} as a key determinant of the small airway impairment.

Pogson et al. (2008) reported an inverse correlation between increased serum osmolality and decreased FVC and FEV₁ in a large population (>10,000) of patients suffering from chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. The authors suggested a causal relationship, mediated by airway epithelial cells, between increased serum plasma osmolality and reduced pulmonary function. Airway epithelial cells are 'osmotic transducers' (Willumsen et al., 1994) that respond to changes in osmolarity of both their extracellular and intracellular environments. Through controlled secretion and/or absorption of salt and water, airway epithelial cells preserve hydration of the airways and maintain water and osmolyte homeostasis in human lungs (Bartoszewski et al., 2017). In the dehydration trials of the present study, it can be postulated that airway epithelia "detected" the increase in P_{osm} in bronchial vasculature, which, in turn, would have influenced water supply to the airways and altered the composition and/or content of the ASL. The common functional implication of perturbations to the ASL is peripheral airway instability and premature airway closure (Macklem et al., 1970), which aligns with the lung volume changes observed in the participants of the present research. During the systemic rehydration trials, the rapid normalization of Posm would have returned ASL to its normal state, thus decreasing surface tension and re-opening the collapsed airways, thereby explaining the rapid restoration of lung volumes to baseline. That previous studies (Maughan and Leiper, 1995; Nose et al., 1988a) have evidenced restorations of plasma volume and Posm within the timeframe used for our rehydration trials (i.e., 60 min) supports the idea that extracellular hypervolemia following fluid ingestion could rapidly restore small airway patency.

5.5.3 Methodological considerations

The ~2.6% body mass loss of the present study was well matched *i*) with the ~2.3% body mass loss in athletes with mild asthma (Simpson et al., 2017) and *ii*) between the four experimental trials conducted. Whilst the 28 h duration was required to induce the target degree of dehydration (Szinnai et al., 2005), it did not allow the recording of pulmonary function at the same time of day within trials. Based on findings presented in Chapter 4, however, a confounding influence of diurnal variation on the observed alterations in pulmonary function can be excluded, as the direction of changes reported in Chapter 4 are opposite to the changes recorded post-dehydration in the present study (i.e., gain of 85 \pm 92 mL for FVC, and reductions of 76 \pm 200 mL for RV and of 54 \pm 198 mL for FRC between morning and afternoon readings in Chapter 4 compared to reductions in FVC of 152 \pm 143 mL and elevations in RV and FRC of 216 \pm 177 mL and 130 \pm 144 mL, respectively).

To account for the possible effect of evaporative water loss – through pulmonary ventilation – on ASL osmolarity (Boucher, 1999), airway water losses were estimated during the dehydration trials. Airway water loss was greater during fluid restriction (\sim 340 mL) compared to exercise (\sim 80 mL) and accounted for 23% of total body water loss during the 28 h fluid restriction period *vs* only 5% during the 2 h exercise. As non-significant differences in pulmonary alterations were noted between the two modes of dehydration, it seems unlikely that evaporative water loss contributed significantly to the observed changes.

In the absence of a 'gold standard' method for assessment of small airway function (Konstantinos Katsoulis et al., 2016), a combination of highly reproducible functional tests were implemented (i.e., spirometry and whole body plethysmography which displayed very good intra-day reproducibility and excellent inter-day repeatability as reported in Chapter 4). Alongside these functional tests, imaging techniques such as high-resolution computed tomography or magnetic resonance imaging could have helped to quantify small airway dysfunctions (Konstantinos Katsoulis et al., 2016). Although an ultrasonic nebuliser was used to ensure the highest flow rate and even distribution of water vapor delivered to the

airways, the rate of delivery ranged from 1.0 to 1.8 mL·min⁻¹. This is lower than expected [e.g., (Katial et al., 2000)] and may have influenced the ability of the implemented local rehydration method to restore lung volumes and capacities. Further, the nebulised isotonic solution may also have become hypotonic upon delivery (as the solution was only isotonic when delivered in a euhydrated state). In individuals with asthma, both hyper- and hypo-osmotic nebulised saline can compromise pulmonary function (Schoeffel et al., 1981). It therefore cannot be excluded that the local rehydration strategy of the present study modified ASL ion concentration, ultimately preventing restoration of pulmonary function.

Finally, it is possible that oral fluid consumption might have led to psychological benefits and, thereby, contributed to improved effort during volitional respiratory manoeuvres. Cognitive task performance and mood have indeed been shown to improve following rehydration with oral fluid in healthy men (Zhang et al., 2019). However, PEF, an effort dependent variable, did not significantly change at any time in the present study. It can therefore be confidently stated that the effort produced by the participants remained consistent throughout the trials and that any psychological effects on the research outcomes were likely minimal.

5.5.4 Clinical and functional significance

These findings have potential relevance to both healthy and clinical populations. In particular, endurance athletes are at increased risk for exercise-induced dehydration and commonly report respiratory symptoms (including breathlessness and cough) whilst exercising (Couto and Moreira, 2016). Older adults, especially those with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, often experience exertional breathlessness (O'Donnell et al., 2014) and are particularly prone and vulnerable to dehydration (Allison and Lobo, 2004). Further work is now needed to determine the impact of the reported alterations on susceptibility to respiratory symptoms, and to understand the risk of pulmonary function deterioration in dehydrated states. Whether dehydration, by increasing gas trapping, triggers or exacerbates dynamic lung hyperinflation and, thereby, promotes breathlessness during physically demanding tasks, remains to be determined.

5.5.5 Conclusion

Mild systemic dehydration was associated with a reduction in pulmonary function, primarily localised to the small airways. These changes occurred in healthy young adults

after both acute exercise in the heat and following prolonged periods of fluid deprivation. Oral fluid ingestion, but not nebulised isotonic saline, quickly and successfully reversed these alterations in pulmonary function. Therefore, oral rehydration appears to be the most effective strategy for reversing dehydration-induced pulmonary alterations. More work is now needed to understand whether a greater severity of dehydration might lead to clinically significant changes in pulmonary function in healthy adults, and to determine the functional implications of the observed changes.

Chapter 6 Effect of moderate dehydration on resting pulmonary function and ventilatory responses to exercise in physically active adults

6.1 Abstract

Mild dehydration in healthy adults can lead to negative alterations in resting pulmonary function. However, it is not yet known whether these alterations are exacerbated at higher severities of dehydration, and whether these alterations may impact the ventilatory response to exercise. The aims of this study were i) to investigate the impact of moderate dehydration upon resting pulmonary function of healthy physically active individuals, and *ii*) to establish the functional implications of dehydration-induced airway dysfunction upon ventilatory and perceptual responses to exercise in the same population. Eleven healthy individuals performed an incremental exercise test before and after 2 h of exercise in the heat either with (euhydration) or without (dehydration) fluid replacement. Pulmonary function was assessed via spirometry, whole body plethysmography, and impulse oscillometry. Moderate dehydration (-3.5 \pm 0.4% body mass; p < 0.001) was associated with significant elevations in P_{osm} (13 ± 5 mOsm·kg⁻¹). Once dehydrated, participants showed reduction in resting FVC (-210 \pm 270 mL, p = 0.029) and elevations in RV and FRC (401 \pm 348 mL; p = 0.003 and 255 \pm 183 mL; p = 0.001, respectively). Ventilatory parameters (i.e., \dot{V}_E , and $V_T f_b$), operating lung volumes (i.e. IC, EELV and EILV), and perceptual responses (respiratory discomfort) recorded during exercise were however not significantly impacted by fluid loss. This study demonstrated that significant alterations in resting pulmonary function are present in a state of moderate dehydration; however these changes do not seem to translate into significant modifications in the ventilatory response to exercise, at least not in healthy individuals.

6.2 Introduction

In Chapter 5, young adults with no pre-existing respiratory condition displayed negative pulmonary responses to mild dehydration (as demonstrated by a reduction in FVC and

elevations in RV and FRC). This study extended previous work in individuals with asthma, showing negative alterations in small airway function following mild dehydration (Simpson et al., 2017). Findings presented in Chapter 5 therefore confirmed that dehydration-induced pulmonary alteration is a reproducible phenomenon. Further, it was established that this phenomenon exists following various dehydration methods, including prolonged fluid restriction and exercise in the heat. Whilst mild dehydration can commonly occur in trained and untrained populations, athletes (Sawka et al., 2007) and individuals undertaking physical activity in hot environments (Hendrie et al., 1997; Wagoner et al., 2020) are susceptible to greater magnitudes/severities of body water loss.

Overall understanding of the effect of moderate dehydration [i.e., a reduction in body mass of 3 to 5% (Cheuvront and Kenefick, 2014)] on the pulmonary system is currently limited. Only one study to-date (Javaheri et al., 1987) has investigated the impact of moderate dehydration (4.0-4.5% body mass loss via diuretics) on resting pulmonary function. Contrary to the mild dehydration studies (Govindaraj, 1972; Simpson et al., 2017), improvements in expiratory flow rates (FEV₁ and PEF) and in maximal voluntary ventilation were observed in six healthy male participants following diuretic (i.e. 200 mg chlorthalidone) administration. However, this contradictory result may be attributable to the different modes of dehydration method employed; the hypotonic-hypovolemia (induced by Javaheri et al., (1987) would have led to extracellular dehydration, whereas hypertonichypovolemia following exercise in the heat (employed in Chapter 5) directly alters P_{osm} .

Whilst negative alterations in pulmonary function have been previously observed with exercise and fluid restriction (i.e. hypertonic-hypovolemia) in healthy [Chapter 5; (Govindaraj, 1972)] and asthmatic individuals (Simpson et al., 2017), the magnitude of the reported alterations, though statistically significant, have been relatively small, ranging from: \sim 150–300 mL for FVC, \sim 220–260 mL for RV and \sim 130–260 mL for FRC. It is currently unknown whether *i*) a more severe state of dehydration leads to more pronounced pulmonary alterations, and *ii*) dehydration-induced negative changes on the pulmonary system observed at rest have functional implications during exercise; if present, it is likely that any functional implications would be most prominent when ventilatory demand is high, such as during maximal exercise.
Endurance-trained athletes are known to develop very high ventilatory rates during exercise, with peak \dot{V}_E >200 L·min⁻¹ reported in elite groups (Wells and Norris, 2009). Endurance athletes are also prone to respiratory symptoms, such as breathlessness and breathing discomfort (Smoliga et al., 2016) during exercise. Further, several reports have highlighted that dynamic hyperinflation, characterised by an elevation in EELV above resting levels and premature termination of expiration, is experienced by some endurance athletes during exercise (Guenette et al., 2007; Johnson et al., 1992; Taylor et al., 2013). Air trapping at the level of the small airways is thought to contribute to the onset of dynamic hyperinflation (O'Donnell and Laveneziana, 2006). The small airway dysfunctions observed during hypertonic-hypovolemia [Chapter 5; Simpson et al., (2017)] may therefore contribute to the onset of dynamic hyperinflation in athletes. As dynamic hyperinflation has been shown to strongly correlate with breathlessness (O'Donnell, 1994), dehydration may also lead to an increased sensation of respiratory discomfort.

The aims of this study were: first, to investigate the impact of moderate dehydration on resting pulmonary function in physically-active individuals; and second, to establish the functional implications of dehydration-induced airway dysfunctions on ventilatory and perceptual responses to exercise. In line with Chapter 5, it was hypothesised that moderate dehydration would lead to deleterious alterations in resting pulmonary function, characterised by a reduction in FVC and elevations in RV and FRC. Further, it was hypothesised that dehydration would increase EELV and breathing discomfort toward the end of an incremental test to exhaustion.

6.3 Method

6.3.1 Ethical approval

All protocols and procedures were approved by the Brunel University London Research Ethics Committee (11730-TISS-Jun/2018-13047-1) and conformed to the guidelines of the Declaration of Helsinki, 7th version (World Medical Association, 2013).

6.3.2 Participants

Eighteen participants (six female) were initially recruited to take part in this study. Seven participants however failed to complete all three experimental visits and were subsequently excluded from the analysis (two participants were unable to complete the 2 h exercise bout

in the heat; two participants did not meet the required dehydration threshold of >3% body mass loss; one participant was excluded based on performance in the incremental test during the familiarisation visit; and two further participants self-withdrew from the study after the familiarisation visit). All participants were apparently healthy, non-smokers, with no history of respiratory illness (in particular, no asthma or EIB). Participants regularly took part in cycling/triathlon endurance training (training a minimum of three times *per* week). All participants provided written informed consent prior to taking part and adhered to the pre-trial control measures described in Chapter 3.4.1.

6.3.3 Experimental design

A repeated-measures crossover design was employed (Figure 6.1). Eligible participants were required to attend the Centre for Human Performance, Exercise and Rehabilitation at Brunel University London on three separate occasions. The first visit was used to determine eligibility for the study, to introduce participants to the experimental set up, and to familiarise participants with the experimental protocols and techniques. Visits 2 and 3 consisted of the experimental trials (i.e., dehydration and euhydration trial, in a randomised order). For each visit to the laboratory, participants arrived in a euhydrated state (as quantified by urine osmolality – see Chapter 3.7.2).

6.3.3.1 Familiarisation visit

Basic anthropometrics, hydration status and pulmonary function (IOS, spirometry, and whole body plethysmography) were assessed upon arrival to the laboratory. Following recording of baseline measurements in temperate laboratory conditions $(20 \pm 2^{\circ}C, 46 \pm 8\%$ RH), participants performed an incremental cardiopulmonary exercise test (CPET) to exhaustion. Following completion of the CPET, pulmonary function was assessed (spirometry only), and participants then entered an environmental chamber (Procema Ltd., Twickenham, UK) to perform 2 h of cycling in hot conditions (36°C, 50% RH) at 40% maximum power output (PO_{max}) with no fluid intake. Following completion of the 2 h exercise bout in the heat, participants exited the environmental chamber and recorded nude body mass to calculate sweat loss. The familiarisation visit concluded following this measurement.

6.3.3.2 Experimental visits

The experimental visits commenced at the same time of day for all participants (between 08:00 h - 10:00 h), with a minimum of 48 h and maximum of 14 days between visits. Participants followed an identical protocol to the familiarisation visit; however, following completion of the 2 h exercise in the heat and post-exercise nude body mass assessment, participants then performed spirometry followed by a second incremental CPET (CPET-2) to exhaustion [in temperate conditions and following the exact same procedures as during the first CPET (CPET-1)]. A final hydration and pulmonary function assessment (including the full series of tests, as performed at baseline) was then completed to conclude the trial. Participants performed one experimental visit with (euhydration), and one without (dehydration) fluid replacement during the 2 h exercise bout in the heat. The dehydration trial involved 2 h of cycling exercise in the heat (36°C and 50% RH) with fluid restriction. In the euhydration trial, participants followed an identical protocol, but were provided with fluid throughout the exercise. Fluid intake mass was calculated as 3.5% of the participants body mass (i.e., the target fluid loss for the dehydration trials), and was provided in four equal boluses to be consumed within 30 min (see Chapter 3.7.3.3 for details). Water was mixed with 80 g·L⁻¹ electrolyte powder (SiS GO Electrolyte Powder, Science in Sport[®]), UK) to maintain fluid balance (Evans et al., 2017).



Figure 6.1. Schematic representation of the experimental trials (visits 2 and 3). The 2 h exercise bout was broken down in four 30 min blocks of cycling, interspersed with 5 min of rest, and took place in hot conditions (36°C, 50% relative humidity) at 40% maximal power output. Solid arrows represent full pulmonary function and hydration assessment; dashed arrows represent spirometry and body mass only. CPET: cardiopulmonary exercise test.

6.3.4 Hydration status

Hydration status was assessed using changes in nude body mass and measures of P_{osm} and U_{osm} . A U_{osm} of < 700 mOsm·kg⁻¹ was used as inclusion criteria for each visit (Sawka et al., 2007). Details of techniques are provided in Chapter 3.7.

6.3.5 Pulmonary function

Pulmonary function was assessed via IOS, spirometry, and whole body plethysmography (in this order) upon arrival and at the end of each experimental visit. Additional spirometry measurements were performed immediately before and after 2 h of exercise in the heat (Figure 6.1). All tests were performed in line with the ATS/ERS guidelines (Miller et al., 2005b; Wanger et al., 2005), as described in Chapter 3.8.

6.3.6 Cardiopulmonary exercise test (CPET)

Participants cycled on an electronically braked cycle ergometer (Lode Excalibur, Lode, B.V, Groningen, The Netherlands) to establish PO_{max}, VO_{2peak}, the ventilatory response to exercise and operating lung volumes during exercise. Participants cycled at 50 W for 3 min prior to each incremental test to ensure a standardised warm up was performed; this was followed by increments of 50 W every 2 min. To elicit similarity in test duration between sexes, males began the first test stage at 100 W, whilst females began at 50 W. Cadence was maintained between 70 and 90 rpm. Measurements of \dot{V}_E , \dot{V}_T , $\dot{V}O_2$, $\dot{V}CO_2$, f_b , T_i and T_{tot} were recorded continuously via breath-by-breath analysis (Vyntus CPX, Carefusion, Hoechberg, Germany) and reported at the end of each 2 min stage. Recordings of HR via telemetry (Polar, FS1, Birmingham, UK), T_{core} via rectal temperature (RET-1 Rectal probe, Physitemp, New Jersey, USA), and SpO₂ via earlobe pulse oximetry (Xpod® 3012LP External OEM Pulse Oximeter, Nonin Medical, Plymouth, USA) were taken at the end of each 2 min stage, with ventilatory parameters averaged over 20 s. Participants were asked to rate their RPE and breathing discomfort using a modified Borg scale (Borg, 1982) at the end of each 2 min stage (see Chapter 3.10). Participants performed an IC manoeuvre at the end of each 2 min stage to allow for assessment of operating lung volumes (described in detail below). The test was terminated when cadence dropped below 60 rpm for >5 seconds and HR reached within 10 beats min⁻¹ of maximum and/or RER was >1.15. Participants were encouraged throughout the test by the researcher (see Chapter 3.5.4 for a detailed description of the criteria for CPET termination).

6.3.7 Operating lung volumes

Operating lung volumes were assessed using duplicate IC manoeuvres performed at rest, at the end of each 2 min stage, and immediately before termination of exercise (at exhaustion). The manoeuvre involved the participant taking a complete maximal inspiratory breath at the end of a normal expiration, and then returning to normal breathing (Guenette et al., 2013). For a detailed description of the manoeuvre, see Chapter 3.6.3. Verbal encouragement was given to ensure a maximal inspiratory effort was performed. Participants were provided with clear instructions regarding the manoeuvre prior to each test, and performed practice manoeuvres at rest and during the warm up to ensure full understanding and compliance with the technique. Following completion of the incremental exercise test, IC manoeuvres were analysed by the experimenter and dynamic changes in operating lung volumes (i.e., EELV and EILV) were recorded.

6.3.8 Exercise in the heat

The exercise involved four bouts of 30 min cycling, interspersed with 5 min passive rest. The workload for the cycling bout was set at 40% of the PO_{max} achieved in CPET-1 based on pilot work performed to determine the workload required to reach moderate dehydration within 2 h of exercise. Participants maintained a cadence of 70-90 rpm throughout the exercise protocol. At 15 min intervals, ventilatory parameters (\dot{V}_E , V_T , $\dot{V}O_2$, $\dot{V}CO_2$, f_b , T_i , and T_{tot}) were recorded for 5 min using online breath-by-breath analysis (described in Chapter 3.6.2). HR, T_{core} , breathing discomfort and RPE were also recorded at 15 min intervals during exercise (details of measurement techniques are provided in Chapter 3.9 and 3.10).

6.3.9 Statistical power

Power analyses were conducted using G*Power Software (see Chapter 3.11.1 for detail). Sample size was based on previous work that investigated the impact of exercise-induced dehydration upon pulmonary function in healthy adults (Chapter 5) and individuals with asthma (Simpson et al., 2017). It was predicted that the reduction in FVC following moderate dehydration would be more severe compared to the mild dehydration previously induced (Chapter 5). To detect a 200 ml difference in FVC between pre- and postdehydration, it was calculated that a sample size of ten participants would give approximately 80% power, for an alpha level at 5%.

6.3.10 Statistical analysis

All data were analysed using SPSS Statistical Software (Version 26, SPSS, Chicago, IL). Data were checked for normality using the Shapiro-Wilk test and are displayed as mean \pm SD, unless otherwise stated. A two-way repeated measures ANOVA was used to assess differences in resting pulmonary function parameters (incl. IOS, spirometry and whole body plethysmography parameters) and hydration status (body mass, Posm, Uosm) between conditions (euhydration vs dehydration) and time (pre vs post-2h of cycling in the heat), and to compare peak power output between tests (CPET-1 vs CPET-2) and conditions. For data collected during CPET, three-way repeated measures ANOVA was used to assess differences in ventilatory (\dot{V}_E , V_T , $\dot{V}_E/\dot{V}O_2$, $\dot{V}_E/\dot{V}CO_2$, f_b , T_i , T_{tot} , and T_i/T_{tot}), physiological $(\dot{V}O_2, \dot{V}CO_2, HR, T_{core}, and SpO_2)$ and perceptual parameters (breathing discomfort and RPE) between experimental conditions (euhydration vs dehydration), tests (CPET-1 vs CPET-2) and times (0, 2, 4, 6 min, and at peak exercise). Five time points were analysed as the duration of test varied between participants. For data collected during the 2 h exercise bout, a two-way repeated measures ANOVA was performed to assess changes in physiological and perceptual responses over time (rest, 30, 60, 90, and 120 min) and between conditions (dehydration vs euhydration). For all ANOVA, post hoc Bonferroni's adjusted pairwise comparisons were used where significant main effects occurred. Statistical significance was set at p < 0.05.

6.4 Results

6.4.1 Participants

Eleven participants (four female), aged 33 ± 12 years, with a body mass of 73.5 ± 10.8 kg, and a stature of 173 ± 8 cm completed the study. All participants were physically active ($\dot{V}O_{2peak}$: 47.7 ± 6.9 ml·kg·min⁻¹, peak power output: 291 ± 102 W, peak \dot{V}_E : 112 ± 25 L·min⁻¹, HR_{max}: 164 ± 15 b·min⁻¹). Baseline spirometry data were within normal range for all participants (group average of $105 \pm 9\%$ predicted for FEV₁, $103 \pm 8\%$ predicted for FVC, and FEV₁/FVC of $84 \pm 5\%$).

6.4.2 Hydration status

Hydration status data are shown in Table 6.1. There was no difference in body mass at baseline between conditions. Moderate dehydration was successfully induced via exercise, with a reduction in body mass of $3.5 \pm 0.4\%$ in the dehydration condition compared to $0.3 \pm 0.5\%$ in the euhydration condition (main effect of time: $F_{1,10} = 185.60$, p < 0.001; main effect of condition: $F_{1,10} = 159.30$, p = 0.003; interaction effect: $F_{1,10} = 149.50$, p < 0.001). There was an increase in P_{osm} of 13 ± 5 mOsm·kg⁻¹ from baseline to post CPET-2 in the dehydration condition (p < 0.001), whereas no change (0 ± 5 mOsm·kg⁻¹) occurred in the euhydration condition (main effect of time: $F_{1,10} = 29.16$, p < 0.001; main effect of condition: $F_{1,10} = 62.05$, p < 0.001; interaction effect: $F_{1,10} = 40.24$, p < 0.001). Urine osmolality increased from baseline to post CPET-2 in both the dehydration (p = 0.045) conditions, with no difference between experimental conditions (main effect for time: $F_{1,10} = 13.55$, p = 0.004). Haemoglobin mass increased (p = 0.009), and plasma volume decreased (p = 0.002), from baseline to post CPET-2 in the dehydration condition, with no change noted for either parameter in the euhydration condition. There was no effect of time or hydration status upon haematocrit.

Table 6.1. Markers of hydration status before (baseline) and after (Post CPET-2) 2 h of exercise in the heat with (euhydration) and without (dehydration) fluid intake in eleven healthy physically-active individuals (four females).

	Deh	ydration	Euhydration		
	Baseline	Post CPET-2	Baseline	Post CPET-2	
Body mass (kg)	72.1 ± 9.8	69.6 ± 9.3 $^{a\#}$	71.9 ± 9.7	71.6 ± 9.6 $^{\rm a}$	
Posm (mOsm·kg ⁻¹)	291 ± 4	$304\pm4~^{a\#}$	293 ± 2	292 ± 4	
U _{osm} (mOsm·kg ⁻¹)	271 ± 193	$566\pm225~^a$	256 ± 152	$409\pm195~^a$	
Haemoglobin (g·L ⁻¹)	138 ± 9	$144\pm10^{\ a}$	141 ± 10	139 ± 12	
Haematocrit (%)	43 ± 3	44 ± 3	43 ± 4	44 ± 3	
Plasma volume (%)	57 ± 3	54 ± 4^{a}	57 ± 4	57 ± 4	

Data are mean \pm SD; P_{osm}, plasma osmolality; U_{osm}, urine osmolality; ^a p < 0.05 vs baseline, [#] p < 0.05 vs euhydration at corresponding time point.

6.4.3 Ventilatory, physiological and perceptual responses to exercise in the heat

Table 6.2 displays the ventilatory, physiological and perceptual responses at rest, 30, 60, 90 and 120 min of exercise in the heat. At the start of exercise, there was no difference between conditions for any recorded variables.

6.4.3.1 Ventilatory response

During the 2 h bout of exercise in the heat, ventilatory variables as well as $\dot{V}O_2$, and $\dot{V}CO_2$ displayed an increase over the first 30 min, and then remained stable (main effects of time: \dot{V}_E : F_{4, 32} = 188.58; V_T: F_{4, 40} = 26.18; f_b : F_{4, 40} = 25.66; $\dot{V}O_2$: F_{4, 40} = 125.85; $\dot{V}CO_2$: F_{4, 40}: 121.50; all p < 0.001). Conversely, T_i and T_{tot}, decreased from rest to 30 min (main effects of time: T_i: F_{4, 40} = 20.79; T_{tot}: F_{4,40} = 38.56; both p < 0.001) and remained stable thereafter No difference was noted between the dehydration and euhydration conditions.

6.4.3.2 Other physiological responses

There was no difference in HR or T_{core} between experimental conditions at rest. From rest to 30 min, HR increased in both conditions (main effect of time: $F_{4, 40} = 91.37$; p < 0.001); and from 30 min onward, HR was higher in the dehydration compared to the euhydration

condition (interaction effect condition x time: $F_{4, 40} = 12.86$; p < 0.03). In the dehydration condition, HR showed a continuous increase from 30 min to 120 min (all p < 0.001). In the euhydration condition, HR remained stable from 30 to 90 min, but was elevated at 120 min (p = 0.031 vs 30 min). For T_{core} , a gradual increase occurred in the dehydration condition over the entire duration of the exercise test (main effect of time: $F_{4, 40} = 24.00$; p< 0.005). In the euhydration condition, T_{core} was elevated at all time points compared to rest (interaction effect condition x time: $F_{4, 40} = 4.28$; p < 0.01), but remained stable from 30 min to 60 min and from 60 min to 90 min. T_{core} was higher in dehydration vs euhydration at 60 min (p = 0.034) and 90 min (p = 0.034), but not at 120 min (p = 0.054).

6.4.3.3 Perceptual responses

Breathing discomfort was increased at all time points during exercise in comparison to rest (main effect of time: $F_{4, 40} = 25.78$; p < 0.01). In both conditions, breathing discomfort increased from rest to 60 min (both p < 0.01), and remained stable thereafter. A steady increase in RPE was shown in both conditions from rest to 90 min (main effect of time: $F_{4, 40} = 181.94$; p < 0.02; interaction effect condition x time: $F_{4.40} = 4.28$, p = 0.005). RPE then continued to rise in the dehydration condition (p = 0.014, 90 min vs 120 min), while it remained stable in the euhydration condition (p = 0.341 from 90 min to 120 min). In the dehydration condition, RPE was higher than euhydration from 60 min onward (p < 0.05 vs euhydration). On average, breathing discomfort was 0.5 higher in dehydration compared to euhydration (p = 0.005).

	2 h cycling exercise (36°C, 50% RH)						
		Rest	30 min	60 min	90 min	120 min	
$\dot{V}_{E}(L)$	Euhydration	14 ± 5 ^{b c d e}	47 ± 8 ^a	46 ± 5 ^a	$47\pm7^{\ a}$	46 ± 8 ^a	
	Dehydration	$17\pm8^{\ b\ c\ d\ e}$	48 ± 7^{ad}	$49\pm8^{\ a}$	$51\pm10^{ab\#}$	52 ± 11 a	
V _T (L∙min ⁻¹)	Euhydration	$0.96 \pm 0.52^{\ b\ c\ d\ e}$	1.64 ± 0.62 $^{\rm a}$	1.46 ± 0.35 $^{\rm a}$	$1.58\pm0.42^{\text{ a}}$	$1.53\pm0.37^{\text{ a}}$	
	Dehydration	$0.88 \pm 0.44^{\ b\ c\ d\ e}$	$1.63\pm0.42^{\rm a}$	1.55 ± 0.55 $^{\rm a}$	$1.65\pm0.59^{\rm\ a}$	$1.82\pm0.71~^{\rm a}$	
f₀ (breaths∙min ⁻¹)	Euhydration	$17 \pm 4^{b c d e}$	28 ± 7^{a}	30 ± 8 ^a	30 ± 7^{a}	29 ± 9^{a}	
	Dehydration	18 ± 4 ^{b c d e}	$28\pm5^{\mathrm{a}}$	30 ± 7^a	31 ± 8^{a}	33 ± 11 a	
ĊO₂(L·min ⁻¹)	Euhydration	0.40 ± 0.09^{bcde}	$1.96\pm0.27^{\:a\:e}$	$2.01\pm0.41~^{\rm a}$	$2.16\pm0.36^{\rm \ a}$	2.23 ± 0.32^{ab}	
	Dehydration	0.60 ± 0.53^{bcde}	2.10 ± 0.36^{ae}	$2.23\pm035~^a$	$2.15\pm0.47^{\rm\ a}$	2.10 ± 0.33^{ab}	
VCO2 (L∙min ⁻¹)	Euhydration	0.34 ± 0.10^{bcde}	1.53 ± 0.23 $^{\rm a}$	$1.51\pm0.28^{\rm a}$	$1.58\pm0.21^{\rm a}$	1.60 ± 0.18 $^{\rm a}$	
	Dehydration	0.51 ± 0.44^{bcde}	$1.62\pm0.26^{\text{ a}}$	$1.68\pm0.27^{\rm a}$	$1.61\pm0.38^{\text{ a}}$	1.57 ± 0.23 $^{\rm a}$	
$T_i(s)$	Euhydration	$1.56 \pm 0.55^{b c d e}$	$1.05\pm0.31~^{a}$	$0.93\pm0.42\ensuremath{^{\mathrm{a}}}$	0.92 ± 0.28^{a}	$0.91\pm0.25~^{\rm a}$	
	Dehydration	1.54 ± 0.38^{bcde}	$1.01\pm0.25~^{a}$	1.01 ± 0.23 $^{\rm a}$	$1.14\pm0.33~^{a}$	$1.10\pm0.38~^{\text{a}}$	
T _{tot} (s)	Euhydration	3.45 ± 0.84^{bcde}	$2.33\pm0.77^{\text{ a}}$	$2.31\pm0.65^{\text{ a}}$	$2.11\pm0.59^{\text{ a}}$	$2.05\pm0.64^{\text{ a}}$	
	Dehydration	3.70 ± 0.40^{bcde}	$2.38\pm0.55~^{a}$	$2.32\pm0.50^{\text{ a}}$	$2.52\pm0.61~^{a}$	$2.34\pm0.69^{\text{ a}}$	
T _i /T _{tot}	Euhydration	0.46 ± 0.08	0.46 ± 0.05	0.40 ± 0.13	0.44 ± 0.04	0.45 ± 0.03	
	Dehydration	0.42 ± 0.08	0.43 ± 0.08	0.44 ± 0.05	0.46 ± 0.07	0.47 ± 0.06	

Table 6.2. Ventilatory, physiological and perceptual responses to 2 h exercise in the heat (cycling at 40% PO_{max}), with (euhydration) or without (dehydration) fluid replacement in eleven healthy physically-active individuals (four females).

Cardiac and thermore	gulatory responses					
HR	Euhydration	88 ± 20^{bcde}	123 ± 22^{ae}	$125 \pm 22^{\ a \ d \ e}$	128 ± 22^{ac}	130 ± 22^{abc}
(beats · min ⁻¹)	Dehydration	82 ± 12^{bcde}	$129 \pm 22^{acde\#}$	136 ± 22 ª e $^{\#}$	139 ± 23 a e $^{\#}$	143 ± 23 $^{abcd\#}$
T _{core} (°C)	Euhydration	37.2 ± 0.4^{bcde}	$37.6\pm0.3~^{a~d~e}$	37.8 ± 0.4^{ae}	$37.8\pm0.4~^{a~b}$	$37.9\pm0.6^{\ a\ b\ c}$
	Dehydration	37.3 ± 0.4^{bcde}	37.6 ± 0.2 acde	$38.0\pm0.3~^{abde\#}$	$38.2\pm0.5\ ^{a\ b\ c\ e\ \#}$	$38.4\pm0.5~^{abcd}$
Perceptual responses						
RPE	Euhydration	6 ± 0^{bcde}	12 ± 1 acde	14 ± 1 ^{abde}	15 ± 2 ^{abc}	15 ± 3 ^{a b c}
	Dehydration	6 ± 0^{bcde}	13 ± 2 acde	$14\pm2~^{abde\#}$	16 ± 2 ^{a b c e #}	$17\pm2^{abcd\#}$
Breathing	Euhydration	0 ± 0^{bcde}	3 ± 2 ^{a d e}	4 ± 3 a	$4\pm3\ ^{a\ b}$	5 ± 3 ^{a b}
discomfort	Dehydration	$0\pm 0^{~b~c~d~e}$	4 ± 3 ^{a d e}	5 ± 3 ^a	5 ± 3 ^{a b}	5 ± 3 ^{a b}

Mean ± SD. \dot{V}_{E} , minute ventilation; V_{T} , tidal volume; f_{b} , breathing frequency; $\dot{V}O_{2}$, volume of oxygen uptake; $\dot{V}CO_{2}$, volume of expired carbon dioxide; T_{i} , inspiratory time; T_{tot} , total time of breath; T_{i}/T_{tot} , inspiratory duty cycle; HR, heart rate; T_{core} , core temperature; RPE, rating of perceived exertion. ^a p < 0.05 vs rest, ^b p < 0.05 vs 30 min, ^c p < 0.05 vs 60 min, ^d p < 0.05 vs 90 min, ^e p < 0.05 vs 120 min, [#] p < 0.05 vs euhydration.

6.4.4 Pulmonary function

6.4.4.1 Spirometry

All spirometry data are presented in Table 6.3. At baseline, spirometry values did not differ between conditions. For FVC, main time and condition effects were noted, as well as a twoway interaction (Table 6.3); i.e. moderate dehydration was associated with a reduction in FVC after: 2 h of exercise in the heat (-210 ± 270 mL, p = 0.029) and post CPET-2 (-170 ± 200 mL vs baseline; p = 0.018). Six out of the eleven (55%) participants experienced a reduction in FVC of >200 mL. There was no change in FVC at any time in the euhydration condition (Figure 6.2). A significant main effect of time only was present for FEV₁ (p = 0.001; Table 6.3), whereby an increase occurred from baseline to post CPET-2 in both the dehydration (120 ± 130 mL) and the euhydration conditions (150 ± 120 mL) (p = 0.017). As FEV₁ and FVC were both altered, FEV₁/FVC showed a main effect of time (Table 6.3), whereby an increase was shown: post CPET-1, post 2 h of exercise in the heat, and post CPET-2 (all p < 0.01 vs baseline). A significant main effect for condition, and a significant interaction effect were also shown, whereby FEV₁/FVC was higher in the dehydration condition at post 2 h of exercise in the heat and post CPET-2 vs euhydration (p < 0.002). PEF remained unchanged throughout the experimental trials.



Figure 6.2. Change in forced vital capacity (FVC) from baseline, following the first incremental exercise test (post CPET-1), following 2 h of exercise in the heat (post 2 h exercise), and following the second incremental exercise test (post CPET-2), with (euhydration) or without (dehydration) fluid replacement. Values are mean \pm SEM for eleven participants (four females). ^a p < 0.05 vs baseline, # p < 0.05 vs euhydration at corresponding time point.

			,	Гіте		ANOV	A output	
		Baseline	Post CPET-1	Post 2 h exercise	Post CPET-2		F	р
FVC	Euhydration	4.85 ± 0.77	4.90 ± 0.90	4.89 ± 0.75	4.90 ± 0.72	Condition	14.072	0.027
(L)	Dehydration	4.85 ± 0.83	4.86 ± 0.79	4.64 ± 0.75 $^{a\#}$	4.68 ± 0.77 $^{a\#}$	Time	3.531	0.004
						Condition x Time	15.873	0.001
FEV ₁	Euhydration	4.01 ± 0.61	4.13 ± 0.66	4.15 ± 0.52	4.17 ± 0.54 $^{\rm a}$	Condition	0.528	0.484
(L)	Dehydration	4.02 ± 0.59	4.10 ± 0.61	4.13 ± 0.69	$4.13\pm0.66~^{a}$	Time	6.631	0.001
						Condition x Time	0.408	0.748
FEV ₁ /FVC	Euhydration	83 ± 5	85 ± 6^{a}	85 ± 6 ^a	85 ± 6^{a}	Condition	23.673	0.001
(%)	Dehydration	83 ± 5	85 ± 6 ^a	$89\pm6~^{a\#}$	$88\pm5~^{a\#}$	Time	16.943	0.000
						Condition x Time	16.945	0.000
PEF	Euhydration	8.69 ± 1.79	8.96 ± 2.56	9.28 ± 2.76	9.13 ± 2.47	Condition	2.562	0.322
(L·s ⁻¹)	Dehydration	9.07 ± 2.72	8.68 ± 2.13	9.08 ± 2.75	8.94 ± 2.22	Time	1.116	0.079
						Condition x Time	0.214	0.463

Table 6.3. Spirometry parameters (mean \pm SD) at baseline, after the first incremental exercise test (CPET-1), after 2 h exercise in the heat, and after the second incremental exercise test (CPET-2), with (euhydration) or without (dehydration) fluid replacement (*n*=11).

FVC, forced vital capacity; FEV₁, forced expiratory volume in one second; PEF, peak expiratory flow. ^ap < 0.05 vs baseline, [#]p < 0.05 vs euhydration.

6.4.4.2 Whole body plethysmography

All whole body plethysmography data are presented in Table 6.4. At baseline, whole body plethysmography values did not differ between conditions. For RV, there was a main effect of time, and a two-way interaction effect, for FRC there were main effects of time and condition, and a significant two-way interaction effect (Table 6.4). Post-hoc pairwise comparisons showed that moderate dehydration was associated with significant increases in RV (401 \pm 348 mL; p = 0.003 vs. baseline; p = 0.010 vs euhydration) and FRC (255 \pm 183 mL; p = 0.001 vs. baseline), whilst these variables remained unchanged in the euhydration condition (Figure 6.3). TLC displayed no significant main or interaction effects. As a result, RV/TLC displayed main effects of time and condition, and a two-way interaction effect (Table 6.4).Post-hoc tests demonstrated that RV/TLC increased by $5 \pm$ 4% in the dehydration condition (p = 0.003 vs baseline) but did not change in the euhydration condition. There were no main effects of time or condition for sRaw (Table 6.4); however, an interaction effect was noted, whereby an increase in sRaw was observed in the dehydration condition $(0.11 \pm 0.12 \text{ kPa}\cdot\text{s}^{-1}; p = 0.012 \text{ vs.}$ baseline), whereas a decrease was noted in the euhydration condition (-0.10 \pm 0.14 kPa·s⁻¹; p = 0.033 vs baseline). At the end of the trial (post CPET-2), sRaw was therefore higher in the dehydration in comparison to the euhydration condition (p = 0.007). ERV, IC, and IVC remained unchanged throughout the trials (Table 6.4).



Figure 6.3. Changes in a) residual volume (RV), and b) functional residual capacity (FRC) following the second incremental exercise test (post CPET-2) in the dehydration and euhydration conditions. Boxplots represent the median and interquartile range, with whiskers representing the minimum and maximum values. ^a p < 0.05 vs baseline; # p < 0.05 vs euhydration.

-11).			Time	ANOV	A output	
		Baseline	Post CPET-2		F	р
TLC (L)	Euhydration	6.95 ± 1.31	6.99 ± 0.94	Condition	0.318	0.585
	Dehydration	6.95 ± 1.36	7.10 ± 1.51	Time	3.723	0.083
				Condition x Time	0.576	0.465
FRC (L)	Euhydration	3.93 ± 1.07	3.93 ± 0.87	Condition	1.362	0.270
	Dehydration	3.92 ± 1.00	4.17 ± 1.14 ^a	Time Condition x Time	5.65 6.09	0.039 0.033
RV (L)	Euhydration Dehydration	$\begin{array}{c} 2.01 \pm 0.64 \\ 2.01 \pm 0.69 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 2.08 \pm 0.67 \\ 2.41 \pm 0.92^{a\#} \end{array}$	Condition Time Condition x Time	4.569 8.637 19.772	0.058 0.015 0.001
RV/TLC (%)	Euhydration Dehydration	$\begin{array}{c} 29\pm5\\ 28\pm5 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 29 \pm 6 \\ 33 \pm 6 \\ ^{a \#} \end{array}$	Condition Time Condition x Time	8.94 7.112 41.904	0.014 0.024 <0.001
ERV (L)	Euhydration Dehydration	$\begin{array}{c} 1.92 \pm 0.55 \\ 1.91 \pm 0.44 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 1.85 \pm 0.43 \\ 1.77 \pm 0.40 \end{array}$	Condition Time Condition x Time	0.674 2.474 0.689	0.431 0.147 0.426
IC (L)	Euhydration Dehydration	$\begin{array}{c} 3.13 \pm 0.57 \\ 3.06 \pm 0.54 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 3.14 \pm 0.52 \\ 3.01 \pm 0.55 \end{array}$	Condition Time Condition x Time	0.150 0.102 1.694	0.222 0.756 0.707
IVC (L)	Euhydration	4.94 ± 0.79	4.91 ± 0.65	Condition	3.846	0.078
	Dehydration	4.95 ± 0.81	4.70 ± 0.72	Time Condition x Time	3.658 4.873	0.085 0.052
sRaw	Euhydration	0.97 ± 0.29	0.87 ± 0.23 $^{\rm a}$	Condition	1.522	0.246
(kPa·s ⁻¹)	Dehydration	0.90 ± 0.19	$1.01\pm0.25~^{a\#}$	Time Condition x Time	0.024 12.123	0.881 0.006

Table 6.4. Whole body plethysmography parameters (mean \pm SD) at baseline and following the second incremental exercise test (post CPET-2), with (euhydration) or without (dehydration) fluid replacement (*n* = 11).

TLC, total lung capacity; FRC, functional residual capacity; RV, residual volume; ERV, expiratory reserve volume; IC, inspiratory capacity; IVC, inspiratory vital capacity; sRaw, specific airway resistance; ^ap < 0.05 vs baseline, [#]p < 0.05 vs euhydration at corresponding time point.

6.4.4.3 Impulse Oscillometry (IOS)

Data from IOS assessment are presented in Table 6.5. Impulse oscillometry parameters (mean \pm SD) at baseline and following the second incremental exercise test (post CPET-2), with (euhydration) or without (dehydration) fluid replacement (n = 11).. No between-conditions difference was reported for IOS values at baseline. Dehydration had no impact on IOS parameters, with no main effects of time or condition, or two-way interactions noted for R₅, R₂₀, R₅₋₂₀, X₅, A_X and F_{res}.

		Т	ime	ANC	OVA output	t
		Baseline	Post CPET-2		F	р
R 5	Euhydration	0.30 ± 0.09	0.29 ± 0.05	Condition	0.795	0.521
$(\mathbf{kPa}\cdot\mathbf{L}^{-1}\cdot\mathbf{s}^{-1})$	Dehydration	0.30 ± 0.09	0.31 ± 0.12	Time	0.089	0.772
				Condition x Time	0.433	0.394
R ₂₀	Euhydration	0.29 ± 0.09	0.28 ± 0.05	Condition	1.129	0.313
(kPa·L ⁻¹ ·s ⁻¹)	Dehydration	0.29 ± 0.10	0.30 ± 0.11	Time	0.312	0.588
				Condition x Time	0.643	0.441
R ₅₋₂₀	Euhydration	0.00 ± 0.03	0.00 ± 0.02	Condition	1.897	0.199
$(\mathbf{kPa} \cdot \mathbf{L}^{-1} \cdot \mathbf{s}^{-1})$	Dehydration	0.01 ± 0.03	0.01 ± 0.01	Time	0.74	0.410
				Condition x Time	0.650	0.439
X5	Euhydration	$\textbf{-0.08} \pm 0.01$	$\textbf{-0.08} \pm 0.01$	Condition	0.023	0.882
$(\mathbf{kPa} \cdot \mathbf{L}^{-1} \cdot \mathbf{s}^{-1})$	Dehydration	$\textbf{-0.08} \pm 0.03$	$\textbf{-0.08} \pm 0.03$	Time	3.75	0.082
				Condition x Time	2.664	0.134
Ax	Euhydration	0.18 ± 0.08	0.16 ± 0.06	Condition	0.234	0.639
(kPa·L ^{−1})	Dehydration	0.16 ± 0.11	0.16 ± 0.20	Time	0.108	0.749
				Condition x Time	0.099	0.759
Fres	Euhydration	9.65 ± 2.26	9.25 ± 1.85	Condition	0.363	0.560
$(\mathbf{kPa}\cdot\mathbf{L}^{-1}\cdot\mathbf{s}^{-1})$	Dehydration	9.31 ± 1.54	10.02 ± 2.85	Time	0.817	0.387
				Condition x Time	1.084	0.322

Table 6.5. Impulse oscillometry parameters (mean \pm SD) at baseline and following the second incremental exercise test (post CPET-2), with (euhydration) or without (dehydration) fluid replacement (n = 11).

R₅, respiratory resistance at 5 Hz; R₂₀, respiratory resistance at 20 Hz; X₅, frequency-dependence of resistance respiratory reactance at 5 Hz; A_X area of reactance; F_{res}, resonant frequency; ^ap < 0.05 vs baseline, [#]p < 0.05 vs baseline, [#]p < 0.05 vs euhydration at corresponding time point.

6.4.5 Cardiopulmonary exercise tests (CPET)

Peak power output during CPET-2 (dehydration: 205 ± 50 W; euhydration 245 ± 50 W) was lower than CPET-1 (dehydration: 285 ± 41 W; euhydration: 270 ± 58 W) in both conditions (dehydration: p = 0.004; euhydration: interaction effect for condition x test x time: $F_{4, 28} = 6.24$; p = 0.001). Further, during CPET-2, peak power output was lower in dehydration compared to euhydration (interaction effect for condition x test: $F_{4, 28} = 6.24$, p = 0.041). During CPET-2 in the dehydration condition: two participants completed three stages less than in CPET-1 (one participant experienced muscle cramps); three participants completed two less stages; and three participants completed one less stage than CPET-1 (i.e., 80% of participants (40%) completed one less stage in CPET-2 compared to CPET-1.

6.4.5.1 Ventilatory response

Ventilatory response to CPET is shown in Table 6.6 and Figure 6.4. At submaximal intensities, there was no difference in \dot{V}_E between CPET-1 and CPET-2; however, V_T was lower in CPET-2 at 4 (p = 0.001 vs CPET-1) and 6 min (p = 0.007 vs CPET-1) (significant interaction effect for test x time: $F_{4,32} = 14.03$, p = 0.014) and f_b was higher at 2, 4, and 6 min (p = 0.018, p = 0.004, and p < 0.001, respectively) compared to CPET-1(interaction effect for test x time: $F_{4,32} = 2.78$, p = 0.043). At peak exercise, V_T in CPET-2 was higher than in CPET-1, but f_b was not statistically different. Further, dehydration was associated with a reduction in \dot{V}_E at peak exercise of 26 ± 25 L·min⁻¹ (interaction effect for condition x test x time: $F_{4,28} = 4.98$, p = 0.004 vs euhydration, Figure 6.4, Panel A). Whilst V_T in CPET-2 was 0.39 \pm 0.60 L lower in dehydration compared to euhydration (Figure 6.4, Panel B), this did not reach statistical significance (p = 0.143), and f_b was unaffected by dehydration (Figure 6.4, Panel C). The submaximal and maximal data for T_i, T_{tot}, and T_i/T_{tot} displayed changes over time (see Table 6.6 and Appendix G), but were not different between experimental conditions or CPET.



Figure 6.4. Change in a) minute ventilation (\dot{V}_E), b) tidal volume (V_T), and c) breathing frequency (f_b) during the incremental exercise tests before (CPET-1) and after (CPET-2) 2 h exercise in the heat, with (euhydration) or without (dehydration) fluid replacement. Power output is displayed as mean \pm SD across the four CPET. *p < 0.05 main effect of time; # p < 0.05 vs euhydration at corresponding time point; †p < 0.05 vs CPET-1 at corresponding time point.

				Incremental exerc	cise test	
Time		0 min (rest)	2 min	4 min	6 min	Peak exercise
Power Output		0 ± 0 W	$80 \pm 26 \mathrm{W}$	$130 \pm 26 \mathrm{W}$	$176 \pm 26 \mathrm{W}$	$254\pm56~\mathrm{W}$
Power output	Euhydration CPET-1				180 ± 26^{abce}	270 ± 58^{abcd}
(W)	Euhydration CPET-2	o . ohade		100 · Ocabde	180 ± 26^{abce}	$245\pm 50^{abcd\dagger}$
	Dehydration CPET-1	0 ± 0 beau	80 ± 26^{acut}	130 ± 26^{abuc}	180 ± 26^{abce}	$285\pm41^{\ a\ b\ c\ d}$
	Dehydration CPET-2				175 ± 27^{abce}	$205\pm50^{abcd\#\dagger}$
Ventilatory varia	bles					
V̇_E (L∙min⁻¹)	Euhydration CPET-1	$17\pm7~^{bcde}$	40 ± 12^{acde}	51 ± 14^{abde}	71 ± 24^{abce}	115 ± 24^{abcd}
	Euhydration CPET-2	17 ± 7^{bcde}	$36\pm9^{acde\dagger}$	55 ± 16^{abde}	$72\pm26^{abe\dagger}$	$110\pm31^{\ a\ b\ c\ d}$
	Dehydration CPET-1	15 ± 6^{bcde}	36 ± 11^{acde}	50 ± 16^{abde}	70 ± 27^{abce}	$117\pm21^{\ a\ b\ c\ d}$
	Dehydration CPET-2	18 ± 11^{bcde}	37 ± 9^{acde}	52 ± 15^{abde}	$74\pm21^{abce\dagger}$	$84\pm26\ {}^{abcd\#\dagger}$
V _T (L)	Euhydration CPET-1	1.05 ± 0.60^{bcde}	2.04 ± 0.86^{a}	2.27 ± 0.81 a	2.45 ± 0.77^{a}	$2.74\pm0.90^{\text{ a}}$
	Euhydration CPET-2	0.99 ± 0.51^{bcde}	$1.67\pm0.44^{\text{ a}}$	1.85 ± 0.65 a †	$2.21\pm0.75^{a\dagger}$	$2.50\pm0.86^{a\dagger}$
	Dehydration CPET-1	1.04 ± 0.70^{bcde}	$2.08\pm0.78^{\text{ a}}$	$2.40\pm0.64^{\text{ a}}$	$2.60\pm0.73~^{a}$	$2.78\pm0.79^{\text{ a}}$
	Dehydration CPET-2	0.87 ± 0.39^{bcde}	$1.68\pm0.58^{\text{ a}}$	$1.81\pm0.49^{a\dagger}$	$1.89\pm0.49^{a\dagger}$	2.11 ± 0.65 a †
fь	Euhydration CPET-1	16 ± 5^{de}	19 ± 6 °	23 ± 8 °	28 ± 13 ^{a e}	43 ± 13^{abcd}
(breaths · min ⁻¹)	Euhydration CPET-2	$17 \pm 2^{\mathrm{cde}}$	22 ± 7 ^{cde}	27 ± 11^{abde}	33 ± 13^{abce}	41 ± 17^{abcd}
	Dehydration CPET-1	16 ± 3^{de}	$18\pm6^{\text{e}}$	23 ± 9^{e}	$28\pm13^{\mbox{ae}}$	43 ± 12^{abcd}

Table 6.6. Ventilatory response to incremental exercise in dehydration and euhydration conditions, before (CPET-1) and after (CPET-2) 2 hours of exercise in the heat, with (euhydration) or without (dehydration) fluid replacement (n=11).

	Dehydration CPET-2	18 ± 3 ^{cde}	23 ± 7^{cde}	31 ± 12^{abde}	40 ± 11^{abce}	45 ± 16^{abcd}
$T_i(s)$	Euhydration CPET-1	1.54 ± 0.45^{de}	1.48 ± 0.59^{de}	$1.24\pm0.36^{\text{ e}}$	$1.13 \pm 0.43^{\;ab}$	$0.82\pm0.35^{\:a\:b\:c}$
	Euhydration CPET-2	1.47 ± 0.36^{de}	1.30 ± 0.48^{de}	$1.09\pm0.48~^{\text{e}}$	0.99 ± 0.42^{ab}	0.80 ± 0.30^{abc}
	Dehydration CPET-1	1.57 ± 0.46^{de}	1.56 ± 0.50^{de}	1.36 ± 0.47^{e}	1.17 ± 0.48^{ab}	0.73 ± 0.24^{abc}
	Dehydration CPET-2	1.48 ± 0.55^{de}	1.43 ± 0.61 ^{d e}	$1.02\pm0.31~^{\text{e}}$	$0.77 \pm 0.21^{\;ab}$	0.71 ± 0.30^{abc}
T _{tot} (s)	Euhydration CPET-1	4.04 ± 1.17^{cde}	3.38 ± 1.24^{cde}	2.81 ± 0.89^{abe}	2.38 ± 0.91^{abe}	1.45 ± 0.58^{abcd}
	Euhydration CPET-2	3.54 ± 0.65^{cde}	$2.95\pm0.92^{\text{cde}}$	2.41 ± 0.99^{abe}	2.08 ± 0.88^{ab}	$1.68\pm0.67^{\:a\:b\:c}$
	Dehydration CPET-1	3.97 ± 0.94^{cde}	$3.70 \pm 1.17^{ c d e}$	3.02 ± 0.96^{abe}	2.52 ± 1.02^{abe}	1.51 ± 0.50^{abcd}
	Dehydration CPET-2	3.40 ± 0.75^{cde}	2.68 ± 0.93^{cde}	$2.14\pm0.63^{\:a\:b\:e}$	1.62 ± 0.44^{ab}	1.53 ± 0.60^{abc}
T _i /T _{tot}	Euhydration CPET-1	0.39 ± 0.05^{de}	0.44 ± 0.02^{de}	$0.45\pm0.03^{~d~e}$	$0.48\pm0.03^{\:abc}$	$0.49\pm0.02^{\:a\:b\:c}$
	Euhydration CPET-2	0.38 ± 0.12 $^{d~e}$	0.43 ± 0.04^{de}	$0.45\pm0.03^{~d~e}$	$0.47\pm0.03^{\:abc}$	$0.48\pm0.02^{\:a\:b\:c}$
	Dehydration CPET-1	0.40 ± 0.08^{de}	0.43 ± 0.04^{de}	0.45 ± 0.03 $^{d~e}$	$0.47\pm0.03^{\:abc}$	$0.48\pm0.02^{\:a\:b\:c}$
	Dehydration CPET-2	0.42 ± 0.08^{de}	0.62 ± 0.54^{de}	0.48 ± 0.04^{de}	0.47 ± 0.03 abc	0.50 ± 0.04^{abc}

 \dot{V}_{E} , minute ventilation; V_{T} , tidal volume; f_{b} , breathing frequency; T_{i} , inspiratory time; T_{tot} , total time of breath; T_{i}/T_{tot} , inspiratory duty cycle; ${}^{a}p < 0.05$ vs 0 min; ${}^{b}p < 0.05$ vs 2 min; ${}^{c}p < 0.05$ vs 4 min; ${}^{d}p < 0.05$ vs 6 min; ${}^{e}p < 0.05$ vs peak exercise; ${}^{\#}p < 0.05$ vs euhydration at corresponding time point; ${}^{\dagger}p < 0.05$ vs CPET-1 at corresponding time point. *Note. For detailed statistical output see Appendix G*.

6.4.5.2 Operating lung volumes.

Operating lung volumes during all CPET are displayed in Figure 6.5. During CPET-1 and CPET-2, EILV increased at 2 min (p = 0.008 vs 0 min) and remained elevated thereafter in both experimental conditions (main effect of time: $F_{1,8} = 0.86$; all p < 0.05 vs 0 min). The biggest visual differences in EILV observed at peak exercise in the dehydration condition (i.e. 0.4 ± 0.8 L reduction during CPET-2 compared to CPET-1) did not reached statistical significance (p = 0.36). For EELV, a main effect of time was noted ($F_{1,8} = 3.39$; p = 0.020), but post hoc analysis did not reveal significant differences between individual time points. There was no difference in EELV between CPET-1 and CPET-2, or between experimental conditions. No significant changes in IC were noted between CPET-1 and CPET-2 for both conditions.



Figure 6.5. Operating lung volumes during incremental tests to exhaustion performed before (CPET-1) and after (CPET-2) 2 h exercise in the heat with (euhydration) or without (dehydration) fluid replacement (n = 11). Inspiratory capacity manoeuvres were performed at rest (0 W), in the last 30 s of each incremental 2 min stage, and at peak exercise. Power output is displayed as mean \pm SD across the respective CPET. EELV, end expiratory lung volume; EILV, end inspiratory lung volume; IC, inspiratory capacity; TLC, total lung capacity; V_T, tidal volume. EILV was elevated at 2, 4, 6 min and peak *vs* 0 min in all conditions (p < 0.010). Data are mean \pm SEM.

6.4.5.3 Other physiological responses

Table 6.7 and Figure 6.6 display the physiological responses to CPET. $\dot{V}O_2$ and $\dot{V}CO_2$ progressively increased throughout each CPET(F_{1,9} = 322.01, p < 0.001). At peak exercise, $\dot{V}CO_2$ was higher in CPET-1 compared to CPET-2 (interaction for test x time: F_{4,32} = 5.64, p = 0.001), whereas no difference was displayed between CPET-1 and CPET-2 for $\dot{V}O_{2peak}$. There was no impact of dehydration upon $\dot{V}O_2$, $\dot{V}CO_2$, $\dot{V}_E/\dot{V}O_2$ or $\dot{V}_E/\dot{V}CO_2$ (all p > 0.05 *vs* euhydration). Heart rate progressively increased during both CPET (main effect for time: F_{1,8} = 158.98; p < 0.001), with no difference between the dehydration and euhydration conditions. In CPET-2, HR was significantly higher at 0, 2, 4, and 6 min (all p = 0.001) compared to CPET-1, but there was no difference at peak exercise between CPET (interaction for test x time: F_{4,32} = 9.82, p < 0.001). T_{core} was higher during CPET-2 compared to CPET-1 in both conditions (main effect for test: F_{1,8} = 36.60; p = 0.001), but was not affected by hydration status. A main effect for time was observed for SpO₂ (F_{1,8} = 5.23, p = 0.002); however post hoc analysis did not reveal significant difference between individual time points. Dehydration did not affect SpO₂, with no difference observed between CPET-1 and CPET-2 in the euhydration and dehydration conditions.



Figure 6.6. Change in A) volume of oxygen uptake ($\dot{V}O_2$) B) ventilatory equivalent for oxygen ($\dot{V}_E/\dot{V}O_2$), C) volume of exhaled carbon dioxide ($\dot{V}CO_2$) and D) ventilatory equivalent for carbon dioxide ($\dot{V}_E/\dot{V}O_2$) during the incremental exercise tests before (CPET-1) and after (CPET-2) 2 h exercise in the heat, with (euhydration) or without (dehydration) fluid replacement (n = 11). Power output is displayed as mean \pm SD across the four CPET. *p < 0.05 main effect of time; *p < 0.05 vs CPET-1 at corresponding time point.

Time		0 min (rest)	2 min	4 min	6 min	Peak exercise
Power Output		$0 \pm 0 $ W	$80 \pm 26 \mathrm{W}$	$130 \pm 26 \mathrm{W}$	$176 \pm 26 \mathrm{W}$	$254\pm56~\mathrm{W}$
Physiological re	sponses					
ΫO ₂	Euhydration CPET-1	$0.52\pm0.19^{~b~c~d~e}$	1.66 ± 0.36 acde	2.20 ± 0.39^{abde}	2.59 ± 0.33^{abce}	3.03 ± 0.36^{abcd}
(L·min ⁻¹)	Euhydration CPET-2	0.69 ± 0.44^{bcde}	1.71 ± 0.34 acde	2.11 ± 0.31^{abde}	2.69 ± 0.33^{abce}	3.12 ± 0.63^{abcd}
	Dehydration CPET-1	0.47 ± 0.14^{bcde}	1.68 ± 0.35^{acde}	2.17 ± 0.36^{abde}	2.63 ± 0.40^{abce}	2.72 ± 0.73^{abcd}
	Dehydration CPET-2	0.61 ± 0.29^{bcde}	1.79 ± 0.44 acde	2.31 ± 0.48^{abde}	2.69 ± 0.33^{abc}	2.93 ± 0.55^{abcd}
VCO ₂	Euhydration CPET-1	0.51 ± 0.19^{bcde}	1.42 ± 0.32^{acde}	1.99 ± 0.42^{abde}	2.51 ± 0.47^{abce}	3.77 ± 0.65^{abcd}
(L·min ⁻¹)	Euhydration CPET-2	0.55 ± 0.30^{bcde}	1.35 ± 0.27^{acde}	1.81 ± 0.35^{abde}	2.54 ± 0.43^{abc}	$3.40\pm 0.65^{abc\dagger}$
	Dehydration CPET-1	0.48 ± 0.18^{bcde}	1.40 ± 0.31^{acde}	$1.97\pm0.43^{\:abde}$	2.59 ± 0.56^{abce}	3.93 ± 0.86^{abce}
	Dehydration CPET-2	0.50 ± 0.24^{bcde}	1.37 ± 0.40^{acde}	1.95 ± 0.53^{abde}	2.60 ± 0.69 abc	$2.99\pm0.77^{abc\dagger}$
$\dot{V}_E/\dot{V}O_2$	Euhydration CPET-1	32 ± 10	24 ± 5^{e}	23 ± 5 °	27 ± 8 °	$35\pm8^{\ b\ c\ d}$
	Euhydration CPET-2	29 ± 12	$21\pm3^{\;d\;e}$	26 ± 7^{e}	$27\pm8^{\ b}$	$35\pm8~^{b~c}$
	Dehydration CPET-1	38 ± 16	21 ± 4 e	23 ± 5^{e}	26 ± 8 °	$35\pm 6^{\ b\ c\ d}$
	Dehydration CPET-2	30 ± 11	$21\pm5^{\;d\;e}$	23 ± 6^{e}	$27\pm5^{\ b}$	$29\pm 6^{\ b\ c}$
V _E /VCO ₂	Euhydration CPET-1	32 ± 6	28 ± 6	26 ± 4	28 ± 6 °	31 ± 6^{d}
	Euhydration CPET-2	29 ± 12	$21\pm3~^\dagger$	26 ± 7	27 ± 8 °	$35\pm8~^{d}{}^{\dagger}$
	Dehydration CPET-1	35 ± 10	25 ± 4	25 ± 3 d e	27 ± 6 °	30 ± 5 °

Table 6.7. Physiological responses to incremental exercise in dehydration and euhydration conditions, before (CPET-1) and after (CPET-2) 2 hours

 of exercise in the heat, with (euhydration) or without (dehydration) fluid replacement (n=11).

	Dehydration CPET-2	30 ± 11	21 ± 5 [†]	23 ± 6 ^{d e}	27 ± 5 °	$29\pm6~^{c~\dagger}$
HR	Euhydration CPET-1	69 ± 13^{bcde}	105 ± 13^{acde}	121 ± 17^{abde}	138 ± 16^{abce}	164 ± 14^{abcd}
(beats · min ⁻¹)	Euhydration CPET-2	$90\pm19^{bcde\dagger}$	$113\pm18^{acde\dagger}$	130 ± 21 ^{a b d e †}	$146\pm16^{abce\dagger}$	165 ± 19^{abcd}
	Dehydration CPET-1	69 ± 12^{bcde}	$103\pm13^{\:a\:c\:d\:e}$	120 ± 8^{abde}	136 ± 12^{abce}	163 ± 16^{abcd}
	Dehydration CPET-2	$89\pm16^{bcde\dagger}$	$119\pm14^{acde\dagger}$	$137\pm15^{abde\dagger}$	$151 \pm 12^{abce\dagger}$	159 ± 12^{abcd}
T _{core} (°C)	Euhydration CPET-1	37.0 ± 0.4	$37.0\pm0.5^{\ e}$	37.1 ± 0.4^{e}	37.2 ± 0.5	37.5 ± 0.5 bc
	Euhydration CPET-2	$37.7\pm0.3^\dagger$	$37.6\pm0.4^{e\dagger}$	$37.6\pm0.4^{\text{e}\dagger}$	$37.7\pm0.4^{\dagger}$	$37.9\pm0.5~^{b~c~\dagger}$
	Dehydration CPET-1	37.1 ± 0.4	$37.1\pm0.4^{\circ}$	$37.2\pm0.4~^{b}$	37.2 ± 0.5	37.5 ± 0.5
	Dehydration CPET-2	$38.1\pm0.5^\dagger$	$38.0\pm0.5~^{c\dagger}$	$38.1\pm0.4~^{b\dagger}$	$38.0\pm0.4^{\dagger}$	$38.2\pm0.5^\dagger$
SpO ₂ (%)	Euhydration CPET-1	100 ± 1	98 ± 2	99 ± 2	98 ± 2	97 ± 2
	Euhydration CPET-2	100 ± 1	99 ± 2	99 ± 2	99 ± 1	97 ± 4
	Dehydration CPET-1	100 ± 1	99 ± 1	99 ± 1	98 ± 1	97 ± 4
	Dehydration CPET-2	100 ± 0	99 ± 2	99 ± 1	98 ± 1	99 ± 2

 $\dot{V}O_2$, volume of oxygen uptake; $\dot{V}CO_2$, volume of expired carbon dioxide; HR, heart rate; T_{core} , core temperature; SpO₂, oxygen saturation; ^ap < 0.05 vs 0 min, ^bp < 0.05 vs 2 min, ^cp < 0.05 vs 4 min, ^dp < 0.05 vs 6 min, ^ep < 0.05 vs PEAK, [#]p < 0.05 vs euhydration at corresponding time point; [†]p < 0.05 vs CPET-1 at corresponding time point. *Note. For detailed statistical output see Appendix G*.

6.4.5.4 Perceptual responses

Table 6.8 displays perceptual responses during incremental exercise tests, detailed statistical analysis is presented in Table 9.2 (Appendix G). RPE progressively increased during CPET-1 in both conditions (all p < 0.05). During CPET-2, the increase in RPE with exercise intensity was no longer significant from 4 min onward in the dehydration condition, and from 6 min onward for the euhydration condition. During CPET-2, RPE at 4 min (p = 0.034) and 6 min (p = 0.007) was higher in the dehydration condition compared to the euhydration condition.

During CPET-1 in both conditions, breathing discomfort was only elevated at peak exercise compared to 0 min (p = 0.021). During CPET-2, breathing discomfort increased earlier, with a difference noted at 6 min (p = 0.034) and peak exercise (p = 0.019). Breathing discomfort was higher during CPET-2 compared to CPET-1 at 2 min (p = 0.017), 4 min (p = 0.013), and 6 min (p = 0.046), but hydration status did not influence the response. At peak exercise, no difference in breathing discomfort was noted between dehydration and euhydration, or between CPET-1 and CPET-2.

Time		0 min (rest)	2 min	4 min	6 min	Peak exercise
Power Output		0 ± 0 W	$80 \pm 26 \mathrm{W}$	$130 \pm 26 \mathrm{W}$	$176 \pm 26 \text{ W}$	$254\pm56~\mathrm{W}$
Perceptual resp	Donses					
RPE	Euhydration CPET-1	$6\pm0^{\ b\ c\ d\ e}$	10 ± 2 acde	12 ± 2^{abde}	14 ± 3^{abce}	18 ± 1 abcd
	Euhydration CPET-2	6 ± 0^{bcde}	$12\pm1^{acde\dagger}$	$13\pm2^{abde\dagger}$	$16\pm3^{abc\dagger}$	18 ± 1 abc
	Dehydration CPET-1	6 ± 0^{bcde}	10 ± 2^{acde}	12 ± 2^{abde}	14 ± 3^{abce}	19 ± 1 ^{a b c d}
	Dehydration CPET-2	6 ± 0^{bcde}	$14\pm2^{acde\#\dagger}$	$16\pm2^{abde\#\dagger}$	$17\pm2^{ab\dagger}$	19 ± 1 ^{a b c}
Breathing	Euhydration CPET-1	0 ± 0 °	2 ± 2^{e}	3 ± 3 °	5 ± 3	7 ± 4^{abc}
discomfort	Euhydration CPET-2	0 ± 0^{de}	3 ± 3 ° †	4 ± 3 †	5 ± 3 ^{a †}	7 ± 4 ^{a b}
	Dehydration CPET-1	0 ± 0 °	2 ± 2^{e}	3 ± 3 °	4 ± 3	7 ± 4^{abc}
	Dehydration CPET-2	0 ± 0^{de}	5 ± 3 ^e [†]	5 ± 3 [†]	6 ± 4 ^{a †}	7 ± 3^{ab}

Table 6.8. Perceptual responses to incremental exercise in dehydration and euhydration conditions, before (CPET-1) and after (CPET-2) 2 hours of exercise in the heat, with (euhydration) or without (dehydration) fluid replacement (n=11).

RPE, rating of perceived exertion; ${}^{a}p < 0.05 vs 0 min$; ${}^{b}p < 0.05 vs 2 min$; ${}^{c}p < 0.05 vs 4 min$; ${}^{d}p < 0.05 vs 6 min$; ${}^{e}p < 0.05 vs peak$; ${}^{\#}p < 0.05 vs 0 min$; ${}^{b}p < 0.05 vs 2 min$; ${}^{c}p < 0.05 vs 4 min$; ${}^{d}p < 0.05 vs 6 min$; ${}^{e}p < 0.05 vs peak$; ${}^{\#}p < 0.05 vs 0 min$; ${}^{b}p < 0.0$

6.5 Discussion

6.5.1 Overview of results

The aim of the present study was to investigate the effects of exercise-induced moderate dehydration on resting pulmonary function and on the ventilatory response to incremental exercise in healthy physically-active individuals. Through this research, the presence of a robust phenomenon of dehydration-induced pulmonary alteration has been confirmed, characterised by negative alterations in resting pulmonary lung volumes (increased RV) and capacities (decreased FVC and increased FRC) in healthy young adults. Further, at matched submaximal exercise intensities, ventilatory response and operating lung volumes were not altered by moderate dehydrated state was associated with a reduced power output, but no change in operating lung volumes (i.e., no sign of dynamic hyperinflation) or in respiratory discomfort. Overall, the small, but consistent alterations in pulmonary lung volumes induced by dehydration do not seem to modify the breathing response to exercise in healthy physically-active adults.

6.5.2 Moderate dehydration and resting pulmonary function

The present study demonstrates that systemic water loss induced by exercise impairs resting pulmonary function in physically-active individuals. This finding is in line with previous work conducted in both athletes with asthma (Simpson et al., 2017), and in healthy normally active individuals (Chapter 5). In Chapter 5, a 2.6% body mass loss led to an average reduction in FVC of ~150 mL, and elevations in FRC and RV of ~130 mL and ~220 mL, respectively. In the present study, a greater magnitude of dehydration (i.e., 3.5% loss of body mass) led to greater pulmonary changes: i.e., ~210 mL decrease in FVC (+ ~ 60 mL *vs* Chapter 5), and ~255 mL and ~401 mL increases in FRC and RV (+ ~125 mL and ~180 mL *vs* Chapter 5, respectively). Further, moderate dehydration in the present study led to a reduction in FVC of >200 mL [which is commonly used for clinical significance (Pellegrino et al., 2005)] in 55% of participants, compared to just 30% following mild dehydration in Chapter 5. Altogether, this suggests that greater severities of systemic dehydration elicit greater alterations in airway function.

In the present study, moderate dehydration led to a significant increase in sRaw (0.11 \pm 0.12 kPa·s⁻¹), whilst a reduction in sRaw occurred in the euhydrated condition (-0.10 \pm 0.14

kPa·s⁻¹). This is the first study to show that dehydration may increase airway resistance. However, when IOS was used to provide an additional insight to changes in respiratory resistance and reactance, no significant alterations were noted. No previous work exists regarding the effect of dehydration upon IOS parameters. However, individuals with obstructive lung disease (especially those with asthma), commonly present increased reactance area [indicative of peripheral airway obstruction (Brashier and Salvi, 2015)], and increased resonant frequency and distal capacitive reactance (indicative of changes to elastic recoil at the peripheral airways (Brashier and Salvi, 2015; Cavalcanti et al., 2006). The recognised high-variability in IOS measurements, which has been shown to be ~5-15% between days in adults (Brashier and Salvi, 2015), may contribute to the difficulty in detecting small changes in airway function in intervention studies recruiting healthy population.

Reductions in FVC alongside elevations in RV and FRC are suggestive of impaired small airway function (McNulty and Usmani, 2014). Specifically, the elevated RV/TLC measured in the dehydration condition indicates potential gas trapping at the level of the small airway. This change, which appeared concomitantly to the elevated airway resistance, may physiologically be explained by the following mechanism. Small airway function is highly dependent upon lung compliance and elasticity; the surface tension of the airways is a fundamental component of its function and plays a key role in lung compliance and elasticity (Chen et al., 2019). The ASL plays a vital role in the maintenance of normal airway surface tension; alterations to the volume of this surface liquid can consequently alter surface tension and function (Macklem et al., 1970). In this study, the progression to moderate dehydration (compared to the previously induced mild dehydration state, Chapter 5) may have caused a greater magnitude of intracellular dehydration (Costill et al., 1976). This increased magnitude of fluid loss was associated with significant elevations in Posm $(13 \pm 5 \text{ mOsm} \cdot \text{kg}^{-1} \text{ in this study compared to } 6 \pm 4 \text{ mOsm} \cdot \text{kg}^{-1} \text{ in Chapter 5})$. It is therefore likely that the elevation in Posm contributed to the alterations to composition and/or content of ASL and, in turn, to airway instability and airway collapse (Macklem et al., 1970). Further, although the duration of experimental visits within the present study prevented pulmonary function tests from being performed at the same time of day within visits, reproducibility data presented within Chapter 4 demonstrated that spirometry and whole body plethysmography had 'very good' reproducibility when performed in the morning and afternoon of the same day. Time of day can therefore be excluded as a confounding factor

for the findings of the present study. Taken together, these data suggest that P_{osm} is a fundamental mechanism underpinning the pulmonary function changes that occur during systemic dehydration.

6.5.3 Ventilatory and perceptual response to dehydration during CPET

Based on the presented results, systemic dehydration does not appear to influence the ventilatory response to submaximal or maximal exercise in healthy adults. \dot{V}_E at peak exercise was 26 ± 25 L·min⁻¹ lower when participants were dehydrated compared to euhydrated. However, rather than a direct effect of dehydration on ventilatory regulation, this change is more likely to be explained by premature onset of fatigue, as supported by the average reduction in PO_{max} of 40 W in the dehydrated state. Surprisingly, whilst \dot{V}_E was significantly reduced following dehydration, neither f_b nor V_T displayed statistically significant alterations. However, following dehydration, V_T was 0.3 \pm 0.6 L lower compared to pre-dehydration, which may indicate that the changes in V_T primarily drove the reduction in \dot{V}_E . Beyond f_b and V_T , four principal variables are known to influence \dot{V}_E : i) inspiratory volume-time profile, ii) inspiratory duration, iii) expiratory volume-time profile, and iv) expiratory duration (Younes and Remmers, 1981). Whilst inspiratory volume-time profile and inspiratory duration reflect changes in EILV, expiratory volumetime profile and expiratory duration reflect changes in EELV (Tipton et al., 2017). In the present study, EELV at peak exercise was not different between dehydration and euhydration conditions, and the reduction in EILV at peak exercise between the dehydration and euhydration conditions $(0.4 \pm 0.8 \text{ L})$ was likely not large enough to be the main contributor to the reduction in \dot{V}_E . Whilst it is possible that V_T and EILV were, in part, responsible for the change in \dot{V}_E , it is unclear what the main driver of this change was. It should be considered that variability of these parameters may explain the lack of significance.

During exercise, an elevation in EELV above baseline usually indicates occurrence of dynamic hyperinflation (Ferguson, 2006), which can be used as indirect marker for ventilatory limitation (Milne et al., 2020). Ventilatory limitation during exercise can lead to an increased work of breathing (O'Donnell et al., 2001) and enhanced perception of breathing discomfort (Iandelli et al., 2002). Previously, elevated EELV, and thus the presence of dynamic hyperinflation, has been reported in some well-trained adults (McClaran et al., 1999; Taylor et al., 2013). In the present study, no sign of dynamic

hyperinflation was noted in either condition (EELV was not altered during any CPET) and, whilst \dot{V}_E was reduced, breathing pattern (V_T and f_b) and operating lung volumes (EELV, EILV, IC) were not altered by dehydration. These findings indicate that the healthy pulmonary system was able to meet the ventilatory demand of exercise, irrespective of significant systemic fluid loss. It is important to consider, however, that the ventilatory system often becomes often limited in highly trained/elite athletes due to the extremely high ventilatory demand exceeding the capacity of the respiratory system (Wells and Norris, 2009). Whilst the participants in the present study were physically-active (achieving \dot{V}_E of ~120 L·min⁻¹), they were not 'elite' athletes; hence, they may have been able to withstand the demand placed upon the ventilatory system, even in a state of dehydration.

Alongside dynamic hyperinflation, pulmonary gas exchange impairment is another marker of ventilatory limitation during exercise (Phillips and Stickland, 2019). Assessment of SpO₂ was used in the present study to indirectly evaluate exercise-induced arterial hypoxemia, which is a common occurrence in endurance-trained athletes (Dempsey and Wagner, 1999). In the present study, SpO₂ was not influenced by hydration status. Since neither SpO₂, nor EELV changed following moderate dehydration, systemic fluid loss does not appear to cause ventilatory limitation during incremental exercise in healthy physically-active individuals. When combined with the resting data, the exercise data in the present study therefore suggest that the functional impact of dehydration-induced pulmonary alteration is minimal in healthy young adults. Considering that resistance at the level of the small airway represents only ~10-25% of total airway resistance (Macklem and Mead, 1967), the impact of dehydration on the pulmonary system is likely not large enough to alter breathing pattern and induce dynamic hyperinflation in healthy young adults.

6.5.4 Strengths and limitations of research

Comprehensive analysis of the ventilatory response to exercise-induced dehydration was performed for the first time in the present study by combining breathing pattern and operational lung volume assessment. Dynamic hyperinflation was assessed indirectly, via IC manoeuvres, which has previously been deemed a suitable method for its assessment (Yan et al., 1997). The addition of oesophageal (pleural) pressure could have provided additional validation for the quality of these measurements (Babb and Rodarte, 1993). However, this procedure is invasive and would have been intolerable for the entire duration of our experimental trials (which lasted ~5.5 h).

Whilst the present study showed an impact of exercise-induced dehydration on resting pulmonary function, it is likely that the 2 h exercise protocol used to induce dehydration caused significant fatigue and thereby influenced some of the study outcomes. In future work, alternative dehydration methods prior to exercise testing, such as prolonged fluid restriction (as employed in Chapter 5), may be used to investigate the ventilatory response to dehydration, independent of exercise-induced local muscle fatigue. Fluid restriction might however be favoured over passive heating, as the duration of passive heating required to induce moderate dehydration [> 4 h at a dehydration rate of 1.3 -1.4 % body mass loss h^{-1} (Cian et al., 2001; Melin et al., 2001)] could lead to confounding changes to T_{core} . Tipton *et al.*, (2017) previously studied the independent role of both passive- and exercise-induced elevations in T_{core} on pulmonary function and reported a bronchodilator response when T_{core} was increased by ~1°C. Since T_{core} recorded during the CPET performed before and after 2 h of exercise in the heat did not differ between conditions, T_{core} can be excluded as a potential confounding factor in these results.

6.5.5 Functional and clinical relevance and future research

Findings from the present study have relevance to physically-active individuals and those working in hot environments who are susceptible to dehydration (Sawka et al., 2007). Although the findings from the present study highlight a negative impact of dehydration on resting pulmonary function, this effect is unlikely to modify the ventilatory response to submaximal and maximal exercise in healthy individuals. In this study, breathing discomfort was not exaggerated in the dehydrated state. It is therefore unlikely that respiratory symptoms experienced by physically-active individuals during endurance exercise are primarily driven by systemic fluid loss.

Further investigation is now required to understand the influence of systemic fluid loss on individuals with higher susceptibility to ventilatory dysfunction. Patients with COPD can experience dynamic hyperinflation and breathlessness not only during exercise, but also when undertaking simple daily tasks (O'Donnell and Laveneziana, 2006), which can reduce exercise tolerance (O'Donnell et al., 2001) and negatively impact quality of life (Garcia-Rio et al., 2009; Zhao et al., 2016). It is currently unknown if/how hydration status may impact the presence of dynamic hyperinflation and symptoms of breathlessness in those

patients. An increase in serum osmolality (as occurs during dehydration) has been previously shown to be associated with reduced pulmonary function in COPD patients (Pogson et al., 2008). Understanding the functional implications of reduced resting pulmonary function, and the role of fluid loss upon that impairment could highlight the importance of hydration status upon pulmonary function in clinical populations.

6.5.6 Conclusion

In this study, exercise-induced moderate dehydration in healthy physically-active individuals led to significant negative alterations in resting pulmonary function (including a reduction in FVC and elevations in RV, RV/TLC, FRC and sRaw), suggesting increased small airway gas trapping and airway resistance in a dehydrated state. These findings are well aligned with results obtained after exercise- and fluid restriction-induced mild dehydration in normally active healthy young adults (Chapter 5) and after exercise-induced mild dehydration in individuals with asthma (Simpson et al., 2017). Dehydration-induced pulmonary alteration appears therefore as a universal phenomenon. Further, with this study, it was established that the resting alterations in pulmonary function induced by dehydration are unlikely to influence the ventilatory response to exercise in young active adults. Specifically, neither dynamic hyperinflation nor increased respiratory discomfort were noted at submaximal or maximal exercise intensities. Since populations with pre-existing respiratory conditions are more prone to ventilatory limitation (which can induce respiratory discomfort and negatively impact quality of life), future work should aim to understand the role of hydration status upon the ventilatory response to exercise in those vulnerable individuals.
Chapter 7 General discussion

7.1 Key findings

The three research studies presented within this thesis have generated novel data supporting the role of adequate systemic hydration in maintaining pulmonary function in healthy adults.

Experiment 1 (Chapter 4) was a methodological paper designed to ascertain the repeatability and reproducibility of pulmonary function data gained through spirometry and whole body plethysmography in healthy young adults. 'Excellent' repeatability and 'very good' reproducibility of pulmonary function data was demonstrated when testing was performed on multiple days and at multiple times within the same day (aligned with data collection times of later experimental studies). Spirometry and whole body plethysmography were therefore deemed appropriate for use in subsequent experimental chapters aiming to detect changes in pulmonary function in healthy young adults following dehydration/rehydration interventions.

Hypothesis 1: Spirometry and whole body plethysmography show good inter-day repeatability and intra-day reproducibility in healthy young adults: **accepted**.

The two key aims of experiment 2 (Chapter 5) were as follows: firstly, to investigate the impact of mild systemic dehydration on pulmonary function in healthy young adults at rest; secondly, to establish whether dehydration-induced changes in pulmonary function could be reversed by systemic and/or local airway rehydration. Participants in this experiment displayed negative alterations in resting pulmonary function following mild dehydration induced by *i*) 2 h of exercise in the heat and *ii*) 28 h of fluid restriction. The simultaneous reduction in FVC and increases in FRC and RV following both dehydration protocols suggest that pulmonary alterations were primarily localised at the level of the small airways. Further, systemic (oral fluid intake), but not local (nebulised isotonic saline) rehydration (i.e., systemic rehydration) was able to normalise P_{osm}, and since significant correlations were noted between changes in pulmonary function and changes in P_{osm}, it is proposed that P_{osm} plays a key regulatory role in the maintenance of small airway patency.

Hypothesis 2: Pulmonary function is impaired following mild systemic dehydration induced by exercise in the heat and by a prolonged period of fluid restriction: **accepted**.

Hypothesis 3: Immediate systemic and/or local airway rehydration successfully reverses negative alterations in pulmonary function induced by dehydration: **accepted** for systemic rehydration, **rejected** for local airway rehydration.

Experiment 3 (Chapter 6) aimed to establish whether a more severe state of dehydration (i.e., moderate dehydration) would *i*) induce further alterations in resting pulmonary function and *ii*) alter ventilatory response to exercise in young, physically-active adults. The findings from this experiment suggest that dehydration-induced impairments in pulmonary function is a robust phenomenon that may vary in severity with the degree of dehydration. The observed alterations in resting FVC, RV, and FRC however did not translate in altered ventilatory response to exercise (as no sign of dynamic hyperinflation and no exacerbation of respiratory discomfort were noted in a dehydrated state during maximal incremental exercise). These findings suggest that, during episodes of significant fluid loss, the ventilatory response to exercise is preserved in healthy active young adults, despite the presence of small airway impairments at rest.

Hypothesis 4: Exercise-induced moderate dehydration leads to negative alterations in pulmonary function in healthy physically-active adults: **accepted**.

Hypothesis 5: Ventilatory response is negatively altered and breathing discomfort is increased when incremental exercise to exhaustion is performed in a state of moderate dehydration: **rejected**.

Overall, the findings from this thesis demonstrate the importance of systemic fluid balance in the maintenance of small airway patency in humans and confirm the existence of a robust phenomenon of dehydration-induced pulmonary alteration at rest in healthy young adults. That these changes can be reversed with systemic (oral) rehydration provides a novel insight into the role of body fluid balance and P_{osm} upon small airway function. Whilst statistically significant, the subtle alterations in resting small airway function induced by dehydration did not translate to a compromised ventilatory response to exercise in healthy young adults.

7.2 Effect of dehydration on pulmonary function

Findings from Chapters 5 and 6 are in agreement and support the hypothesis that systemic dehydration leads to negative alterations in resting pulmonary function in healthy young adults. The degree of dehydration appears to influence the severity of pulmonary function impairment. Moderate dehydration (-3.5% body mass) led to greater pulmonary alterations than mild dehydration (-2.5% body mass), with reductions in FVC ~60 mL greater following moderate dehydration. Further, elevations in FRC and RV following moderate dehydration were ~125 mL and ~180 mL greater, respectively, than following mild dehydration. Whilst the 60 mL difference in FVC would not be classified as clinically significant (Pellegrino et al., 2005), the difference in FRC and RV are almost doubled when the severity of dehydration is increased by $\sim 1\%$. Whilst the variability of FRC and RV measurements were shown to be slightly higher (Chapter 4.4), the magnitude of change is indicative of a role for dehydration severity in pulmonary function impairment. When compared to the existing literature, the findings presented within this thesis confirm the existence of a robust phenomenon, whereby systemic dehydration induced by exercise and fluid restriction leads to impairments in small airway function. Figure 7.1 presents a comparison of the five studies that have specifically investigated the role of systemic dehydration upon pulmonary function to date. Notably, the greatest drop in FVC (-300 \pm 190 mL) was reported by Simpson et al., (2017) in individuals with asthma after inducing a state of mild dehydration (2.3 \pm 0.8% body mass loss) via exercise in the heat. In comparison, the moderate states of dehydration induced by i) Javaheri et al., (1987) through diuretic drug administration and *ii*) in this thesis (Chapter 6) through exercise in the heat, led to lesser changes or even improvements in FVC. The divergence in findings are likely attributable to two factors: the respiratory health of the participants assessed within each study (i.e., existence or absence of a pre-existing pulmonary condition) and the mode of dehydration.



Figure 7.1. Impact of systemic dehydration upon pulmonary function (specifically FVC) based on the existing literature and experimental data from Chapters 5 & 6. *p<0.05 in FVC *vs* initial baseline value. *Note.* Javaheri et al. (1989) did not report SD of change. Dehydration was induced via: prolonged fluid restriction in the study by Govindaraj (1972) (16h) and in Chapter 5 (28 h), exercise in the heat by Simpson et al., (2017), and in Chapters 5 and 6; and via diuretic intake (chlorthalidone) by Javaheri et al., (1989).

Simpson et al., (2017) proposed that pulmonary function impairment following mild dehydration in individuals with asthma was due to a decrease in airway stability, following changes in content and/or composition of the ASL. Many individuals with asthma develop bronchoconstriction during and/or shortly after completing strenuous exercise (so-called EIB) (Aggarwal et al., 2018), and an 'osmotic theory' has been proposed to explain the occurrence of EIB. According to Anderson et al., (1982), airway water loss/airway drying is induced by high ventilatory rates during exercise, which subsequently leads to alterations in ASL osmolality and release of bronchoconstrictive mediators by the infiltrated pro-inflammation cells. Further, the severity of EIB response is associated with the volume of water lost from the airways (Anderson et al., 1982). Park, Stafford and Lockette, (2008) also confirmed the key role that water is playing at the airway surface in individuals with EIB. In a study of 22 healthy athletic participants with suspected EIB, a significant drop in

 FEV_1 was observed following a methacholine challenge test, which was associated with diminished pilocarpine-induced sweat secretion. As sweat secretion can be used as proxy for fluid secretion at the level of the airways, these results suggest that a deficiency in body fluid secretions contributes to EIB, and highlight an important role for water at the airway surface for normal pulmonary function.

Following on from the clinical population previously studied by Simpson et al., (2017), data presented in Chapters 5 and 6 of this thesis show that, in healthy young adults (with no history of respiratory condition), resting small airway function can be compromised by mild and moderate systemic dehydration (Figure 7.1). In Chapter 6, healthy adults experienced moderate dehydration, yet did not reach the same magnitude of pulmonary function impairment as presented previously in asthmatic patients (Simpson et al., 2017). One explanation for the lesser impact of dehydration upon the healthy compared to the asthmatic airways is the likely impaired regulation of airway water secretion in individuals with asthma (Park et al., 2008). Healthy airways may be able to tolerate higher severities of dehydration before a clinically significant change in pulmonary function [>200 mL (Pellegrino et al., 2005)] is experienced, as water movement is more efficiently regulated.

In Figure 7.1 it is apparent that results from the work of Javaheri et al., (1987) are divergent to the ones presented in this thesis (with an increase in FVC noted in a state of moderate dehydration in healthy young adults). However, Javaheri and collaborators (1987) used a different approach to induce dehydration, i.e., they administered 50 mg of chlorthalidone every 12 hours (total 200 mg) over 48 hours. Diuretic-induced dehydration is known to cause isotonic-hypovolemia, which leads to little change in P_{osm} (Cheuvront et al., 2013). This is different to hypertonic-hypovolemia, as induced by exercise and fluid restriction in this thesis, which was associated with an increase in P_{osm} . As discussed below (see section 7.3.2), P_{osm} could play a key regulatory role in the maintenance of small airway patency, which may help to explain the discrepancy in the findings from Javaheri et al., (1987) in comparison to the work conducted within this thesis.

7.3 Mechanistic overview

Through this thesis, it has been established that dehydration-induced pulmonary alteration is a robust phenomenon that is present: in healthy populations; in various states of dehydration (mild and moderate); and following various modes of dehydration (exercise in the heat and prolonged periods of fluid restriction). Through the use of divergent dehydration and rehydration interventions, insights regarding the potential mechanisms involved in the reported pulmonary function changes have been obtained.

7.3.1 Hydration status of the airway surface

Maintaining airway hydration is fundamental for the normal functioning of the pulmonary system. Dehydration of the ASL is implicated in disease states, such as cystic fibrosis (Boucher, 2007b) and EIA/EIB (Anderson and Daviskas, 1997, 2000), and associated with pulmonary dysfunction and epithelial damage (Tavana et al., 2011; Widdicombe and Widdicombe, 1995). Fluid delivery to the airway stems from the bronchial circulation, which is directly supplied by the systemic circulation (Flieder, 2018). With systemic fluid loss, the delivery of water to the bronchial circulation and subsequently to the airways could therefore be reduced. Epithelial cells line the respiratory tract and are responsible for controlling the volume and composition of the ASL through secretion and absorption mechanisms (Grotberg, 2001). These mechanisms allow the movement of water and ions across the epithelial barrier to regulate the volume and composition of the ASL (Boucher, 1999). Pulmonary surfactant is an important component of the ASL that reduces surface tension in order to stabilise the airways (Veldhuizen and Haagsman, 2000). This stabilisation prevents airway collapse by maintaining airway patency (Figure 7.2a-b) (Tavana et al., 2011). When water availability to the airways is reduced (as may occur during exercise in the heat and prolonged periods of fluid restriction), surfactant deficiency may follow, leading to increased surface tension, airway instability and subsequent airway collapse (Figure 7.2c). Further, with ASL dehydration the epithelial layer could become damaged (Kalhoff, 2003); this would further perturb secretory and absorptive ion mechanisms. Together, this supports the idea that systemic dehydration induces alterations in small airway function via perturbations in ASL volume and content.



Figure 7.2. Schematic of a-b) normal peripheral airways with airway surface liquid homeostasis and stabilised airway surface liquid, and c) airway closure due to the instability of ASL. Adapted from Tavana et al., (2011).

7.3.2 Plasma osmolality

The findings from this thesis suggest an important regulatory role for P_{osm} in the maintenance of small airway patency. In Chapter 5, following exercise in the heat and a prolonged period of fluid restriction, concomitant to the alterations in pulmonary function (incl. FVC, RV, FRC and RV/TLC), changes in P_{osm} were noted (with an average increase of 7 ± 4 mOsm·kg⁻¹). When the impairment to pulmonary function were subsequently reversed (following oral fluid intake, i.e., systemic rehydration), P_{osm} was also restored. On the other hand, the selective rehydration of the airways (achieved via isotonic fluid nebulisation) did not modify P_{osm} , nor pulmonary function. Together with the associations observed between P_{osm} and changes in FVC, RV and FRC (Chapters 5 and 6), the results from this thesis support the idea that changes in P_{osm} may influence airway fluid balance, and thereby, the opening of the small airways.

The proposed process of dehydration-induced pulmonary alteration that involves P_{osm} is presented in Figure 7.3; the figure presents a conceptual model linking systemic water loss to impaired small airway function.

Exercise and prolonged fluid restriction both induce hypertonic-hypovolemia, which is associated with a significant increase in P_{osm} (Cheuvront et al., 2013). In a normal euhydrated state P_{osm} is ~292 mOsm·kg⁻¹. Elevations of P_{osm} above 300 mOsm·kg⁻¹ are often used as a diagnostic threshold for dehydration (Cheuvront et al., 2010a). In Chapters 5 and 6, P_{osm} was 300 ± 4 mOsm·kg⁻¹ and 304 ± 4 mOsm·kg⁻¹ following mild and moderate dehydration, respectively. When P_{osm} increases, it is thought that epithelial cells in the airway detect the change in osmolality (Bartoszewski et al., 2017), which may subsequently alter the water supply to the airway surface. The exact mechanisms that regulate the cellular response to hyperosmolarity in the airways are not currently known. In individuals with EIB, it is thought that dehydration of the airways causes the epithelial cells to shrink, which initiates cellular signalling and activates movement of water from the airway epithelia across an osmotic gradient to restore ASL volume (Hallstrand et al., 2013). In the healthy airway, the exact mechanisms causing the activation of epithelial cells in response to systemic dehydration remains in question, further investigation is required to shed light on the exact role of P_{osm} on airway function.



Figure 7.3. Model representation of the proposed mechanism of dehydration-induced pulmonary alteration. The green box represents factors implemented and the red boxes represent factors directly measured within this thesis. The increased plasma osmolality induced by systemic water loss is detected by the epithelial cells. This, in turn, alters water supply to the airways and modifies airway surface liquid composition and content. Changes to airway surface liquid have previously been implicated in airway instability and premature airway collapse. Therefore, small airway function is likely to get compromised, as demonstrated by reductions in FVC and elevations in RV and FRC in this thesis.

7.4 Functional implications for exercise

Once a robust phenomenon of dehydration-induced pulmonary alteration was established at rest, it was of interest to understand the functional implications of the observed dehydration-induced pulmonary alterations. To do so, exercise was used as the main physiological stressor, and comparisons were made between the ventilatory response to exercise in a dehydrated vs a euhydrated state. In Chapter 6, neither ventilatory responses, operational lung volumes nor breathing discomfort were significantly affected by moderate dehydration. This therefore suggests that the ventilatory response to exercise is not compromised in a state of dehydration in young healthy physically-active adults. Whilst participants exercised to volitional exhaustion, following the dehydration protocol (i.e., 2 h of cycling in the heat), most of them (80% in the dehydration and 40% in the euhydration trials) terminated exercise prematurely compared to the baseline CPET (prior to completing 2 h exercise). The premature onset of fatigue meant that the absolute 'maximal' intensity was significantly different between the initial CPET and the post-dehydration CPET, and that the ventilatory demand during the post-dehydration CPET was reduced. It therefore cannot be excluded that, in conditions of higher ventilatory demands, the ventilatory response may become compromised in a dehydrated state. Future work should consider implementing an alternative passive dehydration method, such as prolonged fluid restriction (as employed in Chapter 5), to induce dehydration prior to CPET without inducing additional/premature fatigue.

Respiratory symptoms during exercise are commonly experienced by athletes (Boulet, 2012; Kippelen and Anderson, 2012), individuals undertaking endurance exercise (Smoliga et al., 2016) and individuals participating in winter sports [i.e., cross country skiing and snowboarding (Kennedy and Faulhaber, 2018; Lennelöv et al., 2019)]. Winter-based athletes commonly train and compete in cold/dry air conditions. Prolonged exercise in these conditions can lead to local (airway) dehydration, as a result of ventilation at high volumes in cold air (Kippelen et al., 2012). Since it was proposed in Chapter 5 that systemic hydration impacts on airway hydration, it was of interest to investigate whether systemic fluid loss is associated with the onset of respiratory symptoms. In addition, as respiratory symptoms commonly occur concurrently with ventilatory limitation (Eltayara et al., 1996; Jetmalani et al., 2015), it was postulated that systemic dehydration would be associated with both ventilatory limitation and increased respiratory discomfort. However, in Chapter

6, moderate dehydration did not lead to an increase in respiratory symptoms during exercise. This suggests that dehydration is not the primary trigger of these symptoms. Whilst the modified Borg scale used for assessment of breathing discomfort in the present work has previously been validated (Kendrick et al., 2000; Wilson and Jones, 1989), it may be of interest for future work to implement a more comprehensive analysis of respiratory symptoms [such as a multidimensional profile for assessment of breathing discomfort (Banzett et al., 2015)]. The use of a more comprehensive tool may help further our understanding of respiratory symptoms during exercise-induced dehydration.

7.5 Methodological considerations

7.5.1 Assessment of small airway function

Within this thesis, assessment of pulmonary function, and specifically of small airway function, was conducted via a combination of techniques. Combining multiple tests allowed for a more comprehensive analysis of airway function and enabled the assessment of deeper zones of the airways compared to the use of spirometry alone. The pulmonary function tests used in these experiments include spirometry, whole body plethysmography, and IOS. All of these tests are highly standardised and have previously been deemed suitable and implemented for the assessment of small airway function (Anderson et al., 2012; Gibbons et al., 1996; Jain et al., 2013; Sorkness et al., 2008). It is important, however, to acknowledge limitations of these tests: firstly, spirometry manoeuvres are effort dependent, and, whilst the confounding effects of potential variability can be excluded (Chapter 4), it is possible that fatigue induced by exercise could have impaired the performance of the maximal manoeuvre. Indeed, evidence of respiratory muscle fatigue has been reported previously during high-intensity sustained exercise in both trained and untrained individuals (Aliverti, 2016; Johnson et al., 1993; Mador et al., 1993). In the present work, similarity in PEF (an effort dependent variable) between tests provides confidence that participants were able to reproduce the maximal effort of the spirometry manoeuvre, but this is an important factor to consider when designing future work. Secondly, whilst IOS provides a non-invasive measure of pulmonary resistance and reactance, this method has been less commonly implemented within experimental research, and thus direct comparisons between other studies are difficult. Further, the application of this technique to future work is limited by the requirement of specialist equipment that is less widely available than spirometry or whole body plethysmography. An alternative functional test

that could have been used as part of this thesis alveolar nitric oxide, which has been shown to be closely related to parameters of peripheral airway dysfunction, particularly in patients with asthma (van Veen et al., 2006). However, this method was not available for inclusion within the present work and would not have provided any additional/alternative insight compared to the findings reported from the PFTs implemented.

Imaging techniques are a useful tool for the analysis of small airway function, airway obstruction and gas trapping (King, 2012). Specifically, high resolution computed tomography can quantify changes at the level of the small airways (Hansell, 2001; King et al., 1999; Okazawa et al., 1996). Whilst this tool is capable of determining gas trapping and identifying small airway obstruction, it is extremely expensive, highly specialised, and carries the risk of radiation exposure (McNulty and Usmani, 2014). Taken together these issues mean repeated imaging for assessment was not a viable option within this thesis. Future work should consider how the use of imaging techniques alongside functional tests may be best used to evaluate the extent of dehydration-induce small airway alterations

7.5.2 Exercise protocol

In Chapter 6 the impact of dehydration-induced pulmonary alteration on ventilatory responses to maximal incremental exercise was examined. Whilst the protocol and magnitude of fluid loss was closely controlled between participants, it should be acknowledged that the premature termination of exercise following 2 hours of exercise in the heat was a limitation within this study. Whilst participants exercised to volitional exhaustion in all CPET (see Section 3.5.4 for criteria), 80% terminated exercise earlier in the CPET performed after 2 hours of exercise in the heat (CPET-2) compared to the initial CPET (CPET-1) (see Section 6.4.5). As a result of this earlier onset of fatigue, assessment of the maximal ventilatory response to exercise in a dehydrated state was not possible. This premature termination of exercise may have been associated with dehydration-induced changes to cardiovascular function - such as impaired cardiac output (González-Alonso et al., 1997) - and/or reduced muscle blood flow. Changes to cardiovascular function can lead to localised muscle fatigue (González-Alonso et al., 1998). In the present work, this could have prevented participants from reaching the same intensity as the baseline CPET. It would be of interest to revisit this research question using: i) a protocol with increments of specific percentages of WR_{max} [i.e., at 0, 20, 40, 60, 80 and 100% WR_{max}, as employed by Trangmar et al., (2014)], which would allow for direct comparisons to be made at matched

intensities, or *ii*) using a protocol which can stress the pulmonary system to its limit whilst removing the confounding effect of peripheral muscle fatigue induced via exercise. For example, respiratory muscle endurance testing (i.e., a voluntary hyperventilation test) using the maximal incremental load testing method requires a stepwise protocol of increasing \dot{V}_E (+8% maximal voluntary ventilation every 3 min) until task failure (ATS/ERS, 2002; Laveneziana *et al.*, 2019) and is able to induce maximal ventilatory stress upon a participant without the need for exercise.

7.6 Directions for future research

The novel research conducted within this thesis has generated additional questions and opens new avenues for future investigation.

In this thesis, the population studied in all experiments comprised of healthy young adults. This population was specifically selected to explore the impact of dehydration upon the healthy human lung. The findings reported in Chapters 5 and 6 have reproducibly established that dehydration can negatively impact pulmonary function of healthy young trained and untrained (i.e., normally active) adults. Since this phenomenon has been observed in healthy young adults (Chapters 5 and 6), and in individuals with asthma (Simpson et al., 2017), it would next be of interest to examine how this phenomenon may impact older adults, with or without compromised pulmonary function. Older adults are more vulnerable to dehydration due to age-related changes in fluid balance and perception of thirst (Kenney and Chiu, 2001), and dehydration has been associated with hospitalisation and mortality rates in this population (El-Sharkawy et al., 2017). Older adults experience compromised pulmonary function, including respiratory muscle atrophy and reduced force production, which increases the risk of ventilatory limitation during physical activity (Roman et al., 2016; Sharma and Goodwin, 2006). However, it remains unknown whether fluid loss could contribute further to pulmonary function impairment in older adults. Research is therefore required to expand our understanding of the phenomenon of dehydration-induced pulmonary alteration in older age. Furthermore, whilst the healthy population examined within this research did not display dynamic hyperinflation, nor respiratory symptoms when undertaking exercise in a dehydrated state, individuals with COPD often experience dynamic hyperinflation during periods of exacerbations (O'Donnell and Laveneziana, 2006) and when performing simple everyday tasks, such as

walking up the stairs (Castro et al., 2012; Silva et al., 2015). It is possible that dynamic hyperinflation in those populations could be exaggerated in a state of dehydration, since Pogson, McKeever and Fogarty, (2008) previously demonstrated an association between elevated P_{osm} and impaired pulmonary function (reduced FEV₁ and FVC) in COPD patients. Whether dehydration has negative functional implications, such as exacerbating dynamic hyperinflation, ventilatory limitation and/or respiratory symptoms during activities of daily living or exercise in COPD patients warrants further investigation.

Further, research presented within this thesis has suggested that the severity of dehydration is associated with the magnitude of pulmonary function impairment. It would be of interest for future research to investigate whether a direct relationship exists between magnitude of dehydration and magnitude of changes in pulmonary function. Performing PFT at regular progressive dehydration severities (i.e., from euhydration to mild, moderate then severe dehydration) could provide a greater understanding of the pulmonary response to body fluid loss and would enable the determination of the thresholds at which dehydration-induced pulmonary alteration occurs.

Understanding the functional implications of dehydration-induced alterations to small airway function is now warranted. In particular, future work should consider whether alterations to small airway function in a dehydrated state impacts significantly upon pulmonary gas exchange, and thereby possibly compromises blood gases homeostasis during exercise.

Within the present research, only two modes of dehydration (i.e., exercise in the heat and fluid restriction) were used, with both causing hypertonic-hypovolemia. Whilst hypertonic-hypovolemia is a form of dehydration commonly experienced by athletes (Casa et al., 2010; Kenefick and Sawka, 2007; Sawka et al., 2007, 2015), by individuals working in hot conditions [i.e., the military and firefighters; (Carter et al., 2005; Lucas et al., 2014)], and by the elderly (Allison and Lobo, 2004; Bennett et al., 2004), it is important to recognise that this is not the only type of dehydration. With diuretic intake (Caldwell et al., 1984; Watson et al., 2005), or secretory diarrhoea and vomiting (El-Sharkawy et al., 2015), individuals can experience isotonic-hypovolemia (also known as 'salt-depletion dehydration'). Since isotonic-hypovolemia leads to greater reductions in plasma volume but little change to P_{osm} (Cheuvront et al., 2013), it would be of interest to directly compare

the effects of hypertonic and isotonic-hypovolemia on pulmonary function. As mentioned before, such comparison would help to elucidate the role of P_{osm} on pulmonary function in healthy and clinical populations, and could offer further mechanistic insights in the pulmonary changes reported in this thesis.

7.7 Conclusion

The findings from this thesis provide novel information regarding the role of systemic hydration on normal pulmonary function and ventilatory response to exercise. In particular, the experiments performed within this thesis have demonstrated that: exercise in the heat and a prolonged period of fluid restriction cause negative alterations in resting pulmonary function in healthy young adults (with alterations primarily localised at the level of the small airways); oral fluid intake, but not local airway rehydration, is able to rapidly restore dehydration-induced pulmonary alterations. Resting pulmonary function impairments induced by dehydration do not compromise the ventilatory response to exercise, nor exacerbate respiratory discomfort in healthy active young adults. Since oral but not local rehydration also restored P_{osm} to baseline levels, the results from this thesis suggest that composition of fluid at the level of the airways is an important modulator of the observed response, perhaps associated with the movement of water across an osmotic gradient to restore ASL volume/composition.

Overall, the experiments conducted within this thesis have furthered our understanding of the effects and implications of dehydration upon pulmonary function and have provided some insight into the potential underlying mechanisms of dehydration-induced alterations in pulmonary function. It is now of particular interest to investigate whether the pulmonary changes observed in the population studied in the present work (i.e., young healthy adults) are exaggerated in older adults and/or in those presenting an already compromised pulmonary function at rest. Understanding the role of systemic dehydration could pave the way for the development of hydration strategies that may prevent further illness in older individuals and contribute to the management of respiratory diseases in clinical populations.

Chapter 8 References

- Aaron, E. A., Seow, K. C., Johnson, B. D., and Dempsey, J. A. (1992). Oxygen cost of exercise hyperpnea: Implications for performance. *J Appl Physiol* 72, 1818–1825. doi:10.1152/jappl.1992.72.5.1818.
- Abdel Kafi, S., Sersté, T., Leduc, D., Sergysels, R., and Ninane, V. (2002). Expiratory flow limitation during exercise in COPD: Detection by manual compression of the abdominal wall. *Eur Respir J* 19, 919–927. doi:10.1183/09031936.02.00217602.
- Adams, J. D., Sekiguchi, Y., Suh, H. G., Seal, A. D., Sprong, C. A., Kirkland, T. W., et al. (2018). Dehydration impairs cycling performance, independently of thirst: A blinded study. *Med Sci Sports Exerc* 50, 1697–1703. doi:10.1249/MSS.000000000001597.
- Aggarwal, B., Mulgirigama, A., and Berend, N. (2018). Exercise-induced bronchoconstriction: prevalence, pathophysiology, patient impact, diagnosis and management. *Prim Care Respir Med* 28, 31. doi:10.1038/s41533-018-0098-2.
- Aliverti, A. (2016). The respiratory muscles during exercise. *Breathe* 12, 165–168. doi:10.1183/20734735.008116.
- Allison, S. P., and Lobo, D. N. (2004). Fluid and electrolytes in the elderly. *Curr Opin Clin Nutr Metab Care* 7, 27–33. doi:10.1097/00075197-200401000-00006.
- American Thoracic Society/European Respiratory Society (2002). ATS/ERS Statement on respiratory muscle testing. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 166, 518–624. doi:10.1164/rccm.166.4.518.
- Anderson, S. D., and Daviskas, E. (1997). 'Pathophysiology of exercise- induced asthma: role of respiratory water loss.', in *Allergic and respiratory disease in sports medicine*, ed. J. Weiler (New York: Marcel Dekker Inc.), 87–114.
- Anderson, S. D., and Daviskas, E. (1999). 'Airway Drying and Exercise-Induced Asthma', in *Exercise Induced Asthma - Lung Biology in Health and Disease*, ed. E. R. McFadden (New York: Marcel Dekker Inc.), 77–113.
- Anderson, S. D., and Daviskas, E. (2000). The mechanism of exercise-induced asthma is ... J Allergy Clin Immunol 106, 453–459. doi:10.1067/mai.2000.109822.
- Anderson, S. D., Schoeffel, R. E., Follet, R., Perry, C. P., Daviskas, E., and Kendall, M. (1982). Sensitivity to heat and water loss at rest and during exercise in asthmatic patients. *Eur J Respir Dis* 63, 459–71.
- Anderson, W. J., Zajda, E., and Lipworth, B. J. (2012). Are we overlooking persistent small airways dysfunction in community-managed asthma? *Ann Allergy, Asthma Immunol*

109, 185-189.e2. doi:10.1016/j.anai.2012.06.022.

- Armstrong, L. E. (2007). Assessing hydration status: the elusive gold standard. *J Am Coll Nutr* 26, 575S-584S. doi:26/suppl 5/575S [pii].
- Armstrong, L. E., Costill, D. L., and Fink, W. J. (1985). Influence of diuretic-induced dehydration on competitive running performance. *Med Sci Sports Exerc* 17, 456–461. doi:10.1249/00005768-198508000-00009.
- Armstrong, L. E., Hubbard, R. W., Jones, B. H., and Daniels, J. T. (1986). Preparing Alberto Salazar for the Heat of the 1984 Olympic Marathon. *Phys Sportsmed* 14, 73– 81. doi:10.1080/00913847.1986.11709011.
- Armstrong, L. E., Maresh, C. M., Gabaree, C. V., Hoffman, J. R., Kavouras, S. A., Kenefick, R. W., et al. (1997). Thermal and circulatory responses during exercise: effects of hypohydration, dehydration, and water intake. *J Appl Physiol* 82, 2028– 2035. doi:10.1152/jappl.1997.82.6.2028.
- Arroyo, M., Freire, M., Ansotegui, L., and Rocandio, A. M. (2010). Intraobserver error associated with anthropometric measurements made by dietitians. *Nutr Hosp* 25, 1053–1056. doi:10.3305/nh.2010.25.6.4854.
- Arthurs, G. J., and Sudhakar, M. (2008). Carbon dioxide transport. Updat Anaesth 24, 26–29. doi:10.1093/bjaceaccp/mki050.
- Asmussen, E., and Nielsen, M. (1964). Experiments on Nervous Factors Controlling Respiration and Circulation During Exercise Employing Blocking of the Blood Flow. *Acta Physiol Scand* 60, 103–111. doi:10.1111/j.1748-1716.1964.tb02873.x.
- Atkinson, G., and Nevill, A. M. (1998). Statistical methods for assessing measurement error (reliability) in variables relevant to sports medicine. *Sport Med* 26, 217–238. doi:10.2165/00007256-199826040-00002.
- Babb, T. G. (2013). Exercise ventilatory limitation: The role of expiratory flow limitation. *Exerc Sport Sci Rev* 41, 11–18. doi:10.1097/JES.0b013e318267c0d2.
- Babb, T. G., and Rodarte, J. R. (1993). Estimation of ventilatory capacity during submaximal exercise. J Appl Physiol 74, 2016–2022. doi:10.1152/jappl.1993.74.4.2016.
- Baccini, M., Biggeri, A., Accetta, G., Kosatsky, T., Katsouyanni, K., Analitis, A., et al. (2008). Heat effects on mortality in 15 European cities. *Epidemiology* 19, 711–719. doi:10.1097/EDE.0b013e318176bfcd.
- Bachle, L., Eckerson, J., Albertson, L., Ebersole, K., Goodwin, J., and Petzel, D. (2001). The Effect of Fluid Replacement on Endurance Performance. *J strength Cond Res* 15,

217–224.

- Baile, E. M. (1996). The Anatomy and Physiology of the Bronchial Circulation. J Aerosol Med 9, 1–6. doi:10.1089/jam.1996.9.1.
- Baker, L. B., Dougherty, K. A., Chow, M., and Kenney, W. L. (2007). Progressive dehydration causes a progressive decline in basketball skill performance. *Med Sci Sports Exerc* 39, 1114–1123. doi:10.1249/mss.0b013e3180574b02.
- Ballard, S. T., Trout, L., Mehta, A., and Inglis, S. K. (2002). Liquid secretion inhibitors reduce mucociliary transport in glandular airways. *Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol* 283, L329–L335. doi:10.1152/ajplung.00277.2001.
- Bankir, L., Bouby, N., and Trinh-Trang-Tan, M. M. (1989). The role of the kidney in the maintenance of water balance. *Baillieres Clin Endocrinol Metab* 3, 249–311. doi:10.1016/S0950-351X(89)80005-9.
- Banzett, R. B., O'Donnell, C. R., Guilfoyle, T. E., Parshall, M. B., Schwartzstein, R. M., Meek, P. M., et al. (2015). Multidimensional dyspnea profile: An instrument for clinical and laboratory research. *Eur Respir J* 45, 1681–1691. doi:10.1183/09031936.00038914.
- Bar-David, Y., Urkin, J., and Kozminsky, E. (2005). The effect of voluntary dehydration on cognitive functions of elementary school children. *Acta Paediatr Int J Paediatr* 94, 1667–1673. doi:10.1080/08035250500254670.
- Barnes, P. J. (2008). Immunology of asthma and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Nat Rev Immunol* 8, 183–192. doi:10.1038/nri2254.
- Bartlett, J. W., and Frost, C. (2008). Reliability, repeatability and reproducibility: Analysis of measurement errors in continuous variables. *Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol* 31, 466– 475. doi:10.1002/uog.5256.
- Bartok, C., DA, S., JC, S., RR, C., and GL, L. (2004). Hydration testing in collegiate wrestlers undergoing hypertonic dehydration. *Med Sci Sports Exerc* 36, 510–517.
- Bartoszewski, R., Matalon, S., and Collawn, J. F. (2017). Ion channels of the lung and their role in disease pathogenesis. *Am J Physiol - Lung Cell Mol Physiol* 313, 859–872. doi:10.1152/ajplung.00285.2017.
- Bazett, H. C. (1933). Hypothalamus and Temperature Control. Arch Neurol Psychiatry 30, 728. doi:10.1001/archneurpsyc.1933.02240160028002.
- Bell, H. J., and Duffin, J. (2006). Rapid increases in ventilation accompany the transition from passive to active movement. *Respir Physiol Neurobiol* 152, 128–142. doi:10.1016/j.resp.2005.07.008.

- Bennett, J. A., Thomas, V., and Riegel, B. (2004). Unrecognized Chronic Dehydration in Older Adults: Examining Prevalence Rate and Risk Factors. *J Gerontol Nurs* 30, 22– 28. doi:10.3928/0098-9134-20041101-09.
- Benzinger, T. H. (1969). Heat regulation: homeostasis of central temperature in man. *Physiol Rev* 49, 671–759. doi:10.1152/physrev.1969.49.4.671.
- Bergeron, M. F. (2003). Heat cramps: Fluid and electrolyte challenges during tennis in the heat. J Sci Med Sport, 6, 19–27. doi:10.1016/S1440-2440(03)80005-1.
- Bland, J. M., and Altman, D. G. (1995). Statistics notes: Calculating Correlation coefficients with repeated observations: Part 1—correlation within subjects. *BMJ* 310, 446. doi:10.1136/bmj.310.6977.446.
- Boers, J. E., Ambergen, A. W., and Thunnissen, F. B. (1999). Number and proliferation of clara cells in normal human airway epithelium. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 159, 1585–91. doi:10.1164/ajrccm.159.5.9806044.
- Borg, G. A. V. (1982). Psychophysical bases of perceived exertion. *Med Sci Sport Exerc* 14, 377–381. doi:10.1249/00005768-198205000-00012.
- Borsboom, G. J. J. M., Van Pelt, W., Van Houwelingen, H. C., Van Viavnen, B. G., Schouten, J. P., Quanjer, P. H., et al. (1999). Diurnal Variation in Lung Function in Subgroups from Two Dutch Populations. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 159, 1163–1171. doi:10.1164/ajrccm.159.4.9703106.
- Bossingham, M. J., Carnell, N. S., and Campbell, W. W. (2005). Water balance, hydration status, and fat-free mass hydration in younger and older adults. *Am J Clin Nutr* 81, 1342–1350. doi:10.1093/ajcn/81.6.1342.
- Boucher, R. C. (1999). Molecular insights into the physiology of the 'thin film' of airway surface liquid. *J Physiol* 516, 631–638. doi:10.1111/j.1469-7793.1999.0631u.x.
- Boucher, R. C. (2003). Regulation of airway surface liquid volume by human airway epithelia. *Pflugers Arch Eur J Physiol* 445, 495–498. doi:10.1007/s00424-002-0955-1.
- Boucher, R. C. (2007a). Airway Surface Dehydration in Cystic Fibrosis: Pathogenesis and Therapy. *Annu Rev Med* 58, 157–170. doi:10.1146/annurev.med.58.071905.105316.
- Boucher, R. C. (2007b). Evidence for airway surface dehydration as the initiating event in CF airway disease. in *Journal of Internal Medicine*, 5–16. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2796.2006.01744.x.
- Boulet, L. P. (2012). Cough and upper airway disorders in elite athletes: A critical review. *Br J Sports Med* 46, 417–421. doi:10.1136/bjsports-2011-090812.

- Brashier, B., and Salvi, S. (2015). Measuring lung function using sound waves: Role of the forced oscillation technique and impulse oscillometry system. *Breathe* 11, 57–65. doi:10.1183/20734735.20514.
- Bray, E. A. (1993). Molecular Responses to Water Deficit. *Plant Physiol* 103, 1035–1040. doi:10.1093/jxb/ern087.
- Broad, E. M., Burke, L. M., Cox, G. R., Heeley, P., and Riley, M. (1996). Body weight changes and voluntary fluid intakes during training and competition sessions in team sports. *Int J Sport Nutr* 6, 307–320. doi:10.1123/ijsn.6.3.307.
- Buono, M. J., and Wall, A. J. (2000). Effect of hypohydration on core temperature during exercise in temperate and hot environments. *Eur J Physiol* 440, 476–480. doi:10.1007/s004240000298.
- Burns, G. P., and Gibson, G. J. (2002). A novel hypothesis to explain the bronchconstrictor effect of deep inspiration in asthma. *Thorax* 57, 116–119. doi:10.1136/thorax.57.2.116.
- Buskirk, E. R., and Puhl, S. M. (1996). *Body fluid balance: exercise and sport*. 9th ed. CRC Press.
- Button, B. M., and Button, B. (2013). Structure and function of the mucus clearance system of the lung. *Cold Spring Harb Perspect Med* 3. doi:10.1101/cshperspect.a009720.
- Button, B., Picher, M., and Boucher, R. C. (2007). Differential effects of cyclic and constant stress on ATP release and mucociliary transport by human airway epithelia. *J Physiol* 580, 577–592. doi:10.1113/jphysiol.2006.126086.
- Caldwell, J. E., Ahonen, E., and Nousiainen, U. (1984). Differential effects of sauna-, diuretic-, and exercise-induced hypohydration. J Appl Physiol 57, 1018–23. doi:10.1152/jappl.1984.57.4.1018.
- Callegaro, C. C., Moraes, R. S., Negrão, C. E., Trombetta, I. C., Rondon, M. U., Teixeira, M. S., et al. (2007). Acute water ingestion increases arterial blood pressure in hypertensive and normotensive subjects. *J Hum Hypertens* 21, 564–570. doi:10.1038/sj.jhh.1002188.
- Calverley, P. M. A., and Koulouris, N. G. (2005). Flow limitation and dynamic hyperinflation: Key concepts in modern respiratory physiology. *Eur Respir J* 25, 186– 199. doi:10.1183/09031936.04.00113204.
- Carefusion (2017). SentrySuite MasterScreen Body Instructions for Use.
- Carlton, A., and Orr, R. M. (2015). The effects of fluid loss on physical performance: A critical review. *J Sport Heal Sci* 4, 357–363. doi:10.1016/j.jshs.2014.09.004.

- Carter, R., Cheuvront, S. N., Williams, J. O., Kolka, M. A., Stephenson, L. A., Sawka, M. N., et al. (2005). Epidemiology of hospitalizations and deaths from heat illness in soldiers. *Med Sci Sports Exerc* 37, 1338–1344. doi:10.1249/01.mss.0000174895.19639.ed.
- Caruana-Montaldo, B., Gleeson, K., and Zwillich, C. W. (2000). The control of breathing in clinical practice. *Chest* 117, 205–225. doi:10.1378/chest.117.1.205.
- Casa, D. J., Stearns, R. L., Lopez, R. M., Ganio, M. S., McDermott, B. P., Walker Yeargin, S., et al. (2010). Influence of Hydration on Physiological Function and Performance During Trail Running in the Heat. *J Athl Train* 45, 147–156. doi:10.4085/1062-6050-45.2.147.
- Castro, A. A. M., Kümpel, C., Rangueri, R. C., Oliveira, M. D., Dornelles, R. A., Brito, E. R., et al. (2012). Daily activities are sufficient to induce dynamic pulmonary hyperinflation and dyspnea in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease patients. *Clinics* 67, 319–325. doi:10.6061/clinics/2012(04)04.
- Cavalcanti, J. V., Lopes, A. J., Jansen, J. M., and Melo, P. L. (2006). Detection of changes in respiratory mechanics due to increasing degrees of airway obstruction in asthma by the forced oscillation technique. *Respir Med* 100, 2207–2219. doi:10.1016/j.rmed.2006.03.009.
- Chapman, D. G., Berend, N., King, G. G., McParland, B. E., and Salome, C. M. (2009). Deep inspirations protect against airway closure in nonasthmatic subjects. *J Appl Physiol* 107, 564–569. doi:10.1152/japplphysiol.00202.2009.
- Chapman, R. F., and Mickleborough, T. D. (2009). The effects of caffeine on ventilation and pulmonary function during exercise: An often-overlooked response. *Phys Sportsmed* 37, 97–103. doi:10.3810/psm.2009.12.1747.
- Chen, Z., Zhong, M., Luo, Y., Deng, L., Hu, Z., and Song, Y. (2019). Determination of rheology and surface tension of airway surface liquid: A review of clinical relevance and measurement techniques. *Respir Res* 20, 1–14. doi:10.1186/s12931-019-1229-1.
- Cheuvront, S. N., Ely, B. R., Kenefick, R. W., and Sawka, M. N. (2010a). Biological variation and diagnostic accuracy of dehydration assessment markers. *Am J Clin Nutr* 92, 565–573. doi:10.3945/ajcn.2010.29490.
- Cheuvront, S. N., and Kenefick, R. W. (2014). Dehydration: Physiology, assessment, and performance effects. *Compr Physiol* 4, 257–285. doi:10.1002/cphy.c130017.
- Cheuvront, S. N., Kenefick, R. W., Charkoudian, N., and Sawka, M. N. (2013). Physiologic basis for understanding quantitative dehydration assessment. *Am J Clin Nutr* 97, 455–

462. doi:10.3945/ajcn.112.044172.

- Cheuvront, S. N., Kenefick, R. W., Montain, S. J., and Sawka, M. N. (2010b). Mechanisms of aerobic performance impairment with heat stress and dehydration. *J Appl Physiol* 109, 1989–1995. doi:10.1152/japplphysiol.00367.2010.
- Cian, C., Barraud, P. A., Melin, B., and Raphel, C. (2001). Effects of fluid ingestion on cognitive function after heat stress or exercise-induced dehydration. *Int J Psychophysiol* 42, 243–251. doi:10.1016/S0167-8760(01)00142-8.
- Comstock, G. W., Comstock, G. W., Sartwell, P. E., Stone, R. W., and Brownlow, W. J. (1970). Cigarette smoking and changes in respiratory findings. *Arch Environ Health* 21, 50–57. doi:10.1080/00039896.1970.10667191.
- Constantini, K., Tanner, D. A., Gavin, T. P., Harms, C. A., Stager, J. M., and Chapman, R.
 F. (2017). Prevalence of Exercise-Induced Arterial Hypoxemia in Distance Runners at Sea Level. *Med Sci Sports Exerc* 49, 948–954. doi:10.1249/MSS.000000000001193.
- Conti, S., Meli, P., Minelli, G., Solimini, R., Toccaceli, V., Vichi, M., et al. (2005). Epidemiologic study of mortality during the Summer 2003 heat wave in Italy. *Environ Res* 98, 390–399. doi:10.1016/j.envres.2004.10.009.
- Costill, D. L., Cote, R., and Fink, W. (1976). Muscle water and electrolytes following varied levels of dehydration in man. J Appl Physiol 40, 6–11. doi:10.1152/jappl.1976.40.1.6.
- Couto, M., and Moreira, A. (2016). The athlete "out of breath". *Eur Ann Allergy Clin Immunol* 48, 36–45.
- Cramer, M. N., and Jay, O. (2016). Biophysical aspects of human thermoregulation during heat stress. *Auton Neurosci* 196, 3–13. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.autneu.2016.03.001.
- Criée, C. P., Sorichter, S., Smith, H. J., Kardos, P., Merget, R., Heise, D., et al. (2011). Body plethysmography – Its principles and clinical use. *Respir Med* 105, 959–971. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.rmed.2011.02.006.
- D'Ippoliti, D., Michelozzi, P., Marino, C., De'Donato, F., Menne, B., Katsouyanni, K., et al. (2010). The impact of heat waves on mortality in 9 European cities: results from the EuroHEAT project. *Environ Heal* 9, 37. doi:10.1186/1476-069X-9-37.
- Dancer, R., and Thickett, D. (2012). Pulmonary function tests. *Medicine (Baltimore)* 40, 186–189. doi:10.1016/j.mpmed.2012.01.009.
- David, S. J. M., Micheal J., C., and Walters (2006). 'Reliability and method comparison

studies', in *Medical Statistics: A Textbook for The Health Sciences* (John Wiley & Sons, Ltd), 203–215.

- Davis, C. W., and Dickey, B. F. (2008). Regulated Airway Goblet Cell Mucin Secretion. *Annu Rev Physiol* 70, 487–512. doi:10.1146/annurev.physiol.70.113006.100638.
- Daviskas, E., Anderson, S. D., Gonda, I., Chan, H. K., Cook, P., and Fulton, R. (1995).
 Changes in mucociliary clearance during and after isocapnic hyperventilation in asthmatic and healthy subjects. *Eur Respir J* 8, 742–751. doi:10.1183/09031936.95.08050742.
- Daviskas, E., Gonda, I., and Anderson, S. D. (1990). Mathematical modeling of heat and water transport in human respiratory tract. J Appl Physiol 69, 362–372. doi:10.1152/jappl.1990.69.1.362.
- Daviskas, E., Gonda, I., and Anderson, S. D. (1991). Local airway heat and water vapour losses. *Respir Physiol* 84, 115–132. doi:10.1016/0034-5687(91)90023-C.
- Dean, B. W., Birnie, E. E., Whitmore, G. A., Vandemheen, K. L., Boulet, L. P., FitzGerald, J. M., et al. (2018). Between-visit variability in FEV1 as a diagnostic test for Asthma in adults. *Ann Am Thorac Soc* 15, 1039–1046. doi:10.1513/AnnalsATS.201803-2110C.
- Decety, J., Jeannerod, M., Durozard, D., and Baverel, G. (1993). Central activation of autonomic effectors during mental simulation of motor actions in man. *J Physiol* 461, 549–563. doi:10.1113/jphysiol.1993.sp019528.
- Dejours, P. (1964). 'Control of respiration during muscular exercise.', in Handbook of Physiology; Respiration, American Physiologic Society. (Washington, D.C), 631– 648.
- Dempsey, J. A., Gerche, A. La, and Hull, J. H. (2020). Is the healthy respiratory system built just right, overbuilt, or underbuilt to meet the demands imposed by exercise? J Appl Physiol 129, 1235–1256. doi:10.1152/JAPPLPHYSIOL.00444.2020.
- Dempsey, J. A., Hanson, P. G., and Henderson, K. S. (1984). Exercise-induced arterial hypoxaemia in healthy human subjects at sea level. J Physiol 355, 161–175. doi:10.1113/jphysiol.1984.sp015412.
- Dempsey, J. A., Romer, L., Rodman, J., Miller, J., and Smith, C. (2006). Consequences of exercise-induced respiratory muscle work. *Respir Physiol Neurobiol* 151, 242–250. doi:10.1016/j.resp.2005.12.015.
- Dempsey, J. A., and Wagner, P. D. (1999). Exercise-induced arterial hypoxemia. *J Appl Physiol* 87, 1997–2006. doi:10.1152/jappl.1999.87.6.1997.

- Dengel, D. R., Weyand, P. G., Black, D. M., and Cureton, K. J. (1992). Effect of varying levels of hypohydration on responses during submaximal cycling. *Med Sci Sports Exerc* 24, 1096–1101. doi:10.1249/00005768-199210000-00005.
- Dill, D., and Costill, D. (1974). Calculation of percentage changes in volumes of blood, plasma, and red cells in dehydration. J Appl Physiol 37, 247–248. doi:10.1152/jappl.1974.37.2.247.
- Dolmage, T. E., and Goldstein, R. S. (2002). Repeatability of inspiratory capacity during incremental exercise in patients with severe COPD. *Chest* 121, 708–714. doi:10.1378/chest.121.3.708.
- Dominelli, P. B., Archiza, B., Ramsook, A. H., Mitchell, R. A., Peters, C. M., Molgat-Seon, Y., et al. (2017). Effects of respiratory muscle work on respiratory and locomotor blood flow during exercise. *Exp Physiol* 102, 1535–1547. doi:10.1113/EP086566.
- Dominelli, P. B., Foster, G. E., Dominelli, G. S., Henderson, W. R., Koehle, M. S., Mckenzie, D. C., et al. (2013). Exercise-induced arterial hypoxaemia and the mechanics of breathing in healthy young women. J Physiol 591, 3017–3034. doi:10.1113/jphysiol.2013.252767.
- Doorly, D., Taylor, D. J., Franke, P., and Schroter, R. C. (2008). Experimental investigation of nasal airflow. *Proc Inst Mech Eng Part H J Eng Med* 222, 439–453. doi:10.1243/09544119JEIM330.
- Douglas, G., Higgins, B., Barnes, N., Boyter, A., Burge, S., Cates, C., et al. (2008). British guideline on the management of asthma: A national clinical guideline. *Thorax* 63, iv1–iv121. doi:10.1136/thx.2008.097741.
- Dykstm, B. J., Scanion, P. D., Rester, M. M., Beck, K. C., and Enright, P. L. (1999). Lung volumes in 4,774 patients with obstructive lung disease. *Chest* 115, 68–74. doi:10.1378/chest.115.1.68.
- Ebert, T. R., Martin, D. T., Bullock, N., Mujika, I., Quod, M. J., Farthing, L. A., et al. (2007). Influence of hydration status on thermoregulation and cycling hill climbing. *Med Sci Sports Exerc* 39, 323–329. doi:10.1249/01.mss.0000247000.86847.de.
- Edelman, I. S., and Leibman, J. (1959). Anatomy of body water and electrolytes. *Am J Med* 27, 256–277. doi:10.1016/0002-9343(59)90346-8.
- El-Sharkawy, A. M., Sahota, O., and Lobo, D. N. (2015). Acute and chronic effects of hydration status on health. *Nutr Rev* 73, 97–109. doi:10.1093/nutrit/nuv038.
- El-Sharkawy, A. M., Virdee, A., Wahab, A., Humes, D. J., Sahota, O., Devonald, M. A. J., et al. (2017). Dehydration and clinical outcome in hospitalised older adults: A cohort

study. Eur Geriatr Med 8, 22-29. doi:10.1016/j.eurger.2016.11.007.

- Eliezer, N., Sade, J., Silberberg, A., and Nevo, A. C. (1970). The role of mucus in transport by cilia. *Am Rev Respir Dis* 102, 48–52. doi:10.1164/arrd.1970.102.1.48.
- Eltayara, L., Becklake, M. R., Volta, C. A., and Milic-Emili, J. (1996). Relationship between chronic dyspnea and expiratory flow limitation in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 154, 1726–1734. doi:10.1164/ajrccm.154.6.8970362.
- England, P., Powers, S. K., Dodd, S., Callender, T., and Brooks, E. (1984). The effect of acute thermal dehydration on blood lactate accumulation during incremental exercise. *J Strateg Mark* 2, 105–111. doi:10.1080/02640418408729705.
- Enright, P. L., Beck, K. C., and Sherrill, D. L. (2004). Repeatability of Spirometry in 18,000 Adult Patients. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 169, 235–238. doi:10.1164/rccm.200204-347OC.
- Evans, G. H., James, L. J., Shirreffs, S. M., and Maughan, R. J. (2017). Optimizing the restoration and maintenance of fluid balance after exercise-induced dehydration. J Appl Physiol 122, 945–951. doi:10.1152/japplphysiol.00745.2016.
- Fahy, J. V, and Dickey, B. F. (2010). Airway Mucus Function and Dysfunction. N Engl J Med 363, 2233–2247. doi:10.1056/NEJMra0910061.
- Fallowfield, J. L., Williams, C., Booth, J., Choo, B. H., and Growns, S. (1996). Effect of water ingestion on endurance capacity during prolonged running. *J Sports Sci* 14, 497– 502. doi:10.1080/02640419608727736.
- Fan, J. L., Cotter, J. D., Lucas, R. A. I., Thomas, K., Wilson, L., and Ainslie, P. N. (2008). Human cardiorespiratory and cerebrovascular function during severe passive hyperthermia: Effects of mild hypohydration. *J Appl Physiol* 105, 433–445. doi:10.1152/japplphysiol.00010.2008.
- Fanconi, S., Doherty, P., Edmonds, J. F., Barker, G. A., and Bohn, D. J. (1985). Pulse oximetry in pediatric intensive care: Comparison with measured saturations and transcutaneous oxygen tension. *J Pediatr* 107, 362–366. doi:10.1016/S0022-3476(85)80507-2.
- Faul, F., Erdfelder, E., Lang, A. G., and Buchner, A. (2007). G*Power 3: A flexible statistical power analysis program for the social, behavioral, and biomedical sciences. in *Behavior Research Methods* (Psychonomic Society Inc.), 175–191. doi:10.3758/BF03193146.
- Ferguson, G. T. (2006). Why does the lung hyperinflate? in Proceedings of the American

Thoracic Society, 176-179. doi:10.1513/pats.200508-094DO.

- Field, A. (2017). *Discovering Statistics using SPSS*. 5th ed. SAGE Publications Ltd. London.
- Flenley, D. C., Brash, H., Clancy, L., Cooke, N. J., Leitch, A. G., Middleton, W., et al. (1979). Ventilatory response to steady-state exercise in hypoxia in humans. *J Appl Physiol Respir Environ Exerc Physiol* 46, 438–446. doi:10.1152/jappl.1979.46.3.438.
- Flieder, D. B. (2018). 'Normal Anatomy, Tissue Artifacts, and Incidental Structures', in *Pulmonary Pathology*, 1–7. doi:10.1016/B978-0-323-39308-9.00001-7.
- Forster, H. V., Haouzi, P., and Dempsey, J. A. (2012). Control of breathing during exercise. *Compr Physiol* 2, 743–777. doi:10.1002/cphy.c100045.
- Fouillet, A., Rey, G., Laurent, F., Pavillon, G., Bellec, S., Guihenneuc-Jouyaux, C., et al. (2006). Excess mortality related to the August 2003 heat wave in France. *Int Arch Occup Environ Health* 80, 16–24. doi:10.1007/s00420-006-0089-4.
- Fox, S., Naughton, J., and Haskell, W. (1971). Physical activity and the prevention of coronary heart disease. *Ann Clin Res* 3, 404–32.
- Frigeri, A., Gropper, M. A., Turck, C. W., and Verkman, A. S. (1995). Immunolocalization of the mercurial-insensitive water channel and glycerol intrinsic protein in epithelial cell plasma membranes. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* 92, 4328–4331. doi:10.1073/pnas.92.10.4328.
- Fujii, N., Honda, Y., Hayashi, K., Kondo, N., and Nishiyasu, T. (2008a). Effect of hypohydration on hyperthermic hyperpnea and cutaneous vasodilation during exercise in men. *J Appl Physiol* 105, 1509–1518. doi:10.1152/japplphysiol.01206.2007.
- Fujii, N., Honda, Y., Hayashi, K., Soya, H., Kondo, N., and Nishiyasu, T. (2008b). Comparison of hyperthermic hyperpnea elicited during rest and submaximal, moderate-intensity exercise. J Appl Physiol 104, 998–1005. doi:10.1152/japplphysiol.00146.2007.
- Funaki, H., Yamamoto, T., Koyama, Y., Kondo, D., Yaoita, E., Kawasaki, K., et al. (1998). Localization and expression of AQP5 in cornea, serous salivary glands, and pulmonary epithelial cells. *Am J Physiol* 275, C1151-7. doi:10.1152/ajpcell.1998.275.4.C1151.
- Galloway, S. D., and Maughan, R. J. (1997). Effects of ambient temperature on the capacity to perform prolonged cycle exercise in man. *Med Sci Sports Exerc* 29, 1240–1249. doi:10.1097/00005768-199709000-00018.
- Ganio, M. S., Armstrong, L. E., Casa, D. J., McDermott, B. P., Lee, E. C., Yamamoto, L.

M., et al. (2011). Mild dehydration impairs cognitive performance and mood of men. *Br J Nutr* 106, 1535–1543. doi:10.1017/S0007114511002005.

- Ganio, M. S., Brown, C. M., Casa, D. J., Becker, S. M., Yeargin, S. W., McDermott, B. P., et al. (2009a). Validity and reliability of devices that assess body temperature during indoor exercise in the heat. *J Athl Train* 44, 124–135. doi:10.4085/1062-6050-44.2.124.
- Ganio, M. S., Klau, J. F., Casa, D. J., Armstrong, L. E., and Maresh, C. M. (2009b). Effect of caffeine on sport-specific endurance performance: A systematic review. *J Strength Cond Res* 23, 315–324. doi:10.1519/JSC.0b013e31818b979a.
- Garcia-Rio, F., Lores, V., Mediano, O., Rojo, B., Hernanz, A., López-Collazo, E., et al. (2009). Daily physical activity in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease is mainly associated with dynamic hyperinflation. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 180, 506–512. doi:10.1164/rccm.200812-1873OC.
- Garland, A. L., Walton, W. G., Coakley, R. D., Tan, C. D., Gilmore, R. C., Hobbs, C. A., et al. (2013). Molecular basis for pH-dependent mucosal dehydration in cystic fibrosis airways. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* 110, 15973–15978. doi:10.1073/pnas.1311999110.
- Gauer, O. H., Henry, J. P., and Behn, C. (1970). Regulation of extracellular fluid volume. *Annu Rev Physiol* 32, 547–595. doi:10.1146/annurev.ph.32.030170.002555.
- Gibbons, W. J., Sharma, A., Lougheed, D., and Macklem, P. T. (1996). Detection of excessive bronchoconstriction in asthma. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 153, 582–589. doi:10.1164/ajrccm.153.2.8564102.
- Gibson, O. R., Dennis, A., Parfitt, T., Taylor, L., Watt, P. W., and Maxwell, N. S. (2014). Extracellular Hsp72 concentration relates to a minimum endogenous criteria during acute exercise-heat exposure. *Cell Stress Chaperones*, 19, 389–400. doi:10.1007/s12192-013-0468-1.
- Gibson, O. R., Turner, G., Tuttle, J. A., Taylor, L., Watt, P. W., and Maxwell, N. S. (2015).
 Heat acclimation attenuates physiological strain and the HSP72, but not HSP90α, mRNA response to acute normobaric hypoxia. *J Appl Physiol* 119, 889–899. doi:10.1152/japplphysiol.00332.2015.
- GINA (2020). Global strategy for asthma management and prevention.
- Gisolfi, C. V. (1993). 'Water Requirements During Exercise in the Heat', in Nutritional Needs in Hot Environments: Applications for Military Personnel in Field Operations, ed. Bernadette M. Marriott (US: National Academies Press), 87–96. doi:10.17226/2094.

- Gizurarson, S. (2015). The effect of cilia and the mucociliary clearance on successful drug delivery. *Biol Pharm Bull* 38, 497–506. doi:10.1248/bpb.b14-00398.
- Goel, A., Goyal, M., Singh, R., Verma, A., and Tiwari, S. (2015). Diurnal Variation in Peak Expiratory Flow and Forced Expiratory Volume. *J Clin Diagnostic Res* Di, 5–7. doi:10.7860/JCDR/2015/15156.6661.
- Goldman, M. D., Smith, H. J., and Ulmer., W. T. (2005). 'Whole-body plethysmography.', in *European Respiratory Monograph*, eds. R. Gosselink and H. Stam (European Respiratory Society Journals Ltd), 15–43.
- González-Alonso, J. (1998). Separate and combined influences of dehydration and hyperthermia on cardiovascular responses to exercise. *Int J Sport Med* 19 Suppl 2, S111-4. doi:Doi 10.1055/S-2007-971972.
- González-Alonso, J., Calbet, J. A. L., and Nielsen, B. (1998). Muscle blood flow is reduced with dehydration during prolonged exercise in humans. *J Physiol* 513, 895–905. doi:10.1111/j.1469-7793.1998.895ba.x.
- González-Alonso, J., Crandall, C. G., and Johnson, J. M. (2008). The cardiovascular challenge of exercising in the heat. J Physiol 586, 45–53. doi:10.1113/jphysiol.2007.142158.
- González-Alonso, J., Mora-Rodríguez, R., Below, P. R., and Coyle, E. F. (1995). Dehydration reduces cardiac output and increases systemic and cutaneous vascular resistance during exercise. J Appl Physiol 79, 1487–1496. doi:10.1152/jappl.1995.79.5.1487.
- González-Alonso, J., Mora-Rodríguez, R., Below, P. R., and Coyle, E. F. (1997).
 Dehydration markedly impairs cardiovascular function in hyperthermic endurance athletes during exercise. J Appl Physiol 82, 1229–36. doi:10.1152/jappl.1997.82.4.1229.
- Gosselink, R., and Stam, H. (2005). 'Lung Function Testing', in *European Respiratory Monograph* (European Respiratory Society Journals), 223.
- Govindaraj, M. (1972). The effect of dehydration on the ventilatory capacity in normal subjects. *Am Rev Respir Dis* 105, 842–844. doi:10.1164/arrd.1972.105.5.842.
- Graham, B. L., Steenbruggen, I., Barjaktarevic, I. Z., Cooper, B. G., Hall, G. L., Hallstrand,
 T. S., et al. (2019). Standardization of spirometry 2019 update an official American
 Thoracic Society and European Respiratory Society technical statement. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 200, E70–E88. doi:10.1164/rccm.201908-1590ST.

Gray, C. D., and Kinnear, P. R. (2012). IBM SPSS Statistics 19 made simple. Psychology

Press.

- Grieco, D. L., Chen, L., and Brochard, L. (2017). Transpulmonary pressure: Importance and limits. *Ann Transl Med* 5. doi:10.21037/atm.2017.07.22.
- Grotberg, J. B. (2001). Respiratory fluid mechanics and transport processes. *Annu Rev Biomed Eng* 3, 421–457. doi:10.1146/annurev.bioeng.3.1.421.
- Guenette, J. A., Chin, R. C., Cory, J. M., Webb, K. A., and O'Donnell, D. E. (2013). Inspiratory capacity during exercise: Measurement, analysis, and interpretation. *Pulm Med* 2013, 1–13. doi:10.1155/2013/956081.
- Guenette, J. A., Witt, J. D., McKenzie, D. C., Road, J. D., and Sheel, A. W. (2007). Respiratory mechanics during exercise in endurance-trained men and women. J Physiol 581, 1309–1322. doi:10.1113/jphysiol.2006.126466.
- Gutierrez, A., Mesa, J. L. M., Ruiz, J. R., Chirosa, L. J., and Castillo, M. J. (2003). Saunainduced rapid weight loss decreases explosive power in women but not in men. *Int J Sports Med* 24, 518–522. doi:10.1055/s-2003-42017.
- Haldane, J. S. (1905). The influence of high air temperatures no. I. *J Hyg (Lond)* 5, 494–513. doi:10.1017/S0022172400006811.
- Haldane, J. S., and Priestley, J. G. (1905). The regulation of the lung-ventilation. J Physiol 32, 225–266. doi:10.1113/jphysiol.1905.sp001081.
- Hall, J. E., and Guyton, A. C. (2011). Guyton and Hall Textbook of Medical Physiology. doi:10.1017/CBO9781107415324.004.
- Hallstrand, T. S., Altemeier, W. A., Aitken, M. L., and Henderson, W. R. (2013). Role of Cells and Mediators in Exercise-Induced Bronchoconstriction. *Immunol Allergy Clin North Am* 33, 313–328. doi:10.1016/j.iac.2013.02.003.
- Hankinson, J. L., Stocks, J., and Peslin, R. (1998). Reproducibility of lung volume measurements. *Eur Respir J* 11, 787–90.
- Hansell, D. M. (2001). Small airways diseases: Detection and insights with computed tomography. *Eur Respir J* 17, 1294–1313. doi:10.1183/09031936.01.00206101.
- Hansen, J. E., Sue, D. Y., and Wasserman, K. (1984). Predicted Values for Clinical Exercise Testing. Am Rev Respir Dis 129, 49–55. doi:10.1164/arrd.1984.129.2P2.S49.
- Hansen, J. E., Sun, X. G., and Wasserman, K. (2006). Discriminating measures and normal values for expiratory obstruction. *Chest* 129, 369–377. doi:10.1378/chest.129.2.369.
- Haq, I. J., Gray, M. A., Garnett, J. P., Ward, C., and Brodlie, M. (2016). Airway surface liquid homeostasis in cystic fibrosis: pathophysiology and therapeutic targets. *Thorax* 71, 284–287. doi:10.1136/thoraxjnl-2015-207588.

- Harms, C. A., Babcock, M. A., McClaran, S. R., Pegelow, D. F., Nickele, G. A., Nelson,
 W. B., et al. (1997). Respiratory muscle work compromises leg blood flow during maximal exercise. *J Appl Physiol* 82, 1573–1583. doi:10.1152/jappl.1997.82.5.1573.
- Harms, C. A., McClaran, S. R., Nickele, G. A., Pegelow, D. F., Nelson, W. B., and Dempsey, J. A. (2000). Effect of exercise-induced arterial O2 desaturation on VO(2max) in women. *Med Sci Sports Exerc* 32, 1101–1108. doi:10.1097/00005768-200006000-00010.
- Harms, C. A., Wetter, T. J., McClaran, S. R., Pegelow, D. F., Nickele, G. A., Nelson, W.
 B., et al. (1998). Effects of respiratory muscle work on cardiac output and its distribution during maximal exercise. *J Appl Physiol* 85, 609–618. doi:10.1152/jappl.1998.85.2.609.
- Harris, E. F., and Smith, R. N. (2009). Accounting for measurement error: A critical but often overlooked process. *Arch Oral Biol* 54. doi:10.1016/j.archoralbio.2008.04.010.
- Hasegawa, H., Zhang, R., Dohrman, a, and Verkman, a S. (1993). Tissue-specific expression of mRNA encoding rat kidney water channel CHIP28k by in situ hybridization. *Am J Physiol* 264, C237–C245. doi:10.1152/ajpcell.1993.264.1.C237.
- Haussinger, D. (1996). The role of cellular hydration in the regulation of cell function. *Biochem J* 313, 697–710. doi:10.1042/bj3130697.
- Haverkamp, H. C., Dempsey, J. A., Miller, J. D., Romer, L. M., and Eldridge, M. W. (2005). 'Physiological Responses to Exercise', in *Physiological basis of respiratory disease*, 525–540.
- Hayashi, K. (2015). Ventilatory response to increasing body temperature: Characteristics and effect on central fatigue. J Phys Fit Sport Med 4, 143–149. doi:10.7600/jpfsm.4.143.
- Hayashi, K., Honda, Y., Ogawa, T., Kondo, N., and Nishiyasu, T. (2006). Relationship between ventilatory response and body temperature during prolonged submaximal exercise. *J Appl Physiol* 100, 414–420. doi:10.1152/japplphysiol.00541.2005.
- Hendrie, A. L., Brotherhood, J. R., Budd, G. M., Jeffery, S. E., Beasley, F. A., Costin, B.
 P., et al. (1997). Project Aquarius 8. Sweating, drinking, and dehydration in men suppressing wildland fires. *Int J Wildl Fire* 7, 145–158. doi:10.1071/WF9970145.
- Henke, K. G., Sharratt, M., Pegelow, D., and Dempsey, J. A. (1988). Regulation of endexpiratory lung volume during exercise. J Appl Physiol 64, 135–146. doi:10.1152/jappl.1988.64.1.135.
- Hilding, A. C. (1963). Phagocytosis, mucous flow, and ciliary action. Arch Environ Health

6, 61–71. doi:10.1080/00039896.1963.10663361.

- Hillman, A. R., Vince, R. V., Taylor, L., McNaughton, L., Mitchell, N., and Siegler, J. (2011). Exercise-induced dehydration with and without environmental heat stress results in increased oxidative stress. *Appl Physiol Nutr Metab* 36, 698–706. doi:10.1139/h11-080.
- Hobbs, C. A., Da Tan, C., and Tarran, R. (2013). Does epithelial sodium channel hyperactivity contribute to cystic fibrosis lung disease? *J Physiol* 591, 4377–4387. doi:10.1113/jphysiol.2012.240861.
- Hogg, J. C., Chu, F., Utokaparch, S., Woods, R., Elliott, W. M., Buzatu, L., et al. (2004). The nature of small airway obstruction in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. N Engl J Med 350, 2645–2653. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa032158.
- Horn, G. P., Deblois, J., Shalmyeva, I., and Smith, D. L. (2012). Quantifying Dehydration in the Fire Service Using Field Methods and Novel Devices. *Prehospital Emerg Care* 16, 347–355. doi:10.3109/10903127.2012.664243.
- Houghton, C. M., Woodcock, A. A., and Singh, D. (2005). A comparison of plethysmography, spirometry and oscillometry for assessing the pulmonary effects of inhaled ipratropium bromide in healthy subjects and patients with asthma. *Br J Clin Pharmacol* 59, 152. doi:10.1111/J.1365-2125.2004.02262.X.
- Hoyt, R. W., and Honig, A. (2011). Body Fluid and Energy Metabolism at High Altitude. *Compr Physiol*, 1277–1289. doi:10.1002/cphy.cp040255.
- Hruby, J., and Butler, J. (1975). Variability of routine pulmonary function tests. *Thorax* 30, 548–553. doi:10.1136/thx.30.5.548.
- Hyatt, R. E. (1961). The interrelationships of pressure, flow, and volume during various respiratory maneuvers in normal and emphysematous subjects. *Am Rev Respir Dis* 83, 676–683. doi:10.1164/arrd.1961.83.5.676.
- Iandelli, I., Aliverti, A., Kayser, B., Dellacà, R., Cala, S. J., Duranti, R., et al. (2002).
 Determinants of exercise performance in normal men with externally imposed expiratory flow limitation. *J Appl Physiol* 92, 1943–1952. doi:10.1152/japplphysiol.00393.2000.
- Jain, V. V., Abejie, B., Bashir, M. H., Tyner, T., and Vempilly, J. (2013). Lung volume abnormalities and its correlation to spirometric and demographic variables in adult asthma. J Asthma 50, 600–605. doi:10.3109/02770903.2013.789058.
- James, L. J., Moss, J., Henry, J., Papadopoulou, C., and Mears, S. A. (2017). Hypohydration impairs endurance performance: a blinded study. *Physiol Rep* 5.

doi:10.14814/phy2.13315.

- Javaheri, S., Bosken, C. H., Lim, S. P., Dohn, M. N., Greene, N. B., and Baughman, R. P. (1987). Effects of hypohydration on lung functions in humans. *Am Rev Respir Dis* 135, 597–599. doi:10.1164/arrd.1987.135.3.597.
- Jéquier, E., and Constant, F. (2010). Water as an essential nutrient: the physiological basis of hydration. *Eur J Clin Nutr* 64, 115–123. doi:10.1038/ejcn.2009.111.
- Jetmalani, K., Timmins, S., Brown, N. J., Diba, C., Berend, N., Salome, C. M., et al. (2015). Expiratory flow limitation relates to symptoms during COPD exacerbations requiring hospital admission. *Int J COPD* 10, 939–945. doi:10.2147/COPD.S78332.
- Jimenez, C., Melin, B., Koulmann, N., Allevard, A. M., Launay, J. C., and Savourey, G. (1999). Plasma volume changes during and after acute variations of body hydration level in humans. *Eur J Appl Physiol Occup Physiol* 80, 1–8. doi:10.1007/s004210050550.
- Johnson, B. D., Aaron, E. A., Babcock, M. A., and Dempsey, J. A. (1996). Respiratory muscle fatigue during exercise: Implications for performance. in *Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise*, 1129–1137. doi:10.1097/00005768-199609000-00008.
- Johnson, B. D., Babcock, M. A., Suman, O. E., and Dempsey, J. A. (1993). Exerciseinduced diaphragmatic fatigue in healthy humans. J Physiol 460, 385–405. doi:10.1113/jphysiol.1993.sp019477.
- Johnson, B. D., Saupe, K. W., and Dempsey, J. A. (1992). Mechanical constraints on exercise hyperpnea in endurance athletes. J Appl Physiol 73, 874–886. doi:10.1152/jappl.1992.73.3.874.
- Johnson, B. D., Weisman, I. M., Zeballos, R. J., and Beck, K. C. (1999). Emerging concepts in the evaluation of ventilatory limitation during exercise: The exercise tidal flowvolume loop. *Chest* 116, 488–503. doi:10.1378/chest.116.2.488.
- Johnson, H., Kovats, R. S., McGregor, G., Stedman, J., Gibbs, M., and Walton, H. (2005). The impact of the 2003 heat wave on daily mortality in England and Wales and the use of rapid weekly mortality estimates. *Euro Surveill* 10, 168–171.
- Judelson, D. A., Maresh, C. M., Farrell, M. J., Yamamoto, L. M., Armstrong, L. E., Kraemer, W. J., et al. (2007). Effect of hydration state on strength, power, and resistance exercise performance. *Med Sci Sport Exerc* 39, 1817–1824. doi:10.1249/mss.0b013e3180de5f22.
- Kalhoff, H. (2003). Mild dehydration: a risk factor of broncho-pulmonary disorders? Eur J

Clin Nutr 57 Suppl 2, S81–S87. doi:10.1038/sj.ejcn.1601906.

- Kapsali, T., Permutt, S., Laube, B., Scichilone, N., and Togias, A. (2000). Potent bronchoprotective effect of deep inspiration and its absence in asthma. *J Appl Physiol* 89, 711–720. doi:10.1152/jappl.2000.89.2.711.
- Katial, R. K., Reisner, C., Buchmeier, A., Bartelson, B. B., and Nelson, H. S. (2000). Comparison of three commercial ultrasonic nebulizers. *Ann Allergy, Asthma Immunol* 84, 255–261. doi:10.1016/S1081-1206(10)62763-9.
- Kayser, B., Sliwinski, P., Yan, S., Tobiasz, M., and Macklem, P. T. (1997). Respiratory effort sensation during exercise with induced expiratory- flow limitation in healthy humans. *J Appl Physiol* 83, 936–947. doi:10.1152/jappl.1997.83.3.936.
- Kendrick, K. R., Baxi, S. C., and Smith, R. M. (2000). Usefulness of the modified 0-10 Borg scale in assessing the degree of dyspnea in patients with COPD and asthma. J Emerg Nurs 26, 216–222. doi:10.1016/s0099-1767(00)90093-x.
- Kenefick, R. W., Cheuvront, S. N., Palombo, L. J., Ely, B. R., and Sawka, M. N. (2010). Skin temperature modifies the impact of hypohydration on aerobic performance. J Appl Physiol 109, 79–86. doi:10.1152/japplphysiol.00135.2010.
- Kenefick, R. W., and Sawka, M. N. (2007). Heat Exhaustion and Dehydration as Causes of Marathon Collapse. Sport Med 37, 378–381. doi:10.2165/00007256-200737040-00027.
- Kennedy, M. D., and Faulhaber, M. (2018). Respiratory function and symptoms post cold air exercise in female high and low ventilation sport athletes. *Allergy, Asthma Immunol Res* 10, 43–51. doi:10.4168/aair.2018.10.1.43.
- Kenney, W. L., and Chiu, P. (2001). Influence of age on thirst and fluid intake. *Med Sci Sports Exerc* 33, 1524–1532. doi:10.1097/00005768-200109000-00016.
- Kimura, T., Minai, K., Matsui, K., Mouri, T., Sato, T., Yoshinaga, K., et al. (1976). Effect of various states of hydration on plasma ADH and renin in man. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 42, 79–87. doi:10.1210/jcem-42-1-79.
- King, G. G. (2012). Tomographic imaging of small airways. *Respiration* 84, 265–274. doi:10.1159/000342645.
- King, G. G., Müller, N. L., and Paré, P. D. (1999). Evaluation of airways in obstructive pulmonary disease using high- resolution computed tomography. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 159, 992–1004. doi:10.1164/ajrccm.159.3.9805064.
- Kippelen, P., and Anderson, S. D. (2012). Airway injury during high-level exercise. Br J Sports Med 46, 385–390. doi:10.1136/bjsports-2011-090819.

- Kippelen, P., Anderson, S. D., and Hallstrand, T. S. (2018). Mechanisms and Biomarkers of Exercise-Induced Bronchoconstriction. *Immunol Allergy Clin North Am* 38, 165– 182. doi:10.1016/j.iac.2018.01.008.
- Kippelen, P., Fitch, K. D., Anderson, S. D., Bougault, V., Boulet, L. P., Rundell, K. W., et al. (2012). Respiratory health of elite athletes - Preventing airway injury: A critical review. *Br J Sports Med* 46, 471–476. doi:10.1136/bjsports-2012-091056.
- Knowles, M. R., and Boucher, R. C. (2002). Mucus clearance as a primary innate defense mechanism for mammalian airways. J Clin Invest 109, 571–577. doi:10.1172/JCI200215217.
- Konstantinos Katsoulis, K., Kostikas, K., and Kontakiotis, T. (2016). Techniques for assessing small airways function: Possible applications in asthma and COPD. *Respir Med* 119, 2–9. doi:10.1016/j.rmed.2013.05.003.
- Koulouris, N. G., Kaltsakas, G., Palamidas, A. F., and Gennimata, S. A. (2012). Methods for assessing expiratory flow limitation during tidal breathing in COPD patients. *Pulm Med.* doi:10.1155/2012/234145.
- Koulouris, N. G., Valta, P., Lavoie, A., Corbeil, C., Chasse, M., Braidy, J., et al. (1995). A simple method to detect expiratory flow limitation during spontaneous breathing. *Eur Respir J* 8, 306–313. doi:10.1183/09031936.95.08020306.
- Koumantakis, G., and Wyndham, L. E. (1989). An evaluation of osmolality measurement by freezing point depression using micro-amounts of sample. *J Automat Chem* 11, 80– 83. doi:10.1155/S1463924689000167.
- Kraman, S. (2007). Lesser used tests of pulmonary function: Compliance, resistance and dead space. COPD J Chronic Obstr Pulm Dis 4, 49–54. doi:10.1080/15412550601169539.
- Krogh, A., and Lindhard, J. (1913). The regulation of respiration and circulation during the initial stages of muscular work. J Physiol 47, 112–136. doi:10.1113/jphysiol.1913.sp001616.
- Kurts, C., Panzer, U., Anders, H.-J., and Rees, A. J. (2013). The immune system and kidney disease: basic concepts and clinical implications. *Nat Rev Immunol* 13, 738–53. doi:10.1038/nri3523.
- Laveneziana, P., Albuquerque, A., Aliverti, A., Babb, T., Barreiro, E., Dres, M., et al. (2019). ERS statement on respiratory muscle testing at rest and during exercise. *Eur Respir J* 53. doi:10.1183/13993003.01214.
- Lavizzo-Mourey, R. J. (1987). Dehydration in the elderly: A short review. J Natl Med Assoc

79, 1033–1038.

- Lavizzo-Mourey, R., Johnson, J., and Stolley, P. (1988). Risk Factors for Dehydration Among Elderly Nursing Home Residents. J Am Geriatr Soc 36, 213–218. doi:10.1111/j.1532-5415.1988.tb01803.x.
- Lennelöv, E., Irewall, T., Naumburg, E., Lindberg, A., and Stenfors, N. (2019). The prevalence of asthma and respiratory symptoms among cross-country skiers in early adolescence. *Can Respir J* 2019. doi:10.1155/2019/1514353.
- Liljequist, D., Elfving, B., and Skavberg Roaldsen, K. (2019). Intraclass correlation A discussion and demonstration of basic features. *PLoS One*, 14, e0219854. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0219854.
- Lindemann, J., Keck, T., Wiesmiller, K., Sander, B., Brambs, H. J., Rettinger, G., et al. (2004). A numerical simulation of intranasal air temperature during inspiration. *Laryngoscope* 114, 1037–1041. doi:10.1097/00005537-200406000-00015.
- Lindseth, P. D., Lindseth, G. N., Petros, T. V, Jensen, W. C., and Caspers, J. (2013). Effects of hydration on cognitive function of pilots. *Mil Med* 178, 792–798. doi:10.7205/milmed-d-13-00013.
- Lode (2016). Lode Excalibur Sport Product Manual. Germany: Lode.
- Logan-Sprenger, H. M., Heigenhauser, G. J. F., Jones, G. L., and Spriet, L. L. (2013). Increase in skeletal-muscle glycogenolysis and perceived exertion with progressive dehydration during cycling in hydrated men. *Int J Sport Nutr Exerc Metab* 23, 220– 229. doi:10.1123/ijsnem.23.3.220.
- Logan-Sprenger, H. M., Heigenhauser, G. J. F., Jones, G. L., and Spriet, L. L. (2015). The effect of dehydration on muscle metabolism and time trial performance during prolonged cycling in males. *Physiol Rep* 3, 1–13. doi:10.14814/phy2.12483.
- Logan-Sprenger, H. M., Heigenhauser, G. J. F., Jones, G. L., Spriet, L. L., Logan-Sprenger, H. M., Heigenhauser, G. J. F., et al. (2015). The effect of dehydration on muscle metabolism and time trial performance during prolonged cycling in males. *Physiol Rep* 3, 1–13. doi:10.14814/phy2.12483.
- Loring, S. H., Garcia-Jacques, M., and Malhotra, A. (2009). Pulmonary characteristics in COPD and mechanisms of increased work of breathing. *J Appl Physiol* 107, 309–314. doi:10.1152/japplphysiol.00008.2009.
- Lucas, R. A. I., Epstein, Y., and Kjellstrom, T. (2014). Excessive occupational heat exposure: a significant ergonomic challenge and health risk for current and future workers. *Extrem Physiol Med* 3, 14. doi:10.1186/2046-7648-3-14.

- Lumb, A. B. (2012). Nunn's Applied Respiratory Physiology, Churchill Livingstone/Elsevier doi:10.1016/j.cacc.2006.03.008.
- Lund, V. J. (1996). Nasal physiology: Neurochemical receptors, nasal cycle, and ciliary action. *Allergy Asthma Proc* 17, 179–184. doi:10.2500/108854196778996877.
- Lutfi, M. F. (2017). The physiological basis and clinical significance of lung volume measurements. *Multidiscip Respir Med* 12. doi:10.1186/s40248-017-0084-5.
- Ma, T., Fukuda, N., Song, Y., Matthay, M. A., and Verkman, A. S. (2000). Lung fluid transport in aquaporin-5 knockout mice. J Clin Invest 105, 93–100. doi:10.1172/JCI8258.
- Macchione, M., Guimarães, E. T., Saldiva, P. H., and Lorenzi-Filho, G. (1995). Methods for studying respiratory mucus and mucus clearance. *Brazilian J Med Biol Res* 28, 1347–1355.
- Mack, G. W., and Nadel, E. R. (2010). Body Fluid Balance During Heat Stress in Humans. *Handb Physiol Environ Physiol*, 1–28. doi:10.1002/cphy.c130015.
- Macklem, P. T., and Mead, J. (1967). Resistance of central and peripheral airways measured by a retrograde catheter. J Appl Physiol 22, 395–401. doi:10.1152/jappl.1967.22.3.395.
- Macklem, P. T., Proctor, D. F., and Hogg, J. C. (1970). The stability of peripheral airways. *Respir Physiol* 8, 191–203. doi:10.1016/0034-5687(70)90015-0.
- Mador, M. J., Magalang, U. J., Rodis, A., and Kufel, T. J. (1993). Diaphragmatic fatigue after exercise in healthy human subjects. *Am Rev Respir Dis* 148, 1571–1575. doi:10.1164/ajrccm/148.6_pt_1.1571.
- Mahler, D. A., and Horowitz, M. B. (1994). Perception of breathlessness during exercise in patients with respiratory disease. *Med Sci Sports Exerc* 26, 1078–81. doi:10.1249/00005768-199409000-00002.
- Mall, M. A. (2008). Role of cilia, mucus, and airway surface liquid in mucociliary dysfunction: lessons from mouse models. *J Aerosol Med Pulm Drug Deliv* 21, 13–24. doi:10.1089/jamp.2007.0659.
- Maughan, R. J., and Leiper, J. B. (1995). Sodium intake and post-exercise rehydration in man. *Eur J Appl Physiol Occup Physiol* 71, 311–319. doi:10.1007/BF00240410.
- Maughan, R. J., Otani, H., and Watson, P. (2012). Influence of relative humidity on prolonged exercise capacity in a warm environment. *Eur J Appl Physiol* 112, 2313– 2321. doi:10.1007/s00421-011-2206-7.
- Maughan, R., Shirreffs, S., Merson, S., and Horswill, C. (2005). Fluid and electrolyte
balance in elite male football (soccer) players training in a cool environment. *J Sports Sci* 23, 73–79. doi:10.1080/02640410410001730115.

- McClaran, S. R., Wetter, T. J., Pegelow, D. F., and Dempsey, J. A. (1999). Role of expiratory flow limitation in determining lung volumes and ventilation during exercise. *J Appl Physiol* 86, 1357–1366. doi:10.1152/jappl.1999.86.4.1357.
- McConell, G. K., Burge, C. M., Skinner, S. L., and Hargreaves, M. (1997). Influence of ingested fluid volume on physiological responses during prolonged exercise. *Acta Physiol Scand* 160, 149–156. doi:10.1046/j.1365-201X.1997.00139.x.
- McCorry, L. K. (2008). Essentials of Human Physiology for Pharmacy, Second Edition. CRC Press.
- McCullagh, A., Rosenthal, M., Wanner, A., Hurtado, A., Padley, S., and Bush, A. (2010). The bronchial circulation--worth a closer look: a review of the relationship between the bronchial vasculature and airway inflammation. *Pediatr Pulmonol* 45, 1–13. doi:10.1002/ppul.21135.
- McGregor, G., Bessemoulin, P., Ebi, K., and Menne, B. (2015). Heat waves and health: guidance on warning system development. *World Meteorol Organ* 14, 15.
- McHill, A. W., Smith, B. J., and Wright, K. P. (2014). Effects of Caffeine on Skin and Core Temperatures, Alertness, and Recovery Sleep During Circadian Misalignment. *J Biol Rhythms* 29, 131–143. doi:10.1177/0748730414523078.
- McNulty, W., and Usmani, O. S. (2014). Techniques of assessing small airways dysfunction. *Eur Clin Respir J* 1, 25898. doi:10.3402/ecrj.v1.25898.
- Melin, B., Koulmann, N., Jimenez, C., Savourey, G., Launay, J. C., Cottet-Emard, J. M., et al. (2001). Comparison of passive heat or exercise-induced dehydration on renal water and electrolyte excretion: The hormonal involvement. *Eur J Appl Physiol* 85, 250– 258. doi:10.1007/s004210100448.
- Miller, M. R., Crapo, R., Hankinson, J., Brusasco, V., Burgos, F., Casaburi, R., et al. (2005a). General considerations for lung function testing. *Eur Respir J* 26, 153–161. doi:10.1183/09031936.05.00034505.
- Miller, M. R., Hankinson, J., Brusasco, V., Burgos, F., Casaburi, R., Coates, A., et al. (2005b). Standardisation of spirometry. *Eur Respir J* 26, 319–338. doi:10.1183/09031936.05.00034805.
- Milne, K. M., Domnik, N. J., Phillips, D. B., James, M. D., Vincent, S. G., Neder, J. A., et al. (2020). Evaluation of Dynamic Respiratory Mechanical Abnormalities During Conventional CPET. *Front Med* 7, 548. doi:10.3389/fmed.2020.00548.

- Mitchell, G. S., Baker-Herman, T. L., McCrimmon, D. R., and Feldman, J. L. (2009). 'Respiration', in *Encyclopedia of Neuroscience* (Elsevier Ltd), 121–130. doi:10.1016/B978-008045046-9.00479-4.
- Mitchell, J. W., Nadel, E. R., and Stolwijk, J. A. (1972). Respiratory weight losses during exercise. *J Appl Physiol* 32, 474–476. doi:10.1152/jappl.1972.32.4.474.
- Montain, S. J., and Coyle, E. F. (1992). Influence of graded dehydration on hyperthermia and cardiovascular drift during exercise. J Appl Physiol 73, 1340–1350. doi:10.1152/jappl.1992.73.4.1340.
- Montain, S. J., Latzka, W. A., and Sawka, M. N. (1995a). Control of thermoregulatory sweating is altered by hydration level and exercise intensity. *J Appl Physiol* 79, 1434– 1439. doi:10.1152/jappl.1995.79.5.1434.
- Montain, S., Latzka, W. A., and Sawka, M. N. (1995b). Control of thermoregulatory sweating is altered by hydration level and exercise intensity. *J Appl Physiol* 79, 1434– 1439. doi:10.1152/jappl.1995.79.5.1434.
- Moore, A. C., Stacey, M. J., Bailey, K. G. H., Bunn, R. J., Woods, D. R., Haworth, K. J., et al. (2016). Risk factors for heat illness among British soldiers in the hot collective training environment. *J R Army Med Corps* 162, 434–439. doi:10.1136/jramc-2015-000427.
- Neder, J. A., Dal Corso, S., Malaguti, C., Reis, S., De Fuccio, M. B., Schmidt, H., et al. (2003). The pattern and timing of breathing during incremental exercise: A normative study. *Eur Respir J* 21, 530–538. doi:10.1183/09031936.03.00045402.
- Negus, V. . (1952). Humidification of the Air Passages. *Thorax* 7. doi:10.3109/00016485209136866.
- Newburgh, L. H., Johnston, M. W., and Falcon-Lesses, M. (1930). Measurement of Total Water Exchange. J Clin Invest 8, 161–96. doi:10.1172/JCI100259.
- Nielsen, S., King, L. S., Christensen, B. M., and Agre, P. (1997). Aquaporins in complex tissues. II. Subcellular distribution in respiratory and glandular tissues of rat. *Am J Physiol* 273, C1549–C1561. doi:10.1152/ajpcell.1997.273.5.C1541.
- Nogueira, P. (2005). Mortality in Portugal Associated with the Heatwave of August 2003: Early Estimation of Effect, Using a Rapid Method. *Eurosurveillance Eur Bull Commun Dis* 10, 150–153. doi:10.2807/esm.10.07.00553-en.
- Nose, H., Mack, G. W., Shi, X., and Nadel, E. R. (1988a). Role of osmolality and plasma volume during rehydration in humans. J Appl Physiol 65, 325–331. doi:10.1152/jappl.1988.65.1.325.

- Nose, H., Mack, G. W., Shi, X. R., and Nadel, E. R. (1988b). Shift in body fluid compartments after dehydration in humans. *J Appl Physiol (Bethesda, Md 1985)* 65, 318–324. doi:10.1152/jappl.1988.65.1.318.
- Notley, S. R., Park, J., Tagami, K., Ohnishi, N., and Taylor, N. A. (2015). Individual differences in thermoeffector function in the heat: morphological variations help determine effector activation. *Extrem Physiol Med* 4, A102. doi:10.1186/2046-7648-4-S1-A102.
- Nourry, C., Fabre, C., Bart, F., Grosbois, J. M., Berthoin, S., and Mucci, P. (2004). Evidence of Exercise-Induced Arterial Hypoxemia in Prepubescent Trained Children. *Pediatr Res* 55, 674–681. doi:10.1203/01.PDR.0000114481.58902.FB.
- O'Donnell, D. E. (1994). Breathlessness in patients with chronic airflow limitation: Mechanisms and management. *Chest* 106, 904–912. doi:10.1378/chest.106.3.904.
- O'Donnell, D. E., and Laveneziana, P. (2006). Physiology and consequences of lung hyperinflation in COPD. *Eur Respir Rev* 15, 61–67. doi:10.1183/09059180.00010002.
- O'Donnell, D. E., Laveneziana, P., Webb, K., and Neder, J. A. (2014). Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: Clinical integrative physiology. *Clin Chest Med* 35, 51–69. doi:10.1016/j.ccm.2013.09.008.
- O'Donnell, D. E., Revill, S. M., and Webb, K. A. (2001). Dynamic hyperinflation and exercise intolerance in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 164, 770–777. doi:10.1164/ajrccm.164.5.2012122.
- O'Donnell, D. E., and Webb, K. A. (2008). The major limitation to exercise performance in COPD is dynamic hyperinflation. J Appl Physiol 105, 753–755. doi:10.1152/japplphysiol.90336.2008b.
- Okazawa, M., Müller, N., Mcnamara, A. E., Child, S., Verburgt, L., and Paré, P. D. (1996). Human airway narrowing measured using high resolution computed tomography. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 154, 1557–1562. doi:10.1164/ajrccm.154.5.8912780.
- Oostveen, E., Macleod, D., Lorino, H., Farré, R., Hantos, Z., Desager, K., et al. (2003). The forced oscillation technique in clinical practice: methodology, recommendations and future developments on behalf of the ERS Task Force on Respiratory Impedance Measurements. *Eur Respir J* 22, 1026–1041. doi:10.1183/09031936.03.00089403.
- Pappenheimer, J. R. (1953). Passage of molecules through capillary walls. *Physiol Rev* 33, 387–423.
- Park, C., Stafford, C., and Lockette, W. (2008). Exercise-induced asthma may be associated with diminished sweat secretion rates in humans. *Chest* 134, 552–558.

doi:10.1378/chest.08-0366.

- Patterson, M. J., Stocks, J. M., and Taylor, N. A. S. (2014). Whole-body fluid distribution in humans during dehydration and recovery, before and after humid-heat acclimation induced using controlled hyperthermia. *Acta Physiol* 210, 899–912. doi:10.1111/apha.12214.
- Pearson, J., Kalsi, K. K., Stöhr, E. J., Low, D. A., Barker, H., Ali, L., et al. (2013). Haemodynamic responses to dehydration in the resting and exercising human leg. *Eur J Appl Physiol* 113, 1499–1509. doi:10.1007/s00421-012-2579-2.
- Pellegrino, R., Viegi, G., Brusasco, V., Crapo, R. O., Burgos, F., Casaburi, R., et al. (2005). Interpretative strategies for lung function tests. *Eur Respir J* 26, 948–968. doi:10.1183/09031936.05.00035205.
- Persson, P. B. (2003). Renin: origin, secretion and synthesis. J Physiol 552, 667–71. doi:10.1113/jphysiol.2003.049890.
- Phillips, D. B., and Stickland, M. K. (2019). Respiratory limitations to exercise in health: a brief review. *Curr Opin Physiol* 10, 173–179. doi:10.1016/j.cophys.2019.05.012.
- Pogson, Z. E. K., McKeever, T. M., and Fogarty, A. (2008). The association between serum osmolality and lung function among adults. *Eur Respir J* 32, 98–104. doi:10.1183/09031936.00144207.
- Poole, D. C., Sexton, W. L., Farkas, G. A., Powers, S. K., and Reid, M. B. (1997). Diaphragm structure and function in health and disease. *Med Sci Sports Exerc* 29, 738–754. doi:10.1097/00005768-199706000-00003.
- Popkin, B. M., D'Anci, K. E., and Rosenberg, I. H. (2010). Water, hydration, and health. *Nutr Rev* 68, 439–458. doi:10.1111/j.1753-4887.2010.00304.x.
- Popowski, L. a., Oppliger, R. a., Lambert, G. P., Johnson, R. F., Johnson, A. K. I. M., and Gisolfi, C. V. (2001). Blood and urinary measures of hydration status during progressive acute dehydration. *Blood* 52242, 747–753. doi:10.1097/00005768-200105000-00011.
- Porth, C. (2007). *Essentials of pahtophysiology: concepts of altered health states*. Wolters Kluwer/Lippincott Williams & Wilkins.
- Powers, S. K., Dodd, S., Lawler, J., Landry, G., Kirtley, M., McKnight, T., et al. (1988). Incidence of exercise induced hypoxemia in elite endurance athletes at sea level. *Eur J Appl Physiol Occup Physiol* 58, 298–302. doi:10.1007/BF00417266.
- Powers, S. K., Martin, D., and Dodd, S. (1993). Exercise-Induced Hypoxaemia in Elite Endurance Athletes: Incidence, Causes and Impact on VO2max. *Sport Med* 16, 14–

22. doi:10.2165/00007256-199316010-00003.

- Powers, S. K., and Williams, J. (1987). Exercise-Induced Hypoxaemia in Highly Trained Athletes. Sport Med An Int J Appl Med Sci Sport Exerc 4, 46–53. doi:10.2165/00007256-198704010-00005.
- Prefaut, C., Durand, F., Mucci, P., and Caillaud, C. (2000). Exercise-induced arterial hypoxaemia in athletes: A review. *Sport Med* 30, 47–61. doi:10.2165/00007256-200030010-00005.
- Quanjer, P. H., Stanojevic, S., Cole, T. J., Baur, X., Hall, G. L., Culver, B. H., et al. (2012).
 Multi-ethnic reference values for spirometry for the 3-95-yr age range: The global lung function 2012 equations. *Eur Respir J* 40, 1324–1343. doi:10.1183/09031936.00080312.
- Quanjer, P. H., Weiner, D. J., Pretto, J. J., Brazzale, D. J., and Boros, P. W. (2014). Measurement of FEF25-75% and FEF75% does not contribute to clinical decision making. in *European Respiratory Journal* (European Respiratory Society), 1051– 1058. doi:10.1183/09031936.00128113.
- Quinton, P. M. (1994). Viscosity versus composition in airway pathology. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 149, 6–7. doi:10.1164/ajrccm.149.1.8111599.
- Raman, A., Schoeller, D. a, Subar, A. F., Troiano, R. P., Schatzkin, A., Harris, T., et al. (2004). Water turnover in 458 American adults 40-79 yr of age. *Am J Physiol Renal Physiol* 286, F394-401. doi:10.1152/ajprenal.00295.2003.
- Randell, S. H., and Boucher, R. C. (2006). Effective mucus clearance is essential for respiratory health. *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol* 35, 20–28. doi:10.1165/rcmb.2006-0082SF.
- Ratjen, F. A. (2009). Cystic Fibrosis: Pathogenesis and Future Treatment Strategies. *Respir Care* 54, 595–602. doi:10.4187/aarc0427.
- Refinetti, R., Cornélissen, G., and Halberg, F. (2007). Procedures for numerical analysis of circadian rhythms. *Biol Rhythm Res* 38, 275–325. doi:10.1080/09291010600903692.
- Richards, J. C., Mckenzie, D. C., Warburton, D. E. R., Road, J. D., and Sheel, A. W. (2004). Prevalence of Exercise-Induced Arterial Hypoxemia in Healthy Women. *Med Sci Sport Exerc* 36, 1514–1521. doi:10.1249/01.MSS.0000139898.30804.60.
- Roberts, K. E. (1963). Mechanism of Dehydration Following Alcohol Ingestion. Arch Intern Med 112, 154–157. doi:10.1001/archinte.1963.03860020052002.
- Robertson, G. L., and Athar, S. (1976). The interaction of blood osmolality and blood volume in regulating plasma vasopressin in man. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* 42, 613–

620. doi:10.1210/jcem-42-4-613.

- Rolls, B. J., and Phillips, P. A. (1990). Aging and Disturbances of Thirst and Fluid Balance. *Nutr Rev* 48, 137–144. doi:10.1111/j.1753-4887.1990.tb02915.x.
- Roman, M. A., Rossiter, H. B., and Casaburi, R. (2016). Exercise, ageing and the lung. *Eur Respir J* 48, 1471–1486. doi:10.1183/13993003.00347-2016.
- Romer, L. M., and Polkey, M. I. (2008). Fatigue Mechanisms Determining Exercise Performance Exercise-induced respiratory muscle fatigue: implications for performance. *J Appl Physiol* 104, 879–888. doi:10.1152/japplphysiol.01157.2007.-It.
- Ross, E. M., Matteucci, M. J., Shepherd, M., Barker, M., and Orr, L. (2013). Measuring arterial oxygenation in a high altitude field environment: Comparing portable pulse oximetry with blood gas analysis. *Wilderness Environ Med* 24, 112–117. doi:10.1016/j.wem.2012.11.009.
- Roth, R. N., Verdile, V. P., Grollman, L. J., and Stone, D. A. (1996). Agreement between rectal and tympanic membrane temperatures in marathon runners. *Ann Emerg Med* 28, 414–417. doi:10.1016/S0196-0644(96)70007-0.
- Rowe, J. W., Shock, N. W., and DeFronzo, R. A. (1976). The influence of age on the renal response to water deprivation in man. *Nephron* 17, 270–278. doi:10.1159/000180731.
- Rowell, L. B., Brengelmann, G. L., and Murray, J. A. (1969). Cardiovascular responses to sustained high skin temperature in resting man. J Appl Physiol 27, 673–680. doi:10.1152/jappl.1969.27.5.673.
- Roy, B. D., Green, H. J., and Burnett, M. E. (2000). Prolonged exercise following diureticinduced hypohydration: Effects on cardiovascular and thermal strain. *Can J Physiol Pharmacol* 78, 541–547. doi:10.1139/cjpp-78-7-541.
- Rozas, C. J., and Goldman, A. L. (1982). Daily Spirometric Variability: Normal Subjects and Subjects With Chronic Bronchitis With and Without Airflow Obstruction. *Arch Intern Med* 142, 1287–1291. doi:10.1001/archinte.1982.00340200045012.
- Ruppel, G. L. (2012). What is the clinical value of lung volumes? *Respir Care* 57, 26–38. doi:10.4187/respcare.01374.
- Sahin-Yilmaz, A., and Naclerio, R. M. (2011). Anatomy and Physiology of the Upper Airway. *Proc Am Thorac Soc* 8, 31–39. doi:10.1513/pats.201007-050RN.
- Sands, J. M. (2009). Urinary Concentration and Dilution in the Aging Kidney. *Semin Nephrol* 29, 579–586. doi:10.1016/j.semnephrol.2009.07.004.
- Saper, C. B., and Lowell, B. B. (2014). The hypothalamus. *Curr Biol* 24, R111–R1116. doi:10.1016/j.cub.2014.10.023.

- Sawka, M. N., Burke, L. M., Eichner, E. R., Maughan, R. J., Montain, S. J., and Stachenfeld, N. S. (2007). Exercise and fluid replacement. *Med Sci Sports Exerc* 39, 377–390. doi:10.1249/mss.0b013e31802ca597.
- Sawka, M. N., Cheuvront, S. N., and Carter, R. (2005). Human water needs. *Nutr Rev* 63, 30–39. doi:10.1301/nr.2005.jun.S30.
- Sawka, M. N., Cheuvront, S. N., and Kenefick, R. W. (2015). Hypohydration and Human Performance: Impact of Environment and Physiological Mechanisms. *Sport Med* 45, 51–60. doi:10.1007/s40279-015-0395-7.
- Sawka, M. N., Leon, L. R., Montain, S. J., and Sonna, L. A. (2011). Integrated physiological mechanisms of exercise performance, adaptation, and maladaptation to heat stress. *Compr Physiol* 1, 1883–1928. doi:10.1002/cphy.c100082.
- Sawka, M. N., Montain, S. J., and Latzka, W. A. (2001). Hydration effects on thermoregulation and performance in the heat. *Comp Biochem Physiol - A Mol Integr Physiol* 128, 679–690. doi:10.1016/S1095-6433(01)00274-4.
- Sawka, M. N., Young, A. J., Francesconi, R. P., Muza, S. R., and Pandolf, K. B. (1985). Thermoregulatory and blood responses during exercise at graded hypohydration levels. *J Appl Physiol* 59, 1394–1401. doi:10.1152/jappl.1985.59.5.1394.
- Saxton, C. (1975). Respiration during heat stress. Aviat Space Environ Med 46, 41-46.
- Schlesinger, R. (1982). Defense mechanisms of the respiratory system. *Bioscience* 115, 479–514. doi:10.1164/arrd.1977.115.3.479.
- Schoeffel, R. E., Anderson, S. D., and Altounyan, R. E. C. (1981). Bronchial hyperreactivity in response to inhalation of ultrasonically nebulised solutions of distilled water and saline. *Br Med J (Clin Res Ed)* 283, 1285–1287. doi:10.1136/bmj.283.6302.1285.
- Schoffstall, J. E., Branch, J. D., Leutholtz, B. C., and Swain, D. P. (2001). Effects of dehydration and rehydration on the one-repetition maximum bench press of weighttrained males. *J Strength Cond Res* 15, 102–108. doi:10.1519/00124278-200102000-00018.
- Scott, A., Antonishen, K., Johnston, C., Pearce, T., Ryan, M., Sheel, A. W., et al. (2006). Effect of semirecumbent and upright body position on maximal and submaximal exercise testing. *Meas Phys Educ Exerc Sci* 10, 41–50. doi:10.1207/s15327841mpee1001_3.
- Senay Jr., L. C. (1979). Effects of exercise in the heat on body fluid distribution. *Med Sci* Sport 11, 42–48.

- Senay, L. C. (1969). Increased blood osmolarity and its effect on respiration of dehydrating men. *Pflügers Arch Eur J Physiol* 309, 167–175. doi:10.1007/BF00586966.
- Senay, L. C., and Christensen, M. L. (1967). Respiration of dehydrating men undergoing heat stress. J Appl Physiol 22, 282–286. doi:10.1152/jappl.1967.22.2.282.
- Sharma, G., and Goodwin, J. (2006). Effect of aging on respiratory system physiology and immunology. *Clin Interv Aging* 1, 253–260. doi:10.2147/ciia.2006.1.3.253.
- Sheel, A. W., Richards, J. C., Foster, G. E., and Guenette, J. A. (2004). Sex differences in respiratory exercise physiology. *Sport Med* 34, 567–579. doi:10.2165/00007256-200434090-00002.
- Shelly, M. P., Lloyd, G. M., and Park, G. R. (1988). A review of the mechanisms and methods of humidification of inspired gases. *Intensive Care Med* 14, 1–9. doi:10.1007/BF00254114.
- Sheppard, D., and Eschenbacher, W. L. (1984). Respiratory water loss as a stimulus to exercise-induced bronchoconstriction. J Allergy Clin Immunol 73, 640–642. doi:10.1016/0091-6749(84)90297-5.
- Shibasaki, M., and Crandall, C. G. (2010). Mechanisms and controllers of eccrine sweating in humans. *Front Biosci (Schol Ed)* 2, 685–96. doi:10.2741/s94.
- Shirreffs, S. M., Merson, S. J., Fraser, S. M., and Archer, D. T. (2004). The effects of fluid restriction on hydration status and subjective feelings in man. *Br J Nutr* 91, 951–8. doi:10.1079/BJN20041149.
- Sidebotham, D., and Le Grice, I. J. (2007). 'Physiology and Pathophysiology', in *Cardiothoracic Critical Care* (Elsevier Health Sciences), 3–27. doi:10.1016/B978-075067572-7.50004-7.
- Siegler, J. C., Robergs, R. A., Faria, E. W., Wyatt, F. B., and McCarthy, J. (2007). Noninvasive profiling of exercise-induced hypoxemia in competitive cyclists. *Res Sport Med* 15, 61–66. doi:10.1080/15438620601184364.
- Silva, C. S., Nogueira, F. R., Porto, E. F., Gazzotti, M. R., Nascimento, O. A., Camelier, A., et al. (2015). Dynamic hyperinflation during activities of daily living in COPD patients. *Chron Respir Dis* 12, 189–196. doi:10.1177/1479972315576143.
- Simpson, A. J., Romer, L. M., and Kippelen, P. (2017). Exercise-induced dehydration alters pulmonary function but does not modify airway responsiveness to dry air in athletes with mild asthma. *J Appl Physiol* 122, 1329–1335. doi:10.1152/japplphysiol.01114.2016.
- Smith, J., and Bellemare, F. (1987). Effect of lung volume on in vivo contraction

characteristics of human diaphragm. *J Appl Physiol* 62, 1893–1900. doi:10.1152/jappl.1987.62.5.1893.

- Smith, J. R., Kurti, S. P., Meskimen, K., and Harms, C. A. (2017). Expiratory flow limitation and operating lung volumes during exercise in older and younger adults. *Respir Physiol Neurobiol* 240, 26–31. doi:10.1016/j.resp.2016.12.016.
- Smoliga, J. M., Mohseni, Z. S., Berwager, J. D., and Hegedus, E. J. (2016). Common causes of dyspnoea in athletes: A practical approach for diagnosis and management. *Breathe* 12, e22. doi:10.1183/20734735.006416.
- Song, Y., Jayaraman, S., Yang, B., Matthay, M. A., and Verkman, A. S. (2001). Role of aquaporin water channels in airway fluid transport, humidification, and surface liquid hydration. *J Gen Physiol* 117, 573–582. doi:10.1085/jgp.117.6.573.
- Song, Y., Ma, T., Matthay, M. A., and Verkman, A. S. (2000a). Role of aquaporin-4 in airspace-to-capillary water permeability in intact mouse lung measured by a novel gravimetric method. *J Gen Physiol* 115, 17–27. doi:10.1085/jgp.115.1.17.
- Song, Y., and Verkman, A. S. (2001). Aquaporin-5 Dependent Fluid Secretion in Airway Submucosal Glands. *J Biol Chem* 276, 41288–41292. doi:10.1074/jbc.M107257200.
- Song, Y., Yang, B., Matthay, M. A., Ma, T., and Verkman, A. S. (2000b). Role of aquaporin water channels in pleural fluid dynamics. *Am J Physiol Cell Physiol* 279, C1744– C1750. doi:10.1152/ajpcell.2000.279.6.C1744.
- Sorkness, R. L., Bleecker, E. R., Busse, W. W., Calhoun, W. J., Castro, M., Chung, K. F., et al. (2008). Lung function in adults with stable but severe asthma: Air trapping and incomplete reversal of obstruction with bronchodilation. *J Appl Physiol* 104, 394–403. doi:10.1152/japplphysiol.00329.2007.
- Spanoudaki, S. S., Maridaki, M. D., Myrianthefs, P. M., and Baltopoulos, P. J. (2004). Exercise induced arterial hypoxemia in swimmers. J Sports Med Phys Fitness 44, 342–348.
- Speedy, D. B., Noakes, T. D., Kimber, N. E., Rogers, I. R., Thompson, J. M., Boswell, D. R., et al. (2001). Fluid balance during and after an ironman triathlon. *Clin J Sport Med* 11, 44–50. doi:10.1097/00042752-200101000-00008.
- Spengler, C. M., and Shea, S. A. (2000). Endogenous circadian rhythm of pulmonary function in healthy humans. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 162, 1038–1046. doi:10.1164/ajrccm.162.3.9911107.
- Spring, K. R. (1999). Epithelial Fluid Transport--A Century of Investigation. News Physiol Sci 14, 92–98. doi:10.1152/physiologyonline.1999.14.3.92.

- Stacey, M. J., Parsons, I. T., Woods, D. R., Taylor, P. N., Ross, D., and J Brett, S. (2015). Susceptibility to exertional heat illness and hospitalisation risk in UK military personnel. *BMJ Open Sport Exerc Med* 1. doi:10.1136/bmjsem-2015-000055.
- Stearns, R. L., Casa, D. J., Lopez, R. M., McDermott, B. P., Ganio, M. S., Decher, N. R., et al. (2009). Influence of hydration status on pacing during trail running in the heat. *J Strength Cond Res* 23, 2533–2541. doi:10.1519/JSC.0b013e3181b73c3f.
- Stickland, M. K., Lindinger, M. I., Olfert, I. M., Heigenhauser, G. J. F., and Hopkins, S. R. (2013). Pulmonary gas exchange and acid-base balance during exercise. *Compr Physiol* 3, 693–739. doi:10.1002/cphy.c110048.
- Stöhr, E. J., González-Alonso, J., Pearson, J., Low, D. A., Ali, L., Barker, H., et al. (2011). Dehydration reduces left ventricular filling at rest and during exercise independent of twist mechanics. *J Appl Physiol* 111, 891–897. doi:10.1152/japplphysiol.00528.2011.
- Strauss, M. B., Davis, R. K., Rosenbaum, J. D., and Rossmeisl, E. C. (1952). Production of increased renal sodium excretion by the hypotonic expansion of extracellular fluid volume in recumbent subjects. *J Clin Invest* 31, 80–86. doi:10.1172/JCI102580.
- Strivens, K. (2017). Using spirometry as a diagnostic tool in COPD management. *Pract Nurs* 28, 108–112. doi:10.12968/pnur.2017.28.3.108.
- Stubbing, D. G., Pengelly, L. D., Morse, J. L. C., and Jones, N. L. (1980). Pulmonary mechanics during exercise in normal males. *J Appl Physiol Respir Environ Exerc Physiol* 49, 506–510. doi:10.1152/jappl.1980.49.3.506.
- Szinnai, G., Schachinger, H., Arnaud, M. J., Linder, L., and Keller, U. (2005). Effect of water deprivation on cognitive-motor performance in healthy men and women. *Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol* 289, R275–R280. doi:10.1152/ajpregu.00501.2004.
- Tantucci, C. (2013). Expiratory flow limitation definition, mechanisms, methods, and significance. *Pulm Med.* doi:10.1155/2013/749860.
- Tarran, R. (2004). Regulation of airway surface liquid volume and mucus transport by active ion transport. *Proc Am Thorac Soc* 1, 42–46. doi:10.1513/pats.2306014.
- Tarran, R., Button, B., Picher, M., Paradiso, A. M., Ribeiro, C. M., Lazarowski, E. R., et al. (2005). Normal and cystic fibrosis airway surface liquid homeostasis: The effects of phasic shear stress and viral infections. *J Biol Chem* 280, 35751–35759. doi:10.1074/jbc.M505832200.
- Tattersfield, A., and Keeping, I. (1979). Assessing change in airway calibre-measurement of airway resistance. *Br J Clin Pharmacol* 8, 307–319. doi:10.1111/j.1365-

2125.1979.tb04711.x.

- Tavana, H., Zamankhan, P., Christensen, P. J., Grotberg, J. B., and Takayama, S. (2011). Epithelium damage and protection during reopening of occluded airways in a physiologic microfluidic pulmonary airway model. *Biomed Microdevices* 13, 731– 742. doi:10.1007/s10544-011-9543-5.
- Tawatsupa, B., Yiengprugsawan, V., Kjellstrom, T., Berecki-gisolf, J., Seubsman, S., and Sleigh, A. (2013). Association between heat stress and occupational injury among Thai workers: Findings of the Thai cohort study. *Ind Health* 51, 34–46. doi:10.2486/indhealth.2012-0138.
- Taylor, B. J., How, S. C., and Romer, L. M. (2013). Expiratory muscle fatigue does not regulate operating lung volumes during high-intensity exercise in healthy humans. J Appl Physiol 114, 1569–1576. doi:10.1152/japplphysiol.00066.2013.
- Taylor, N. A. S., Tipton, M. J., and Kenny, G. P. (2014). Considerations for the measurement of core, skin and mean body temperatures. *J Therm Biol* 46, 72–101. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jtherbio.2014.10.006.
- Teculescu, D. B., Bohadana, A. B., Peslin, R., Pino, J., and da Silva, J. M. J. (1982). Variability, reproducibility and observer difference of body plethysmographic measurements. *Clin Physiol* 2, 127–138. doi:10.1111/j.1475-097X.1982.tb00015.x.
- Thomas, E. T., Guppy, M., Straus, S. E., Bell, K. J. L., and Glasziou, P. (2019). Rate of normal lung function decline in ageing adults: A systematic review of prospective cohort studies. *BMJ Open* 9, e028150. doi:10.1136/bmjopen-2018-028150.
- Thompson, C. J., Bland, J., Burd, J., and Baylis, P. H. (1986). The osmotic thresholds for thirst and vasopressin release are similar in healthy man. *Clin Sci* 71, 651–656. doi:10.1042/cs0710651.
- Tipton, M. J., Harper, A., Paton, J. F. R., and Costello, J. T. (2017a). The human ventilatory response to stress: rate or depth? *J Physiol*, 1–69. doi:10.1113/JP274596.
- Tipton, M., Kadinopoulos, P., Sa, D. R. de, and Barwood, M. J. (2017b). Changes in lung function during exercise are independently mediated by increases in deep body temperature. *BMJ Open Sport Exerc Med* 3, e000210. doi:10.1136/bmjsem-2016-000210.
- Trangmar, S. J., Chiesa, S. T., Stock, C. G., Kalsi, K. K., Secher, N. H., and Gonzalez-Alonso, J. (2014). Dehydration affects cerebral blood flow but not its metabolic rate for oxygen during maximal exercise in trained humans. *J Physiol* 592, 3143–3160. doi:10.1113/jphysiol.2014.272104.

- Trangmar, S. J., and González-Alonso, J. (2019). Heat, Hydration and the Human Brain, Heart and Skeletal Muscles. *Sport Med* 49, 69–85. doi:10.1007/s40279-018-1033-y.
- Travers, G., González-Alonso, J., Riding, N., Nichols, D., Shaw, A., and Périard, J. D. (2020). Exercise heat acclimation has minimal effects on left ventricular volumes, function and systemic hemodynamics in euhydrated and dehydrated trained humans. *Am J Physiol Hear Circ Physiol* 319, H965–H979. doi:10.1152/AJPHEART.00466.2020.
- Trindade, S. H. K., De Mello, J. F., Mion, O. D. G., Lorenzi-Filho, G., Macchione, M., Guimarães, E. T., et al. (2007). Methods for studying mucociliary transport. *Braz J Otorhinolaryngol* 73, 704–712. doi:10.1016/S1808-8694(15)30133-6.
- Troyanov, S., Ghezzo, H., Cartier, A., and Malo, J. L. (1994). Comparison of circadian variations using FEV1 and peak expiratory flow rates among normal and asthmatic subjects. *Thorax* 49, 775–780. doi:10.1136/thx.49.8.775.
- Tsuji, B., Hayashi, K., Kondo, N., and Nishiyasu, T. (2016). Characteristics of hyperthermia-induced hyperventilation in humans. *Temperature* 3, 146–160. doi:10.1080/23328940.2016.1143760.
- Tsuji, B., Honda, Y., Fujii, N., Kondo, N., and Nishiyasu, T. (2012a). Comparison of hyperthermic hyperventilation during passive heating and prolonged light and moderate exercise in the heat. J Appl Physiol 113, 1388–1397. doi:10.1152/japplphysiol.00335.2012.
- Tsuji, B., Honda, Y., Fujii, N., Kondo, N., and Nishiyasu, T. (2012b). Effect of initial core temperature on hyperthermic hyperventilation during prolonged submaximal exercise in the heat. *Am J Physiol Integr Comp Physiol* 302, R94–R102. doi:10.1152/ajpregu.00048.2011.
- Tsuji, B., Honda, Y., Ikebe, Y., Fujii, N., Kondo, N., and Nishiyasu, T. (2015). Voluntary suppression of hyperthermia-induced hyperventilation mitigates the reduction in cerebral blood flow velocity during exercise in the heat. *Am J Physiol - Regul Integr Comp Physiol* 308, R669–R679. doi:10.1152/ajpregu.00419.2014.
- Tsuji, B., Hoshi, Y., Honda, Y., Fujii, N., Sasaki, Y., Cheung, S. S., et al. (2019). Respiratory mechanics and cerebral blood flow during heat-induced hyperventilation and its voluntary suppression in passively heated humans. *Physiol Rep* 7. doi:10.14814/phy2.13967.
- Tu, J., Inthavong, K., and Ahmadi, G. (2013). 'The Human Respiratory System', in Computational Fluid and Particle Dynamics in the Human Respiratory System, 19–

44. doi:10.1007/978-94-007-4488-2 2.

- Turcotte, H., Langdeau, J. B., Thibault, G., and Boulet, L. P. (2003). Prevalence of respiratory symptoms in an athlete population. *Respir Med* 97, 955–963. doi:10.1016/S0954-6111(03)00123-9.
- Van Nieuwenhoven, M. A., Vriens, B. E. P. J., Brummer, R.-J. J. M., and Brouns, F. (2000). Effect of dehydration on gastrointestinal function at rest and during exercise in humans. *Eur J Appl Physiol* 83, 578–584. doi:10.1007/s004210000305.
- van Veen, I. H., Sterk, P. J., Schot, R., Gauw, S. A., Rabe, K. F., Bel, E. H., et al. (2006). Alveolar nitric oxide versus measures of peripheral airway dysfunction in severe asthma. *Eur Respir J* 27, 951–956. doi:10.1183/09031936.06.00087905.
- Vandentorren, S., Bretin, P., Zeghnoun, A., Mandereau-Bruno, L., Croisier, A., Cochet, C., et al. (2006). August 2003 heat wave in France: Risk factors for death of elderly people living at home. *Eur J Public Health* 16, 583–591. doi:10.1093/eurpub/ckl063.
- Veldhuizen, E. J. A., and Haagsman, H. P. (2000). Role of pulmonary surfactant components in surface film formation and dynamics. *Biochim Biophys Acta -Biomembr* 1467, 255–270. doi:10.1016/S0005-2736(00)00256-X.
- Verkman, A. S. (2007). Role of aquaporins in lung liquid physiology. *Respir Physiol Neurobiol* 159, 324–330. doi:10.1016/j.resp.2007.02.012.
- Verkman, A. S. (2013). Aquaporins. Curr Biol 23, R52-5. doi:10.1016/j.cub.2012.11.025.
- Vogelmeier, C. F., Criner, G. J., Martinez, F. J., Anzueto, A., Barnes, P. J., Bourbeau, J., et al. (2017). Global strategy for the diagnosis, management, and prevention of chronic obstructive lung disease 2017 report. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 195, 557–582. doi:10.1164/rccm.201701-0218PP.
- Vogiatzis, I., Athanasopoulos, D., Habazettl, H., Kuebler, W. M., Wagner, H., Roussos, C., et al. (2009). Intercostal muscle blood flow limitation in athletes during maximal exercise. *J Physiol* 587, 3665–3677. doi:10.1113/jphysiol.2009.171694.
- Wagner, P. D. (2015). The physiological basis of pulmonary gas exchange: Implications for clinical interpretation of arterial blood gases. *Eur Respir J* 45, 227–243. doi:10.1183/09031936.00039214.
- Wagoner, R. S., López-Gálvez, N. I., de Zapien, J. G., Griffin, S. C., Canales, R. A., and Beamer, P. I. (2020). An occupational heat stress and hydration assessment of agricultural workers in north mexico. *Int J Environ Res Public Health* 17, 2102. doi:10.3390/ijerph17062102.
- Walker, A., Pope, R., and Orr, R. M. (2016). The impact of fire suppression tasks on

firefighter hydration: A critical review with consideration of the utility of reported hydration measures. *Ann Occup Environ Med* 28, 63. doi:10.1186/s40557-016-0152-x.

- Wanger, J., Clausen, J. L., Coates, A., Pedersen, O. F., Brusasco, V., Burgos, F., et al. (2005). Standardisation of the measurement of lung volumes. *Eur Respir J* 26, 511– 522. doi:10.1183/09031936.05.00035005.
- Wanner, A., Salathe, M., and O'Riordan, T. G. (1996). Mucociliary clearance in the airways. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 154, 1868–1902. doi:10.1164/ajrccm.154.6.8970383.
- Waterhouse, J., Drust, B., Weinert, D., Edwards, B., Gregson, W., Atkinson, G., et al. (2005). The circadian rhythm of core temperature: Origin and some implications for exercise performance. *Chronobiol Int* 22, 207–225. doi:10.1081/CBI-200053477.
- Watson, G., Judelson, D. A., Armstrong, L. E., Yeargin, S. W., Casa, D. J., and Maresh, C. M. (2005). Influence of diuretic-induced dehydration on competitive sprint and power performance. *Med Sci Sports Exerc* 37, 1168–1174. doi:10.1249/01.mss.0000170100.93279.be.
- Weibel, E. R. (1963). Principles and methods for the morphometric study of the lung and other organs. *Lab Invest* 12, 131–55.
- Weibel, E. R. (1964). 'Morphometry of the Human Lung', in *Handbook of Physiology*, 285–307. doi:10.1007/978-3-642-87553-3.
- Weibel, E. R. (1973). Morphological basis of alveolar-capillary gas exchange. *Physiol Rev* 53, 419–495. doi:10.1152/physrev.1973.53.2.419.
- Welch, J. F., Kipp, S., and Sheel, A. W. (2019). Respiratory muscles during exercise: mechanics, energetics, and fatigue. *Curr Opin Physiol* 10, 102–109. doi:10.1016/j.cophys.2019.04.023.
- Wells, G. D., and Norris, S. R. (2009). Assessment of physiological capacities of elite athletes & respiratory limitations to exercise performance. *Paediatr Respir Rev* 10, 91–98. doi:10.1016/j.prrv.2009.04.002.
- West, J. (2013). Respiratory Physiology, The Essentials. *J Chem Inf Model* 53, 1689–1699. doi:10.1017/CBO9781107415324.004.
- Widdicombe, J. H. (2002). Regulation of the depth and composition of airway surface liquid. J Anat 201, 313–318. doi:10.1046/j.1469-7580.2002.00098.x.
- Widdicombe, J. H., and Widdicombe, J. G. (1995). Regulation of human airway surface liquid. *Respir Physiol* 99, 3–12. doi:10.1016/0034-5687(94)00095-H.

- Widdicombe, J. H., and Wine, J. J. (2015). Airway Gland Structure and Function. *Physiol Rev* 95, 1241–1319. doi:10.1152/physrev.00039.2014.
- Willumsen, N. J., Davis, C. W., and Boucher, R. C. (1994). Selective response of human airway epithelia to luminal but not serosal solution hypertonicity. Possible role for proximal airway epithelia as an osmolality transducer. *J Clin Invest* 94, 779–787. doi:10.1172/JCI117397.
- Wilson, R. C., and Jones, P. W. (1989). A comparison of the visual analogue scale and modified Borg scale for the measurement of dyspnoea during exercise. *Clin Sci* 76, 277–282. doi:10.1042/cs0760277.
- Wilson, W. R., and Allansmith, M. R. (1976). Rapid, atraumatic method for obtaining nasal mucus samples. Ann Otol Rhinol Laryngol 85, 391–393. doi:10.1177/000348947608500311.
- Winter, E. M., Jones, A. M., Davison, R. C., Bromley, P. D., and Mercer, T. H. (2006). Sport and Exercise Physiology Testing Guidelines (Vol. 1).
- Witt, C., Schubert, J. A., Jehn, M., Holzgreve, A., Liebers, U., Endlicher, W., et al. (2015). The Effects of Climate Change on Patients With Chronic Lung Disease. *Dtsch Aerzteblatt* 112, 878–883. doi:10.3238/arztebl.2015.0878.
- World Health Organization (2010). WHO guidelines on drawing blood: best practices in phlebotomy.
- World Medical Association (2013). World Medical Association declaration of Helsinki: Ethical principles for medical research involving human subjects. J Am Med Assoc 310, 2191–2194. doi:10.1001/jama.2013.281053.
- Xu, X., Weiss, S. T., Rijcken, B., and Schouten, J. P. (1994). Smoking, changes in smoking habits, and rate of decline in FEV1: New insight into gender differences. *Eur Respir* J 7, 1056–1061.
- Yan, S., Kaminski, D., and Sliwinski, P. (1997). Reliability of inspiratory capacity for estimating end-expiratory lung volume changes during exercise in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 156, 55–59. doi:10.1164/ajrccm.156.1.9608113.
- Younes, M., and Remmers, J. (1981). 'Control of tidal volume and respiratory frequency', in *Regulation of Breathing, Part 1* (New York: Marcel Dekker Inc.), 621–671.
- Young, A. J., Muza, S. R., Sawka, M. N., Gonzalez, R. R., and Pandolf, K. B. (1986). Human thermoregulatory responses to cold air are altered by repeated cold water immersion. *J Appl Physiol* 60, 1542–1548. doi:10.1152/jappl.1986.60.5.1542.

- Zerbe, R. L., and Robertson, G. L. (1983). Osmoregulation of thirst and vasopressin secretion in human subjects: Effect of various solutes. *Am J Physiol - Endocrinol Metab* 7. doi:10.1152/ajpendo.1983.244.6.e607.
- Zhang, N., Du, S. M., Zhang, J. F., and Ma, G. S. (2019). Effects of dehydration and rehydration on cognitive performance and mood among male college students in Cangzhou, China: A self-controlled trial. *Int J Environ Res Public Health* 16, 1891. doi:doi.org/10.3390/ijerph16111891.
- Zhao, L., Peng, L., Wu, B., Bu, X., and Wang, C. (2016). Effects of dynamic hyperinflation on exercise capacity and quality of life in stable COPD patients. *Clin Respir J* 10, 579–588. doi:10.1111/crj.12260.
- Zhu, C., Chen, Z., and Jiang, Z. (2016). Expression, distribution and role of aquaporin water channels in human and animal stomach and intestines. *Int J Mol Sci* 17. doi:10.3390/ijms17091399.

Chapter 9 Appendices

9.1 Appendix A

Ethical approval for Studies 1 and 2:



University Research Ethics Committee Brunel University London Kingston Lane Uxbridge UB8 3PH United Kingdom

www.brunel.ac.uk

11 September 2018

LETTER OF APPROVAL

Applicant: Miss Hannah Marshall

Project Title: Effects of dehydration on lung function

Reference: 6639-A-Sep/2018- 14084-1

Dear Miss Hannah Marshall,

The Research Ethics Committee has considered the above amendment application recently submitted by you.

The Chair, acting under delegated authority has agreed that there is no objection on ethical grounds to the proposed amendment. Approval is given on the understanding that the conditions of approval set out below are followed:

- · Please add a statement to the additional paragraph in the PIS to clarify that the optional visits are entirely voluntary.
- The agreed protocol must be followed. Any changes to the protocol will require prior approval from the Committee by way of an application for an
 amendment.

Please note that:

- Research Participant Information Sheets and (where relevant) flyers, posters, and consent forms should include a clear statement that research ethics approval has been obtained from the relevant Research Ethics Committee.
- The Research Participant Information Sheets should include a clear statement that queries should be directed, in the first instance, to the Supervisor (where relevant), or the researcher. Complaints, on the other hand, should be directed, in the first instance, to the Chair of the relevant Research Ethics Committee.
- Approval to proceed with the study is granted subject to receipt by the Committee of satisfactory responses to any conditions that may appear above, in addition to any subsequent changes to the protocol.
- The Research Ethics Committee reserves the right to sample and review documentation, including raw data, relevant to the study.
- You may not undertake any research activity if you are not a registered student of Brunel University or if you cease to become registered, including
 abeyance or temporary withdrawal. As a deregistered student you would not be insured to undertake research activity. Research activity includes the
 recruitment of participants, undertaking consent procedures and collection of data. Breach of this requirement constitutes research misconduct and
 is a disciplinary offence.

Kind regards,

Poter Aldom

Professor Peter Hobson

Chair, University Research Ethics Committee

Brunel University London

Ethical approval for Study 3:



3 July 2018

LETTER OF CONDITIONAL APPROVAL

Applicant: Miss Hannah Marshall

Project Title: Effects of moderate dehydration on the lungs

Reference: 11730-TISS-Jun/2018- 13047-1

Dear Miss Hannah Marshall,

The Research Ethics Committee has considered the above application recently submitted by you.

The Chair, acting under delegated authority has agreed that there is no objection on ethical grounds to the proposed study. Approval is given on the understanding that the conditions of approval set out below are followed:

- On your PIS, please change details of the REC to the University Research Ethics Committee (and complaints to the UREC Chair).
- Please add a statement to the Consent Form to the effect that withdrawal from the study will not result in any disadvantage or penalty.
- Your Participant RA currently mentions the use of Virkon in relation to disinfecting equipment; please amend to a more suitable solution in line with your Health and Safety RA. This procedure should include immersion in Cidex OPA for 45 minutes at room temperature, rinse with 70% isopropanol and drying.
- The agreed protocol must be followed. Any changes to the protocol will require prior approval from the Committee by way of an application for an
 amendment.

Please note that:

- Research Participant Information Sheets and (where relevant) flyers, posters, and consent forms should include a clear statement that research ethics approval has been obtained from the relevant Research Ethics Committee.
- The Research Participant Information Sheets should include a clear statement that queries should be directed, in the first instance, to the Supervisor (where relevant), or the researcher. Complaints, on the other hand, should be directed, in the first instance, to the Chair of the relevant Research Ethics Committee.
- Approval to proceed with the study is granted subject to receipt by the Committee of satisfactory responses to any conditions that may appear above, in addition to any subsequent changes to the protocol.
- The Research Ethics Committee reserves the right to sample and review documentation, including raw data, relevant to the study.
- You may not undertake any research activity if you are not a registered student of Brunel University or if you cease to become registered, including
 abeyance or temporary withdrawal. As a deregistered student you would not be insured to undertake research activity. Research activity includes the
 recruitment of participants, undertaking consent procedures and collection of data. Breach of this requirement constitutes research misconduct and
 is a disciplinary offence.

Kind regards,

Poter CHabson

Professor Peter Hobson

Chair, University Research Ethics Committee

Brunel University London

University Research Ethics Committee Brunel University London Kingston Lane Uxbridge UB8 3PH United Kingdom

www.brunel.ac.uk

9.2 Appendix B

Health Questionnaire



PRE-PARTICIPATION HEALTH CHECK QUESTIONNAIRE

Health and safety is of paramount importance. For this reason we need to be aware of your current health status before you begin any testing procedures. The questions below are designed to identify whether you are able to participate now or should obtain medical advice before undertaking this investigation, Whilst every care will be given to the best of the investigators ability, an individual must know his/her limitations.

Subject	name: DOB:	. AGE.	
Emerge	ncy Contact Name & Number:		
		YES	NO
1.	Has your doctor ever diagnosed a heart condition or recommend only medically supervised exercise?		
2.	Do you suffer from chest pains, heart palpitations or tightness of the chest?		
3.	Do you have known high blood pressure? If yes, please give details (i.e. medication)		
4.	Do you have low blood pressure or often feel faint or have dizzy spells?		
5.	Do you have known hypercholesteremia?		
6.	Have you ever had any bone or joint problems, which could be aggravated by physical activity?		
7.	Do you suffer from diabetes? If yes, are you insulin dependent?		
8.	Do you have any lung/chest disease (Incl. asthma, bronchitis, emphysema)?		
9.	Do you suffer from epilepsy? If yes, when was the last incident?		
10.	Do you have any kidney disease?		
11.	Are you taking any medication? (If yes, please specify).		
12.	Have you had any injuries in the last year? E.g. Muscle strains, back problems		
13.	Do you have any history of heat illness/ intolerance?		
14.	Are you currently enrolled in any other studies?		
15.	Do you have any history of infectious diseases (e.g. HIV, Heb B)?		
16.	I have recently participated in a blood donation program		
17.	Are you a smoker?		
18.	Do you exercise on a regular basis (at least 3 times a week)?		
19.	Describe your exercise routines (mode, frequency, intensity/speed, race times)):	

20. Provide detail of any other reasons that would affect your ability to take part in this experiment:

If you feel at all unwell because of a temporary illness such as a cold or fever please inform the investigator. Please note if your health status changes so that you would subsequently answer YES to any of the above questions, please notify the investigator immediately.

I have read and fully understand this questionnaire. I confirm that to the best of my knowledge; the answers are correct and accurate. I know of no reasons why I should not participate in physical activity and this investigation and I understand I will be taking part at my own risk.

PARTICIPANT'S NAME AND SIGNATURE:

_ DATE: ____

INVESTIGATOR'S NAME AND SIGNATURE

9.3 Appendix C

Informed consent: Studies 1 and 2



College of Health and Life Sciences Department of Life Sciences

CONSENT FORM

Effect of dehydration and rehydration on lung function in healthy young adults

The participant should complete the whole of this sheet

	Please tick the appropriate box				
	YES	NO			
Have you read the Research Participant Information Sheet?					
Have you had an opportunity to ask questions and discuss this study?					
Have you received satisfactory answers to all your questions?					
Who have you spoken to?					
Do you understand that you will not be referred to by name in any report concerning the study?					
Do you understand that you are free to withdraw from the study:					
at any time?					
 without having to give a reason for withdrawing? 					
Do you agree to take part in this study?					
Name of participant:					
Signature of Research Participant:					
Date:					

Researcher name:	Signature:
Supervisor name:	Signature:



College of Health and Life Sciences Department of Life Sciences

CONSENT FORM

Effect of moderate dehydration on respiratory responses at rest and during exercise

The participant should complete the whole of this sheet

	Please ti appropri	ick the iate box
	YES	NO
Have you read the Research Participant Information Sheet?		
Have you had an opportunity to ask questions and discuss this study?		
Have you received satisfactory answers to all your questions?		
Who have you spoken to?		
Do you understand that you will not be referred to by name in any report concerning the study?		
Do you understand that you are free to withdraw from the study:		
at any time?		
 without having to give a reason for withdrawing? 		
Do you agree to take part in this study?		
Name of participant:		
Signature of Research Participant:		
Date:		

Researcher name:	Signature:
Supervisor name:	Signature:

9.4 Appendix D

Breathing discomfort scale (Mahler and Horowitz, 1994):

0	Nothing at all
0.5	Very, very slight (just noticeable)
1	Very slight
2	Slight (light)
3	Moderate
4	Somewhat severe
5	Severe (heavy)
6	
7	Very severe
8	
9	
10	Very, very severe (almost max)

9.5 Appendix E

RPE Scale (Borg, 1982):

6	
7	Very, very light
8	
9	Very light
10	
11	Light
12	
13	Somewhat hard
14	
15	Hard
16	
17	Very hard
18	
19	Very, very hard
20	

9.6 Appendix F

Table 9.1. Detailed statistical output from the 3-way repeated measure ANOVA performed in Chapter 5 for hydration parameters, spirometry, and whole body plethysmography.

Variable	Variable Main effect of		lain effect of Main effect of			effect of	Inter	action:	Intera	action:	Interaction:			
	Dehyo	lration	Rehyd	Iration	Т	ime	Dehy	dration	Rehyd	lration	Dehydration method x			
	method		Method				metho	d x time	method	l x time	Rehydration method x			
													t	ime
	F value	P value	F value	P value	F value	P Value	F value	P value	F value	P value	F value	P Value		
Hydration parameters														
Body mass (kg)	1.437	0.261	2.445	0.152	183.181	0.000	0.705	0.507	126.616	0.000	0.202	0.819		
Posm (mOsm·kg ⁻¹)	0.005	0.943	9.721	0.012	55.316	0.000	0.592	0.564	52.758	0.000	0.292	0.750		
U _{osm} (mOsm·kg ⁻¹)	25.030	0.001	11.990	0.007	124.481	0.000	23.894	0.000	12.744	0.000	3.847	0.041		
Haemoglobin (g·L ⁻¹)	0.060	0.811	0.655	0.439	3.262	0.062	1.596	0.230	4.652	0.024	0.203	0.818		
Haematocrit (%)	0.014	0.907	5.717	0.040	0.233	0.794	0.078	0.925	3.725	0.044	0.274	0.764		
Plasma Volume (%)	1.050	0.332	3.866	0.081	10.566	0.001	4.414	0.028	2.708	0.094	2.373	0.122		
Spirometry														
FEV ₁ (L)	1.754	0.218	0.814	0.390	0.776	0.548	0.637	0.640	0.258	0.903	1.306	0.286		
FVC (L)	8.347	0.018	0.17	0.69	17.519	0.000	2.329	0.142	4.537	0.005	1.713	0.168		

FEV ₁ /FVC (%)	49.772	0.000	1.465	0.257	22.584	0.000	2.964	0.032	6.687	0.000	2.457	0.063		
PEF $(L \cdot s^{-1})$	4.227	0.070	0.038	0.849	2.325	0.075	2.436	0.065	1.253	0.306	1.000	0.420		
Whole body plethysmography														
TLC (L)	1.051	0.332	1.524	0.248	3.246	0.063	0.288	0.753	0.230	0.797	0.443	0.649		
FRC (L)	5.880	0.038	1.798	0.213	12.237	0.000	0.197	0.823	4.413	0.028	1.797	0.194		
RV (L)	8.233	0.018	11.055	0.008	25.388	0.000	2.308	0.128	4.463	0.056	0.207	0.815		
RV/TLC (%)	6.551	0.028	8.311	0.015	28.436	0.000	4.437	0.023	4.059	0.064	0.762	0.461		
ERV (L)	0.383	0.552	0.976	0.349	5.329	0.015	4.059	0.035	0.942	0.408	1.840	0.187		
sRaw (kPa·s ⁻¹)	0.044	0.839	0.879	0.373	1.037	0.375	1.149	0.339	0.908	0.421	0.024	0.976		

ANOVA factors: Dehydration method: exercise vs fluid restriction, rehydration method: systemic vs local rehydration, time: baseline, dehydration, rehydration (15 min, 35 min, 60 min). P_{osm}, plasma osmolality; U_{osm}, urine osmolality; FVC, forced vital capacity; FEV₁, forced expiratory volume in one second; PEF, peak expiratory flow, TLC, total lung capacity; FRC, functional residual capacity; RV, residual volume; ERV, expiratory reserve volume; IC, inspiratory capacity; IVC, inspiratory vital capacity; sRaw, specific airway resistance.

9.7 Appendix G

Table 9.2 Detailed statistical output from the 3-way repeated measure ANOVA performed in Chapter 6 for ventilatory, physiological, and perceptual responses to CPET in the dehydration and euhydration conditions.

Variable	Main effect of Condition		Main o T	effect of est	Main e Ti	effect of me	Inter Condit	action: ion x test	Inter Cond ti	action: lition x me	Inter Test	action: x Time	Inter Conditio T	action: on x Test x ime
	F value	P value	F value	P value	F value	P Value	F value	P value	F value	P value	F value	P Value	F value	P Value
Ventilatory and phy	vsiologic	al respons	ses											
$\dot{V}_{E}(L)$	2.556	0.154	2.332	0.171	78.244	0.000	3.694	0.096	3.282	0.025	8.952	0.000	4.977	0.004
V _T (L∙min ⁻¹)	0.079	0.785	11.436	0.010	21.952	0.000	2.006	0.194	0.854	0.386	14.025	0.014	1.508	0.708
f _b (breaths min ⁻ ¹)	0.675	0.435	28.662	0.001	42.86	0.000	3.252	0.109	0.975	0.435	2.778	0.043	0.915	0.467
$\dot{\mathbf{T}}_{\mathbf{i}}(\mathbf{s})$	0.243	0.635	14.298	0.005	20.629	0.000	0.248	0.632	0.727	0.580	0.879	0.448	0.696	0.600
$T_{tot}(s)$	0.145	0.713	13.172	0.007	40.502	0.000	1.498	0.256	0.64	0.638	3.457	0.019	0.631	0.644
T _i /T _{tot}	0.781	0.403	0.520	0.491	11.493	0.000	2.290	0.169	0.760	0.735	0.092	0.983	0.393	0.968
VO₂ (L·min ⁻¹)	1.484	0.254	11.397	0.008	322.011	0.000	1.798	0.213	3.354	0.020	0.648	0.632	1.009	0.415
VCO₂ (L ·min ⁻¹)	0.297	0.988	5.773	0.040	143.076	0.000	1.904	0.201	0.517	0.724	5.637	0.001	2.282	0.079
Ϋ́E/Ϋ́O2	0.066	0.805	2.524	0.156	30.642	0.000	0.173	0.690	11.813	0.013	6.574	0.013	18.501	0.400
Ϋ́E/Ϋ́CO ₂	0.360	0.567	8.602	0.022	6.541	0.001	0.002	0.967	3.367	0.017	3.526	0.019	1.583	0.206
HR	0.005	0.984	43.897	0.000	158.981	0.000	0.201	0.668	1.687	0.181	9.819	0.000	1.356	0.274

(beats∙min ⁻¹)															
T _{core} (°C)	0.893	0.360	36.599	0.001	12.219	0.000	0.064	0.808	3.055	0.036	2.735	0.052	0.42	0.793	
SpO ₂ (%)	0.336	0.578	4.630	0.064	5.226	0.002	0.005	0.947	0.276	0.892	2.423	0.068	1.15	0.351	
Perceptual respons	ses														•
RPE	4.578	0.070	17.113	0.004	166.622	0.000	9.677	0.017	2.339	0.080	13.719	0.000	6.042	0.001	•
Breathing discomfort	2.355	0.169	11.397	0.012	16.556	0.000	3.569	0.101	0.903	0.476	6.559	0.001	2.378	0.076	

ANOVA Factors: Condition: euhydration vs dehydration; test: CPET-1 vs CPET-2, time: 0, 2, 4, 6 min, and peak exercise. \dot{V}_{E} , minute ventilation; V_{T} , tidal volume; f_{b} , breathing frequency; $\dot{V}O_{2}$, volume of oxygen uptake; $\dot{V}CO_{2}$, volume of expired carbon dioxide; T_{i} , inspiratory time; T_{tot} , total time of breath; T_{i}/T_{tot} , inspiratory duty cycle; HR, heart rate; T_{core} , core temperature; SpO₂, oxygen saturation, RPE, rating of perceived exertion.